
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Central Bedfordshire 
Council 
Priory House 
Monks Walk 
Chicksands,  
Shefford SG17 5TQ 

 
  

  
please ask for Martha Clampitt 

direct line 0300 300 4032 

date 10 July 2014 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 

Date & Time 

Monday, 21 July 2014 10.00 a.m. 
 

Venue at 

Astral Park, Billington Park,  Leighton Buzzard LU7 4NT 
 
 

 
Richard Carr 
Chief Executive 

 
To:     The Chairman and Members of the DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE: 
 

Cllrs K C Matthews (Chairman), A Shadbolt (Vice-Chairman), P N Aldis, R D Berry, 
M C Blair, A D Brown, Mrs C F Chapman MBE, Mrs S Clark, K M Collins, 
Ms C Maudlin, T Nicols, I Shingler and J N Young 
 

 
[Named Substitutes: 
 
L Birt, D Bowater, Mrs B Coleman, I Dalgarno, R W Johnstone, D Jones and 
B J Spurr] 

 
 

All other Members of the Council - on request 
 
 

MEMBERS OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC ARE WELCOME TO ATTEND THIS 

MEETING 

 

N.B. The running order of this agenda can change at the Chairman’s 
discretion.  Items may not, therefore, be considered in the order listed. 

 



 

 

 

AGENDA 

 
 

1. Apologies for Absence 
  

Apologies for absence and notification of substitute members 
 

2. Chairman's Announcements 
  

If any 
 

3. Members' Interests 
  

To receive from Members any declarations of interest including membership of 
Parish/Town Council consulted upon during the application process and the 
way in which any Member has cast his/her vote. 
 

 Planning and Related Applications  

To consider the planning applications contained in the following schedules: 

 Planning & Related Applications - to consider 
the planning applications contained in the 

following schedules: 

 

Item Subject Page Nos. 

4 Planning Application No. CB/11/04444/OUT 
 
Address :  Land known as The Stearn Land, Clipstone Lane, 

Leighton Buzzard, Beds 
 
 Hybrid application for residential development 

comprising up to 270 dwellings with associated 
landscaping, open space, parking and internal 
access roads (in outline with all matters reserved); 
provision of formal public open space; cemetery; 
allotments; informal open space and structural 
landscaping; and access roads (change of use).
  

 
Applicant :  Arnold White Estates 
 

5 - 104 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
5 Planning Application No. CB/11/01937/OUT 

 
Address :  Chamberlains Barn Quarry, Heath Road, Leighton 

Buzzard 
 
 Outline: Mixed development including up to 950 

dwellings; a site for a lower school; a local centre 
comprising retail and community uses; informal 
open space and country park, incorporating 
allotments, orchards, new tree and shrub planting, 
and play areas.    

 
Applicant :  Arnold White Estates Ltd 
 

105 - 220 

6 Planning Application No. CB/11/01940/FULL 
 
Address :  Chamberlains Barn Quarry, Heath Road, Leighton 

Buzzard 
 
 Full: A link road from Heath Road to Vandyke 

Road incorporating re-alignment and bridge over 
the Narrow Gauge Railway, sewers, pumping 
station and SUDs basin.  

 
Applicant :  Arnold White Estates Ltd 
 

221 - 262 

7 Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 
To consider whether to pass a resolution under section 100A of 
the Local Government Act 1972 to exclude the Press and Public 
from the meeting for the following item of business on the 
grounds that the consideration of the item is likely to involve the 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

  

 
Exempt Papers 

 

Item Subject 
Exempt 
Para. 

Page 
Nos. 

8 CB/11/04444/OUT - Appendix A – Exempt 
 
To receive the exempt information for The Stearn 
Land, Clipstone Lane, Leighton Buzzard application. 
 

* 3 263 - 266 

9 CB/11/01937/OUT - appendix A - exempt papers 
 
To receive the exempt information for the 
Chamberlain Barn Quarry, Heath Road, Leighton 
Buzzard. 
 

* 3 267 - 272 



 

 

 



CASE NO.

Date:  08:July:2014

Scale:  1:10000

Map Sheet No

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.
Central Bedfordshire Council
Licence No. 100049029 (2009)

N

S

W E

Application No.

CB/11/04444/OUT

Grid Ref: 494062; 226638

Land known as The Stearn Land, Clipstone Lane,

Leighton Buzzard, Beds

Agenda Item 4
Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Item No. 4   

  
APPLICATION NUMBER CB/11/04444/OUT 
LOCATION Land known as The Stearn Land, Clipstone Lane, 

Leighton Buzzard, Beds 
PROPOSAL Hybrid application for residential development 

comprising up to 270 dwellings with associated 
landscaping, open space, parking and internal 
access roads (in outline with all matters reserved); 
provision of formal public open space; cemetery; 
allotments; informal open space and structural 
landscaping; and access roads (change of use).  

PARISH  Eggington 
WARD Heath & Reach 
WARD COUNCILLORS Cllr Versallion 
CASE OFFICER  Vicki Davies 
DATE REGISTERED  16 January 2012 
EXPIRY DATE  16 April 2012 
APPLICANT   Arnold White Estates 
AGENT  Hives Planning Limited 
REASON FOR 
COMMITTEE TO 
DETERMINE 

Departure, Major application recommended for 
approval and with objections from Eggington 
Parish Council and Heath and Reach Parish 
Council. 

RECOMMENDED 
DECISION 

 
Outline Application - Approval 

 
 

Executive Summary 
 
(i)  The application seeks planning permission for the provision of up to 

270 dwellings and formal playing pitches, as part of an extension to the 
east of Leighton Linslade. It was determined that the development 
should be subject to an Environmental Impact Assessment.  The 
Committee resolved to grant planning permission in relation to the 
Clipstone Park proposals at its meeting on 29th February 2014.  These 
proposals and the Clipstone Park resolution to grant together for an 
important element of the combined Eastern Leighton Linslade strategy.  

  
(ii) The representations from the statutory and non-statutory consultees 

received reflect the complexity of a planning proposal on this scale.  
There are a number of technical issues raised that the consultees 
expect to be dealt with by alterations to the proposals, use of planning 
conditions and the controlled implementation of the development at the 
detailed planning submission stages. The number of representations 
from local residents have been commensurate with the scale of the 
development, with concerns raised about traffic, loss of Green Belt, 
impact during the construction period, inadequate levels of 
employment, flooding, fears for the quality of the development and the 
need for the development in principle.  

  

Agenda Item 4
Page 7



(iii) In assessing the proposals, it is considered that limited weight should 
be given to the current adopted Development Plan, due to its age, but 
that the proposals are compliant with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and the emerging Development Strategy for Central 
Bedford shire. There will be harm to the Green Belt caused by the 
development but there are very special circumstances that can be 
taken into account. However, the Committee will also wish to take note 
of the lengthy history of examining the appropriateness of promoting 
development in the Green Belt in this specific location and that this 
should be an important material consideration that it should include in 
its decision making. The site’s current Green Belt designation requires 
the application to be referred to the Secretary of State for his 
consideration before a planning permission can be issued.  

  
(iv) An Environmental Statement has been produced of a substantial nature 

which identifies a number of environmental impacts that will require 
mitigation both during the construction period and after the 
development has been completed. None of the impacts are sufficiently 
substantial either by themselves or cumulatively to the extent that they 
cannot be mitigated in a satisfactory way. The mitigation package 
includes; controls over development during construction, provision of 
necessary infrastructure, the production of strategies for environmental 
protection and the provision of community facilities. 

  
(v) There are a number of issues arising from the proposals that are key to 

a commercially viable development as proposed but are also of 
significant concern to the statutory consultees or Council advisors. 
These issues are:  
 

•••• The amount of affordable housing that can be afforded by the 
development. 

•••• The impact of the development on the local highway network. 

•••• The potential for impact on recreational and protected sites 
accessible to the public near the site. 

 
Each of these issues is considered in detail and the Committee is 
presented with a detailed analysis of each item to assist its decision. It 
is not considered that the conclusion of the analysis of any of these 
issues requires planning permission to be refused taking into account 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  

  
(vi) There are a number of key benefits that can be attributed to the scheme 

and that are material considerations that the Committee should take 
into account. In particular, the application will contribute to the delivery 
of a substantial proportion of the housing proposed by the 
Development Strategy and for which there is underlying evidence of 
considerable need.  This application would also provide a substantial 
part of the formal playing pitches not only to meet the needs of the new 
development but to seek to remedy the existing deficiency within 
Leighton Linslade. 

Agenda Item 4
Page 8



  
(vii) The NPPF requires the Council to consider carefully the commercial 

viability of proposals as part of their decision making.  It is clear from 
the substantial Viability Appraisal work undertaken by the applicant 
and checked by the Council’s specialist consultants that the scheme is 
not sufficiently financially viable in current economic conditions to 
afford the full requirements for affordable housing and mitigation 
requirements this Council would normally expect as part of a major 
new development.  
 
However, the applicants propose that as the economy improves and the 
development can afford to pay for more contributions, a review/uplift 
mechanism enabling the community to ultimately require and receive 
the full package sought be included in the Section 106 Planning 
Agreement. It is considered this represents an appropriate and fair 
approach, and is the commonly adopted approach to similar types of 
developments in the current climate.  

  
(viii) The recommendation therefore is that this Council be minded to 

approve the planning application subject to the completion of a 
satisfactory Section 106 Agreement and that the application be 
submitted to the Secretary of State on that basis.  

 
 
Site Location:  
 
The application site is located on the eastern side of Leighton-Linslade and is 
approximately 2km from the town centre.  Eggington, Stanbridge and Tilsworth are 
located to the east of the application site with the A5 beyond.   
 
The site covers approximately 22.46 hectares and relates to a large rectangular field 
contained by Vandyke Road and adjoining land to the north west and Clipstone Lane 
to the north east.  The south eastern and south western boundaries are field 
boundaries, delineated by hedges, adjoining the Clipstone Park planning application 
area.   
 
The site is entirely pasture with boundaries defined by mature hedges and, along the 
northern boundary, trees.  There is a thin hedge running north to south which divides 
the site approximately in half.  Excluded from the application site but included in the 
site allocation as a whole is an area of land abutting the southern side of Vandyke 
Road which is pasture.   
 
The topography of the site is a gentle south-facing slope.  To the north of the site, 
across Vandyke Road is Shenley Hill, a significant feature in the landscape.   
 
The application site falls wholly within Eggington Parish.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 4
Page 9



The Application: 
 
The planning application is a hybrid seeking outline consent for the residential part of 
the scheme and a change of use in respect of the public open space land.   
 
The scheme consists of: 

− residential development comprising up to 270 dwellings, 

− associated landscaping,  

− open space, parking and internal access roads;  

− formal public open space comprising of playing fields on 8.52ha approx,  

− land for a cemetery extending to 1.16ha approx,  

− allotments covering 0.60ha approx,  

− informal open space and structural landscaping and access roads.   
 
 
The application was accompanied by: 

• an Environmental Statement consisting of volume 1 – main text; volume 2 – 
technical appendices and a non-technical summary 

• application drawings (for approval) 

• scale parameter plans (for approval)  

• illustrative layout plan 

• design and access statement 

• topographic survey 

• tree survey 

• planning statement 

• planning obligations heads of terms 

• statement of community involvement 

• sustainability statement 

• transport assessment 

• health impact assessment 

• flood risk assessment 

• community and leisure facilities assessment 

• waste management statement 

• contaminated land assessment 

• green infrastructure strategy 

• energy statement 

• affordable housing statement 

• economic statement 
 

 
 

Context of planning application in relation to the East of Leighton Linslade 
Strategic Site Allocation 
 
This planning application is one of four applications which have been made in 
connection with the on site delivery of the East of Leighton Linslade urban extension.  
All of the planning applications were considered to meet the criteria to need to be 
accompanied by an Environmental Impact Assessment.  
 
 

Agenda Item 4
Page 10



Three outline applications for residential development, with associated infrastructure, 
are under consideration.  There are two applicants involved, Willis Dawson Holdings 
and Arnold White Estates.     
 
This application: 
CB/11/04444/OUT - Hybrid application for residential development comprising up to 
270 dwellings with associated landscaping, open space, parking and internal access 
roads (in outline with all matters reserved); provision of formal public open space; 
cemetery; allotments; informal open space and structural landscaping; and access 
roads (change of use).  
Land known as The Stearn Land, Clipstone Lane, Leighton Buzzard 
Applicant: Arnold White Estates 
 

CB/11/02827/OUT - Mixed use urban extension including 1210 dwellings, 70 units of 
Assisted Living for the Elderly, Class B1, B2, B8 Employment, Renewable Energy 
Plant and Recycling Facility, a Neighbourhood Centre comprising Retail Uses (Class 
A1-A3), a Public House (Class A4), a Multi Purpose Hall (Class D1), a GP Surgery 
(Class D1), Offices (Class B1), a Children's Nursery (Class D1) and Associated Car 
Parking, Community Hall (Class D1), Retail Units (Class A1-A3), an Elderly Person 
Care Home of up to 70 Beds (Class C2), a New Eastern Link Road between Vandyke 
Road and Stanbridge Road together with associated residential and employment 
access roads with associated car parking, the laying out of an area to the north and 
south of Clipstone Brook as a Park forming part of an Area of Green Infrastructure, 
the laying out of structural landscaping and green corridors for recreational use, the 
laying of 7.45 hectares of land as formal pitch provision together with the erection of 
appropriate changing facilities, the construction of footways and cycleways, the 
construction of structures to accommodate Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems, the 
laying out of 0.75 hectares as Allotments, the construction of 2 neighbourhood 
equipped areas for play and four locally equipped areas of play, a Lower School and 
Middle School including a Multi Use Games Area, Land for expansion of Vandyke 
Upper School including a Multi Use Games Area.   
Clipstone Park, Land South of Vandyke Road & North of Stanbridge Road, Leighton 
Linslade.   
Applicant Willis Dawson Holdings.  
 
CB/11/01937/OUT – Mixed development including up to 950 dwellings; a site for a 
lower school; a local centre comprising retail and community uses; informal open 
space and country park, incorporating allotments, orchards, new tree and shrub 
planting, and play areas; and a new halt for the Narrow Gauge Railway (NGR).   
Chamberlains Barn, Heath Road, Leighton Buzzard.   
Applicant: Arnold White Estates. 
 
In addition a full planning application has been made for the part of the link road 
which would run through the Chamberlains Barn part of the site between Heath Road 
and Vandyke Road.   
 
CB/11/01940/FULL - A link road from Heath Road to Vandyke Road incorporating re-
alignment and bridge over the Narrow Gauge Railway, sewers, pumping station and 
SUDs basin. 
Chamberlains Barn Quarry, Heath Road, Leighton Buzzard 
Applicant: Arnold White Estates. 
 

Agenda Item 4
Page 11



A fifth application has been made for changes to the junction between the A505, 
Stanbridge Road and Billington Road.  This application has been approved and would 
provide a roundabout at this junction. 
 
CB/11/03450/FULL - Construction of New Roundabout and Link Road together with 
amendments to existing Highway Arrangements.  
Land at junction of A505 and Stanbridge Road, Leighton Buzzard. 
Applicant: Willis Dawson Holdings.   
 
All of these applications together, in association with subsequent reserved matter 
applications, would deliver the whole urban extension of 2500 dwellings, link road 
between Heath Road in the north and Stanbridge Road in the south along with the 
associated infrastructure.   
 
Ideally all of the applications would have been considered by the Committee at the 
same time, however the Committee has already considered the application on land 
known as Clipstone Park.  The Council does however fully intend to deal with the 
urban extension in a comprehensive and cohesive manner.   

 

National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) 
1 – Building a strong, competitive economy 
4 – Promoting sustainable transport 
6 – Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 
7 – Requiring Good Design  
8 – Promoting healthy communities 
9 – Protecting Green Belt land  
10 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
11 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
12 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
South Bedfordshire Local Plan Review 2004 Policies 
SD1 – Sustainability Keynote Policy 
BE8 – Design Considerations 
T10 – Controlling Parking in New Developments 
H3 – Meeting Local Housing Needs 
H4 – Providing Affordable Housing 
R10 – Children’s Play Area Standard 
R11 – Provision of New Urban Open Space in New Residential Developments 
R14 – Protection and Improvement of Informal Recreational Facilities in the 
Countryside 
R15 – Retention of the Public Rights of Way Network 
R16 – Control of Sport and Formal Recreational Facilities in the Countryside 
 
(Having regard to the National Planning Policy Framework, the age of the plan and the 
general consistency with the NPPF, it is considered that some of the above policies should 
still be given significant weight, however others are inconsistent with the NPPF and should 
be given less weight.  This matter is discussed in detail in section 1). 
 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan: Strategic Sites and Policies (adopted January 
2014) 
 
WSP5 – Including waste management in new built developments 

Agenda Item 4
Page 12



 
Luton and South Central Bedfordshire Joint Core Strategy (August 2011)  
(Although this Strategy was previously endorsed for the purposes of Development 
Management the Council resolved to endorse the Development Strategy for that 
purpose on 12th June 2014, therefore superceding the Strategy.  Reference to the 
document is included for completeness and historical reference.) 
 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (revised pre-submission version 
May 2014) 
Proposed Policies:  
1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
2 – Growth Strategy 
3 – Green Belt 
4 – Settlement Hierarchy 
13 – Town Centre Development 
19 – Planning Obligations and the Community Infrastructure Levy 
20 – Next Generation Broadband 
21 – Provision for Social and Community Infrastructure 
22 – Leisure and Open Space Provision 
23 – Public Rights of Way 
24 – Accessibility and Connectivity 
25 – Functioning of the Network 
26 – Travel Plans 
27 – Parking  
28 – Transport Assessments  
29 – Housing Provision  
30 – Housing Mix 
31 – Supporting an Ageing Population 
32 – Lifetime Homes 
33 – Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Provision  
34 – Affordable Housing 
36 – Development in the Green Belt 
43 – High Quality Development  
44 – Protection from Environmental Pollution 
45 – The Historic Environment 
47 – Resource Efficiency 
48 - Adaptation 
49 – Mitigating Flood Risk 
56 – Green Infrastructure 
57 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
58 – Landscape  
59 – Woodlands, Trees and Hedgerows 
62 – East of Leighton-Linslade  
 
(Having regard to the National Planning Policy Framework, weight is given to the 
policies contained within the emerging Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire, 
which is consistent with the NPPF.  The draft Development Strategy is due to be 
submitted to the Secretary of State in October 2014 and the Council endorsed it for 
the purposes of Development Management in the south area of the authority.  The 
weight to be given to these policies is considered further in section 4). 
 
 

Agenda Item 4
Page 13



Supplementary Planning Documents 
East of Leighton Linslade Framework Plan (Endorsed for the purposes of 
Development Management, May 2013).  
Design in Central Bedfordshire: A Guide for Development (Core Document and 
Design Supplements). (Revised and adopted by Executive, March 2014, as technical 
guidance.)  
The Planning Obligations (South) SPD 2009.  
Managing Waste in New Developments SPD 2006.  
Land South of the High Street, Leighton Buzzard – Development Brief.  Adopted 
March 2012 
Bridge Meadows – Development Brief.  Adopted March 2012 
 
General Introduction 
 
This proposal is for a development of significant size within the Green Belt.  The site 
lies on the edge of the Leighton Linslade urban area, with the whole of the site falling 
within Eggington Parish. 
 
The proposal will change the physical, social and economic environment for the 
residents of the area and beyond by providing or being associated  with major new 
road infrastructure, significant amounts of new housing, new employment floorspace, 
open spaces, community facilities, shopping floorspace and public transportation.  
 
For that reason, it is important that Members consider carefully the process by which it 
reaches a decision. This report is structured to assist the Committee in reaching a 
clear and lawful decision,  taking into account all of the matters that it must, specifically 
the information contained within the Environment Statement which accompanies the 
planning application.  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework usefully sets out the first principle that must 
be applied: 
 
“Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. The National Planning Policy Framework must be taken into account in the 
preparation of local and neighbourhood plans, and is a material consideration in 
planning decisions.” NPPF 2012 
 
This is caveated by the following: (author emphasis in bold) 
 
“This National Planning Policy Framework does not change the statutory status of the 
development plan as the starting point for decision making. Proposed development 
that accords with an up-to-date Local Plan should be approved, and proposed 
development that conflicts should be refused unless other material considerations 
indicate otherwise. It is highly desirable that local planning authorities should have an 
up-to-date plan in place.” (NPPF 2012) 
 
Therefore the structure of the report is dictated by the need for the Committee to 
determine the application by reference to the primacy of the Development Plan, the 
degree to which it is up-to-date, the history (particularly that relating to the Green Belt) 
of planning policy development that has supported the principle of an urban extension 
at Leighton Linslade and the material considerations that apply specifically to this 

Agenda Item 4
Page 14



planning application. 
 

Planning Context  
 
The application site has been identified as a site with the potential to accommodate 
sustainable mixed use development for a number of years.  Although the Bedford shire 
County Structure Plan (adopted 1997) identified that new housing would be located in 
and adjoining major towns, including Leighton Linslade this area was shown as Green 
Belt.  Co-operative work and studies led to the Milton Keynes and South Midlands Sub-
Regional Strategy (2005) which proposed the area as a location for growth where it 
stated: 
 
“Leighton Linslade has much merit as an additional location for growth. The urban area 
of Leighton Linslade lies roughly midway between Luton and Milton Keynes and 
comprises the two towns of Leighton Buzzard and Linslade on opposite sides of the 
West Coast Main Line. The towns have developed steadily to a population of 
approximately 34,000 and would benefit from a continuing and appropriate level of 
growth to improve their economy, functioning and infrastructure. This growth would 
contribute towards the overall SRS provision for Luton and South Bedford shire.” 
(MKSM 2005) 
 
Referring to the important need for new housing and development for the region, the 
document stated: 
 
“To achieve these objectives, the Green Belt will be reviewed around Leighton Linslade 
to provide the town with scope to increase its sustainability and make an appropriate 
contribution to the Growth Area. The required level of development will depend on the 
scale of growth to be accommodated within urban extensions to 
Luton/Dunstable/Houghton Regis.” (MKSM 2005) 
 
In 2008 the new East of England Plan, the Regional Spatial Strategy (“RSS”) was 
adopted.  The Milton Keynes South Midlands Sub Regional Strategy, insofar as its 
policies affected this site was enshrined within it. The RSS was considered at the 
Examination in Public of the review of the RSS, following which the Panel 
recommended two urban extensions within the MKSM Strategy Area for southern 
Bedford shire, Leighton Linslade and Luton/Dunstable/Houghton Regis. 
 
The effect of the new RSS and the Milton Keynes South Midlands Sub Regional 
Strategy was to allocate the East of Leighton Linslade Strategic Urban Extension 
(within which the application is located) for residential, employment and supporting 
community uses, in an area where the Green Belt was to be rolled back, albeit with the 
Local Development Strategy being asked to set the exact boundaries.   
 
Towards that end, a Joint Planning Committee from Luton Borough Council, the former 
South Bedford shire District Council and the former Bedford shire County Council was 
formally created to deliver ‘The Luton and South Bedford shire Joint Core Strategy’. 
This document reached Examination Stage in 2011 and included land to the east of 
Leighton Linslade as an urban extension for 2500 dwellings.  In light of this a draft 
masterplan for the extension was prepared in conjunction with the landowners.  
Following the withdrawal of that document and the dissolving of the Joint Committee 
for unrelated reasons,  the proposal is now included within the emerging Development 
Strategy for Central Bedford shire which will be submitted to the Secretary of State 

Agenda Item 4
Page 15



later this year. That Development Strategy includes a specific policy (policy 62) for the 
allocation of the East of Leighton Linslade urban extension and for the removal of 
Green Belt to accommodate it. 
 
Further background information on the justification for the proposed removal of land 
east of Leighton Linslade (along with other land proposed for removal to facilitate other 
development needed in the area) is contained in the Council’s published document, 
‘Central Bedford shire Development Strategy Green Belt Technical Note January 
2013’.  
 

Planning History 
 
A planning application was submitted by the applicants in 2008 for a larger scheme 
which included much of the land within this application.  That application was 
considered to over-provide housing at densities that the Council considered were 
inappropriate and the discussions with the applicant at that time eventually resulted in 
the applications now before the Committee.  Accordingly the 2008 application was not 
determined and was therefore disposed of in November 2013. 
 
Application No: SB/08/00329/OUT 
 

Location: Eastern Leighton Buzzard Incorporating Land at A505, Stanbridge Road, 
Hockliffe Road, Vandyke Road and Shenley Hill Road. 
 
Proposal: Provision of an urban extension comprising of residential development of 
4,400 dwellings (including affordable housing), Eastern distributor road and access; 
sites for lower, middle and upper schools; neighbourhood/local centres (3.7ha in total) 
comprising of class A1, A2, A3, A4, A5 units and community uses; 20.29  hectares of 
land for employment uses (comprising of class B1, B2 and B8 uses and reserve sites 
for energy centre and visitor information centre); formal open space extending to 17.97 
ha; informal open space and parks extending to 87.59 ha, incorporating sites for 
children’s play areas and NEAPs, LEAPs and a site set aside for an adventure 
playground; sites for cemetery (3.47ha) and allotments (2.7ha); biomass plant; 7.07 
hectares of reserve sites for community hospital, nursing home, 
FE college, skills and enterprise centre, youth activities centre, park and change 
facility and leisure centre. 
 
The next section deals specifically with the representations made by others on the 
planning application. Given the extent of the comments made, these have been 
summarised rather than reproduced in full. The full comments will be available at the 
Committee Meeting for reference. For clarity, the Case Officer has included a response 
where this would aid in the understanding of the comment made or where the report, 
when considered in its entirety, affords a straightforward response to be made. 
 

Representations: (comments by CBC case Officer in italics) 
 
Eggington Parish Council [The below is a summary of the Parish 

Council's lengthy submission.] 
 
The Parish Council object in principle to the 
development as the land should be retained 
as Green Belt.   

Agenda Item 4
Page 16



 
[This matter is addressed in the planning 
context section above.] 
 
The Parish Council are concerned at the 
rather limited amount of parking being 
envisaged at/near the cemetery and for the 
playing fields.  We are concerned that AWE 
appear to be totally reliant on WDH to 
provide both those changing facilities and 
the parking spaces for these playing fields. 
We would be happier if AWE were to be 
responsible for such provision.  We are also 
concerned that there doesn’t appear to be 
any provision for public transport (Bus 
service) to the cemetery. 
 
[The level of parking and its location will be 
dealt with at reserved matters stage.  The 
provision of the changing facilities and 
associated parking provided by WDH will be 
secured through a s106 along with the 
timing of its delivery.  The bus service 
routing will take into account the cemetery.] 
 

The Parish Council considers that the 
proposal does not provide sufficient car 
parking for the cemetery, allotments, playing 
fields and houses.  The width of the roads 
should also be wide enough to allow access 
for emergency vehicles.   
 
[The level and location of parking, and width 
of roads will be dealt with at reserved 
matters stage.] 
 
As a Parish Council, we foresee that 
Clipstone Lane - which is a really just a 
single lane “farm track” from Clipstone 
Farm/Manor Farm to service their fields, but 
which also leads to Shenley Hill (and the 
Waste Disposal facility there) - will quickly 
become a public ‘parking’ lane where people 
jump through the hedge and onto the fields. 
 

[This is a matter which will need to be 
addressed through conditions and within the 
detailed layout of the scheme at reserved 
matters stage.] 
 

Future development should not be permitted 
to the north and east of Clipstone Lane as it 

Agenda Item 4
Page 17



is designated as a flood relief area.  
Clipstone Lane should form a “hard-edge” to 
the development.   
 

[Clipstone Lane is the eastern edge of the 
development and there are no proposals 
within any local policy document or any 
planning application which would change 
this.] 
 

Eggington PC is also concerned that the 
route from the village (through Clipstone 
itself) to ‘the dump’ at Shenley Hill should be 
maintained.  
 

The Parish Council is also concerned about 
the delivery of sewerage infrastructure at the 
appropriate time.   
 

The Parish Council considers that the 
affordable housing target should not 
compromise the level of financial 
contributions secured through the s106. 
 
[Other comments and concerns noted.] 
 

Heath and Reach Parish Council Heath & Reach Parish Council wishes to 
object to the application on the following 
grounds: 
1.  Impact of traffic on the local road network 
and the village of Heath & Reach  
2.  The site doesn't meet the criteria for 
building on Green Belt land  
3. The application goes against the former 
Local Development Framework  
4. There is no infrastructure in place for the 
development. 
 
[All of the issues raised by the Parish 
Council above are addressed within the 
report.] 
 

Leighton Linslade Town Council Resolved that the comments made in 
relation to the overall development of 
Chamberlains Barn and Clipstone Park on 
28 September 2011 remained relevant to 
the application for the Stearn Land; that no 
objection be made to the application but 
Central Bedfordshire Council be asked to 
give careful consideration to all the elements 
detailed below and to assure the Town 
Council that timely delivery of all the 

Agenda Item 4
Page 18



necessary infrastructure would take place: 
- traffic volume, particularly through the town 
to the railway station 
- sufficient parking provision on the 
development 
- sufficient road width and associated safety 
aspects 
- safeguarding of green areas within the 
development 
- sustainability of the development and its 
impact on the town 
- a timescale to be agreed for the provision 
of the necessary infrastructure 
- impact on utilities, in particular the 
sewerage works. 
- affordable housing provided. 
 
[All of these matters are addressed within 
the report and secured through the legal 
agreement where necessary.] 

  
Adj Occs 
 
Objectors: 
 
Eggington 
11 Leighton Road 
Manor Cottage 
West Hill, Charity Lane 
 
 
Leighton Buzzard 
3 Bassett Court 
27 Blakedown Road 
3 Cetus Crescent 
12 Chamberlains Gardens 
19 Columba Drive 
51 Cotefield Drive 
5 Firs Path 
34, 38 & 43 Hydrus Drive 
18, 26 & 36 Mercury Way 
29 Pennivale Close 
2 Plummer Haven 
10 Talbot Court 
120 & 231 Vandyke Road 
21 Willow Bank Walk 
Westend & 59 Plantation Road 
 
3 with no or incomplete addresses 
 
 
 

27 letters setting out objections were 
received; the reasons for objecting are set 
out in the following sections.  
 

Principle of development/Green Belt 
- the land is Green Belt and should not be 
built on 
- prematurity of application 
- with Sandhills unfinished and ongoing 
development in Milton Keynes is there a 
need for more housing in Leighton Buzzard 
- Localism Bill 
 
[The principle of the development, the site 
allocation history and Green Belt matters 
are dealt with in section 5.] 
 

- already many unoccupied homes in the 
town 
 

[The information the Council has regarding 
the need for housing demonstrates that the 
need for accommodation cannot be met 
through the use of existing properties alone 
and that significant new numbers of houses 
need to be built.] 
 

Infrastructure & Facilities 
- concerns over the delivery of facilities 
- the applicants have not delivered on 
infrastructure provision at Sandhills and 

Agenda Item 4
Page 19



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Billington Park 
 

[The delivery of appropriate facilities and 
infrastructure would be secured through the 
legal agreement as far as viability permits.] 
 

- amenities, roads and infrastructure cannot 
cope with any more houses 
 
[The proposal would provide sufficient 
amenities, roads and infrastructure to cope 
with the proposed number of houses as well 
as addressing some deficiencies in existing 
provision.] 
 

- where would all the new residents work? 
 
[The east of Leighton Linslade development 
as a whole would deliver in the region of 
2400 jobs as required by policy.] 
 

- no healthcare facilities proposed and not 
enough in the town 
- the development should deliver the long 
awaited hospital 
 
[A site for a new 4 GP surgery is proposed 
within the Clipstone Park part of the site, 
CB/11/02827/OUT.  There is also an area of 
land in the control of the Health Authority 
south of Vandyke Road, the applicants have 
no control over this site.]  
 

- the trains are already full 
 
[The capacity of the rail network is not in the 
control of the applicant or the Council.] 
 
Flood Risk and Watercourses 
- flooding 
 

[The Environment Agency and Internal 
Drainage Board, the expert bodies on 
flooding, have no objection to the proposal 
subject to appropriate conditions.] 
 

Traffic and Transport 
- traffic gridlock would stop people using the 
town centre. 
 
[The Eastern link road is designed to relieve 
traffic within the town centre, this is 

Agenda Item 4
Page 20



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

explained in detail in section 7.] 
 

- adverse impact on the Narrow Gauge 
Railway. 
 
[Consideration of the impact on the narrow 
gauge railway is included in section 8.] 
 

- increase in traffic inappropriate for roads 
proposed 
- existing on-street parking restricts traffic 
flows 
 
[The Highways Development Control Officer 
is satisfied that any increase in traffic can be 
accommodated, the link road would provide 
a significant improvement to existing 
conditions.] 
 

- there is no public transport for the new 
residents to use. 
 
[Subject to viability assessments a financial 
contribution will be secured to provide a new 
bus service for the development and links 
with existing public transport.] 
 

Ecology 
- detrimental impact on wildlife and habitats 
- specific adverse impact on Badgers 
- green corridor would be insufficient for 
wildlife  
 
[Appropriate surveys have been undertaken 
and conditions will deal with mitigation 
measures required.  In addition the site 
would provide circa 4ha of informal open 
space. ] 
 
Residential Amenity 
- loss of countryside 
- noise and disturbance from new housing  
- noise from construction 
- dust from construction 
- floodlighting 
 
[Impacts on existing and future residents will 
be addressed at the detailed design stage 
when reserved matters applications are 
submitted.] 
 

 

Agenda Item 4
Page 21



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Impact on Leighton Linslade town centre 
- impact on character of Leighton Buzzard 
- impact on narrow gauge railway and its 
draw as a tourist attraction  
- the proposal would kill the town centre 
 
[The detailed design and appearance of the 
development would be dealt with at 
reserved matters stage.  It is not considered 
that the principle of the development would 
have an unacceptable adverse impact on 
the town centre.] 
 
Design of development  
- the houses should only be two-storey 
otherwise they would be out of keeping with 
nearby developments 
- roads within the development must be 
wide enough for emergency vehicles 
[The above issues will be dealt with at the 
detailed design stage when reserved 
matters applications are submitted.] 
 
- traffic would have to travel through the  
housing areas to access the cemetery 
[Traffic would gain access to the cemetery 
through the residential development, the 
route to the cemetery will need to be 
carefully considered at reserved matters 
stage to ensure it is appropriate both in 
terms of the residents and those accessing 
the cemetery.] 
 
Other Issues 
- the site appears to be land-locked 
- the application should not be dealt with in 
isolation as it relies on the Clipstone Park 
development 
- it is not clear when this development would 
be built and how access would be gained 
 
[The application site is part of the larger east 
of Leighton Linslade allocation and is 
included within the Framework Plan.  The 
phasing of the development will be 
controlled in the s106 agreement to ensure 
it is bought forward at the correct time.] 
 
- impact on Eggington 
 
[It is not considered that the development 
would have any significant adverse impact 

Agenda Item 4
Page 22



 
 
 
 
 
Comments: 
27 Ship Road, Linslade 

on Eggington.  There would be some views 
of the site however these would be limited.  
The issue of traffic impact is dealt with in 
section 8 below.] 
 
1 letter making comments was received 
setting out: 
- it is good to see such a well thought 
through planning proposal which would help 
address the growing housing shortage in 
Leighton Buzzard and doesn't ignore the 
need for additional community facilities. 
 

Monier Redland Ltd Own two sites one operational and one 
vacant on Vandyke Road.  No objection but 
highlight that there are no restrictions on 
working times or practices on the 
operational site which could give rise to 
complaints from residents of new houses 
near the site.  
 
[The impact of the operational site on future 
residents would be considered at reserved 
matters stage.] 
 
Also raise concern that the traffic 
movements along Vandyke Road are not 
disrupted to the detriment of the business.   
 
[There would be some level of traffic 
disruption during construction due to traffic 
controls however this should not be to the 
detriment of the business.] 
 
Highlight that the vacant site is within the 
masterplan area but has been left as a field, 
Monier may be interested in bringing their 
site forward as part of the comprehensive 
scheme. 
 
[Some discussions have taken place with 
Monier, however they have not resulted in 
any changes to the Framework Plan or the 
application proposals.] 

  
Leighton-Linslade Opposes 
Unsustainable Development (LOUD) 

Strongly object - research undertaken 
shows that the majority of residents find 
mass housing plans unacceptable and 
therefore to approve such an application 
would be undemocratic.   
 
 

Agenda Item 4
Page 23



The forthcoming Localism Bill would give 
more power to local people who are 
opposed to the proposal.   
The development would be on Green Belt 
land. 
 
[This is an in-principle objection.  The 
background and policy situation is dealt with 
in section 5.] 
 
Residents of Eggington have not been 
consulted.   
 
[Residents of Eggington have been given 
the opportunity to comment on the 
application and the Parish Council have 
been engaged with the process.] 
 
There would be an increased risk of 
flooding, an increase in traffic levels and 
public transport is not a practical solution.   
 
[There would not be any increased risk of 
flooding and the Environment Agency and 
IDB have no objection to the proposal.  The 
traffic implications have been carefully 
considered and the link road would help 
relieve town centre congestion.  Public 
transport and good foot and cycle links are a 
practical solution.] 
 
Infrastructure has not been delivered on 
other sites in the town and there is no 
guarantee it will be delivered on this site.   
 
[Appropriate infrastructure delivery in line 
with the viability of the project will be 
secured through a legal agreement.] 
 
There would be an adverse impact on tourist 
attractions.   
 
[The objection is not specific about which 
tourist attractions but there is no reason why 
increasing the local population would have 
an adverse impact on the number of people 
visiting.] 
 
There is no guarantee of increased local 
employment. 
 
 

Agenda Item 4
Page 24



[In relation to the employment land at 
Clipstone Park the legal agreement will 
contain requirements for appropriate 
marketing and promotion of the employment 
land however it is not possible to require the 
businesses to only employ local people.  
Nevertheless it is highly likely that local 
employment levels will increase.] 

  
 

Consultations 
 
This application has been the subject of a considerable number of consultations and 
the consultees and responses are set out below. 
 
  
Sport England  As the site does not affect any existing playing fields, 

the consultation is not statutory. 
 
Outdoor Sports Provision - Quantity 
 
The development proposes a total of 8.52 hectares of 
formal open space specifically for outdoor sport which 
would cover the majority of the eastern part of the 
application site.   
 

The development would generate an estimated 
population of 667 persons as set out in paragraph 
12.4.1 of the Environmental Statement.  Based on a 
standard of 2.4 hectares per 1000, the development 
would generate a need for an additional 1.60 hectares 
of outdoor sports provision.  As 8.52 hectares of 
provision is proposed in the development, the level of 
provision proposed would clearly exceed the 
recommended minimum standard which is welcomed.  
However, the formal open space is not intended to just 
to serve the residential development proposed in this 
planning application as it would also serve the 
adjoining Chamberlains Barn Quarry and Clipstone 
Park developments.   The three developments in total 
would generate an estimated population of 5,958 
(2,347: Chamberlains Barn Quarry, 2,944: Clipstone 
Park, 667: The Stearn Land).  Using the above 
standard, the three developments that collectively 
make up the urban extension would generate a need 
for 14.3 ha of outdoor sports pitch provision.  As 15.97 
ha is proposed in total across the developments this 
would meet the standard.  Consequently, the quantity 
of outdoor sports facility provision for meeting the 
needs of the residential development in the planning 
application and in the wider development is supported.   
The Illustrative Masterplan provides an indicative 

Agenda Item 4
Page 25



layout of the sports pitches proposed in the formal 
open space and comprises 7 football pitches, a rugby 
pitch and a hockey pitch.  Sport England would 
advocate that the range of pitches provided should be 
responsive to the local needs identified when a more 
detailed (reserved matters) scheme is prepared at a 
later date.  Consideration will need to be given to 
incorporating summer sports such as cricket as well as 
the winter sports pitches shown on the plan. 
 
While the proposals for making outdoor sports 
provision are broadly supported in terms of the quantity 
and range of facilities proposed for meeting the 
additional needs generated by the development, before 
these elements are finalised, it is therefore requested 
that the proposals are reviewed in the context of the 
considerations identified above in order to ensure that 
the facilities provided are appropriate for addressing 
the needs of the new community.  Any planning 
permission should make provision for all of the on-site 
and off-site outdoor sports facilities and (if applicable) 
financial contributions to be secured through a 
planning obligation and for full details of the proposals 
to be submitted at reserved matters stage. 
 
Outdoor Sports Facilities – Location, Siting and Layout 
 
While acknowledging that the proposed layout of the 
formal open space shown on the Illustrative Masterplan 
may be indicative at this stage I would wish to object 
for the following reasons: 

The open space would incorporate several lines of 
trees.  The potential severance of the playing field will 
constrain the range and size of playing pitches that 
could be marked out which will reduce the flexibility to 
respond to changing playing pitch requirements over 
time and will limit the potential for all of the open areas 
to be used for pitches  A further concern is that the 
pitches may not be visible from the changing rooms.  
The visibility of changing rooms from playing pitches is 
important from a child protection perspective.  While 
acknowledging the landscape benefits of including new 
trees to break up the formal open space, it is requested 
that they are not included in a detailed scheme in order 
to provide flexible pitch layouts; 

The formal open space should be designed to 
incorporate the proposed Sports Park that is planned 
on land immediately to the south (which does not form 
part of this planning application) to serve the other 
parts of the urban extension.  It is unclear from the 
masterplan how the planning and design of the two 

Agenda Item 4
Page 26



open spaces would be co-ordinated.  Vehicular access 
to the formal open space should be from a road 
serving both areas of open space rather than through 
the residential development proposed in the planning 
application in order to avoid residential amenity 
conflicts. 

 
Outdoor Sports Facilities – Quality 
 
The proposed formal open space will necessitate 
ancillary facilities such as a pavilion/clubhouse for 
changing rooms, equipment storage, club facilities etc 
and car/cycle parking.  No reference is made to such 
facilities in the planning application.  Sport England 
would advocate that a single large pavilion is provided 
to serve the formal open spaces in both developments 
as it would be inefficient to provide two pavilions/car 
parks in such close proximity.   
 

Sport England therefore makes no objection in 
principle to the proposals in relation to the quality of the 
proposed outdoor sports facilities subject to planning 
conditions relating to playing field ground condition 
assessments/specifications and pavilions siting/design 
being imposed as set out above.   
 
Indoor Sports Facilities 
 

As no proposals are made for indoor sports facility 
provision other than sports halls, Sport England would 
object to this aspect of the proposals.  However, I 
would be prepared to review this position if an 
appropriate financial contribution was made (secured 
through a planning obligation) towards off-site 
swimming pool, health and fitness etc provision.  The 
approach to making indoor sport facility provision 
should be discussed and agreed with Central 
Bedfordshire Council and other stakeholders before 
the planning application is determined. 
 
Management and Maintenance of Sports Facilities 
 
It will be important to secure the formal open space 
proposed together with arrangements for their future 
maintenance and long-term management through a 
planning obligation.  Sport England would recommend 
that maintenance for sports facilities is secured for at 
least a 10 year period, although a longer period would 
be supported if this could be locally justified. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 4
Page 27



Phasing of Sports Facilities 
 
No details of the indicative phasing of the development 
are provided at this stage as this will be dependent on 
the phasing of the adjoining Clipstone Park 
development if permitted.  I would therefore request 
that the detailed phasing proposals are secured 
through a planning obligation or condition. 
 
[The phasing of the delivery of the sports facilities 
would be a matter controlled in the Section 106 
agreement.  In terms of the objection made to indoor 
sports facilities, there would be a financial contribution 
within the legal agreement towards such provision 
subject to the viability analysis and additional 
contributions secured through the review mechanism 
could also be used for this purpose.] 
 

Ramblers Association No comment 
 

Environment Agency Consider that planning permission should only be 
granted to the proposed development as submitted if 
there are planning conditions to deal with surface water 
drainage, foul drainage, sewerage and contamination.  
 

Greensand Trust We welcome the approach to green infrastructure.  
However, the development must come forward 
alongside other proposed developments in the area to 
ensure that the correct balance of greenspace is 
achieved in overall terms. 
 
The arguments made above for integrating the urban 
form and the wider countryside are even more 
pertinent here, with a more attractive countryside area 
being potentially lost to development. 
 
Again, this site is within both a “Landscape Opportunity 
Area” and a “Historic Environment Opportunity Area” 
identified in the Luton and Southern Bedfordshire GI 
Plan. 

  
Leighton Linslade 
Churches 

LLC is extremely concerned that the two buildings (on 
Clipstone Park) will not be made available until after 

the 200th and 900th houses being occupied and 
facilities nearby in locations such as Van Dyke school 
are already heavily used and access is restricted for 
day time activities. LLC requests that a temporary 
Community House or other building (portakabin type), 
including set up and running costs, is made available 
at the very beginning of the development of the Stearn 
Land, that can be released as soon as the first 
Community Hall is made available within the Clipstone 

Agenda Item 4
Page 28



Park development. 
 

Given that this proposed development together with 
Chamberlains Barn equates to some 1220 houses, 
compared to Clipstone Park’s potential 1210 houses, it 
is extremely disappointing to see so little contribution to 
creating living, vibrant and sustainable communities on 
the part of this developer, particularly when compared 
to the Clipstone Park’s developer’s proposed provision. 
Given the scale of the Stearn Land and Chamberlains 
Barn developments we are bound to ask why AWE 
cannot offer a comparable facility instead of a much 
lower value and uncommitted provision and no 
provision within this particular development or 
contribution to those planned for Clipstone Park? 
 
[All social and community facilities will be provided on 
the Clipstone Park site by WDH.] 
 

Sustainable Transport This application needs to be determined against the 
context of the recent Clipstone Park application as the 
necessary infrastructure will not be in place until Phase 
3 of that development has been constructed which will 
provide the link road and the necessary infrastructure 
to enable access by sustainable modes of transport. 
 
The proposed street layout connects to that proposed 
for the adjacent area of Clipstone Park. 
 
The proposed footpath network accords with the 
master plan and the networks proposed in the 
Clipstone Park development, ensuring levels of 
accessibility are maintained. 
 
A public footpath/cycle route is proposed towards 
Clipstone Lane between the proposed education site, 
the Clipstone Park housing and the recreation grounds 
that form part of the Stearn Land.  The nature of this 
route needs to be clarified in order to maximise its 
potential as a cycling link to Clipstone Lane.  However 
there is concern about the nature/use of Clipstone 
Lane itself once the development is built out and 
provision for pedestrian and potentially cyclists as they 
exit the development needs to be looked at including 
facilities along the lane itself.  Whether or not Clipstone 
Lane is suitable for cycling will determine whether or 
not this route needs to be surfaced although as this is 
adjacent to the proposed school then it will be a 
potential to be a ‘route to school’ and its development 
needs to be seen as such. 
 
 

Agenda Item 4
Page 29



[The footpath/cycle route would not link into Clipstone 
Lane but would link to the leisure route which runs 
along the eastern edge of this application site and 
continues to the north in the Chamberlains Barn 
development and to the south within the Clipstone Park 
site.  The application states that it would maintain and 
enhance the rural character of Clipstone Lane, this is 
an approach that is supported.] 
 
Leisure routes are proposed around the edge of the 
Stearn Land and these need to maximise their 
potential but be sympathetic to the local environment. 
 
Footpath/cycle access is also proposed through the 
centre of the proposed housing area which connects to 
the link road however this is again dependent upon the 
delivery of the relief road itself and high quality 
crossing facilities at this location. 
 
Of particular concern is the lack of car parking 
provision for the formal recreation ground, the 
allotments and the cemetery as this has the potential to 
have a negative impact upon the local environment 
and the walking/cycling infrastructure.  It is important to 
determine how much traffic is likely to be generated 
and whether or not parking within the ‘central corridor’ 
and the principal access road is an adequate solution.   
The travel plan is deficient in a number of areas but is 
also unable to ‘standalone’ as it is dependent upon the 
delivery of the Clipstone Park development both in 
terms of infrastructure and other initiatives including 
the provision of the bus services. It is unlikely that a 
development of this size would be able to sustain the 
level of bus service needed to make it sustainable in 
transport terms.  If this development is to be 
sustainable in transport terms it is important that the 
travel plans are secured in accordance with Central 
Bedfordshire’s guidelines and that effective measures 
are put in place to make the development sustainable.   
It is expected therefore that the S106 agreement 
associated with this development will secure the 
following: 

• The travel plans themselves including the 
mechanisms for their future development 
and funding. 

• Public transport contributions 

• Contribution to station forecourt 
improvements 

• Contributions for walking/cycling and public 
transport enhancements linking the 
development to the town 

 

Agenda Item 4
Page 30



[The detailed layout of footways and cycleways is to be 
determined at reserved matters stage and would link to 
those already identified in principle within the Clipstone 
Park development.  The s106 will secure appropriate 
financial contributions and travel plan measures.  Links 
to the other s106 agreements and travel plans for the 
other sites will be necessary to ensure a 
comprehensive approach to sustainable transport.] 
 

Wildlife Trust We are concerned that the residents of the ~2000 
dwellings in this development and the other nearby  
developments including CB/11/02264/OUT at 
Stanbridge Rd, Leighton Buzzard and 
CB/11/01940/FULL & CB/11/01937/OUT Chamberlains 
Barn Quarry, Heath Road, Leighton Buzzard will have 
an adverse effect on Kings and Bakers Wood and 
Heaths Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and 
National Nature Reserve (NNR) by putting significant 
increased recreational pressure on this important site. 
We do not agree with the conclusion in the 
Chamberlains Barn Quarry application ES (5.4.52) that 
“the vast majority of recreational pressure arising from 
the ES proposals will be focused within the application 
site boundary, and that any increased use of the SSSI 
will not result in significant adverse effects”. We 
suggest that the developments should make 
appropriate sized / substantial contributions to the 
management of these nearby recreational open spaces 
(including Stockgrove Country Park and Rushmere 
Country Park) to mitigate this increased impact.  
  
We recommend that all these proposals are 
considered together with regards to their ecological 
impacts rather than as separate concerns.  
 

[The applicants have proposed a contribution towards 
the maintenance of the open space.  It is not however 
considered appropriate to require a contribution 
towards off-site provision as although it is accepted 
that the development may place additional pressure on 
existing sites, the new open space provided will off-set 
this.] 

 
CPRE [A lengthy representation was received and concludes 

with the following 4 points.] 
 
The proposals  
 
- stem from a Core Strategy that has never been 
independently assessed as ‘sound’ 
 

Agenda Item 4
Page 31



-  are not justified by any overriding case of    ‘very 
special circumstances’ 
 
- do not represent sustainable development 
 
- are not in alignment with local needs, and therefore in 
conflict with the Localism Act 2011 
 
[More detailed comments were made on the below 
areas, these are summarised and not a complete 
reproduction of the whole content of the letter 
received.]   
 
Planning Context 
The application emanates from the strategic urban 
extension proposed  for Eastern Leighton-Linslade 
(ELL) in the Pre-submission Core Strategy for Luton & 
Southern Bedfordshire.   This document was formally 
withdrawn in September last year.   The soundness of 
the ELL urban extension concept was never, therefore, 
subjected to independent scrutiny as required by the 
Town & Country Planning (Local Development) 
Regulations, 2004. 
 
Although within the outer limits of the revised Green 
Belt boundary envisaged for the  ELL urban extension, 
this application would push built development even 
further into the existing Southern Bedfordshire Green 
Belt than the other ELL-related applications which are 
already under your consideration, and to which we 

have already objected per our letter dated 21st 
September 2011. 
 
Unless and until the Green Belt boundary change 
proposed in the withdrawn Core Strategy is formally 
adopted within a new Local Development Plan 
document, the land to which this application relates 
remains in the Green Belt.  The applicant’s proposals 
involve development that is inherently inappropriate to 
the Green Belt .   They can therefore only be justified 
were ‘very special circumstances’ to be established, 
sufficient to override the level of harm caused to the 
Green Belt’s openness (PPG2).     We submit that no 
such case of ‘very special circumstances’ has been 
made out.      
 
Sustainability 
In the context of the NPPF we strongly refute (as we 
have already done with the other ELL-related 
applications) that the applicant’s site is one capable of 
delivering sustainable development, even in terms of 
the existing Draft NPPF criteria.   The Planning for 

Agenda Item 4
Page 32



Prosperity (Economic) criterion at Para.10 of the Draft 
NPPF talks of land needing to be ‘in the right place’.   
We say that the applicant’s site is not in the right place, 
a conclusion which becomes all too obvious when 
studying the applicant’s own Transport Assessment, 
and the issues exposed therein .   We deal with this 
further under ‘Traffic & Transport’, below. 
 
Traffic & Transport  
The application involves up to 270 dwellings, on top of 
the 2230 dwellings already applied for elsewhere within 
the ELL area.    It is not unrealistic to envisage that 
over 300 additional cars could be associated with a 
development of this size, on top of the 2500 -3000 
additional cars already associated with the other ELL-
related applications.    The applicant’s site is stated at 
Para. 3.5 of the T.A to be ‘within 3.1 km of the town 
centre’.     At this distance, notwithstanding the 
Transport Assessment’s emphasis on the potential for 
cycling, walking, and improved public transport, it is 
quite clear that a large number of town centre and 
cross-urban journeys are going to be made by car.  
 
A high proportion of these journeys will involve seeking 
access to the local road network within similar 
timeframes of the day, adding to the congestion that is 
already a feature of the access routes to the town 
centre and on the cross-urban route between Leighton 
Buzzard and Linslade.   This additional congestion 
must, in turn, impact on the reliability and effectiveness 
of the public transport enhancements the applicant 
proposes, as well as that of the wider local bus 
network.    
  
What is abundantly clear is that, even after provision of 
the Eastern Link Road and the application of Peak-
spreading/Travel Plan measures, this development and 
the other ELL proposals with which it is associated will  
not only ensure that Leighton-Linslade remains 
congested, but that it will become even more so.  The 
idea that an Eastern Leighton-Linslade urban 
extension, along with an Eastern Link Road and 
improved public transport, was somehow the answer to 
the town’s congestion problems, is exposed for what it 
always was – a myth. 
 
Employment 
In our response to the earlier ELL-related applications, 
we have already raised concerns over their 
sustainability in relation to the employment prospects 
afforded.   We have already pointed out that the actual 
number of local jobs that could potentially be created 

Agenda Item 4
Page 33



within the new employment zones, and elsewhere 
within the town, is going to be nowhere near the 
number of new residents who will be needing to be in 
work. 
 
We have also pointed out that it is already an 
unsustainable feature of Leighton-Linslade’s economy 
that a high proportion of its residents have to commute 
to jobs elsewhere, either by rail or, unsustainably, by 
car.   The ELL-related proposals can only serve to 
increase this out-commuting feature still further.    The 
Stearn Land application does nothing to address this 
situation – it adds a further 270 dwellings for nil 
additional local employment prospects. 
 
On this score also, the Stearn Land proposals fail to 
represent sustainable development. 

 
Localism  
The Localism Act, now on the Statute Book, promotes, 
inter alia, a planning process in which local 
communities will have a much greater say in the 
forward strategy for their areas, based on their own 
vision of local needs. 
 
The Pre-Submission C.S. itself states at Policy CS1 
that ‘Leighton Buzzard will be a secondary location for 
development that will provide development 
opportunities to meet the needs of the town and make 
a contribution to meeting the housing needs of the 
wider area’.    Taking that statement at its face value, if 
the housing needs of the wider area have been marked 
down it clearly follows that the ‘contribution’ required 
from Leighton Buzzard should also be marked down.  
This has not happened, and in our submission it should 
have been. 
 
 In any case, the ‘contribution to the wider area’ 
approach should now be seen as at  fundamental odds 
with that set out in the Localism Act, which clearly 
points to local need as the basis on which local 
development should take place.   Local people have 
spoken out strongly against development at Leighton-
Linslade on the scale proposed.   We submit that the 
principles of the Localism Act alone – quite apart from 
the other arguments we have presented – now require 
that the concept and scale of any development to the 
east of the town be completely re-evaluated. 

 
Leighton Buzzard 
Allotment Association 

The LBAA neither supports nor opposes the principle 
of this development. 
 

Agenda Item 4
Page 34



The provision of allotments to service the demand from 
the proposed houses is welcome.  
 
Should the Council be minded to approve this 
application then to encourage the long term success of 
this new facility the LBAA requests that the following 
measures are taken: 

• The allotments should be statutory within the 
meaning of the 1925 Allotments Act and should 
be owned and managed by Leighton Linslade 
Town Council.  

• The allotments should not be designed to be an 
extension to the adjacent cemetery. 

• The site should be quarantined during 
development to prevent damage to the soil 
structure and contamination by heavy plant, 
portacabins, rubble etc. 

• Any soil used to construct the allotments should 
be of organic quality as specified by the Soil 
Association. 

• Car parking is required. 

• A water supply is required.  

• Each allotment should be equipped with a shed. 

• The site needs to be surrounded by a security 
fence. 

• The suitability of the site for allotment use 
should be assessed by a suitably qualified 
independent expert. This should involve a site 
visit. If the site is deemed to be unsuitable then 
a replacement site within the development must 
be found 

• The allotment site should be made available 
earlier in the development rather than after a 
substantial number of houses have been built. 

 
[The detailed layout of the allotments and their 
specification will be dealt with through the s106 
agreement.  The representation sets out that the 
allotments would need to be managed by Leighton 
Linslade Town Council, however the site is within 
Eggington.  The allotments could therefore be 
managed by Eggington Parish Council or its nominee.] 
 

Public Protection No objections in principle.  A phase 1 desk study has 
been completed and recommends a phase 2 study 
which can be secured by condition.  Conditions are 
also recommended to deal with dust minimisation, 
working hours, noise levels within new dwellings and 
noise levels from fixed plant.   
 

Waste  The applicant will need to provide details on the  
following: 

Agenda Item 4
Page 35



 

• All private dwellings with individual bins will 
need to have access to the rear of their 
properties in which to be able to place their bins 
after collection.  This access can not be gained 
through the dwelling.  

• There will need to be designated collection 
points for the individual dwelling, these will need 
to be in the form of communal collection points  

• All communal properties will need to have 
communal bin store that meet the Council's 
requirement.   

• A full comprehensive Site Waste Management 
Plan will be required prior to development 
commencement. 

 
[These are issues to be addressed in reserved matter 
planning applications.] 
 
Due the size of this development we would request to 
be involved in Section 106 negotiations with regards to 
Waste Management.  We would also require a bring 
site to be provided by the applicant to serve the 
development.  
 
[The Section 106 would secure financial contributions 
towards the provision of bins for the dwellings along 
with appropriate bring site provision.] 
 

Tree and Landscape  The southwestern boundary hedge of the site appears 
to also form the garden boundary of adjacent 
properties. It is my experience that this is not good 
practice when attempting to retain such a landscape 
feature, since the hedgerow is often replaced by 
fencing, or is vulnerable to differing management 
regimes. The result is a detrimental impact on the 
hedge, leading to fragmentation and a reduction in its 
aesthetic and environmental value. The use of 
planning conditions to prevent this has proved to be 
unworkable in the past, and it is strongly recommended 
that the design is re-vamped to avoid this layout. 
 
Also, the proposed use of street trees to provide shade 
to properties in the summer will not be an aspiration 
shared by residents, especially when the needs of 
occupancy come to bear. I regret that the concept of 
shade trees, which is so welcomed in other countries, 
is not tolerated by a large majority of British residents, 
and the requests for tree pruning in these 
circumstances is a testimony to this attitude. Therefore, 
the careful use of species and cultivars is needed in 
these situations to prevent future nuisance, to avoid 

Agenda Item 4
Page 36



both the premature requests for maintenance work and 
the financial burden this imposes on the Local 
Authority responsible for them. 
 
[These are issues to be addressed in reserved matter 
planning applications and/or through the use of 
conditions.] 
 

Climate Change  I agree with the approach taken by the applicants to 
reduce the carbon emissions from residential 
dwellings. It is in line with the current practices (using 
the Zero Carbon Hierarchy of efficiency, on site 
generation and allowable solutions) and the Council 
policies on energy efficiency and renewable energy.  
 
The applicants have also proposed to take advantage 
of southerly slope of the site and orientate dwellings 
within the 30 degrees from south in order to maximise 
passive heating and cooling. This will help to address 
issue of overheating of the building during summer 
months.  I would expect that the applicant will use 
green spaces and tree planting to further reduce the 
heat island effect from which urban areas often suffer 
during hot summers.  
 
The applicants state in the 'water' section of SS that 
the average domestic potable water consumption will 
be reduced, but they do not state what level of CfSH 
will be achieved.  As the Central Bedfordshire is in the 
area classified by the Environment Agency (EA, 2008: 
Water resources in England and Wales) as being 
under 'high water stress' it is expected that as a 
minimum water consumption will be reduced to 105 
litres per person per day (as recommended by the EA). 
 

NATS The proposed development has been examined from a 
technical safeguarding aspect and does not conflict 
with our safeguarding criteria. Accordingly, NATS (En 
Route) Limited has no safeguarding objections to this 
proposal.  
 

Internal Drainage Board The Board note that the proposed development is 
located within flood zone 1 and outside the IDB district. 
 
It is further noted that the applicant’s intended method 
of storm water disposal is by means of a sustainable 
drainage system.  In the event that soakage tests 
indicate that soakaways are not a suitable method of 
storm water disposal, any storm water discharge to the 
IDB district and/or any adjacent watercourse must be 
attenuated to the appropriate greenfield rate and will 
require the Board’s statutory consent. 

Agenda Item 4
Page 37



 
It is also noted that it is the applicant’s intention to 
ensure future maintenance of SuDS is undertaken by a 
statutory body in line with the Board’s standard 
recommendation.   
 
In addition due to the scale of the proposed 
development the Environment Agency must be 
consulted for any comments they may have.  
 
The Board therefore suggest that planning permission 
should not be granted without conditions requiring that 
the applicant’s storm water design and construction 
proposals are adequate and in accordance with the 
FRA before any development commences. 
 

Urban Design In summary, in general, my view is the DAS is 
comprehensive and should promote/enable a 
development that builds on the existing context, 
integrates with it and reflects best practice in urban 
design.  A number of issues are raised which should 
inform the detailed design of the development. 
 

Archaeology The site of the proposed development contains the 
earthwork remains of medieval ridge and furrow field 
systems (HER 5462) and lies within a recognised 
archaeological landscape containing remains of 
settlement and other activity from the Bronze Age 
onwards. It is archaeologically sensitive and contains a 
locally identified heritage asset with an archaeological 
interest as defined by Planning Policy Statement (PPS) 
5: Planning for the Historic Environment. 
 
PPS 5 states that a planning application for 
development that will affect heritage assets must 
provide a description of the significance of the heritage 
assets; this should include a field evaluation where one 
is necessary to provide sufficient information to 
properly assess the archaeological interest (Policy 
HE6.1). It should also provide an assessment of the 
impact of the proposed development on the 
significance of the heritage assets (Policy HE6.2). This 
application is of sufficient scale to require an 
Environmental Impact Assessment and the preparation 
of an Environmental Statement. The purpose of the 
Environmental Statement is to provide information to 
identify and assess the likely impact of the proposed 
development on the environment and identify possible 
measures that will mitigate any adverse effects. The 
Council’s Screening Opinion for the Master Plan Area 
indicated that Archaeology was a topic that needed to 
be addressed in the Environmental Statement and the 

Agenda Item 4
Page 38



level of information required, including the results of a 
programme of trial trenching. 
 
The Environmental Statement does contain a chapter 
on (13) on Archaeology. This is supported by a 
Heritage Assessment (Appendix 13.1) containing a 
desk-based assessment and a summary of the results 
of a geophysical survey. It also sets out criteria for 
assessing the significance of the archaeological 
remains and the heritage assets they represent, the 
magnitude of the effects of the proposed development 
and makes proposals for mitigating that impact. 
 
The Heritage Assessment identifies the proposed 
development as containing earthwork remains of ridge 
and furrow, part of the medieval field system of the 
parish of Eggington. Ridge and furrow was a 
characteristic and common feature of the medieval 
landscape of Bedfordshire, however, changing 

agricultural practices since the mid 20th century have 
resulted in the loss of most of the county’s stock of this 
type of monument to the point where less than 4% of 
the original total survive as earthworks These rare 
survivals tend to occur in small, fragmented pockets 
and are of considerable significance as some of the 
last remaining vestiges of the medieval agricultural 
landscape. The Heritage Assessment describes the 
ridge and furrow as being of only local significance. 
However, as features that demonstrate connections 
with the archaeology and historic landscape of 
Bedfordshire and one of the small surviving parts of the 
medieval agricultural landscape they are of at least 
regional significance as defined in Table 13.2 of the 
Environmental Statement. 
 
The 2008 geophysical survey identified a number of 
anomalies of possible archaeological origin, including a 
series of pit like features and linear features. Although 
these features are presently undated and  
uncharacterised they have considerable archaeological 
potential. They could represent unenclosed settlement 
or occupation, possibly of later prehistoric or Roman 
date, which would fit in with the emerging 
archaeological landscape in the surrounding area. 
 
The Heritage Assessment discusses the impact of the 
proposed development on the heritage assets. It 
concludes that the development would destroy all the 
surviving ridge and furrow earthworks and any 
surviving subsurface archaeological remains. Although 
this is an outline application, on the basis of the 
indicative land uses shown in Figure 10 of the Heritage 

Agenda Item 4
Page 39



Assessment this is an accurate assessment of the 
impact of the development. A mitigation strategy for 
that impact is also outlined in the Environmental 
Statement and Heritage Assessment comprising a 
programme of archaeological investigation and 
recording in advance of development. 
 
Additional information is required on the archaeological 
remains the site contains comprising a survey and 
description of the ridge and furrow earthworks and the 
results of a programme of trial trenching however given 
the allocation of the site, the land uses shown in the 
Framework Plan, the size of the site and the timing of 
the delivery of the site  the additional work can be 
secured by condition.  
 
No objection subject to an appropriate condition 
requiring a survey and description of the ridge and 
furrow earthworks and the results of a programme of 
trial trenching. 
  

Landscape Surrounding landscape - visual impact:   
The LVIA and photo views describe how the site is 
located on a local ridge and development will be more 
visually prominent not only from  views along the 
periphery of the site but also from local villages located 
on outlying ridges.  Whilst the retention and 
reinforcement of existing structure planting - 
hedgerows and trees - around the site boundary, 
central 'green' corridor and arrangement with sports 
pitches as a landscape buffer is a positive measure I 
am concerned that the inclusion of 3 storey buildings 
could accentuate the visual impact of development 
especially from rural view points.   
 
Site layout:  
As I describe above the location of sports pitches as a 
green buffer to the east of the development site is a 
positive - as are the proposed trees between the 
pitches which will contribute to local landscape 
character and visual mitigation. 
 
The proposed inclusion of the cemetery in the green 
buffer is justifiable in principle but I suggest the access 
through a residential area is not acceptable.  Also the 
proximity to the sports pitches could  impact on 
tranquillity. 
 
[The detailed route to the cemetery would be designed 
at reserved matters stage and would need to carefully 
consider the impact on residents and those accessing 
the cemetery.  The location of the cemetery has been 

Agenda Item 4
Page 40



accepted in the Framework Plan however 
screening/buffers may be necessary to preserve the 
tranquillity of the area.] 
 
The proposed layout of dwellings along the central 
'green' corridor - with minimal frontages  and sides of 
plots facing onto the corridor - is a positive measure 
and will assist in retaining this landscape feature within 
the public realm.  But development to the south west 
boundary hedgerow - whilst shown as to be retained - 
will form the boundary to private rear gardens, in 
private ownership and control,  and therefore I am 
concerned this landscape feature will become 
degraded and eventually lost.  This boundary forms an 
important interface between two development sites and 
I suggest there is need to consider the urban design 
and morphology of the two  sites along this edge to 
ensure the hedgerow is included within the public 
realm, forms a GI feature and is managed 
appropriately. 
 
Surface Water Management:   
The site area to the south of the application site is 
shown in the landscape and ecology plan as including 
a detention basin as part of the SUDs and retention of 
the two existing ponds.  This area not only provides a 
key green space for residential dwellings overlooking 
this area but also forms part of the setting to the 
proposed school to the south.  The opportunity to 
identify this area as a key green , open space and an 
integral part of local GI needs to be explored further.  
How this multi functional green space is linked 
immediately to the south west and to the north east, 
encompassing the hedgerows, also needs to be 
considered further and beyond the application site 'red 
line' . 
 
[These are issues to be addressed in reserved matter 
planning applications.] 
 

Ecology I have read through the Environmental Statement and I 
am satisfied that the protected species interest in the 
site is limited.  As this is an outline application I would 
seek to ensure that further survey work is undertaken 
to inform any future development proposals as to the 
Badger interest on the site no more that 6 months prior 
to development commencing so as to allow for any 
licences to be applied for should Badgers be found to 
have moved into the site. 
 
With regard to bat and bird interest in the site I am 
satisfied that mitigation measures proposed will 

Agenda Item 4
Page 41



minimise impact on these species.  Hedgerows are 
predominantly to remain and new planting and the 
addition of bat boxes will offer enhanced roosting 
opportunities.   
 
Clipstone Brook CWS is identified as potentially being 
impacted on during the development process and I 
would wish to see a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan submitted prior to development 
works for approval to guide good practice during the 
development. 
 
Measures should also be in place to guide lighting on 
the development to prevent spillage into the 
surrounding green buffers and corridors, particularly 
those used by bats. 
 
[These issues can be controlled through the use of 
conditions.] 
 

English Heritage In August 2011 English Heritage provided advice in 
respect of the development of Clipstone Park, which 
adjoins the site for this current application. English 
Heritage is of the view that if both these sites are to be 
developed, then they need to be considered as a 
single holistic development with a single overall 
masterplan, and we are not convinced that that is 
necessarily the case at the moment. One would expect 
the density of development to reduce towards the 
boundary of the urban extension, but the layout 
suggests a uniform density across the half of the site 
that is to contain buildings. The built form also is very 
urban, and does not reflect the development found in 
rural settlements as suggested in the Design and 
Access Statement. 
 
From an examination of our records it is apparent that 
there are no scheduled historic assets within the 
boundaries of this site. Therefore, while this 
development may have a direct impact on 
undesignated buried archaeology within the site, its 
impact on designated heritage assets will be limited to 
the setting of nearby assets. The nearest listed 
buildings to this site are a group of three Grade II 
buildings in the hamlet of Clipstone, while the 
conservation area at Eggington, which includes a 
number of listed buildings (including two at Grade II*) is 
slightly further away. 
 
From observations made during the course of a site 
visit, it would appear that the new urban extension will 
be almost entirely screened from the Conservation 

Agenda Item 4
Page 42



Area and listed  buildings at Eggington by the 
topography of the area. The hamlet of Clipstone will be 
buffered from built form of the urban extension by 
recreational area and sports pitches. However, in order 
to ensure the rural character of the lane leading to 
Clipstone is retained, it will be important to ensure any 
sports provision near this lane is kept low key, and any 
requirement for floodlight pitches and/or all weather 
pitches, together with changing facilities and parking 
should not be located adjacent to this lane. 
 
Finally, it would be illogical for any development to take 
place on this site ahead of development of the site to 
the west (which includes the provision of a 
neighbourhood centre). Therefore, in the event that the 
LPA is minded to approve this development, English 
Heritage recommend the inclusion of a condition 
preventing commencement of this development until 
such time as the neighbourhood centre and area 
referred to as Vandyke Road in the Clipstone Park 
proposal have been built. 
 
Recommendation 
We would urge you to address the above issues, and 
recommend that the application should be determined 
in accordance with national and local policy guidance, 
and on the basis of your specialist conservation advice. 
 

Green Infrastructure The informal recreation and landscape corridor around 
the eastern edge of the development proposal could 
usefully be linked to create an ecological corridor 
between this and the informal recreation and 
landscape area with water retention features to the 
south of the housing area. This could take the form of a 
narrow corridor across the bottom of the formal 
recreation area. 
 
When the detailed design of the informal recreation 
and landscape corridors around the boundaries of the 
development area takes place, close working with the 
Clipstone Park development area and the Shenley Hill 
development area should take place to ensure that the 
design approach is consistent and access and 
ecological connectivity is maximised. 
 
The cemetery and allotments could be considered as 
part of the green infrastructure network if the tree 
planting and management were of appropriate species 
and design. However the access to these (especially 
access to the cemetery) through a residential area 
does not seem ideal. 
 

Agenda Item 4
Page 43



[The detailed route to the cemetery would be designed 
at reserved matters stage and would need to carefully 
consider the impact on residents and those accessing 
the cemetery. The other issues would also be 
addressed in reserved matter planning applications.] 
 

Highways Agency Directs that conditions be added to any planning 
permission granted in connection with the travel plan 
and appropriate reviews.   
 

Natural England The proposed development has potential to adversely 
affect Kings and Bakers Wood and Heaths Site of 
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). We are concerned 
that the significant increase in the residential 
population in this area (a combined total of 
approximately 2450 dwellings, and ~4-5000 residents 
when considered in-combination with Chamberlains 
Farm Quarry development) is likely to put increased 
recreational pressure on existing areas of open space, 
a significant proportion of which is SSSI, and National 
Nature Reserve (NNR).  
   
We therefore consider it essential that the proposed 
development contains appropriate amounts of  
accessible natural greenspace, on site, and makes a 
significant contribution to increasing the carrying  
capacity of the recreational open space resource off-
site in the vicinity.  
 
We are pleased with the generous GI provision 
associated with this development. At 14.57ha of GI  
overall (including recreation and landscaping, 
allotments and the cemetery) versus 7.89ha of  
residential, this development has 64.87% attributed to 
green infrastructure. We also appreciate the  
applicants vision relating to GI, and particular details 
such as the retention and enhancement of the  ponds 
and hedgerows, and creation of green corridors.  
  
Whilst we welcome both the scale and vision of green 
infrastructure in this development, the ES lacks detail. 
We note that, as an outline application, it is not likely to 
be sufficiently detailed yet to identify all the intended GI 
features and therefore recommend securing a GI 
Statement by planning condition. 
 
Five species of bat have been found to use the site: 
common pipistrelle, soprano pipistrelle, serotine, 
noctule and brown long eared bat, which ties in with 
previous surveys on the Clipstone park site. Given  
the value of the site for several bat species, we request 
that the area is enhanced for bats, particularly  

Agenda Item 4
Page 44



in terms of the creation and retention of foraging routes 
and features. We appreciate that bat boxes and low 
lighting have been considered.  
  
Overall, there is little detail on enhancement for any 
protected species. We therefore request that 
enhancement should be considered for all species in 
much greater detail in the GI statement above, or as a 
separate document secured by planning condition.  
 
[The Council's Ecologist does not raise any specific 
concern in relation to enhancement works, however a 
condition will be added to any permission granted 
requiring an overarching landscape and open space 
strategy which would also include ecological 
enhancements.] 
 

Housing Development 
Officer 

Original comments at 2012 
This application meets the threshold to provide 
affordable housing. I would expect to see 35% 
affordable housing or 95 affordable units.  I would like 
to see the units dispersed throughout the site and 
integrated with the market housing to promote 
community cohesion & tenure blindness. I would also 
expect all units to meet the code for sustainable homes 
level 3 and meet all HCA design and quality standards. 
If these comments are taken on board, I would support 
this application. 
 
Updated comments at 30/5/14 
I can confirm that the proposed minimum 20% 
affordable housing the development is acceptable. The 
20% is somewhat lower than our policy requirement of 
30% affordable. However, the report illustrates the 
viability issues with the site and the assumptions used 
within the viability report appear to reflect the prevailing 
market conditions standard industry assumptions.  
 
BPS have found the 50/50 split viable and I would 
agree with this finding. The tenure split of 50% shared 
ownership and 50% affordable rent is somewhat 
different to the tenure split outlined in the Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment (71% Rent and 29% 
intermediate tenures) however it is acceptable as this 
tenure split helps to enable a higher percentage of 
affordable housing.  
 
With a low minimum affordable percentage, there will 
need to be a review mechanism within the S106 in 
order to gain secure further delivery of affordable 
housing if the market improves as the development 
progresses. In terms of additional delivery of affordable 

Agenda Item 4
Page 45



housing, the onsite provision of affordable housing 
would be more favourable rather than off site provision. 
With the increasing need for Central Bedfordshire 
Council to take some of the housing need from Luton 
the provision of any additional onsite affordable 
housing from the ELL scheme will be beneficial.  
 

Local Development 
Framework  

These comments are written on the basis of the 
consistency of the application with the emerging 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire. If you 
have specific queries in relation to the existing South 
Bedfordshire Local Plan then please let me know. 
However, I thought it would be helpful if I try to clarify 
the position in relation to the Development Plan for this 
part of Central Bedfordshire.  
 
From my understanding, the Development Plan 
consists solely of the saved policies in the South 
Bedfordshire Local Plan Review (adopted January 
2004). The previously saved policies from the Structure 
Plan were revoked with the East of England Plan.  
 
The Joint Core Strategy for Luton and southern Central 
Bedfordshire that was endorsed for Development 
Management purposes by Central Bedfordshire 
Council’s Executive in August 2011 still remains a 
consideration. However, given the time that has 
elapsed since this endorsement and the progress now 
made on the Development Strategy, I would be 
inclined to give more weight to the Development 
Strategy than to the endorsed Joint Core Strategy.  
 
Work on the Development Strategy for Central 
Bedfordshire started in October 2011, following the 
withdrawal of the Joint Core Strategy. Informal 
consultation took place during February and March 
2012, with consultation on a draft Strategy following in 
June 2012. The pre-submission version of the Strategy 
was published for 6 weeks in January 2013 and 
submission to the Secretary of State was expected in 
mid-June 2013.  
 
However, the recent publication of information from the 
Office for National Statistics (ONS) has prompted a 
review of the population and household projections that 
underpin the Development Strategy. This review work 
is currently underway and we will need to consider the 
implications for the Strategy. We will endeavour to 
keep to a minimum the delay to the adoption of the 
Development Strategy, originally scheduled for 
February 2014.  
 

Agenda Item 4
Page 46



[It is anticipated that the Development Strategy will be 
submitted to the Secretary of State for examination in 
October 2014.] 
 
In general there has been a strong link between the 
plan-making process and the development of this 
planning application, with each informing the other. 
This relationship goes back a number of years to early 
work on the Joint Core Strategy for Luton and South 
Beds. The basic principles of this application – the 
location for growth, the broad housing and employment 
numbers, the infrastructure required – are therefore 
consistent with the emerging Development Strategy.  
 
In a plan-led planning system, the importance of the 
plan-making process should not be underestimated. 
Ideally the examination process for the Development 
Strategy would have run its course prior to 
consideration of a major planning application. I 
understand the circumstances that have led to this 
planning application being drawn up in advance of the 
plan-making process. I also accept that the plan-
making process has done itself no favours in taking so 
long to reach this stage (due to factors largely beyond 
Central Bedfordshire Council’s control). However, 
determining a planning application of this scale in 
advance of the plan-making process should not be 
done lightly, if the integrity of the plan-led system is to 
remain. There would need to be significant benefits to 
the public interest to justify such a decision.  
 
The following are the key issues raised by respondents 
with respect to the East of Leighton Linslade Urban 
Extension. These have been drawn from the Preferred 
Options (June 2012), and Pre-Submission (January 
2013) consultations. In total 183 representations were 
received - of these 129 objected to the proposal and 37 
supported it. 
 
Concerns were raised about the potential adverse 
impact on traffic generation pointing out that the roads 
in the town are already congested and the new 
allocation would make this worse. On this point, 
several respondents expressed concern that the new 
distributor road does not do the job it should do, and 
there are requests for it to be extended and increased 
in capacity or turned into a by-pass. 
 
With respect to other infrastructure, several 
respondents considered that there is already an 
existing infrastructure deficit and that development at 
East Leighton Linslade will make matters worse. 

Agenda Item 4
Page 47



 

With regard Green Belt, the point was made that roll-
back of the Green Belt in this location could lead to 
increased coalescence with nearby villages, including 
Eggington village. Linked to this some respondents felt 
that the proposed new Green Belt boundary was 
unclear, and questioned whether there will be further 
expansion in the future. 
In terms of viability, some respondents were concerned 
that viability of the proposal has not been adequately 
proven, and that the proposed CIL charges could 
impact on the delivery of infrastructure, and queries 
regarding whether the S106 mechanisms will be able 
to meet the likely shortfall in infrastructure provision. 
 
There are doubts about the employment allocation; will 
it create the jobs needed so people do not have to 
commute and the developers consider it is too large. 
 
Finally, with respect to environmental considerations, 
flooding was raised as an issue across the whole site. 
 
While the delay to submission of the Development 
Strategy may have increased uncertainty to some 
extent, the initial indications from the revised 
population and household projections is that the 
requirement is increasing rather than decreasing. It is 
more likely that we will need to find additional sites, 
rather than seek to remove existing allocations.  
 
Furthermore, the particular circumstances of this site 
mean it appears highly suitable for development, as set 
out in the Sustainability Appraisal report, whose 
findings are consistent with previous positive 
assessments of this site. Of particular note are the size 
of the site, its location adjacent to an area of high 
housing demand, its ability to deliver key road 
infrastructure to the benefits of the wider area and the 
relative lack of constraints. In my view, it is very difficult 
to envisage a strategy to meet housing needs that 
does not include, in some form, development of this 
site. This should be considered in relation to the 
question of prematurity.  
 
The site remains in the Green Belt until adoption of the 
Development Strategy. Given the delay to 
Development Strategy however, an earlier decision on 
the above planning applications would be in the 
interests of the Council given the pressing need to 
deliver housing in the area and the importance of the 5 
year housing land supply in determining applications. 
However, this needs to be done in the context of 

Agenda Item 4
Page 48



demonstrating very special circumstances to justify 
development in the Green Belt.  
 
In terms of the supply of housing land, the Council’s 
published Housing Trajectory shows 9,176 dwellings 
being likely to be completed during the 5-year period 
from 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2019.  Of these, around 
850 are predicted to come forward from East Leighton, 
with 100 dwellings in 2015/6. This is a challenging 
timescale and if early delivery is to be achieved, 
progress on an outline planning permission is needed 
at the earliest opportunity. This is a significant 
consideration. 
 
A critical issue is the provision of affordable housing. 
With the site representing a significant element of the 
overall housing delivery in the Development Strategy, it 
necessarily represents a significant opportunity for the 
delivery of the overall affordable housing requirement. 
The 2012 Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
(SHMA) indicated a requirement for around 31.8% 
affordable housing over the plan period, over 9,000 
affordable dwellings. In addition, Luton Borough 
Council has made it clear that they are unable to 
provide for the full extent of housing need arising in 
their area. This unmet need will include an element of 
affordable housing. This is an area where, through 
minor textual changes, we are seeking to introduce 
greater clarity to the Development Strategy in that the 
planned provision will be meeting an element of need 
arising from within Luton 
 
The Development Strategy policy requirement for this 
site would suggest around 95 affordable homes – a 
significant proportion of the total requirement for the 
area. Development viability will be an important 
consideration here and Development Strategy policy 
34 places emphasis on the provision of a “viable 
degree of affordable housing”. This flexibility reflects 
recent Government pronouncements and statements in 
the NPPF.  
 

Highways Development 
Control  

This is a comprehensive Transport Assessment which 
covers a lot of ground.  However there are some areas 
of concern.  In particular, because of the potential 
growth planned for Leighton Buzzard, it is not always 
clear of the impact of the development itself.   
 
The conclusion is that the Transport Assessment does 
not give a fair picture of the impact this proposal has 
on the existing highway network.  However it should be 
remembered that this authority has worked closely with 

Agenda Item 4
Page 49



the applicants’ agents on the surrounding land 
(Clipstone Park) and agreed a sophisticated traffic 
micro simulation model and have subsequently 
indorsed this model which included the proposed flow 
from this application site (The Stearn Land).  The main 
emphasis on this is that to encourage internalisation 
and to attract the low flows as indicated then it should 
be considered that the majority of the surrounding 
development (Clipstone Park) will need to be complete. 
 
If this proposal is accepted it should be on the proviso 
that it should not be implemented without either further 
work on the traffic impact of the surrounding highway 
network or the implementation and completion of the 
surrounding development at Clipstone Park. 
 
[The Highway Development Control Officer’s 
comments relate to the need for internalisation of trips 
to meet the low level of car journeys the development 
would generate. This site is accessed through 
Clipstone Park.  The Clipstone Park phasing plan 
shows that access to this application site would not be 
possible until phase 3 of the development.  The same 
phasing plans show that the neighbourhood centre 
would be within phase 2 of the development.  Whilst 
the phasing needs to be secured within a legal 
agreement it would appear to be possible for the 
neighbourhood centre to be delivered prior to dwellings 
being occupied on the Stearn Land.] 
 
There also needs to be clear commitment to the 
support of sustainable travel and in particular the new 
bus service.  There will also be a need to contribute 
financially to improvements at the railway station and 
to make changes to the travel plan. 
 
[Financial contributions towards the station forecourt 
improvements will be secured subject to viability 
analysis.  The legal agreement will contain obligations 
in relation to the bus service and implementation of 
travel plans measures.  A condition can be added to 
any permission granted requiring a review of the travel 
plan which can deal with any changes required.]   
 
[Further detailed comments from the Highways 
Development Control Officer will be included below in 
relevant sections of the report.] 

 

Determining Issues 
 
The “Determining Issues” in this report sets out the relevance of the current 
Development Plan to the decision, followed by the importance of the National Planning 

Agenda Item 4
Page 50



Policy Framework and the Green Belt. 
 
Furthermore, there is detail on how the policy context above is reflected through the 
preparation of the emerging Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire.   
 
Therefore, the main determining issues for the application are considered in the 
following sections: 
 
1. Compliance with the Adopted Development Plan for the Area. 

 
2. Compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
3.  The weight applied to the Luton and South Bedfordshire Joint Core Strategy. 

 
4.  The weight to be applied to the emerging Development Strategy for Central 

Bedfordshire. 
 

5. Compliance with the East of Leighton Linslade Framework Plan. 
 

6. The Green Belt and assessment of the potential “very special circumstances” 
that may arise. 
 

7. Environmental Impact Assessment: Issues arising (including comments and 
objections from consultees) and their mitigation. 

 
8. Issues 

a. Affordable Housing  
b. Transport Impact 
c. Green Infrastructure and Open Space  
d. Off-site Impacts: SSSI's and recreational sites accessible to the public 
e. Car Parking Standard  
f. Design and Implementation. 
 

9. The Viability Appraisal and consequences for a Section 106 Planning 
Agreement 
 

10. The Requirement for Planning Conditions. 
 

11. Conclusion 
 

Considerations for determining the Planning Application 
 
1. Compliance with the Adopted Development Plan for the Area 
  
1.1 The formal Development Plan for this area comprises The Minerals and 

Waste Local Plan (M&WLP) 2014 and the South Bedfordshire Local Plan 
Review (SBLPR) 2004.  

  
1.2 The Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2014 includes policy WSP5 which 

requires that all developments should include sufficient and appropriate waste 
storage and recovery facilities in their design and layout.   

  

Agenda Item 4
Page 51



1.3 The relevant policies of the SBLPR 2004 are listed at the start of this report. 
This list reflects the fact that only some of the policies have been “saved” for 
use. Of these policies, the following are directly relevant to the proposal and 
should therefore be taken into account. Each policy in turn is followed by a 
recommendation on the weight that should be applied to it when making a 
decision on the planning application. 

  
1.4 In respect of the Green Belt, the Local Plan proposals map confirms that the 

site lies within the Green Belt where no exception for major development is 
made.  Therefore the Committee will need to consider whether there are any 
very special circumstances for development of the site.   
 
[The key issue of principle when considering the planning application is that 
as the proposed East of Leighton Linslade urban extension allocation has not 
yet been formally confirmed in an adopted Development Plan, the application 
site has not yet been removed from the Green Belt.  Therefore a key 
consideration in determining this application is whether the application is 
premature in advance of the formal adoption of the replacement Development 
Plan.  Then having considered that, whether there are very special 
circumstances that would support planning permission in advance of the 
adoption of the Development Strategy.  It is a fact that the site lies in the 
Green Belt and so the planning application represents inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt. Therefore it should only be permitted if very 
special circumstances (VSCs) apply. This argument is presented in detail 
within section 6 below.] 

  
1.5 Policy BE8 lists a number of design considerations that development should 

generally take into account.  
 
[The proposed design treatment is included in the submitted Design and 
Access Statement (DAS) submitted with the planning application.  
 
In respect of this application, a commentary in respect of each criteria of the 
policy is provided below by the Case Officer: 
 

• The proposal covers an area of rural fringe and agricultural land 
adjacent to Clipstone Lane.  The existing boundary hedgerows and 
trees and the hedgerow traversing the site are important landscape 
features as well as having an ecological benefit.  These features are 
therefore retained within the scheme.  In addition there are trees and 
other natural features that can be kept and enhanced to add to the 
attractiveness of the setting of any new development.  

• There is little character that is distinctive of the area, though there are 
landscaping opportunities within the site to assist in enhancing the 
appearance of the area.   

• Whilst the policy seeks to “complement and harmonise with the local 
surroundings” the area is on such a scale that a more sophisticated 
approach is required.  The DAS includes an illustrative Master Plan 
which, though not part of the Planning Application, does include ideas 
that identify where the size, scale, density, massing, orientation, 
materials and overall appearance can raise the standard of design in 

Agenda Item 4
Page 52



the area. Crystallising the benefits of the development in this way will 
require planning conditions to ensure that design quality is maintained 
throughout the development period. 

• The setting of the development in the landscape is also a key 
component of the DAS and undoubtedly the development will have a 
significant impact both on views from Eggington towards the north, from 
Heath and Reach towards the south and other viewpoints within 
Leighton Buzzard itself as well as the wider countryside. The policy 
asks for such views not to be harmed, to enhance them or to provide 
new ones. It is the latter part of the policy that is most relevant given 
the scale of the development. 

• Providing suitable facilities for access by the disabled, elderly persons 
and young families is a matter that will mostly be considered at later 
design stages. However, the scale of the proposed development offers 
many opportunities for effective design for those groups to be 
employed. 

• Similarly, providing a layout and design to limit opportunities for crime 
to be committed is a matter that will mostly be considered at later 
design stages.  

• The policy asks that there is no unacceptable adverse effect upon 
residential amenity and privacy. This scheme does not share a 
boundary with existing housing on the eastern edge of Leighton 
Linslade and therefore the consideration of residential amenity will 
relate to the development itself and the neighbouring development 
proposals. Within the development itself, this would be a matter for later 
design stages with guidance from the Local Planning Authority in the 
form of the document: “Design in Central Bedfordshire: A Guide for 
Development (Core Document and Design Supplements)”. 

• The development includes new uses which may generate noise, 
specifically the playing pitches. These are generally identified within the 
planning application and considered as part of the Environmental 
Statement.  There will be a need to ensure that any required mitigation 
is identified specifically and dealt with at the relevant detailed design 
stage and also include all necessary planning conditions. 

• The policy seeks an efficient use of scarce resources and land. Once 
more the scale of the development offers a variety of opportunities. 
Planning conditions that require the provision of Design Codes can 
identify specific ways of doing so. 

• Lighting arrangements for the development are likely to be an important 
consideration at later design stages. The most significant lighting 
proposals will be associated with the playing fields. Care will be 
required to ensure that lighting does not harm the wider landscape 
setting, historic features and general public amenity. Particular 
attention will need to be paid to the lighting of the playing pitches 
located on the eastern edge of the development to minimise the impact 
as highlighted by English Heritage.  Appropriate conditions will be 
required.  

 

Agenda Item 4
Page 53



• Approximately 65% (14.5 hectares) of the total site area will be open 
space (formal open space; sports provision; informal open space; 
landscaped areas; allotments; cemetery etc) and subject to some form 
of landscaping; not including private gardens.  A considerable amount 
of attention is paid to this aspect of the proposal within the DAS.  

Finally, in accordance with this policy, the Environmental Statement 
accompanying the application includes a detailed section on landscape and 
visual impact.   

  
1.6 
 

Policy T10 sets out the considerations that will apply when looking at the 
provision of car parking in new developments.  
 
[However, the policy is written as a set of amendments to an earlier Parking 
Standards document published in 1994 which is itself now significantly out of 
date and is essentially superseded by the more recent National Planning 
Policy Framework statements. Therefore Policy T10 is no longer in day to day 
use by the Council. A parking policy for Central Bedfordshire was approved by 
the Council in October 2012 which has recently been superceded by the new 
parking standards included in the revised Design Guide and within the revised 
pre-submission version of the Development Strategy.  For these reasons, it is 
considered that very little weight should be given to Policy T10 except insofar 
as it points to the importance of ensuring that sufficient car parking provision 
is made in new developments.] 
 

1.7 Policy H3 seeks the provision of housing to meet the needs of the elderly, 
single and other small households, with a third of all proposed housing to be 
on 1 and 3 bedroom types. Exceptions are allowed to the latter requirement if 
a rigid application of this would be inappropriate.  
 
[The application is of a scale that can accommodate a wide variety of housing 
types over a 20 year period, therefore over a long period of housing market 
and population change.  The mix of housing types and sizes will be dealt with 
through area plans which will be secured by condition.] 

   

1.8 Policy H4 sets out the terms of the provision of affordable housing and 
requires that such provision will be sought from developments of over 1 
hectare in size. Planning Obligations are required to ensure that, amongst 
other matters, that occupancy is restricted to people in need within South 
Bedfordshire. No specific target amount is included within the policy, though 
there is an indicative target level stated in the supporting text of the policy of 
20%. 
 
[However, this policy is out-of-date for the following reasons. The policy was 
established before 2004 and before the substantial work that was undertaken 
in preparation of the subsequent Luton and South Bedfordshire Core Strategy 
(withdrawn but adopted by CBC for Development Management purposes in 
2011)  and as taken forward by the emerging Central Bedfordshire 
Development Strategy. In particular it is recognised that the proposed 
strategic urban extensions were promoted to assist in meeting the needs for 
housing across the whole of the conurbation and not just within South 
Bedfordshire: which is itself of course no longer in existence as a local 

Agenda Item 4
Page 54



authority area. Recent work for the Development Strategy supports a 
requirement of around 30% of the development for affordable housing 
purposes.  
 
Therefore it is recommended that limited weight is afforded to this policy in 
respect of occupancy and indicative affordable housing target. Instead, the 
affordable housing policy in the emerging Central Bedfordshire Development 
Strategy, which would normally require 30% affordable housing as part of this 
development is of greater relevance. Other aspects of the policy remain 
relevant and the application is generally compliant with them.] 

  
1.9 Policy R10 sets out the requirements for play areas.  

 
[The application submissions refer to such provision, though the scale of the 
development is considerably higher than the scale likely to have been 
envisaged by this policy. Since this policy was established, new guidance was 
published in 2009 in the form of a Supplementary Planning Document for 
Planning Obligations in the old South Bedfordshire area and endorsed by the 
Council subsequently for use in that area. Nevertheless, the policy should be 
given substantial weight. There will be a need for appropriate conditions and 
clauses within a Planning Agreement to incorporate any specific or negotiated 
requirement at later design stages.] 

  
1.10 Policy R11 seeks a similar arrangement for formal and informal open spaces. 

 
[The same weight as above should be applied.] 

  
1.11 Policy R14 seeks to improve the amount of informal countryside recreational 

facilities and spaces; including access and particularly close to urban areas.  
 
[The application has identified new facilities including a walking/cycling leisure 
route, links to existing rights of way and country parks that it would facilitate to 
improve such facilities. The policy is directly relevant to the planning 
application site and should be given substantial weight in reaching a decision.] 

  
1.12 Policy R15 seeks the retention of the existing public rights of way.  

 
[The planning application has a small number of footpaths and bridleways in 
the vicinity of the site and all will require linking into the development in a 
manner appropriate to their function. In addition, there will be a significant 
additional provision of footpaths and cycleways to link into the existing urban 
network.] 

  
1.13 Policy R16 offers support to the provision of land for outdoor sport though 

referring also to the general Green Belt policy that buildings would not be 
appropriate unless they provide essential small scale facilities which preserve 
the openness of the Green Belt.  This policy is a material consideration and 
should be considered alongside the section in this report on the Green Belt. 

 

2. Compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
  
2.1 For the reasons set out in the previous section, it is necessary to consider the 

Agenda Item 4
Page 55



planning application against the NPPF as a significant material consideration. 
The relevant part of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should 
apply the presumption in favour of sustainable development, which means 
that:- 

  
 “where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of 

date, granting permission unless: 
 
–– any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 
taken as a whole; or 
 
–– specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be 
restricted.” 

  
2.2 The fact that this is a large and complex planning application with significant 

impact on a wide range of subjects ensures that there is very little in the NPPF 
that isn’t directly relevant to the decision of whether or not to grant planning 
permission.  Therefore, in the following paragraphs, each relevant statement 
of NPPF policy is examined, compared with the content of the planning 
application and a conclusion is drawn as to whether a decision to grant 
planning permission is signalled. 

  
2.3  Do the proposals deliver sustainable development by its prospects for 

building a strong, competitive economy? For the reasons set out in section 
1, the basis upon which to make a judgement about whether these proposals 
deliver sustainable development is not fully contained in the adopted 
Development Plan. However, since the adopted Development Plan became 
operational, a considerable amount of work has been undertaken to provide 
context for planning for the economic growth of the general area. The 
planning application itself would not deliver any employment land or significant 
numbers of jobs.  It would however provide a population to sustainably 
support the employment land provision elsewhere in the east of Leighton 
Linslade development.   
 

2.4 Central Bedfordshire Council is proactively planning for the development 
needs for business by ensuring that sufficient land is allocated in the 
forthcoming Development Strategy for new employment use. This is being 
allocated on several new employment sites, but includes the express 
requirement that significant new employment provision is included within the 
East of Leighton Linslade proposed Urban Extension. This is balanced by the 
allocation of sufficient housing to not only reflect the anticipated growth in the 
area but also to offer new business and employment opportunities. Planning 
application CB/11/02827/OUT provides for 11ha of new employment land as 
part of its proposals and therefore the development as a whole can be 
considered to comply with emerging Development Plan policy and the NPPF 
in this respect. 

  
2.5 How will the vitality of Leighton Buzzard town centre be ensured? The 

planning application does not propose any facilities one would normally 
expect to see within a town centre environment.   

  

Agenda Item 4
Page 56



2.6 The proposals are not considered, in their own right, to have any impact on 
the town centre.  However the increase in population would lead to more 
people using the town centre supporting existing businesses.  The 
development would provide good linkages, by road, foot and cycle, to the 
town centre and could contribute financially to the delivery of the proposed 
development on land south of the High Street in line with the development 
brief.   

  

2.7 Is the proposal supported by a Transport Assessment which promotes 
sustainable development and transport modes? The application was 
submitted with a comprehensive Transport Assessment. The site would be 
accessed through the Clipstone Park development and would in turn utilise 
the proposed link road. The application also includes proposals for a range of 
sustainable transport measures covering the full ambit of transport matters 
including roads, junctions, bus services, improvements to the railway station 
forecourt, cycling, walking and the relationship of land uses to the 
transportation network.  

  

2.8 Does the proposal provide a wide choice of quality homes? The scale of 
the proposal and the likelihood that the development will take about 5 years to 
complete will, by definition, ensure that a wide variety of housing will be 
provided. The evidence underlying the proposed Development Strategy 
suggests that there is a particular need for housing that is suitable for the 
elderly as well as a mixture of family homes, self-build homes and homes for 
small households. It is appropriate to ensure that variety in general market 
housing is provided for and should permission be granted, it is appropriate 
that the detailed applications that come forward reflect the latest available 
information on such requirements. 

  

2.9 The proposed Development Strategy includes a policy which seeks 30% of 
the housing to be classed as Affordable Housing subject to the need to ensure 
that proposals remain commercially viable. This matter is dealt with in more 
detail later in section 9 below. 

  

2.10 Does the proposal ensure good design? The application is in outline and 
therefore detailed design matters will be for later consideration. However, the 
NPPF promotes good design at every level including: overall scale, density, 
massing, height, landscape, layout, materials and access of new 
development. The application includes a comprehensive Design and Access 
Statement that sets out the aspirations for the quality of the development. The 
application also includes commitments to produce further design guidance, 
likely to be Design Codes, for each area.  This is a reasonable approach as it 
allows the Council to consider and approve designs which conform to the 
latest standards of good design as it may evolve over the 20 year period of 
the East of Leighton Linslade development as a whole. 

  
2.11 Does the proposal promote healthy communities? The NPPF describes 

this policy objective as seeking to include meeting places (formal and 
informal), safe environments, high quality public open spaces, legible routes, 
social, recreational and cultural facilities and services. This includes schools, 
health facilities, formal and informal play areas and access to shops and 
leisure facilities. The proposal is of a scale that only some of these activities 

Agenda Item 4
Page 57



will feature in this planning application however all are covered within the 
overall east of Leighton Linslade scheme. 

  
2.12 What appropriate weight is to be given to protecting the Green Belt? This 

is fundamental policy within the NPPF which clearly states that inappropriate 
development (i.e. most new buildings) is by definition harmful to the Green 
Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances. The 
policy states: 
 
“When considering any planning application, local planning authorities should 
ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very  
special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green 
Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations.” 
 
This is the primary decision that the Council will need to reach before 
considering other material considerations and therefore the issue is dealt with 
separately in section 6 below. 

  
2.13 How does the application handle the challenge of planning for climate 

change and the risk of flooding? The NPPF seeks to move towards a low 
carbon future through choosing locations that encourage forward thinking on 
how to minimise the developments’ carbon footprint, supporting energy 
efficiency improvements and adopting national standards.  

  
2.14 The application includes a substantial amount of information within the 

Environmental Statement on this subject and this is dealt with in section 8 
below. The Environmental Statement sets out that the site is within flood zone 
1 which is at the lowest risk of flooding and is considered suitable for all land 
uses.  The scheme would not effect the conveyance of fluvial flood flows or 
floodplain storage capacity and there would be no increased flood risk as a 
result of the development.  It also commits to providing a sustainable urban 
drainage scheme which would ensure that surface water run-off rate will 
replicate the existing rate for the site which includes an attenuation basin 
within the site. 

  
2.15 How do the planning proposals help to conserve and enhance the 

natural environment? The application was submitted with a comprehensive 
set of documents covering this issue.  Various proposals for enhancements 
have been included in the ecological survey and mitigation work, the Design 
and Access Statement and in the work undertaken to assess open space 
requirements.  The documents state that the habitats within the site are 
largely unremarkable, with the hedgerows being of some interest.  Mitigation 
measures would ensure that the limited ecological interest is safeguarded and 
enhancement measures would deliver benefits for nature conservation. 
Proposals and suggested conditions to do so are included. 

  
3. The endorsed Luton and South Central Bedfordshire Joint Core Strategy  
  
3.1 The L&SCB Joint Core Strategy was prepared by the Luton and South 

Bedfordshire Joint Committee in the period between 2007 and 2011. It sought 
to replace the strategic elements of the South Bedfordshire Local Plan and 

Agenda Item 4
Page 58



Luton Borough Plan and to take forward the growth agenda promoted for this 
area through the East of England Regional Plan and associated policy 
documents. The L&SCB JCS was submitted for Examination and part of that 
process was completed before the document was ultimately withdrawn in 
2011 on the grounds that Luton Borough Council no longer wished to pursue 
its adoption. The Joint Core Strategy, the Joint Committee itself and the East 
of England Regional Plan have fallen by the wayside, but the evidence that 
supported those policy documents remains supportive of a growth agenda for 
Leighton Linslade. 

  
3.2 For this reason, Central Bedfordshire Council endorsed the L&SCB Joint Core 

Strategy and its evidence base for development management purposes on 

the 23rd August 2011 and has incorporated the majority of this work within the 
new Central Bedfordshire Development Strategy. Thus the substantial work to 
provide a policy basis for growth and regeneration forms part of the context for 
this planning application.   

  
3.3 The Core Strategy was effectively superceded when on 12th June 2014 the 

Council endorsed the revised pre-submission version of the Development 
Strategy for development management purposes in the south area of the 
authority.  It is for this Committee to consider the weight that it wishes to 
attach to this document. The following represents the view of the Officers on 
this point, taking into account the view expressed by the Local Plans and 
Housing Team Leader as set out in the representations above. 

  
3.4 The Committee could reasonably give some limited weight to the fact that the 

current proposal complies with the policies contained in the L&SCB JCS 
document in that it proposed the allocation of land at East of Leighton 
Linslade for an Urban Extension and is based upon a history of policy 
development to that end. It is within that area that this planning application 
lies. 

  
3.5 The details of the endorsed policies are not dealt with in this section as they 

appear again in the next section dealing with the Central Bedfordshire 
Development Strategy. 

 

4. The Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire; Revised Pre-
Submission version May 2014 

  
4.1 The Central Bedfordshire Development Strategy document is at a stage of 

production where following amendments and further public consultation it is 
due to be submitted for Examination in October this year.  

  
4.2 The relevant policies of the Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire 

revised pre-Submission version May 2014 are listed at the start of this report 
and again here: 
 
Proposed Policies: 1, 2, 3, 4, 13, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 
31, 32, 33, 34, 36, 43, 44, 45, 47, 48, 49, 56, 57, 58, 59 & 62. 
 
The following policies are specifically relevant to the proposal and should 
therefore be taken into account. 

Agenda Item 4
Page 59



  
4.3 Policy 1 reaffirms the document’s intention to be in accord with the NPPF 

presumption in favour of sustainable development. See paragraph 2.1 for 
details of what this means. Given that the current Development Plan is out-of-
date in this regards, the presumption in favour of development applies, 
provided it accords with other policies. 

  
4.4 Policy 2 sets out the growth strategy to meet the need for new homes in the 

period 2011 to 2031. East of Leighton Linslade is listed as a growth location. 
  
4.5 Policy 3 seeks to confirm that the Green Belt designation is to be removed 

from the land proposed for urban extensions: including East of Leighton 
Linslade. 

  
4.6 Policy 4 lists Leighton Linslade as a major service centre where employment, 

shopping and community facilities are to be focussed. 
  
4.7 This suggests that the application is generally favoured by the emerging 

policies set out above. 
  
4.8 Policy 13 sets out that town centre development should accord with the 

principles and objectives of the two endorsed development briefs for Leighton 
Buzzard, the Houghton Regis Masterplan SPD, the Biggleswade Town Centre 
Masterplan SPD, the Flitwick Framework Plan and Indicative Masterplan.  
Two endorsed development briefs for Leighton Buzzard relate to Land South 
of High Street and land at Bridge Meadows.  The policy also states that 
development proposals elsewhere in these towns should complement and not 
prejudice development proposed, and should make a financial contribution 
towards their development where possible. 

  
4.9 Policy 19 is a key proposal which has a direct application to the planning 

application and merits a more detailed consideration. It relates to the need to 
ensure that the necessary infrastructure is in place. The policy requires that 
all new development must be supported by the required infrastructure and 
that developers will be required to contribute, after viability testing, to offset 
the cost of new infrastructure.  
 
Where, as in this case, the planning submissions make it clear that in the 
current economic conditions, not all of the required infrastructure can be 
provided then it follows, under this policy, that the Council will examine its 
requirements and will need to decide whether or not:  

• the shortfall falls below an acceptable minimum such that planning 
permission  ought to be refused;  

• there is a mechanism whereby the infrastructure requirement can 
be provided when economic conditions improve; or 

• there is a reasonable case for reducing the requirement. 
This issue is dealt with further in section 9. 

  
4.10 Policy 20 seeks to encourage large developments to include provision for high 

speed broadband infrastructure. 
  
4.11 Policy 21 seeks to provide appropriate community infrastructure, subject to 

Agenda Item 4
Page 60



viability, in the form of integrated community hubs, community facilities, faith 
spaces, social and community infrastructure. The planning application is of a 
scale that it is justified for the development to accommodate, either within the 
site or nearby, the full range of supporting community infrastructure. The key 
document supporting this policy is the adopted Supplementary Planning 
Document for the southern part of Central Bedfordshire on Planning 
Obligations (2009). This issue is dealt with in section 9 below. 

  
4.12 Policy 22 seeks to ensure that the development is provided with the required 

leisure facilities and open spaces either on, or where provision on-site is not 
possible, off-site. It also requires a contribution towards maintenance and 
running costs. As for policy 21, this is dealt with in section 9 below. 

  
4.13 Policy 23 seeks to protect, enhance and promote rights of way. In this case, 

the opportunity will be taken to enhance the rights of way network and provide 
new linkages to existing and proposed routes. 

  
4.14 Policy 24 seeks to ensure that new developments are made accessible and 

are connected to public transport. Policy 26 requires the submission of a 
Travel Plan. The planning application is of a scale that significant new routes 
and possibilities are available and featured heavily in the Travel Plan that was 
submitted with the application. This has been discussed in detail with the 
Council’s transport officers. This issue is dealt with further in section 8. 

  
4.15 Policy 25 seeks to facilitate the delivery of strategic transport schemes 

including the East of Leighton Linslade Distributor road. Provision is expected 
in parallel with the new development. Although this application would not be 
directly served by the new road, new residents would need to use it. 

  
4.16 Policy 26 requires travel plans to accompany a transport assessment.  The 

travel plan should demonstrate how new development will be accessible by a 
range of travel modes and should detail a long term strategy to mitigate any 
adverse impacts and maximise the potential for achieving sustainable 
transport behaviour.  The application was accompanied by a framework  
travel plan which sets out an overarching summary of the aims, measures, 
approach to management and implementation and targets for the 
development proposal.  
 
Conditions will be required to secure the minor amendments to the travel plan 
and a review of the baseline information prior to the commencement of the 
development.  

  
4.17  Policy 27 states that developers will be required to provide appropriate car 

parking for new residential developments in line with the adopted standards 
set out in Appendix 8.  These standards are the same as those now included 
within the revised design guide.  Policy 27 and the revised design guide now 
supercede the standards previously set out in the design guide and appendix 
to the Local Transport Plan. 
 

4.18 Policy 28 requires the provision of a Transport Assessment. This has been 
complied with in the planning application submissions and has been the 
subject of discussion with the Council’s transport officers and the Highways 

Agenda Item 4
Page 61



Agency.  See section 8 below for further discussion on this point. 
  
4.19 Policy 29 seeks the provision of 28,700 new homes in the period 2011 to 

2031 and signals the provision of 11,500 within new strategic sites. Through 
Policy 62, one of these is East of Leighton Linslade, part of which is covered 
by this planning application which seeks permission for 270 dwellings. The 
planning application therefore represents some 0.9% of 28,700 homes 
proposed by the Development Strategy, with the whole allocation 
representing some 8.7%. 

  
4.20 Policies 30, 31, 32 and 33 all relate to the requirement to consider providing a 

variety of new homes to an appropriate mix, type for older persons, lifetime 
homes and for the Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople communities. 
The planning application only provides standard dwellings, however the East 
of Leighton Linslade development as a whole allows for the provision of all 
bar the latter type of accommodation.  There will be a need for planning 
conditions to be applied to secure the types of accommodation that have 
been deemed suitable for this site. This is dealt with in section 10 below. 

  
4.21 Policy 34 seeks a provision of 30% of the proposed dwellings to be of the 

affordable housing type.  It is this policy which falls in line with the NPPF 
whereby if less than the requirement is to be proposed, then a financial 
viability analysis must make it clear why the required level cannot be 
provided. Much of the discussions with the applicant since the planning 
application was submitted have focussed on this matter and on the related 
matter of contributions to community infrastructure. This issue is dealt with 
further in section 9. 

  
4.22 Policy 36 re-affirms the NPPF policy position on the Green Belt, the matter 

dealt with in detail in section 6 below. 
  
4.23 Policy 43 seeks the provision of a high quality of design, locally distinctive, 

efficient, respectful of neighbours and the historic environment, 
complementary to the landscape and adequately provisioned for the car forms 
of development. This is a similar policy to policy BE8 of the South 
Bedfordshire Local Plan Review (2004). The planning application responds to 
these requirements in the same way. The policy is related to policy 48 which 
seeks to reduce the impact of the development on climate change by means 
of design, though design is a matter for later stages of the planning 
application process. 

  
4.24 Policy 44 expects developments to comply with National and Council 

standards for protection against pollution. The planning application 
submissions on this matter have been the subject of considerable discussion 
with the relevant Council officers and these matters will be covered by means 
of planning conditions as set out in section 10 below.  

  
4.25 Policy 45 seeks to conserve, enhance, protect and promote the enjoyment of 

the historic environment. The application site is an area designated for its 
archaeological sensitivity, therefore a survey of the ridge and furrow and 
subsequent trial trenching would be secured by condition.  In addition there 
are some listed buildings close to the site, specifically Clipstone Manor 

Agenda Item 4
Page 62



Farmhouse; Clipstone Farm and The Cottage all within the hamlet of 
Clipstone, however subject to the detail of reserved matters applications it is 
not considered that the impacts on the setting of the listed buildings are 
adverse.  The matter of heritage assets is explored in detail in section 7 
below.   

  
4.26 Policy 47 seeks to provide a higher standard than the current statutory 

regulations requires for water and energy conservation. However, the 
techniques for raising the standard can incur considerable additional cost to a 
development and therefore the matter has been considered in the context of 
the viability work set out in section 9 below. 

  
4.27 Policy 48 requires all development, where relevant, to be resilient and 

adaptable to the impacts arising from climate change.  Measures such as 
maximising solar gain; retention of existing trees and landscaping; use of 
SUDS and use of water efficient fixtures and fittings.  The Sustainability 
Statement submitted with the application highlights that homes will 
incorporate low energy lighting, full implementation of passive solar 
orientation and design, renewable energy provision on 10-15% of homes, 
reduction in internal water consumption and non residential buildings seeking 
BREEAM excellent rating.   

  
4.28 Policy 49 is a detailed policy on protection against flooding which encourages 

a strategic approach to the issue and sets out the sequential approach to 
ensuring that flood risk to properties is minimised. The whole of the 
application site is within flood zone 1 which is suitable for all forms of 
development.  The proposals also include Sustainable Urban Drainage 
Systems (SUDS) within the areas proposed for development as well as within 
the open space.  These measures will reduce flows from the site to a level 
which is equivalent to or below greenfield run-off and will also provide some 
improvement for downstream properties.   
 
The East of Leighton Linslade site as a whole is of a scale that a variety of 
methods, as set out in the Environmental Statement can be employed to 
minimise flood risk and to regulate in an appropriate manner the considerable 
run-off from the new built up area proposed. A selection of drainage strategies 
have been proposed and there will be a requirement for further detailed 
proposals to be submitted both as a firm strategy for the site as a whole and 
for each development area in the future. These are matters that are dealt with 
by means of the planning conditions as set out in the planning conditions 
section at the end of this report.  

  
4.29 Policy 56 seeks to increase the amount of Green Infrastructure (GI), which is 

defined by and set out as a series of proposals within the Council’s Green 
Infrastructure Plans. The related Policy 57 is a similar proposal for gaining 
new areas of high biodiversity. The GI policy requires contributions from new 
development to help deliver this objective. The planning application site is of a 
scale that it can make a considerable contribution to creating new biodiversity 
and increasing local Green Infrastructure. The planning submissions refer to 
this within the Design and Access Statement and discussion has taken place 
with relevant Council officers.  
 

Agenda Item 4
Page 63



Similarly, there are a number of opportunities for enhancing areas within the 
site to increase biodiversity and the application submissions included an 
ecological survey which identified new opportunities to improve the area 
above its existing level in addition to the mitigation measures required. This 
issue is dealt with further in sections 8 of this report, below. 

  
4.30 The relevant part of Policy 58 to this site refers to the requirement to submit a 

Landscape Character Assessment, to protect such landscapes where 
proposals will have an adverse impact on important features and to include 
proposals for enhancement where opportunities are available. A similar 
requirement to analyse and protect important woodlands, trees and 
hedgerows is included in Policy 59. The Environmental Statement contains an 
assessment of the landscape character of the application site and its 
surroundings and the main findings are included in section 7 below. There will 
be a need for further detailed assessments of trees and hedgerows when 
detailed proposals are submitted as well as detailed strategic landscaping 
proposals. These are matters that can be dealt with by conditions and through 
the design process using the required Design Codes.  

  
4.31 Policy 59 requires developers to retain and protect woodlands, orchards and 

hedgerows; replace any trees which are unavoidably lost and increase tree 
cover where it would not threaten other valuable habitats and heritage assets.  
The application sets out that the proposals have been prepared to protect, as 
far as possible, all existing hedgerows (and trees within them).  The retention 
of trees and hedgerows would be a matter dealt with through an arboricultural 
method statement and tree protection plan which would be secured by 
condition.   

  
4.32 Policy 62 sets out the requirements for the East of Leighton Linslade Strategic 

Allocation. The policy expects the following to be delivered. 
 

•••• Up to 2500 homes (this application proposes a maximum of 270 
homes.) 

•••• Approximately 16ha of employment land creating up to 2,400 jobs 
(this application does not provide any employment land but would 
contribute to the local workforce.) 

•••• A neighbourhood centre and two local centres; including a 
community hall, health services and retail facilities commensurate 
with the size of the development (this application would not provide 
any of these services but would rely on their provision in the other two 
planning applications.) 

•••• Provision for education facilities (this application would not provide 
any educational facilities but would contribute financially to school 
provision.) 

•••• A Country Park (country parks are provided by the other 2 planning 
applications.) 

•••• Parks and children’s play facilities (this application would provide 
local play space). 

•••• Formal and informal open spaces and sports provision (this 
application would provide a strategically planned network of 
multifunctional greenspace including informal open space of around 
4ha.  Formal open space in the form of 8.5ha of sports pitches would 

Agenda Item 4
Page 64



be provided. Allotments covering approx. 0.6ha would also be provided 
to address the current deficit and to serve the new population). 

 
The Policy also sets out that the development will provide: 

• An Eastern Link Road through the development, delivered on a 
phased basis concurrently with development  

• Land for assisted living for the elderly  

• Layout and design to respond positively to the Narrow Gauge Railway 
(this application would not have any impact on the Narrow Gauge 
Railway). 

• Travel Plans which set out the long term strategy for managing 
multimodal access (this application is accompanied by a framework 
travel plan.) 

• Contributions to the rail station interchange and walking/cycling and 
public transport linking the development to the town (contributions will 
be secured through the section 106 agreement however the level of 
contributions will need to be considered in the light of the viability of 
the scheme). 

• Land for a new town cemetery ( this application provides 1.16ha of 
land for a new cemetery). 

 
The planning application has been designed to align closely to the details of 
this policy and much of the discussion during the course of its consideration 
has been seeking to respond to as many of the policy requirements as 
feasible.  However, in general it is appropriate to conclude that the planning 
application has taken full account of this policy and is broadly compliant with 
it. 

  
4.33 The Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire is not yet adopted policy, 

but is being prepared to deal with development needs beyond the period of 
the currently adopted Development Plan, the SBLPR (2004). The 
Development Strategy has also been designed and seeks to be consistent 
with the NPPF. To that end, it is considered that its housing and employment 
policies that define a quantum of development, its retail policy and its policies 
about new infrastructure and its delivery are more up-to-date and should be 
given greater weight than those equivalent  to or missing from the adopted 
SBLPR (2004). 

  
4.34 The planning application conforms closely to the policy direction that the 

Council wishes to go and explicitly delivers a major part of the urban 
extension at East of Leighton Linslade that the Council considers to be a key 
part of its Development Strategy. 

  
4.35 At this stage, some weight can be given to the document which is greater than 

the L&SCB Joint Core Strategy. Once submitted, it would supersede that 
document. However, until it is formally adopted, the National Planning Policy 
Framework should carry greater weight. 

  
4.36 The Committee will recognise that this “weighting” appears not to give the 

Development Plan primacy when making a decision on a planning application. 
However, this is because in the Officer’s opinion, the current adopted 
Development Plan is not up-to-date sufficiently to deal with the planning 

Agenda Item 4
Page 65



application as submitted or to comply with the NPPF. 
 

5. The East of Leighton Linslade Framework Plan 2013 
  
5.1 In order to guide the development East of Leighton Linslade covering a total of 

238 ha and to ensure consistency with the approach taken to the North 
Houghton Regis allocation a Framework Plan was produced in conjunction with 
both applicants and Central Bedfordshire Council. 

  
5.2 The Framework Plan drew from the evidence base produced for the previously 

withdrawn Luton and Southern Bedfordshire Joint Core Strategy, from the work 
then underway for the Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire and from
the incomplete East of Leighton Linslade Masterplan.  As its name suggests it is 
a broad look at what should be provided within the new urban extension to 
assist potential developers in putting together a planning application that the 
Council would like to consider positively.  The Framework Plan was endorsed 
by the Council for the purposes of Development Management in May 2013. 

  
5.3 The vision for the development set out in the Framework Plan is expressed 

simply as to ensure that any development connects with its surroundings, helps 
form new communities, contributes to a sustainable future, emphases design, 
provides new business and employment opportunities and protects and 
enhances the area. A Plan was developed to show where the main elements of 
development and supporting infrastructure (roads, community facilities, open 
areas, schools, commercial areas, housing areas etc) were to be located. 

  
5.4 In relation to this planning application the Framework Plan sets out that the 

south western part of the site would be residential development with playing 
pitches located on the north eastern side.  The site should also provide a 
cemetery along its northern edge and allotments centrally within the site.  This 
planning application provides all of the land uses set out in the Framework Plan 
in the locations highlighted on the concept plan.  It is therefore considered that 
the planning application conforms with the endorsed Framework Plan. 

 

6. The Green Belt 
  
6.1 The application site is located within the Green Belt and part of the 

development does not fall into one of the types of development which are set 
out in the NPPF or in policy 36 of the emerging Development Strategy as 
appropriate within the Green Belt.  The playing fields, cemetery, allotments 
and open space would be considered appropriate land uses in the Green Belt, 
however it is considered that the development should be considered as a 
whole and the residential part of the proposal is not appropriate in the Green 
Belt.  The proposal therefore constitutes inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt.  The proposed policy 62 of the emerging Development Strategy 
proposes that the Green Belt in the area to the east and north east of Leighton 
Linslade, extending from Heath Road in the north to Stanbridge Road in the 
south, bounded by Shenley Hill Road, part of Clipstone Lane and otherwise 
demarcated by field boundaries is removed to make way for the proposed 
urban expansion. There is a substantial body of evidence developed through 
that process which has concluded that it is appropriate to remove the Green 
Belt designation to allow for the urban expansion within which the application 

Agenda Item 4
Page 66



is set. However, this policy is not yet in place.  Very special circumstances 
therefore need to be demonstrated to clearly outweigh the harm to the Green 
Belt, both by reason of inappropriateness and other harms identified below.     

  
6.2 The first consideration is; what will be the harm to the Green Belt caused by 

the proposal? Green Belts are defined as serving the following purposes: 
 

• to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 

• to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; 

• to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 

• to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 

• to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict 
and other urban land. 

  
6.3 The application proposal is of substantial size involving a total development of 

over 22 hectares, but it is not unrestricted in the sense that along the eastern 
edge of the application site there is a substantial physical boundary within 
which it will be clearly contained: i.e. the existing Clipstone Lane.  The 
remainder is contained by the development on the Clipstone Park site on the 
western and southern side and Vandyke Road and the Chamberlains Barn 
development to the north.  The site will therefore be clearly contained.  Whilst 
the Green Belt is harmed by the proposal in this sense, it is recognised that 
there will be a strong boundary against further sprawl to the east of Leighton 
Linslade.   

  
6.4 The proposal sits within the context of a general character of the wider area 

which is the major town of Leighton Linslade and smaller sporadic village 
development. Development to the east of the town will not significantly alter 
that character and does not result in harm by further merging of the towns. 

  
6.5 The area affected is of a pleasant open rural and rural fringe character though 

the landscape analysis of the site concludes that the area does differ in quality 
across the site. However, the proposal by reason of its scale will encroach 
upon the countryside and will be harmful as a result. 

  
6.6 Consideration needs to be given to preserving the setting and special 

character of the historic town.  Leighton Buzzard and Linslade are historic 
towns which have a special character.  Views from the application site to the 
west are generally limited to close ones of the existing urban edge of Leighton 
Buzzard and distance views towards the more elevated parts of Linslade and 
the higher ground beyond.  A combination of topography, built form and the 
filtering effect of vegetation restrict middle distance views in this direction.  It is 
considered that some views towards the town would be disrupted and current 
views of historic buildings, specifically All Saints Church, would be limited.  
The development of an urban extension on the edge of Leighton Linslade 
would have some impact on the character of the towns, however the historic 
areas are located some distance from the proposed extensions and it is 
considered it would result in some harm to the setting and special character 
of the historic towns.      

  
6.7 Leighton Linslade does contain areas where urban regeneration is 

encouraged and where economic renewal is of particular importance. These 

Agenda Item 4
Page 67



areas were identified in the former Luton and South Bedfordshire Core 
Strategy and regeneration of those areas remain important objectives in 
current and emerging policy documents. This includes the areas also covered 
by Development Briefs for Land South of the High Street and Bridge 
Meadows. 
 
It is not possible to produce clear evidence on whether or not the current 
proposal for this urban extension as a whole would harm that objective. 
However, it is significant that the quantum of growth that is currently being 
promoted by Central Bedfordshire Council and the concern that this may not 
be enough to address the level of local housing need, does signal that the 
need for new development areas is significantly greater than can be 
accommodated solely within the existing urban area.  It is also anticipated that 
the increase in population may help increase the viability of town centre 
projects.  Financial contributions towards the works contained within the 
development briefs could also be secured through the section 106 in order to 
mitigate any potential impacts.    
 
It is not therefore considered that harm to the objective to assist urban 
regeneration is caused by this development.  

  
6.8 As part of the preparation of the emerging Development Strategy, the Council 

has undertaken a detailed analysis of land around both 
Luton/Dunstable/Houghton Regis and Leighton Linslade with a view to 
identifying those sites which minimize the impact on these objectives.  The 
East of Leighton Linslade allocation has been identified as one which 
minimizes the impact as highlighted in the comments of the Local Plans and 
Housing Team Leader who sets out that the particular circumstances of this 
site mean it appears highly suitable for development, as set out in the 
Sustainability Appraisal report, whose findings are consistent with previous 
positive assessments of this site.  

  

6.9 On the basis that there will be harm to the Green Belt by reason of the 
proposal’s impact through extending an urban area into the countryside and 
by reason of harm as a result of inappropriate development, harm to 
openness, harm to visual amenity, harm to the setting and character of the 
historic town and any other harm identified, it is necessary to determine what 
“very special circumstances” may exist that clearly outweighs that harm.  

  
 Case for very special circumstances  
  
6.10 There is no definition of the meaning of “very special circumstances” but there 

is a body of opinion expressed through dealing with planning appeals and 
challenges through the Courts in the past which can help the Committee reach 
a decision.  
 

• Does the application have a unique feature that outweighs the harm to the 
Green Belt? 

• Is there a substantial economic need, especially at a national or regional 
level? 

• Is there a substantial housing need that cannot solely be met within the 
urban area? 

Agenda Item 4
Page 68



• Are there substantial cultural, social or community benefits? 
 
The important point to bear in mind is that these substantial benefits must 
arise from the unique circumstances of the proposal or otherwise it could be 
repeated too often, to the long term, cumulative harm of the Green Belt. 

  
6.11 The applicant has set out the issues they consider constitute very special 

circumstances in favour of the application proposals; these are set out in 
paragraphs 6.12 - 6.32.  The issues can be summarised as follows: 

  
6.12 The Need for Additional Housing 

 
"The third core planning principle in the NPPF (paragraph 17) states that 
planning should proactively deliver homes, business and infrastructure, 
positively meeting the development needs of an area. Whilst CBC are 
presently considering higher levels of housing growth as part of their 
assessment of the Housing Market Area, the current emerging development 
strategy proposes an additional 28,700 homes in the period 2011 – 2031. 
Most of these are related to the southern part of the Council area (the former 
South Beds District), i.e. around Luton/Dunstable/Houghton Regis and 
Leighton Linslade, on account of the northern part (former Mid Beds District) 
already having adopted Core Strategy and Site Allocations documents.  

  
6.13 A revised version of the Development Strategy was presented to the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee on the 8th May. At the time of preparing this 
statement the content of the Strategy is not yet known, however, the Clipstone 
Park committee report acknowledges at paragraph 6.21, that the housing 
numbers may be increased further in this document. Given that this version of 
the document is not yet published, due consideration is thus given to the June 
2013 version of the emerging Development Strategy. 

  
6.14 The evidence base for the emerging Development Strategy shows that the 

amount of brownfield land within CBC is insufficient to accommodate more 
than a small proportion of future housing needs for the district across the next 
20 years. Similarly within the Luton Borough Council area a substantial 
amount of work has been undertaken as part of both the Joint Core Strategy 
and the emerging Luton Local Plan to maximize the opportunities on 
brownfield sites. Whilst this has shown development can take place on some 
redeveloped sites the total amount of land is well below that needed to meet 
the objectively assessed housing requirements of Luton for the next 20 years. 

  
6.15 The East of Leighton Linslade allocation forms one of the three major urban 

extensions identified in the emerging Development Strategy. CBC have 
already resolved to grant planning permission for the North Houghton Regis 
urban extension subject to completion of the S106. The East of Leighton 
Linslade allocation has the added advantage of being able to come forward at 
an early date (once planning permission is granted), since the whole of the 
proposal is privately funded and not dependent on major infrastructure funded 
by central or local Government, unlike the North Houghton Regis extension.  

  
6.16 CBC have similarly resolved to grant Clipstone Park, a major part of the East 

of Leighton Linslade allocation, permission subject to s106 and referral to the 

Agenda Item 4
Page 69



Secretary of State. The early delivery of housing from the whole of the East of 
Leighton Linslade allocation is included in the housing projections as 
contributing towards the overall 5 year supply of housing land. Without all of 
the land East of Leighton Linslade assisting in the delivery of housing over the 
period to 2018, the Council will not be able to demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
housing land in accordance with Paragraph 47 of the NPPF. 

  
6.17 Whilst it is acknowledged that a 5 year land supply deficit does not on its own 

constitute a VSC, it remains one of the factors which shows why the pressing 
need for additional housing must be considered in the whole with the VSCs. 
Whilst the Green Belt is specifically identified as one of the restrictive policies 
set out in Footnote 9 to Paragraph 14 of the NPPF, the Secretary of State has 
made it clear that even in areas covered by restrictive policies such matters 
need to be weighed in the balance when coming to a judgement on whether 
planning permission should be granted. The fact remains that Chamberlains 
Barn and Stearn Land form part of a wider allocation, part of which has a 
resolution to grant permission; are capable of early delivery (assisted by the 
full application for the Link Road); and are located in an area with an out of 
date Local Plan and identified need for housing growth; is strongly favourable 
in the consideration of the proposals as part of a wider VSCs argument. 

  
6.18 Infrastructure Provision 

 
A detailed application for the first part of the Eastern Link Road is included as 
part of the Chamberlains Barn proposals. This section of the Link Road runs 
from Heath Road to Vandyke Road, and is included as a detailed application 
to assist in early delivery. As outlined earlier in this Statement, the Eastern 
Link Road has long been identified as a critical requirement in Leighton 
Linslade in order to ease traffic around the town centre. 

  
6.19 The Eastern Link Road will relieve the town centre of congestion, to the 

benefit of local residents and businesses. The Link Road will not only mitigate 
against the increase in traffic due to the development proposals, but will also 
make good existing problems within the area and provide a practical orbital 
route around the town for through traffic. Furthermore, it will provide for new 
bus routes to service the whole of the eastern side of the town thereby 
increasing the opportunity for reducing car journeys by both new and existing 
residents. 

  
6.20 Clearly the provision of this much needed infrastructure would make a 

valuable contribution to the area, benefiting existing residents as well as the 
residents of the new development. The resultant traffic improvements would 
be of wider benefit to businesses as well, allowing for ease of access to the 
town centre and local shops and services. 

  
6.21 Finally, the housing proposed as part of the Stearn Land scheme would assist 

in delivering the improvements to Vandyke Upper School by way of S106 
contributions and a net increase in pupils, again to the wider benefit of the 
town as a whole. 

 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 4
Page 70



6.22 Green Infrastructure Provision 
 
Leighton Linslade Town Council has long identified a shortage of playing 
pitches and open space, seeking to reduce impacts on Stockgrove Country 
Park and increase accessibility to the wider countryside. The delivery of the 
‘Green Wheel’ identified in the Big Plan is a primary aim of the Town Council. 

  
6.23 Across the whole East of Leighton Linslade allocation there would be the 

creation of over 90 hectares of playing pitches and informal open space. The  
playing pitches as part of the Stearn Land scheme will have substantial social 
and community benefits. Leighton Linslade Town Council have previously 
identified a need for new playing pitches. The Leighton Linslade Big Plan 2 
seeks “many more adult and youth pitches” (page 5); as well as further green 
infrastructure and open space.  

  

6.24 The Delivery of Employment Growth 
 
Securing economic growth is a core planning principle of the NPPF, in 
particular the creation of new jobs. This can be done in two ways; by providing 
new land for new jobs; and by providing a workforce. Like housing need, there 
is an identified need for job growth within CBC. The emerging Development 
Strategy identifies a need for at least 27,000 new jobs across the 20 year 
period. In the event that the overall housing numbers increase above that 
contained in the emerging Development Strategy (as above), then the need 
for employment growth will similarly increase. 

  
6.25 Whilst the proposals at the Stearn Land do not include any employment 

allocations per se, they do directly contribute to economic growth in a number 
of ways. Firstly, they would create new jobs in the local centre, school, and 
also construction of the development, which would likely employ local people. 
Leighton Linslade has long had issues of out commuting, despite its status as 
the largest settlement in Central Bedfordshire and thus new jobs in 
construction, retail and schools would provide for existing residents as well as 
new residents. 

  
6.26 The second contribution would be by providing new homes for the workers 

who would be employed in the new employment sites in Clipstone Park and 
Chiltern Hunt. The level of job growth proposed by those developments could 
not be sustained by the existing workforce population in the area, and without 
the additional housing on Chamberlains Barn and Stearn Land, would not be 
sustained by the workforce on the Clipstone Park site alone. Thus whilst 
Chamberlains Barn, Stearn Land and Clipstone Park are separate 
applications, they form part of a wider holistic scheme wherein each 
component part is reliant upon the other to be fully realised. Without the new 
houses and population generated by Chamberlains Barn and Stearn Land, 
employers would not take up the full employment allocation of the wider 
scheme, due to an insufficient supply of local workers." 

  
 Conclusions 
  
6.27 In response to the applicant’s case set out above in paragraphs 6.12 - 6.23, 

the officer’s conclusions follow.  The evidence underlying the proposed 

Agenda Item 4
Page 71



Central Bedfordshire Development Strategy (and the planning history 
beforehand) underlines the clear need for a substantial growth in housing in 
this area and is referred to elsewhere in this report. That need is identified as 
28,700 homes over a plan period up to 2031. It is a need of a scale that has 
resulted in proposals for three major urban extensions totalling some 13,500 
dwellings in addition to that sought from other sources. This development 
proposal forms the smallest part of the development but would still provide 
270 dwellings of that proposed provision. 

  
6.28 In the face of this substantial need, which arises not only from within the 

Central Bedfordshire area, it is appropriate for the Committee to decide that 
the ability of the application to deliver a substantial portion of the required 
housing and its accompanying requirement for infrastructure weighs strongly 
towards the required very special circumstances.  

  
6.29 The development proposal includes a variety of other community, social and 

cultural benefits in the form of substantial public open spaces, leisure facilities 
and support for community initiatives. However, these are required by virtue of 
the scale of the development proposed and whilst they will have benefits to 
the local community as well, these are not sufficiently substantial to consider 
their provision as a very special circumstance. These benefits however 
support the identified economic and housing needs set out above. 

  
6.30 An outline planning application for 5,150 dwellings, up to 202,500sqm of 

additional development in Use Classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, B1, B2, B8, C1, 
C2, D1, D2 and sui generis uses and ancillary works on land on the northern 
edge of Houghton Regis was recently determined by the Development 
Management Committee.  The application site is in the Green Belt and 
therefore as the Committee were minded to approve the application it was 
referred to the Secretary of State for him to decide whether or not to call-in the 
application for his own determination.  The situation with the application for the 
land north of Houghton Regis is very similar to this application in that although 
the sites are in the Green Belt, the removal of the land from the Green Belt 
has been planned for some time and it is intended for the sites to be allocated 
in the Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire.  The approach taken to 
the structure of the report and the decision-making in determining this 
planning application has followed that of the Houghton Regis application.   

  
6.31 A letter was received from the National Planning Casework Unit on 30 

January 2014 setting out that the “Secretary of State has carefully considered 
the impact of the proposal, and the key policy issues which this case raises.  
The Secretary of State acknowledges that the proposal is a major 
development in the Green Belt and is being advanced before the development 
plan.  However, he considers that in the particular circumstances of this case, 
that the proposals have been included in emerging strategies, frameworks and 
plans over the last 10 years, the area’s housing and economic needs and 
given support for the development locally, he is persuaded that the application 
should be determined at local level.”  

  
6.32 The Secretary of State’s decision can inform the approach taken to the 

determination of this application.  It is considered that it is appropriate to give 
weight to the history of the allocation in emerging strategies, frameworks and 

Agenda Item 4
Page 72



plans.  The need for housing and jobs can also be given weight in light of the 
decision.   

  
6.33 In conclusion, the proposed development constitutes inappropriate 

development in the Green Belt which results in harm; there is also harm due 
to loss of openness, encroachment, impact on the setting and character of the 
historic town and visual harm.  The historic strategic planning policy context, 
the delivery of the eastern link road, the significant economic growth potential 
for the area and the well evidenced and substantial housing need all however 
weigh in favour of the development.  Taking into account the above and the 
Secretary of State’s treatment of the North of Houghton Regis application, it is 
considered on balance that the “very special circumstances” demonstrated by 
the applicants are sufficient to clearly outweigh the harm caused. 

  
7. Environmental Impact Assessment: Issues arising (including comments 

and objections from consultees) and their mitigation. 
  
7.1 The planning application was accompanied by a formal Environmental 

Statement (ES) as required by reason of the statutory Regulations. This is a 
substantial set of documents which form a considerable part of the material 
submitted with the planning application. There is a non-technical summary 
document which includes a description of the site, an analysis of the alternatives 
as required by the regulations and the likely environmental effects and the 
mitigation required to deal with those effects for the following subject areas: 
 

• Landscape and Visual Impact 

• Biodiversity and Nature Conservation 

• Transport and Highways 

• Air Quality 

• Noise and Vibration 

• Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage 

• Sewerage and Utilities 

• Ground Conditions and Contamination 

• Socio-economic Effects 

• Archaeology 

• Cumulative and Residual Effects 
 
It is acknowledged that the planning application was submitted in 2011 and that 
the information contained within the Environmental Statement is therefore over 
two and a half years old.  There is no requirement within the Environmental 
Impact Assessment Regulations (2010) for applicants to submit updating 
material unless requested to do so by the Local Planning Authority.  Any request 
is entirely at the discretion of the Authority.  In this case the Council has not 
sought any additional information from the applicant as it does not consider that 
there has been any significant change to the situation since the application was 
submitted to necessitate any updated material.   
 
Note: remarks from the case officer are in italics. 

  
7.2 Landscape and Visual Impact 
  
7.3 The ES includes an assessment of the impact of the proposals on the landscape 

Agenda Item 4
Page 73



and the level of visual impact it would have.  The ES sets out that the application 
site is a small component of the overall east of Leighton Linslade development 
site.   

  
7.4 In terms of local landscape character, the proposed change of the site to 

residential, playing fields, allotments and cemetery is predicted to have a slight 
adverse effect tending towards neutral with time due to the maturity of planting 
and the completion and maturity of the neighbourhood as a whole.  The slight 
adverse landscape effect would not be significant either in itself or cumulatively 
due to the small size of the site, its defined role in the overall masterplan and the 
proposed mitigation. 

  
7.5 In terms of visual impact, there would be some short term adverse effects due to 

construction activity mainly on near views.  In the longer term there would be 
some slight adverse visual impact because of the change in character as seen 
from a limited number of viewpoints mainly from the north and east and to a 
lesser extent the south.  As with the landscape impact, adverse effects would 
diminish with time due to the maturity of planting and the neighbourhood.  The 
slight visual effects would not be significant either in themselves or cumulatively. 

  
7.6 In terms of night time impacts, views taken from Church End, Hockliffe and 

Billington indicate that there would be a marginal increase in the total light area, 
which is judged not significant.  Closer views would have more adverse effects 
that warrant the use of directed and low level lighting on the outer edge of the 
development. 

  
7.7 Subject to the mitigation measures set out in the ES and summarised below it is 

not considered that the proposal would have any long-term unacceptable impact 
on the landscape or in terms of visual impact.  The mitigation measures include: 

− use of more than half of the site as open green space; 

− retention and reinforcement of boundary hedgerows and trees and 
integration of these features to form a network of green spaces, as well 
as an outer fringe of green open space and buffer planting; 

− creation of green corridors on the eastern edge, along the north-western 
boundary and along the south-eastern boundary; 

− directed and low level lighting to avoid light spill. 
  
7.8 Biodiversity and Nature Conservation 
  
7.9 An ecological survey of the site has been completed. 

 
There are no statutory designated sites within the application site.  The nearest 
such site is Nine Acres Pit Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).  The SSSI 
lies approximately 0.5km to the north of the application site and is designated for 
the purposes of geological conservation.  The nearest statutory site designated 
for nature conservation reasons is King's and Baker's Wood & Heaths SSSI, 
which lies approximately 2.5km to the north-west of the application site.   

  
7.10 There are no non-statutory sites of nature conservation interest within the 

application site.  The nearest non-statutory site is Clipstone Brook County 
Wildlife Site (CWS) which is located approximately 0.4km to the south of the 
application site.  There is some potential for indirect adverse impacts on the 

Agenda Item 4
Page 74



Clipstone Brook CWS during construction, but it is considered that these can be 
avoided through best practice during the works. 

  
7.11 The habitats within the application site are largely unremarkable.  The improved 

grassland is of negligible ecological interest.  The hedgerows are of some 
interest in the context of the application site, and in general they have a good 
complement of species but none are likely to be classed “important” under the 
Hedgerow Regulations 1997.  Similarly the ponds are of limited interest, being 
heavily overshaded by scrub.  Mitigation measures employed would ensure that 
the limited ecological interest is safeguarded, while enhancement measures 
proposed would deliver benefits for nature conservation. 

  
7.12 The protected species interest at the site is limited to breeding birds and 

foraging/commuting bats.  Birds would be disturbed during construction but 
since the existing boundary features are being retained and enhanced, together 
with new planting, there are likely to be long term benefits.  Potential effects on 
bats are largely limited to the operational phase, but since the open space and 
boundary features would not be lit it is considered that there would be no 
adverse effect.   

  
7.13 In conclusion, subject to the implementation of mitigation measures, which will 

be secured by condition, there would be no significant adverse impacts on 
protected species as a result of the development proposals. 

  
7.14 Transportation and Highways 
  
7.15 The ES includes an assessment of the changes resulting from the proposed 

development in relation to transportation and highways.  The chapter includes 
quantitative assessments of the change in traffic flows and drive delay 
experienced as a result of the proposed development.  A qualitative review of 
pedestrian crossing facilities is also included. 

  
7.16 Mitigation is proposed in the form of a Residential Travel Plan (RTP), which 

would improve capacity and reduce queues and drive delay through the 
promotion of alternatives to private car use.  Through the successful introduction 
of a range of travel planning measures, it is anticipated that the proposed 
development would have a lesser impact on the local road network. 

  
7.17 During the construction phase, there could be potential traffic impacts 

associated with the movement of the construction workforce, plant and 
materials.  Throughout the construction periods there would be times of 
increased activity and associated disturbance and periods of less disruption.  All 
construction impacts would be temporary in nature. 

  
7.18 Once the development has been completed and occupied, along with other 

developments and road network changes in the area, considered within the 
cumulative assessment, it is predicted that there would be impacts on traffic 
flows.  On Vandyke Road between the junctions with Meadway and Clarence 
Road, it is predicted that there will be a negligible negative impact, during the 
PM peak period, in terms of significance upon traffic flow after mitigation has 
been taken into account.  Traffic flow changes for all other receptors would 
result in no discernible effect.  There would also be some negative impacts upon 

Agenda Item 4
Page 75



driver delay at junctions at A5 with Woburn Road and Sheep Lane; Hockliffe 
Street with South Street; Leighton Road with Stoke Road and Hockliffe Road 
with Appenine Way.   

  
7.19 [The Highways Development Control Officer raises some questions regarding 

the impact of traffic and how it has been assessed.  It is however considered for 
the purposes of the Environmental Impact Assessment that the transportation 
and highway impacts have been adequately considered.]   

  
7.20 Air Quality 
  
7.21 The ES anticipates that dust may be generated during the construction period 

however that it can be controlled through good site practice and implementation 
of mitigation measures.   

  
7.22 An assessment of the impact of traffic generated by the development on air 

quality has been undertaken.  The assessment shows that the development and 
associated mitigation measures will result in changes to the distribution of traffic 
across the network.  These changes will mean that the air quality standards will 
be met at all existing assessment receptors with or without the proposed 
development.   

  
7.23 An assessment of the cumulative effects associated with the operation of the 

proposed development and wider development at East of Leighton Buzzard was 
also undertaken.  The results show that air quality standards would be met at all 
existing receptors and across the application site. 

  
7.24 Overall the development would have a negligible to neutral impact on air quality. 

 
[CBC officers do not require any further information regarding air quality.] 

  
7.25 Noise and Vibration 

 
The construction noise assessment has identified that subject to normal 
mitigation measures that the construction phase would not result any an 
significant adverse impacts. 

  
7.26 The traffic noise arising from the development and the associated neighbouring 

developments would result in a negligible change in noise levels.  The additional 
traffic movements would have no significant impact on sensitive receptor 
locations.  It is therefore not necessary to include any additional mitigation 
measures associated with additional traffic movements.   

  
7.27 [CBC officers take a more cautious view of the likely impacts and advise that 

there should be conditions to minimise noise impacts and to require a 
Construction Management Plan.] 

  
7.28 Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage 
  
7.29 The ES states that the Environment Agency flood map shows that the site is 

within Flood Zone 1, which is suitable for all development.   
  

Agenda Item 4
Page 76



7.30 Sustainable drainage measures (SUDS) are proposed to mitigate the potential 
impacts of the proposed development and to enhance the existing situation.  
Source control measures would be employed to reduce the rate of surface water 
run-off from the proposed development.  Site control measures would be 
employed to attenuate surface water on site and to restrict the rate of discharge 
to the local watercourse.  The design would limit the rate of discharge to less 
than the present natural (greenfield) rate, enhancing flood protection to 
downstream properties.   

  

7.31 Petrol and oil interceptors and reed bed filters would be used to intercept 
potential pollutants and to maintain and enhance water quality.  During 
construction the existing watercourse would be protected at all times.  Bunds 
and impermeable membranes would be used to protect watercourses and 
groundwater against accidental spillages. 

  

7.32 Subject to the provision of the proposed mitigation and enhancement measures 
there are no adverse impacts which would prevent development.   

  

7.33 Sewerage and Utilities 
  

7.34 The ES states that the proposed development would require new utility networks 
to be installed and existing networks to be extended and reinforced locally.  BT 
and gas networks have been confirmed to have suitable capacity within the 
vicinity of the site.  Electricity and water networks would require off-site works to 
afford capacity.  The capacity once secured to site, would then be disseminated 
via underground networks to afford final connections to each dwelling or facility.  

  

7.35 Existing utility apparatus would also be affected during the course of the works 
but these would be local to the development, for example new junction works.   

  

7.36 Ground Conditions and Contamination 
  
7.37 The conclusions drawn from the phase 1 desk study indicate that the risks of 

contamination on the site are negligible.  Although there is a risk of off-site 
contamination through ground water migration, no potential sources of 
contamination can be identified.  Determination of the actual risks to receptors 
would be concluded from a phase 2 ground investigation, which in turn would 
form part of a site contamination strategy.  Any remediation measures deemed 
necessary in conjunction with those already identified in the ES would result in a 
neutral or negligible risk to potential receptors. 

  
7.38 The general geology across the site is topsoil, overlying Gault Clay, overlying 

Woburn Sands Formation.  The groundwater table lies at depth within the 
Woburn Sands Formation.  No major sources of contamination have been 
recorded on or adjacent to the site.  The impermeable nature of the Gault Clay 
stratum provides a natural barrier against potential contamination during the 
construction phase. 

  
7.39 There are potential slight adverse impacts associated with the construction and 

occupation of the development, these can be addressed by the mitigation 
measures proposed.  The mitigation comprises appropriate site management 
during construction along with impermeable bunded areas for storage of fuels, 

Agenda Item 4
Page 77



oils and chemicals.  Once the development is completed the incorporation of 
SUDS, trapped gullies, petrol interceptors, waste collection and recycling 
measures would satisfactorily mitigate potential sources of pollution. 

  

7.40 [The Environment Agency and the Council's Environmental Health Officer 
require a Phase 2 survey to be undertaken to identify contaminated land, 
however subject to conditions there should be no significant effects from the 
development.] 

  

7.41 Socio-economic Effects 
  
7.42 The population increase arising from the development is estimated to be 667 

persons using an average household size of 2.47 persons per dwelling. The 
requirement for school places will therefore be substantial as will the demand for  
health service, emergency service and recreational open space provision.   

  
7.43 In terms of education appropriate financial contributions would be made to 

mitigate the impact of the development.  Subject to the appropriate level of 
financial contributions the impact of the development on education provision is 
neutral. 

  
7.44 [Without the provision of additional facilities, the proposal development could 

result in a minor adverse impact on the provision of health services in the area 
resulting from the number of new patients generated by the proposed 
development.  The inclusion of a GP surgery facility within the Clipstone Park 
proposal would mitigate this impact.  Should additional requirements for 
emergency services be identified by the Council financial contributions could be 
made to mitigate the impact on these services.] 

  
7.45 In terms of recreation and open space the development would deliver adequate 

formal open space to mitigate the impact of the development at the local level.  
It would also contribute to informal open space through the provision of 
allotments.  Overall the provision of open space throughout the east of Leighton 
Linslade development supported by financial contributions would lead to an 
overall positive impact on open space provision.   

  
7.46 [English Nature and our own Countryside Access Services foresee significant 

impacts on existing recreational sites accessible to residents of the development 
area.  However this application would provide significant amounts of new formal 
and informal recreational open space which would be used by existing residents 
of Leighton Linslade, Eggington and the surrounding area.]  

  
7.47 Archaeology 
  
7.48 The site is within an area of archaeological interest and therefore the 

development of the site has the potential to disturb or destroy archaeological 
features or remains. 

  
7.49 Without mitigation the proposed development has the potential to result in a 

negative impact on heritage assets, particularly in the form of sub-surface 
archaeological remains and upstanding earthworks.  The proposed mitigation 
strategy would reduce any potential negative impacts through the recording and 

Agenda Item 4
Page 78



dissemination of information about the effect heritage assets, resulting in 
improved understanding of the area's past.  Opportunities would also be taken 
to enhance known heritage assets.   

  
7.50 [The Council's Archaeologist comments that the application site contains an 

area of ridge and furrow which is rare within the authority's area.  Also the desk 
study shows other areas which be contain archaeological remains.  The 
Archaeologist requires that the ridge and furrow is surveyed and recorded and 
subsequent to that work, trial trenching is undertaken.  This work can be 
secured by condition.] 

  
7.51 Cumulative and Residual Impacts 
  
7.52 The ES has also looked at the potential for impact when in association with 

other developments. The mitigation referred to in this section also applies to the 
other sites within the East of Leighton Linslade urban extension as well as other 
scheme within proximity to the application site.  

  
8. Issues 
  
 (a)  Affordable Housing 
  
8.1 Central Bedfordshire Council currently pursues a policy of seeking around 30% 

of new housing from its planning permissions to be in the form of affordable 
housing. There are a variety of tenures accepted and it is also expected that 
they will reflect the type of housing most suited to the area’s needs. The details 
of the actual provision on a site by site basis will vary according to the 
circumstances of that site. 

  
8.2 If this was translated into a proposal for this application, there would be an 

expectation that it would deliver 81 dwellings, in a mix of shared ownership and 
affordable rent tenures, across the full range of sizes, over the period of the 
development. 

  
8.3 The Local Plans and Housing Team Leader however points out that the 

requirement as presented in the emerging Development Strategy makes it 
clear that this provision must relate to a, “viable degree of affordable housing” 
and subject to the National Planning Policy Framework policy. This policy 
states: 
 
“To ensure viability, the costs of any requirements likely to be applied to 
development, such as requirements for affordable housing, standards, 
infrastructure contributions or other requirements should, when taking account 
of the normal cost of development and mitigation, provide competitive returns 
to a willing land owner and willing developer to enable the development to be 
deliverable.” 

  
8.4 The applicant has been clear from the outset that the challenging economic 

conditions have affected viability to the extent that the full expectations for 
affordable housing cannot be delivered. The Council's Housing Development 
Officer broadly agrees that the viability analysis appears to reflect the 
prevailing market conditions and standard industry assumptions. This issue is 

Agenda Item 4
Page 79



dealt with in more detail within section 8 of this report, below. The outcome is 
that the applicant proposes a contribution to affordable housing of 20% 
equating to 54 dwellings, in a 50:50 mix of shared ownership and affordable 
rent tenures, across the full range of sizes, over the period of the development. 

  
8.5 It should be noted that there has been a change in Council policy during the life 

of this application and therefore some representations refer to the need to 
secure 35% affordable housing.  The Council's policy at the time of 
determining the application is to seek 30% and therefore this is the appropriate 
level.  There will be a need to secure the arrangements for providing affordable 
housing by means of a Section 106 Planning Agreement should the Committee 
be minded to approve planning permission.  In addition section 9 highlights that 
a review mechanism could be used to increase the level of affordable housing 
on the site during the life of the development.   

  
 (b)  Transport Impact 
  
8.6 Significant concern has been raised in response to the other planning 

applications for development east of Leighton Linslade.  This application would 
not provide any part of the link road and would be accessed off the link road 
through the Clipstone Park development.  The issues of concern in relation to 
the link road and the wider traffic and transport impacts will not therefore be 
repeated in this report. 

  
8.7 Careful consideration will need to given to the road layout in the reserved 

matters application to enable easy and appropriate access to the cemetery and 
the playing fields.  In addition the roads should be designed to either prevent on-
street parking or to accommodate it, particularly in areas close to the playing 
fields.   

  
8.8 The Highways Development Control Officer comments that an extensive amount 

of work has been undertaken, but it is difficult at this stage to reach a clear 
conclusion.  Following an examination of all the information the officer's 
conclusion is that the Transport Assessment does not give a fair picture of the 
impact this proposal has on the existing highway network.  However it should be 
remembered that this authority has worked closely with the applicants’ agents 
on the surrounding land (Clipstone Park) and agreed a sophisticated traffic 
micro simulation model and have subsequently endorsed this model which 
included the proposed flow from this application site (The Stearn Land).  The 
main emphasis on this is that to encourage internalisation and to attract the low 
flows as indicated then it should be considered that the majority of the 
surrounding development (Clipstone Park) will need to be complete prior to the 
development of this application site.  The proposed phasing of the development 
demonstrates that this would be achievable and can be controlled through the 
Section 106 agreement.  

  
 (c) Green Infrastructure and Open Space 
  
8.9 The application would deliver large areas of open space and Green 

Infrastructure in a number of different forms.  Areas of informal open space, 
formal playing pitches, allotments, cemetery, leisure route along the eastern 
edge and landscaping are proposed.  The GI elements would be formed by 

Agenda Item 4
Page 80



reinforcing existing features, in particular, the boundary hedgerows and 
associated ditches.  Within the context of east of Leighton Linslade as a whole 
the Stearn Land contributes directly to the creation of the rim and spokes of the 
Green Wheel.  The area of recreation grounds, allotments and cemetery 
together form a segment of the rim, reinforced by the parallel leisure route 
along the outer edge.     

  
8.10 The application would provide 8.5 hectares of formal recreation in the form of 

playing pitches, this would constitute approximately 38% of the site area.  
Informal recreation and landscaped areas would cover 4.3ha, 19% of the site 
area.  Within this a wide belt of landscaping and open space would run along 
the eastern edge of the site, varying from 6m to 15m in width, continuing the 
leisure route from Clipstone Park in the south to Chamberlains Barn in the 
north.  The timing of the delivery of the link will be important to ensure that the 
overall leisure route can be provided in a reasonable timescale.  The cemetery 
which would be for the use of the town as a whole and meet an existing need 
for additional burial space would cover 1.16ha, around 5% of the site.  
Allotments would cover 0.6ha of the site, representing 2.7%, and would help 
meet the existing need for allotments whilst providing the facilities for the new 
development.  Green infrastructure would represent around 65% of the land 
use of the application site and cover 14.5ha.   

  
8.11 The applicant acknowledges the importance of green infrastructure in the 

development and commits to the provision of appropriate management and 
maintenance.  Careful consideration would need to be given to the access 
arrangements to the cemetery and also how the tranquillity of its setting would 
be maintained with the playing fields being nearby.     

  
 (d) Off-site Impacts: SSSIs/ recreational sites accessible to the public 
  
8.12 The applicant does not consider that the development would impact over the 

long term on areas outside the site that are publicly accessibly and under strain 
from use as sufficient green infrastructure and open space provision, including 
a country park would be made in the East of Leighton Linslade urban extension 
area, covering around 65% of the overall site. The Council’s Green 
Infrastructure team, endorsed by English Nature consider that there would be 
an increase in demand placed on existing country parks and other open space 
provision and therefore financial contributions to address this issue should be 
sought.   

  
8.13 However, it is considered that the on-site provision would more than provide for 

the needs of the new residents and whilst they would be likely to use existing 
facilities in relation to open space, it is as likely that residents currently served 
by existing provision would use the playing pitches and other open space 
provision bought forward by this proposal.  In addition it is vital that the on-site 
open spaces are transferred to the managing body with an appropriate level of 
commuted sum for maintenance and where viability appraisals show finances 
are limited commuted sums for maintenance should be considered more 
important than enhancing off-site provision.   

 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 4
Page 81



 (e)  Car Parking Standard 
  
8.14 As described earlier in this report, the Parking Standards that this Council 

applies to new developments has changed. The new Standards make it clear 
that good design and thoughtful layouts accommodating the practical needs of 
the car are more important than the simple arithmetical application of a 
standard and that this should not prove to be a barrier to good quality 
developments nor an impact on the viability of a development.  
 

8.15 The Design and Access statement sets out how car parking may be 
accommodated within the development, on-plot parking to the front, side or 
rear of dwellings is likely to represent the majority of parking however small 
parking courts, parking squares and on-street parking could also be utilised.   
 

8.16 The level of parking provision and its location and configuration will be a matter 
dealt with at reserved matters stage. It will therefore be for future Development 
Management Officers and Committees to consider each design and layout on 
their own merits to judge the adequacy of the access and parking provisions. 

  
 (f)  Design and Implementation 
  
 8.17 The application is in outline only and therefore the design of the development 

as whole and of individual dwellings is not for consideration at this time.  It is 
proposed that design codes be produced for each character area to guide the 
design of the neighbourhood and the dwellings and other buildings and 
structures within it.  The Design and Access Statement shows the site 
separated into a number of defined areas.  There is proposed to be a north and 
south entrance to the site, with each entrance then having areas of "sides" and 
"edges".  The character of the entrances, sides and edges would be different 
and there would also need to be differences between the north and south 
areas to enable wayfinding.  It is therefore anticipated that there would be at 
least two character areas.     

  
8.18 This planning application will begin a Development Management process of 

considerable complexity, impact on the daily activities of the Council, 
determine the character of the area and affect the lives of its residents and 
businesses for many years to come. It will be the quality of the Council’s 
management of that process which will determine the quality of the 
development should this permission be granted. 

  
9.0 The Requirement for a Section 106 Planning Agreement 
  
 Background 
  
9.1 The Committee will be familiar with the procedures that allow a planning 

application to be granted permission conditional upon certain requirements 
being met. Usually these are in the form of planning conditions attached to the 
decision schedule, but it is also common for other planning requirements to be 
incorporated into formal Planning Agreements (known as Section 106 or S106 
Agreements) where for technical or legal reasons a planning condition is 
unsuitable. 

  

Agenda Item 4
Page 82



9.2 There is national guidance on the proper use of S106 Agreements but in 
general terms it is expected that the requirements will relate to matters that are 
directly relevant to the planning application in hand, capable of being 
implemented and that without that requirement being met, planning permission 
should be refused. Planning Authorities are expected to have policies to guide 
developers on what may be required. CBC has a range of policies as set out 
earlier in this report that will incur a requirement to enter into a S106 Agreement 
and there is a Supplementary Planning Document, the Planning Obligations 
(South) SPD 2009 which offers specific guidance on particular topics.  

  
9.3 Given the scale of the development involved it was clear that there would be a 

considerable range of topics that might require a S106 Agreement.  
  
9.4 The development proposal is essentially the creation of a new piece of town. It 

can be no surprise to find that the development must contain land uses and 
services that are a mixture of that which are commercially driven and that which 
are statutory provision or provided on a charitable basis. Therefore, the 
accepted topics  for consideration were as follows: 
 
Education Transport Leisure, 

Recreation, and 
Open Space 

Community 
Facilities 

Health Care 
facilities 
 

Environmental 
Impact Mitigation 

Housing 
(including 
Affordable 
Housing) 

Waste 
Management 

Emergency 
Services 

Community 
Development and 
ICT 

Public Realm and 
Community 
Safety 

Maintenance 

 
  
9.5 The National Planning Policy Framework at paragraph 173 clearly requires local 

planning authorities to consider the overall viability of large scale development 
projects and to ensure that the requirements are not overly onerous. Therefore 
a financial assessment of the planning application was undertaken as described 
below. 

  
 Viability Appraisal 

9.6 This section of the report sets out the conclusion of the Viability Appraisal work 
that has been conducted. The financial information that underpins these 
conclusions is the subject of commercial confidentiality. For this reason, the 
financial information is set out in a confidential Appendix included within the 
yellow coloured papers attached separately from this report, for the information 
of Members of the Committee. 

  
9.7 The Viability Appraisal (VA) to be conducted transparently between the 

applicant and the Council such that all could be satisfied that the planning 
application could be permitted with an agreed level of mitigation satisfying all 
parties. 

  
9.8 The VA is essentially a model of the viability of the planning application taking 

account of: 
 
1. The income generated from the development  

Agenda Item 4
Page 83



2. The costs of the development 
3. The required return on investment 
4. The cost of the mitigation and contributions package (mainly items required 

by planning condition or within a S106 Planning Agreement). 
5. The Land Value 
6. The exceptional costs  
 
Establishing what each of these values is likely to be has taken some 
considerable time. A report has been prepared by the Council’s consultants, 
BPS Surveyors and part are included in the commercially confidential appendix 
to this report. However, broadly for the purposes of this report, it is important to 
be aware of the following outcomes of the VA. 

  
9.9 It has been established to all the parties’ satisfaction that the development is 

unviable taking account of the 30% affordable housing requirement and of the 
cost and income elements set out in the appendix. It has also been established 
that the full contributions package as required by applying the Council’s policies 
on supporting community infrastructure and reducing the impact of the 
development on the surrounding area cannot also be afforded in the short term 
given current economic circumstances. 

  
9.10 The National Planning Policy Framework offers specific guidance in these 

circumstances. It states: 
 
“173. Pursuing sustainable development requires careful attention to viability 
and costs in plan-making and decision-taking. Plans should be deliverable. 
Therefore, the sites and the scale of development identified in the plan should 
not be subject to such a scale of obligations and policy burdens that their ability 
to be developed viably is threatened. To ensure viability, the costs of any 
requirements likely to be applied to development, such as requirements for 
affordable housing, standards, infrastructure contributions or other requirements 
should, when taking account of the normal cost of development and mitigation, 
provide competitive returns to a willing land owner and willing developer to 
enable the development to be deliverable.” 
 
And also;  
 
“176. Where safeguards are necessary to make a particular development 
acceptable in planning terms (such as environmental mitigation or 
compensation), the development should not be approved if the measures 
required cannot be secured through appropriate conditions or agreements. The 
need for such safeguards should be clearly justified through discussions with 
the applicant, and the options for keeping such costs to a minimum fully 
explored, so that development is not inhibited unnecessarily.” 
 
Therefore it is incumbent on the Local Planning Authority to engage 
constructively with the applicant on the costs to allow the development to be 
acceptable in planning terms as well as enable the development to be 
commercially viable.  

  
9.11 The applicant’s consultants Herridge Property Consulting (HPS) provided a 

detailed viability report which was reviewed by BPS Surveyors.  The 

Agenda Item 4
Page 84



conclusions of the report were that unless some of the other s106 contributions 
were reviewed there would be a significant impact on the level of affordable 
housing which could be delivered.  The applicants therefore proposed to reduce 
the contribution towards green infrastructure maintenance and commuted sums 
and the contribution towards education provision.   

  
9.12 The level of green infrastructure maintenance contributions and commuted 

sums was originally suggested by the Countryside Access Service as being 
circa £3.4m across the whole of the East of Leighton Linslade site.  The 
applicants reviewed the approach taken to this matter in relation to the recent 
application for the urban extension to the north of Houghton Regis.  In that 
application the maintenance contribution sought per hectare of land was 
£51,282.  This site would provide 8.5ha of open space resulting in a proposed 
contribution of circa £435,897.  This approach was accepted in relation to north 
of Houghton Regis and also the Clipstone Park part of the East of Leighton 
Linslade urban extension. 
 

9.13 With regard to the reduction in the level of contribution towards education 
provision, this was based on the approach taken by Willis Dawson in relation to 
the Clipstone Park application.  It was argued that there are some surplus 
places in existing local schools which are already in existence and therefore 
could be used to accommodate some children from the development.  The 
actual cost of recent extensions to schools and new schools were looked at by 
the developer which led to the conclusion that the costs used by the Education 
department are over-estimates.  The applicant in this case wishes to take the 
same view on the level of education contributions.   

  
9.14 The proposed affordable housing package is for the provision of 20% affordable 

housing units which will be spread throughout the period of the development 
and in phased parcels, with 50% shared ownership units and 50% affordable 
rent units. This would provide for a total of 54 units. 

  
9.15 The s106 is proposed to provide contributions as follows: 

 
Items Maximum 

Contribution 
(excluding 
indexation) £ 
 

Notes 

Education  
(Financial contribution 
towards new 
buildings/extensions.) 

£1,895,145 This figure for the reasons set 
out in para 9.13 above is 
some £0.5m lower than 
requested by the Council's 
Education department. 
 
The Education department 
raise concerns regarding the 
deliverability of the school 
buildings in light of this offer. 
 

Children’s Social 
Services 

54,810  

   

Agenda Item 4
Page 85



 
Sustainable Transport  

 
473,566 

 
Including contributions to: 
- bus service & marketing 
- travel plan measures 
- walking and cycling 
improvements 
- railway station 
improvements 
 

Waste management 31,709 
 

To cover the cost of 3 x bins 
per dwelling and contributions 
towards 4 x bring sites.   
 

Emergency Services  55,890 
 

 
 

Public Art 59,670 Public art would be integrated 
into the built development of 
the scheme.   

Off-site GI  
 

190,890  

Total £2,716,680  
 

  
9.16 In addition, there are items that the applicant would provide at their cost rather 

than providing financial contributions these are set out in the following table.   
 

Items Cost to developer (£) Notes 

Land for new cemetery – 
1.16ha 

 - Nil cost to Council 

Land for formal sports 
pitches – 8.52ha 

 - Nil cost to Council  

Laying out of formal sports 
pitches  

1,500,000  

Laying out of allotments 100,000  

Total  £1,600,000  
 

  

9.17 Following discussions with Members and Officers a revised distribution of the 
s106 monies is proposed.  The approach groups contributions towards GI, 
Leisure and Sports to provide flexibility in how the money can be spent.  The 
revised proposal is shown in the table below. 

  

 Items Maximum 
Contribution 
(excluding 
indexation) £ 

Notes 

Education  
(Financial contribution 
towards new 
buildings/extensions.) 

£1,895,145 This figure for the reasons set 
out in para 9.13 above is some 
£0.5m lower than requested 
by the Council's Education 
department. 
 
The Education department 
raise concerns regarding the 

Agenda Item 4
Page 86



deliverability of the school 
buildings in light of this offer. 

Children’s Social 
Services 

£54,810  

Sustainable Transport  £473,566 Including contributions to: 
- bus service & marketing 
- travel plan measures 
- walking and cycling 
improvements 
- railway station improvements 
 

Waste management £31,709 
 

To cover the cost of 3 x bins 
per dwelling and contributions 
towards 4 x bring sites.   
 

GI, Leisure, Indoor Sport, 
Open Space   

£306,450  
 

Total £2,716,680  
 

  
9.18 The tables above show that the developer despite poor viability is providing the 

majority of the required infrastructure either by way of works in kind or through 
financial contributions.   

  
9.19 A wide range of detailed documents will need to be secured by condition or 

through the section 106 agreement, these include: 

• Area design codes  

• Detailed plans of highways and junctions  

• Landscape and Open Space Strategy 

• Surface Water Drainage Scheme 

• Contamination Preliminary Risk Assessment, Site Investigation, Detailed 
Risk Assessment & Verification Report 

• Foul Drainage Scheme 

• Scheme of Archaeological Investigation and Recording 

• Waste Audit  

• Travel Plan 
Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan 

  
9.20 The phasing of the development on this application site will need to be carefully 

considered and appropriate triggers secured in the s106 agreement.  It will also 
be necessary for the legal agreements to control the development of all three of 
the residential development sites in order to deliver the necessary infrastructure 
at the appropriate point.   

  
9.21 Matters which will be controlled in connection with this application will be the 

delivery of the provision of formal open space and its timing in relation to the 
delivery of the changing rooms on the Clipstone Park site and the timing of the 
delivery of the housing.  The s106 will also secure the timing of financial 
contributions towards education, bus services, road improvements, 
footway/cycleway improvements, waste management, green infrastructure 
management etc.    

  
 Review Mechanism 

Agenda Item 4
Page 87



  
9.22 The scheme is currently considered in outline and the applicant is currently in 

control of the land rather than the developer and will wish to preserve the ability 
to sell the land in more than one parcel.  It is intended therefore that the review 
mechanism will affect the end developer rather than the land owner.   

  
9.23 The rationale for introducing further reviews of viability is: 

 
a) Given the degree of uncertainty inherent with an outline consent and a long 
delivery programme, it is appropriate that the Council be provided with further 
opportunities to review viability to ensure that the scheme maximises its 
potential, consistent with viability, to deliver affordable housing and further s106 
contributions.  A review is particularly important with this application as it will be 
some years before access to the land is available. 
 
b) It is considered that the market is showing signs of improvement therefore 
the Council should seek to avoid a situation where the planning obligations 
including affordable housing, delivered by the scheme are capped at the lowest 
point in the market but reflect changing market conditions over the life of the 
scheme. 
 
c) It is envisaged that through the process of review an incentive to the future 
developers of the site could be provided to secure additional affordable housing 
and s106 contributions. 

  
9.24 The detail of the review process is still to be agreed however it is envisaged the 

reviews could lead to an increased percentage of affordable housing and/or a 
financial contribution towards areas where full contributions were not secured at 
this time.  Any uplift would not be able to exceed the maximum level required by 
policy now, for example the level of affordable housing on the site would be 
capped at 30%.   

  
 Equalisation 
  
9.25 The viability appraisal of this development proposal is complicated further by 

the functional relationship between this application site and the neighbouring 
site known as Clipstone Park which is the subject of a separate application by 
different landowners.   

  
9.26 The functional relationship is acknowledged by all parties and it is normal for 

such a relationship to be dealt with by means of a process called “equalisation”.  
This would ensure that each site meets a fair and reasonable proportion of the 
common infrastructure to open the site up as a whole.  There are four areas 
where equalisation arrangements would normally be required: 

• land for social infrastructure 

• social infrastructure s106 contributions 

• hard infrastructure  
where there are (proportionally) lower value uses, such as employment land.  

  
9.27 With regard to social infrastructure, all social infrastructure would be provided 

on Clipstone Park by Willis Dawson Holdings.  Compensation from the 
application, AWE, would normally be expected however the WDH has decided 

Agenda Item 4
Page 88



that as the delivery of social infrastructure is important to the Council and the 
development as a whole they will bear the cost with a commensurate 
contribution being made by the applicant, that contribution including 
equalisation regarding the hard infrastructure and  the eastern link road.  The 
applicants have included a sum of money they expect to pay to the other 
landowner in the viability appraisal. 

  
9.28 An agreement will be made between the two landowners outside of the 

planning process to deal with the equalisation regarding the hard infrastructure, 
including the eastern link road.  The applicants have included a sum of money 
they expect to pay to the other landowner in the viability appraisal. 

  
10.0 Planning Conditions  
  
10.1 A scheme of this size and range of uses will incur a considerable number of 

planning conditions. The recommendation after this section includes the 
detailed wording of all conditions, but it is appropriate to summarise the 
requirement here for ease of understanding.  

  
10.2 There will be a number of technical conditions which will define the period of the 

consent (5 years), the period within which detailed consents must be sought (10 
years), what details will be required and the specific description of the uses 
granted permission.  

  
10.3 There will be conditions that will require the provision of Area Design Codes, 

strategies and plans which will guide the overall appearance and approach to 
the development as well as technical reports in relation to flood risk, drainage 
etc.    

  
10.4 It will need to be ensured that sufficient control exists over the phasing, trigger 

points for the delivery of different parts of the development and associated 
infrastructure.  It is considered that these controls would be best placed within a 
section 106 agreement which will be negotiated with the applicants.   

  
10.5 Finally, there will be a class of conditions that arise from the consideration of 

the scheme to assist in implementing the proposals. These include conditions 
and informatives that seek to protect existing important features during the 
development phase such as retained archaeology, trees, public footpaths and 
bridleways.  

  
11.0 Conclusion  
  
11.1 The application proposal is for part of the East of Leighton-Linslade Urban 

Extension which would deliver much needed additional housing and formal 
playing pitches in the area.  Other urban extensions to the north of Houghton 
Regis and north of Luton would assist in the delivery of housing and jobs.  The 
application proposal is therefore a critical part of a larger strategy to provide not 
only significant growth within Central Bedfordshire but to accommodate the 
needs of a growing population in the Leighton-Linslade area. 

  
11.2 The balance to be struck in considering this application, involves the competing 

demands of commercial viability, loss of Green Belt, need for housing, the clear 

Agenda Item 4
Page 89



national priority for economic growth, landscape and ecological protection, 
urban regeneration and providing community facilities for a healthy population. 
All in a context of reducing public services and public financial support.  

  
11.3 It is considered that the scheme is insufficiently financially viable at present to 

afford the full requirements for affordable housing and the full package of 
mitigation.  However, the mitigation package suggested above is still extremely 
significant and has been shaped by reference to identified local priorities.  The 
work undertaken with the applicant’s representatives has been conducted in an 
informed and conscious way to achieve the mitigation package and potential 
review/uplift mechanism.   

  
11.4 The Committee will wish to take into account that the planning application has 

been submitted in advance of the adoption of the Development Strategy, in 
which the site is part of an allocated strategic development site proposed for 
removal from the Green Belt. However, it should also be recognised that the 
withdrawn Joint Core Strategy identified the site as being suitable for removal 
from the Green Belt in order to help meet housing and employment need.  The 
evidence base shows there is nowhere else more suitable for the growth to go.  
In considering the very special circumstances in relation to development in the 
Green Belt, it is concluded that the tests have been met.  It is recognised that 
the planning application is critical locally and regionally in helping to boost much 
needed housing, infrastructure provision and economic investment. 

  
11.5 Human Rights issues 

 
Article 8 of the Human Rights Act states that every person has the right to 
private and family life. Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 states that every person is 
entitled to the peaceful enjoyment of his possessions.  In considering this 
application, it is necessary to consider the implications the proposal would have 
on the right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions and private and family life.  
On balance, it is considered that allowing this application would not breach the 
human rights of neighbouring residents as the impacts on these rights would be 
minimal.  
 

 
 
Recommendation 
 
That, subject to the referral of the application to the Secretary of State, in accordance 
with The Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 2009, and the 
completion of a prior Section 106 Agreement that the Interim Assistant Director 
Planning be authorised to grant Planning Permission if the Secretary of State does not 
call in the application and in doing so, to make such amendments to the schedules to 
the permission as he considers necessary, subject to the following: 
 
 
RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS 
 
1 Approval of the details of the appearance, landscaping, layout, access 

and scale of the development within each area or sub-area as 
identified in condition 3, (herein called ‘the reserved matters’) shall be 

Agenda Item 4
Page 90



obtained in writing from the local planning authority before 
development is commenced within that area or sub-area. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 
Reason: To comply with Article 4 (1) of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) Order 2010. 

 

2 Application for approval of the reserved matters for each area or sub-area, 
as identified in condition 3, shall be made to the Local Planning Authority 
before the expiration of 10 years from the date of this permission. The 
development shall begin no later than 5 years from the approval of the final 
reserved matters.  
 
Reason: To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004. 

 

3 Prior to the submission of the first reserved matters, an areas plan for 
the entire application site shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The areas plan shall show a minimum 
of 2 character areas and shall define the location and extent of each 
residential area and the number, size and tenure of dwellings in each 
area; and also define the timing of provision of the movement network, 
vehicular access point(s) open space and play areas and surface water 
attenuation areas for each area.   The development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved areas plan.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the details and appearance of the development 
are acceptable to the Local Planning Authority in accordance with 
Policy BE8 of the South Bedfordshire Local Plan and Policy 43 of the 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014). 

 

4 No more than 270 dwellings, 8.6 hectares of formal open space comprising 
playing fields, 1.2 hectares of land for a cemetery, 0.6 hectares of allotments 
and associated landscaping, open space, parking, internal access roads 
shall be constructed on the site pursuant to this planning permission in 
accordance with the parameter plan reference  1457_011  .    
 
Reason: To ensure that the details and appearance of the development are 
acceptable to the Local Planning Authority in accordance with Policy BE8 of 
the South Bedfordshire Local Plan and Policy 43 of the Development 
Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-Submission Version May 
2014). 

 

5 No development shall commence until an overarching Landscape and 
Open Space Strategy has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The Landscape and Open Space 
Strategy shall set out the in principle requirements for treatment of the 
areas of landscaping and open space and their relationship with 
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS) shall be in accordance 
with the principles set out within the Parameters Assessment - 

Agenda Item 4
Page 91



Landscape contained within the submitted Design and Access 
Statement and the areas plan approved by condition 3 and shall 
include: 
 

a) a programme for implementation, particularly with regard 
to advanced planting; 

 
b) long-term design objectives for the laying out of areas of 
green infrastructure and open space within the residential 
development areas including any replacement planting; 

 
c) short and long-term management responsibilities; 

 
d) maintenance schedules for all hard and soft landscape 
areas and open spaces (other than privately owned 
domestic gardens), and any associated features. 

 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved overarching Landscape and Open Space Strategy. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance of the development in 
accordance with policy BE8 of the South Bedfordshire Local Plan and 
policies 43 and 56 of the Development Strategy for Central 
Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-Submission Version May 2014). 

 

6 Development shall not begin until a detailed surface water drainage 
scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an 
assessment of the hydrological and hydro geological context of the 
development, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The scheme shall subsequently be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details before the 
development is completed.  
  
The scheme shall be based upon the principles given within the Flood 
Risk Assessment dated November 2011, reference 3855/02, compiled 
by Stuart Michael Associates, and shall also include: 
  

• Detailed post-development surface water runoff calculations, 
accounting for impermeable areas, for the Q1 (or QBAR), Q30, 

Q100 and Q100 PLUS CLIMATE CHANGE storm events. This 

shall be done for the demonstrated critical storm duration and 
season; 

• Detailed drawings showing the location, dimensions, levels, 
gradients and reference numbers of the proposed drainage 
system; 

• Detailed results of surface water system modelling for the above-
mentioned storm events demonstrating suitable management of 
surface water and performance of the proposed system; 

• Details of flood flow routing in the event of system exceedance 
or failure, demonstrating that surface water flood risk from the 
site to adjacent or downstream areas will not increase, and such 
flows can be appropriately managed on site; 

Agenda Item 4
Page 92



• Full design details including cross- and long-sections, levels 
(including design and water levels), dimensions and gradients, 
of the proposed attenuation pond and flow control device 
(including the manufacturer’s flow curve for vortex flow 
controls), demonstrating suitable system performance for 
discharge rates no greater than those as given in section 5.30 of 
the agreed FRA; 

• Assurances that the capacity of the proposed water butts for 
each property, as detailed in section 5.19 of the FRA, shall not be 
included as part of the storm water attenuation volume; 

• Analysis of the capacity of the receiving watercourse, 
demonstrating that the watercourse can receive flows as 
proposed, and that the culvert downstream of the receiving 
watercourse will not be overwhelmed; 

• Details of any erosion control measures proposed on the 
receiving watercourse to mitigate the concentration of discharge 
to a singular point in the watercourse; 

• Details of the proposed maintenance and/or adoption regime, or 
evidence from the appropriate party that maintenance/adoption 
details have been agreed. 

  
Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, and ensure future 
maintenance of the drainage system in accordance with policy 49 of 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014. 

 

7 No reserved matters pursuant to an area or sub-area shall be submitted 
until an Area Design Code (‘ADC’), has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in relation to that 
area or sub-area.     
 
Reason: To ensure that the Area Design Codes are of a localised 
nature and is produced to assist in setting out the details of the  
development in a planned manner and to ensure that the details and 
appearance of the development are acceptable to the Local Planning 
Authority and in accordance with Policy BE8 of the South Bedfordshire 
Local Plan (2004), Policy 43 of the Development Strategy Central 
Bedfordshire Revised Pre-Submission Version May 2014 and 
Paragraph 59 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012). 

 

8 No development shall commence until such time as a scheme 
to dispose of foul and surface water has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The scheme shall 
be implemented as approved. 
  
Reason : To prevent the pollution of controlled waters in accordance 
with Policies 44 and 49 of the Development Strategy for Central 
Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-Submission Version May 2014.) 

 

9 No development shall commence in any area, as defined by the areas 
plan required by condition 3, of the development (including any works 
of demolition) until a Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(‘CEMP’) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Agenda Item 4
Page 93



Planning Authority. The CEMP shall accord with the Framework 
Construction Environment Management Plan submitted as part of this 
planning application and shall include details of: 
 

a) Environment Management Responsibilities; 
b) Construction Activities and Timing; 
c) Plant and Equipment, including loading and unloading; 
d) Construction traffic routes and points of access/egress to be 

used by construction vehicles; 
e) Details of site compounds, offices and areas to be used for the 

storage of materials; 
f) Utilities and Services; 
g) Emergency planning & Incidents; 
h) Contact details for site managers and details of management 

lines of reporting to be updated as different phases come 
forward; 

i) On site control procedures: 
i. Traffic mitigation measures including traffic management 
and parking 
ii. Temporary haulage routes 
iii. Air and Dust quality 
iv. Noise and vibration  
v. Waste and Resource Management 
vi. Agricultural Soils and Materials 
vii. Temporary surface water drainage during construction  
viii. Protection of Controlled Waters 
ix. Trees, Hedgerows and Scrub 
x. Ecology 
xi. Archaeological and Cultural Heritage 
xii. Visual and Lighting 
xiii. Utilities and Services 
xiv.Protection of water resources 
xv. Protection of species and habitats 

j) Detailed phasing plan to show any different phasing, different 
developers and/or constructors to be updated on an annual 
basis;  

k) Details for the monitoring and review of the construction 
process including traffic mitigation (to include a review process 
of the Construction Environmental Management Plan during 
development). 

 
Any development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in 
accordance with the approved CEMP.   
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is constructed using methods 
to mitigate nuisance or potential damage associated with the 
construction period and in accordance with Policy 44 of the 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014.) 

 

10 No development approved by this permission shall be commenced 
until a scheme for the improvement and/or extension of the existing 
sewerage system has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Agenda Item 4
Page 94



local planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as 
approved. No occupation of dwellings approved by this permission 
shall occur until the scheme for improvement of the existing sewage 
system has been completed. 
  
Reason: The sewage treatment works is overloaded and in the altered 
discharge is likely to cause contravention of the discharge consent if 
an increase in discharge loading is permitted.  The sewage treatment 
works is overloaded and the altered discharge is likely to cause failure 
of a statutory or non-statutory water quality objective if permitted. 
There is an existing problem with combined sewer overflows (CSOs) 
which this development would exacerbate in the absence of 
improvements to the sewer system.  In accordance with Policy 44 of 
the Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014.) 

 

11 No burials shall take place in the cemetery hereby approved: 
• within 250 metres of any well or borehole 
• within 30 metres of any watercourse or spring 
• within 10 metres of any field drain 
• in saturated ground. 

 
Reason: To prevent the pollution of controlled waters. An inappropriately 
located and designed cemetery could result in the pollution of the surface 
water drains form the eastern and southern boundaries of the site.   

 

12 No dwellings shall be occupied, in any area or sub-area as identified in 
condition 3, until mitigation, conservation and enhancement measures 
as set out in chapter 5 of the Environmental Statement have been 
implemented. 
 
Reason: To ensure all impacts on ecology from development are taken 
into account and mitigated in accordance with Policy 57 of the 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014.) 

 

13 No development shall take place in an area of the development 
approved as per condition 3 of this permission until details of the 
plans and sections of the proposed estate roads in that area, 
including gradients and method of surface water disposal have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
and no building within that area shall be occupied until the section of 
road which provides access thereto has been constructed (apart from 
final surfacing) in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the proposed road works are constructed to 
adequate standard in accordance with policy 43 of the Development 
Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-Submission Version 
May 2014.) 

 

14 Prior to the commencement of development in any area, as defined by 
the areas plan required by condition 3, approved by this planning 
permission (or such other date or stage in development as may be 

Agenda Item 4
Page 95



agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority), the following 
components of a scheme to deal with the risks associated with 
contamination of the site shall each be submitted to and approved, in 
writing, by the Local Planning Authority: 
 
1) A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 

1. all previous uses 
2. potential contaminants associated with those uses 
3. a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and 

receptors 
4. potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the 

site. 
 
2) A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for 
a detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, 
including those off site. 
 
3) The results of the site investigation and detailed risk assessment 
referred to in (2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and 
remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation measures 
required and how they are to be undertaken. 
  
4) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected 
in order to demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation 
strategy in (3) are complete and identifying any requirements for 
longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and 
arrangements for contingency action. 
 
Any changes to these components require the express consent of the 
local planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as 
approved. 
  
Reason: To protect human health and the environment in accordance 
with Policy 44 of the Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire 
(Revised Pre-Submission Version May 2014.) 

 

15 Prior to commencement of development, in any area, as defined by the 
areas plan required by condition 3, a verification report demonstrating 
completion of the works set out in the approved remediation strategy 
and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to and 
approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The report shall 
include results of sampling and monitoring carried out in accordance 
with the approved verification plan to demonstrate that the site 
remediation criteria have been met. It shall also include any plan (a 
"long-term monitoring and maintenance plan") for longer-term 
monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for 
contingency action, as identified in the verification plan, and for the 
reporting of this to the local planning authority. The long-term 
monitoring and maintenance plan shall be implemented as approved. 
 
Reason: To protect human health and the environment in accordance 
with Policy 44 of the Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire 
(Revised Pre-Submission Version May 2014.) 

Agenda Item 4
Page 96



 

16 No development shall take place, in any area or sub-area as identified 
in condition 3, until a written scheme of archaeological resource 
management; that includes post excavation analysis and publication 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The said development shall only be implemented in full 
accordance with the approved scheme. 
 
Reason: To record and advance understanding of the heritage assets 
with archaeological interest which will be unavoidably affected as a 
consequence of the development and to secure the protection and 
management of archaeological remains which may be preserved in situ 
within the development site in accordance with policy 46 of the 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014.) 

 

17 Prior to commencement of any development on any area, as defined 
by the areas plan required by condition 3, no tree or hedgerow shall 
be lopped, topped or felled and an Aboricultural Method Statement 
and Tree Protection Plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved statement and plan.  
 
Reason: To safeguard existing trees on site in accordance with Policy 
BE8 of the South Bedfordshire Local Plan and policies 43 and 59 of the 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014). 

 

18 Prior to commencement of development in each area approved by 
condition 3 of this permission, a scheme showing  the proposed 
boundary treatment of that area shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall show the 
type and height of fences, hedges, walls or other means of enclosure. 
The approved scheme shall be implemented before the adjacent 
residential units are first occupied. 
 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development and 
to safeguard the amenity of future occupiers in accordance with 
Policy BE8 of the South Bedfordshire Local Plan and policy 43 of the 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014). 

 

19 No development shall take place in an area or sub-area of the 
development approved as per condition 3 above until there has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
a detailed waste audit scheme for that area. The waste audit scheme 
shall include details of refuse storage and recycling facilities. The 
development of dwellings and/or commercial units in each area shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details shall not 
thereafter be used for any other purpose. 
 
Reason: To ensure that development is adequately provided with 
waste and recycling facilities in accordance with policy 43 of the 

Agenda Item 4
Page 97



Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014). 

 

20 To protect against intrusive externally generated noise, sound insulation and 
absorbent materials shall be applied to all dwellings as is necessary to 
achieve as a minimum standard an internal noise level of 30dBLAeq, 23:00-

07:00  and 45dBLAmax, 23:00-0700 for bedrooms and35dBLAeq, 07:00-

23:00  for habitable rooms.  External noise levels from road traffic noise 

sources shall not exceed 55dBLAeq, 1hr in outdoor amenity areas.  Any 

works which form part of the scheme approved by the Local Planning 
Authority shall be completed and the effectiveness of the scheme shall be 
demonstrated through validation noise monitoring, with the results reported 
to the Local Planning Authority in writing before any permitted dwelling is 
occupied, unless an alternative period is approved in writing by the authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, in accordance with policy 
BE8 South Bedfordshire Local Plan and policy 43 of Development Strategy 
for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-Submission Version May 2014.)   

 

21 The details required by condition 1 of this permission in relation to each 
area approved by condition 3 shall include details of the finished floor and 
site levels including full details of finished floor levels for each building and 
finished site levels (for all hard surfaced and landscaped areas) in relation 
to existing ground levels. The development shall thereafter be carried out 
strictly in accordance with the approved level details. 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory form of 
development in accordance with policy BE8 of South Bedfordshire Local 
Plan and policy 43 of the Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire 
(Revised Pre-Submission Version May 2014.)  

22 The details required by condition 1 of this permission in relation to each 
area approved as per condition 3 shall include a scheme for parking, and 
garaging for the residential units in that area.  The parts of each approved 
scheme pursuant to condition 1 related to each residential unit shall be 
made available for use before the residential unit or building is occupied 
and those areas shall not thereafter be used for any other purpose. 
 
Reason: To ensure that adequate turning, parking and unloading space is 
available in the interest of road safety in accordance with policies 27 and 43 
of the Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014). 

 

24 No development shall take place until a revised Framework Travel Plan 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority in conjunction with the Highways Agency.  The Travel Plan 
shall include the following: 
 
The identification of targets for trip reduction and modal shift; 

•••• The methods to be employed to meet these targets; 

•••• The mechanisms for monitoring and review; 

•••• The mechanisms for reporting; 

•••• The penalties to be applied in the event that targets are not met; 

Agenda Item 4
Page 98



•••• The mechanisms for mitigation including budgetary provision; 

•••• Implementation of the travel plan (until full occupation) to an agreed 
timescale and its operation thereafter; 

•••• Mechanisms to secure variations to the travel plan following 
monitoring and reviews; 

•••• Mechanisms for managing the travel plan and coordinating with 
other travel plans in the East Leighton Linslade development area. 

 
The completed development shall be occupied in accordance with the 
approved travel plan which shall be retained in place thereafter unless 
otherwise amended in accordance with a review to be agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority in conjunction with the Highway 
Agency. 
 
Reason:  To ensure the A5 trunk road continues to serve its purpose as 
part of a national system of routes for through traffic, to satisfy the 
reasonable requirements of road safety on the A5 trunk road and 
connecting routes in accordance with section 10 of the Highways Act 
1980 and in the interests of promoting sustainable transport and 
reducing the number of trips by private car, in accordance with policy 
26 of the Development Strategy for Central Bedford shire (Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014.).   

 

25 The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in 
complete accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans, 
numbers 1457_008 & 1457_011. 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt. 

 

 
Notes to Applicant 
 
1. This permission relates only to that required under the Town & Country 

Planning Acts and does not include any consent or approval under any other 
enactment or under the Building Regulations. Any other consent or approval 
which is necessary must be obtained from the appropriate authority. 

 
2. In accordance with Article 31 of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010, the reason 
for any condition above relates to the Policies as referred to in the South 
Bedfordshire Local Plan Review (SBLPR) and the emerging Development 
Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (DSCB). 

 
3. Environment Agency - consenting of works on ordinary watercourses 

Proposals for works such as mill dams, weirs, sluices and the suchlike that 
may affect the flow of water within an ordinary watercourse, and proposals 
for culverting of ordinary watercourses, will require an application for Flood 
Defence Consent under Section 23 of the Land Drainage Act 1991. 
  
At present such applications should be made to the Environment Agency. 
Due to new and changing legislation, from 6th April 2012 any such 
applications should be made to the relevant Lead Local Flood Authority – in 

Agenda Item 4
Page 99



this case Central Bedfordshire Council. 
 
4. Environment Agency - Cemetery 

 
An appropriate risk assessment may be required to determine the potential 
pollution risks to controlled waters from the proposed cemetery 
development. Please refer to the Agency booklet 'Assessing the 
Groundwater Pollution Potential of Cemetery Developments'. 

 
5. Environment Agency - foul drainage  

 
Foul drainage should be connected to the main sewer. Where this is not 
possible and it is proposed to discharge treated effluent to ground or to a 
surface watercourse the applicant may require an Environmental Permit 
from us. The granting of planning permission does not guarantee the 
granting of a permit under the Environmental Permitting Regulations 2010. A 
permit will only be granted where the risk to the environment is acceptable. 

 
6. Environment Agency - Sustainable Drainage Systems. 

 
In accordance with our Groundwater Protection: Policy and Practice (GP3) 
document, we offer the following advice on Sustainable Drainage Systems 
(SUDS): 
 
Soakaways must be constructed in line with guidance provided in Building 
Research Establishment 365 (BRE365) – Soakaway Design.  
 
SUDS must be constructed in line with guidance provided in Construction 
Industry Research and Information Association C697 (CIRIA C697) -  The 
SUDS Manual.  
 
Direct discharges into groundwater of surface water run-off are 
not acceptable. 
 
All infiltration structures (permeable pavements, infiltration trenches, 
soakaways, etc.) should be constructed to as shallow a depth as possible to 
simulate natural infiltration. The maximum acceptable depth for infiltration 
structures is two metres below existing ground level with the base of these 
infiltration structures at least 1.2 metres above the highest seasonal 
groundwater-table. We do not consider deep bore and other deep soakaway 
systems to be appropriate in areas where groundwater constitutes a 
significant resource (i.e. where aquifer yield may support or already supports 
abstraction). Infiltration structures must not be constructed in contaminated 
ground. Only clean, uncontaminated water should be discharged to any 
infiltration structure. Infiltration structures should only be used in areas on 
site where they would not present a risk to groundwater. If permitted, their 
location must be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority (LPA). 
  
Prior to being discharged into any surface water sewer or soakaway system, 
all surface water drainage from parking areas and hard standings 
susceptible to oil contamination should be passed through an oil separator 
designed and constructed to have a capacity and details compatible with the 

Agenda Item 4
Page 100



site being drained. Roof water should not pass through the interceptor and 
should discharge to separate infiltration systems to those used for road and 
vehicle parking areas. The Environmental Permitting Regulations make it an 
offence to cause or knowingly permit any discharge that will result in the 
input of pollutants to surface waters. 
 
Any SUDS from car or lorry parking areas would need to incorporate 
suitable measures for the protection of water quality, this is likely to include 
measures to mitigate the discharge of hydrocarbons to surface water or 
ground. Details of treatment techniques are outlined in CIRIA Report C609. 
We would wish to be consulted on any protection measures.  
 
Any oil interceptors should include separate provision for the interception 
and removal of sediment (as collection of solids within the interceptor will 
reduce the capacity and function of the interceptor). Any oil 
interceptors/sediment chambers should be regularly maintained in 
accordance with manufacturers guidelines. 
 
Storage of domestic oil in above ground tanks >3500 litres must be 
undertaken on site in accordance with the Control of Pollution (oil storage) 
(England) Regulations 2001.  Storage of domestic oil in above ground tanks 
<3500 litres must be undertaken in accordance with Approved Document J 
of the Building Regulations. 

 
7. The British Standard for Topsoil, BS 3882:2007, specifies requirements for 

topsoils that are moved or traded and should be adhered to.  

 
8. Applicants are reminded that, should groundwater or surface water courses 

be at risk of contamination during or after development, the Environment 
Agency should be approached for approval of measures to protect water 
resources separately. 

 
9. With respect to the construction phase the applicant has cited a number of 

measures to minimise the escape of dust.  Reference should be made also 
to the Mayor of London’s Best Practice Guidance (BPG) The control of dust 
and emissions from construction and demolition.  Mitigation measures 
should also include solid barriers to the site boundary where necessary.     

The Council does not specify permitted noise levels, instead contractors 
shall employ the “best practicable means” as defined in the Control of 
Pollution Act 1974 to minimise noise and vibration resulting from their 
operations and shall have regard to British Standard BS 5228:2009 Code of 
Practice for Noise Control on Construction and Open Sites.   

Measures would include contractors taking all reasonable steps to minimise 
noise and be reasonable in the timing of any high noise level activities.  
These steps may include, though not exclusively, noise mitigation measures 
such as temporary screening and/or at source insulation, all vehicles, plant 
and machinery used during the operations fitted with effective exhaust 
silencers and that all parts of such vehicles, plant or machinery maintained 
in good repair and in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions and so 
operated and orientated so as to minimise noise emissions.  Where possible 

Agenda Item 4
Page 101



the use of generators should be avoided and mains electricity used.  All 
compressors used shall be “noise reduced” models fitted with properly lined 
and sealed acoustic covers which shall be kept closed when the machines 
are in use.  Where other alternatives are proposed these should be 
approved by the Local Authority.  All ancillary pneumatic percussive tools 
should be fitted with approved mufflers or silencers of the type 
recommended by the manufacturers. All of these items must be kept in good 
repair and any machinery used intermittently should be shut down when not 
in use or, where this is impracticable, should be throttled back to a minimum. 

 
10. The applicants attention is drawn to their responsibility under The Equality 

Act 2010 and with particular regard to access arrangements for the disabled. 
 
The Equality Act 2010 requires that service providers must think ahead and 
make reasonable adjustments to address barriers that impede disabled 
people.  
 
These requirements are as follows: 
 

•••• Where a provision, criterion or practice puts disabled people at a 
substantial disadvantage to take reasonable steps to avoid that 
disadvantage; 

•••• Where a physical feature puts disabled people at a substantial 
disadvantage to avoid that disadvantage or adopt a reasonable 
alternative method of providing the service or exercising the function; 

•••• Where not providing an auxiliary aid puts disabled people at a substantial 
disadvantage to provide that auxiliary aid. 

 
In doing this, it is a good idea to consider the range of disabilities that your 
actual or potential service users might have. You should not wait until a 
disabled person experiences difficulties using a service, as this may make it 
too late to make the necessary adjustment. 
 
For further information on disability access contact: 
 
The Centre for Accessible Environments (www.cae.org.uk) 
Central Bedfordshire Access Group (www.centralbedsaccessgroup.co.uk) 

 
11. This consent is subject to a legal agreement under Section 106 of the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 
 

Statement required by the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment No. 2) Order 2012 - Article 31 

 
It is recommended that planning permission be granted for this proposal. Discussion 
with the applicant to seek an acceptable solution was not necessary in this instance. 
The Council has therefore acted pro-actively to secure a sustainable form of 
development in line with the requirements of the Framework (paragraphs 186 and 
187) and in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment No. 2) Order 2012. 

Agenda Item 4
Page 102



 
 
DECISION 
 
......................................................................................................................................... 
 
 
......................................................................................................................................... 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 4
Page 103



Page 104

This page is intentionally left blank



CASE NO.

Date:  08:July:2014

Scale:  1:10000

Map Sheet No

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.
Central Bedfordshire Council
Licence No. 100049029 (2009)

N

S

W E

Application No.

CB/11/01937/OUT

Grid Ref: 493079; 226868

Chamberlains Barn Quarry, Heath Road, Leighton Buzzard

Agenda Item 5
Page 105



Page 106

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Item No. 5   

  
APPLICATION NUMBER CB/11/01937/OUT 
LOCATION Chamberlains Barn Quarry, Heath Road, Leighton 

Buzzard 
PROPOSAL Outline: Mixed development including up to 950 

dwellings; a site for a lower school; a local centre 
comprising retail and community uses; informal 
open space and country park, incorporating 
allotments, orchards, new tree and shrub planting, 
and play areas.  

PARISH  Leighton-Linslade 
WARD Leighton Buzzard North 
WARD COUNCILLORS Cllrs Johnstone, Shadbolt & Spurr 
CASE OFFICER  Vicki Davies 
DATE REGISTERED  03 August 2011 
EXPIRY DATE  02 November 2011 
APPLICANT  Arnold White Estates Ltd 
AGENT  Hives Planning Limited 
REASON FOR 
COMMITTEE TO 
DETERMINE 

Departure, Major application recommended for 
approval and with objections from Eggington Parish 
Council and Heath and Reach Parish Council. 

RECOMMENDED 
DECISION 

 
Outline Application - Approval 

 
 
 
Executive Summary 
 

(i)  The application seeks planning permission for the provision of up to 
950 dwellings and supporting community facilities, as part of an 
extension to the east of Leighton Linslade.  It was determined that the 
development should be subject to an Environmental Impact 
Assessment.  The Committee resolved to grant planning permission in 
relation to the Clipstone Park proposals at its meeting on 29th February 
2014.  These proposals and the Clipstone Park resolution to grant 
together for an important element of the combined Eastern Leighton 
Linslade strategy. 

  
(ii) The representations from the statutory and non-statutory consultees 

received reflect the complexity of a planning proposal on this scale.  
There are a number of technical issues raised that the consultees 
expect to be dealt with by alterations to the proposals, use of planning 
conditions and the controlled implementation of the development at 
the detailed planning submission stages. The number of 
representations from local residents has been commensurate with the 
scale of the development, with concerns raised about traffic, loss of 
Green Belt, impact during the construction period, inadequate levels of 
employment, flooding, fears for the quality of the development and the 
need for the development in principle.  

Agenda Item 5
Page 107



  
(iii) In assessing the proposals, it is considered that limited weight should 

be given to many of the current adopted Development Plan policies, 
due to its age, however some policies are compliant with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and the emerging Development Strategy 
for Central Bedfordshire and can therefore be afforded more weight. 
There will be harm to the Green Belt caused by the development but 
there are very special circumstances that can be taken into account. 
However, the Committee will also wish to take note of the lengthy 
history of examining the appropriateness of promoting development in 
the Green Belt in this specific location and that this should be an 
important material consideration that it should include in its decision 
making. The site’s current Green Belt designation requires the 
application to be referred to the Secretary of State for his consideration 
before a planning permission can be issued.  

  
(iv) An Environmental Statement has been produced of a substantial 

nature which identifies a number of environmental impacts that will 
require mitigation both during the construction period and after the 
development has been completed. None of the impacts are sufficiently 
substantial either by themselves or cumulatively to the extent that they 
cannot be mitigated in a satisfactory way. The mitigation package 
includes; controls over development during construction, provision of 
necessary infrastructure and the production of strategies for 
environmental protection. 

  
(v) There are a number of issues arising from the proposals that are key to 

a commercially viable development as proposed but are also of 
significant concern to the statutory consultees or Council advisors. 
These issues are:  

•••• The amount of affordable housing that can be afforded by the 
development. 

•••• The impact of the development on the local highway network. 

•••• The potential for impact on recreational and protected sites 
accessible to the public near the site. 

Each of these issues is considered in detail and the Committee is 
presented with a detailed analysis of each item to assist its decision. It 
is not considered that the conclusion of the analysis of any of these 
issues requires planning permission to be refused taking into account 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  

  
(vi) There are a number of key benefits that can be attributed to the scheme 

and that are material considerations that the Committee should take 
into account. In particular, the provision of a section of the eastern link 
road, a locally important infrastructure project designed to relieve 
traffic congestion in Leighton Linslade Town Centre. The application 
will also deliver a substantial proportion of the housing proposed by 
the Development Strategy and for which there is underlying evidence 
of considerable need. 

  

Agenda Item 5
Page 108



(vii) The NPPF requires the Council to consider carefully the commercial 
viability of proposals as part of their decision making.  It is clear from 
the substantial Viability Appraisal work undertaken by the applicant 
and checked by the Council’s specialist consultants that the scheme is 
not sufficiently financially viable in current economic conditions to 
afford the full requirements for affordable housing and mitigation 
requirements this Council would normally expect as part of a major 
new development.  
 
However, the applicants propose that as the economy improves and 
the development can afford to pay for more contributions, a 
review/uplift mechanism enabling the community to ultimately require 
and receive the full package sought be included in the Section 106 
Planning Agreement. It is considered this represents an appropriate 
and fair approach, and is the commonly adopted approach to similar 
types of developments in the current climate.  

  
(viii) The recommendation therefore is that this Council be minded to 

approve the planning application subject to the completion of a 
satisfactory Section 106 Agreement and that the application be referred 
to the Secretary of State.  The Section 106 Agreement will need to 
ensure that the whole of the urban extension comes forward in a 
comprehensive manner despite it being presented in a number of 
different planning applications.    

 
Site Location:  
 
The application site is located on the eastern side of Leighton-Linslade and is 
approximately 2km from the town centre.  Eggington, Stanbridge and Tilsworth are 
located to the east of the application site with the A5 beyond.  The site is bounded 
by Vandyke Road to the south, Shenley Hill Road to the east, Cotefield Drive to the 
north and Heath Road to the west.   
 
The site covers 95ha and is a mix of active and former quarry, pasture, arable and 
woodland.  The site is predominantly worked quarry land, active quarry or land from 
which sand is to be extracted.  Broadly this land is the area on which the bulk of the 
development proposals would be accommodated and is located to the south west of 
Shenley Hill.  Other land for development fronting Vandyke Road is a mix of 
agricultural land and scrub woodland.  Shenley Hill is a wooded hill of significance in 
the landscape, rising to 120m above sea level, and falls within the site.  The 
Leighton Buzzard Narrow Gauge Railway (LBNGR), an important tourist attraction, 
runs along the southern boundary of the site on the northern side of Vandyke Road.  
Excluded from the application site is an area of approximately 5.4 ha, known as the 
“Chiltern Hunt” land, which is in agricultural use.  A smaller area of 0.89ha located 
further along Vandyke Road is also excluded. 
 
The Application: 
 
The planning application is an outline application for a mixed use urban extension 
including: 

− up to 950 dwellings 

− a lower school site 

Agenda Item 5
Page 109



− local centre, including convenience retail 

− country park including car parking 

− allotments 

− orchard 

− local play space 

− adventure play area 

− new halt for the narrow gauge railway 
 
The application was accompanied by: 

− an Environmental Statement consisting of volume 1 – main text; volume 2 – 
technical appendices and a non-technical summary 

− application drawings (for approval) 

− scale parameter plans (for approval)  

− illustrative layout plan 

− design and access statement 

− topographic survey 

− tree survey 

− planning statement 

− planning obligations heads of terms 

− statement of community involvement 

− sustainability statement 

− transport assessment 

− health impact assessment 

− flood risk assessment 

− community and leisure facilities assessment 

− waste management statement 

− contaminated land assessment 

− green infrastructure strategy 

− energy statement 

− affordable housing statement 

− economic statement 
 
 
Context of planning application in relation to the East of Leighton Linslade 
Strategic Site Allocation 
 
This planning application is one of four applications which have been made in 
connection with the on site delivery of the East of Leighton Linslade urban 
extension.  All of the planning applications were considered to meet the criteria to 
need to be accompanied by an Environmental Impact Assessment.  
 
Three outline applications for residential development, with associated 
infrastructure, are under consideration.  There are two applicants involved, Willis 
Dawson Holdings and Arnold White Estates.     
 
This application to be considered: 
CB/11/01937/OUT – Mixed development including up to 950 dwellings; a site for a 
lower school; a local centre comprising retail and community uses; informal open 
space and country park, incorporating allotments, orchards, new tree and shrub 
planting, and play areas; and a new halt for the Narrow Gauge Railway (NGR).   

Agenda Item 5
Page 110



Chamberlains Barn, Heath Road, Leighton Buzzard.   
Applicant: Arnold White Estates. 
 

The following application was considered by the Committee on 28th February 2014: 
CB/11/02827/OUT - Mixed use urban extension including 1210 dwellings, 70 units 
of Assisted Living for the Elderly, Class B1, B2, B8 Employment, Renewable Energy 
Plant and Recycling Facility, a Neighbourhood Centre comprising Retail Uses 
(Class A1-A3), a Public House (Class A4), a Multi Purpose Hall (Class D1), a GP 
Surgery (Class D1), Offices (Class B1), a Children's Nursery (Class D1) and 
Associated Car Parking, Community Hall (Class D1), Retail Units (Class A1-A3), an 
Elderly Person Care Home of up to 70 Beds (Class C2), a New Eastern Link Road 
between Vandyke Road and Stanbridge Road together with associated residential 
and employment access roads with associated car parking, the laying out of an area 
to the north and south of Clipstone Brook as a Park forming part of an Area of 
Green Infrastructure, the laying out of structural landscaping and green corridors for 
recreational use, the laying of 7.45 hectares of land as formal pitch provision 
together with the erection of appropriate changing facilities, the construction of 
footways and cycleways, the construction of structures to accommodate Sustainable 
Urban Drainage Systems, the laying out of 0.75 hectares as Allotments, the 
construction of 2 neighbourhood equipped areas for play and four locally equipped 
areas of play, a Lower School and Middle School including a Multi Use Games 
Area, Land for expansion of Vandyke Upper School including a Multi Use Games 
Area.   
Clipstone Park, Land South of Vandyke Road & North of Stanbridge Road, Leighton 
Linslade.   
Applicant Willis Dawson Holdings.  
 
CB/11/04444/OUT - Hybrid application for residential development comprising up to 
270 dwellings with associated landscaping, open space, parking and internal access 
roads (in outline with all matters reserved); provision of formal public open space; 
cemetery; allotments; informal open space and structural landscaping; and access 
roads (change of use).  
Land known as The Stearn Land, Clipstone Lane, Leighton Buzzard 
Applicant: Arnold White Estates 
Considered elsewhere on this agenda. 
 
In addition a full planning application has been made for the part of the link road 
which would run through the Chamberlains Barn part of the site between Heath 
Road and Vandyke Road.   
 
CB/11/01940/FULL - A link road from Heath Road to Vandyke Road incorporating 
re-alignment and bridge over the Narrow Gauge Railway, sewers, pumping station 
and SUDs basin. 
Chamberlains Barn Quarry, Heath Road, Leighton Buzzard 
Applicant: Arnold White Estates. 
Considered elsewhere on this agenda.  
 
A fifth application has been made for changes to the junction between the A505, 
Stanbridge Road and Billington Road.  This application has been approved and 
would provide a roundabout at this junction. 
 
CB/11/03450/FULL - Construction of New Roundabout and Link Road together with 

Agenda Item 5
Page 111



amendments to existing Highway Arrangements.  
Land at junction of A505 and Stanbridge Road, Leighton Buzzard. 
Applicant: Willis Dawson Holdings.   
 
All of these applications together, in association with subsequent reserved matter 
applications, would deliver the whole urban extension of 2500 dwellings, link road 
between Heath Road in the north and Stanbridge Road in the south along with the 
associated infrastructure.   
 
RELEVANT POLICIES: 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) 
1 – Building a strong, competitive economy 
2 – Ensuring the vitality of town centres 
4 – Promoting sustainable transport 
6 – Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 
7 – Requiring Good Design  
8 – Promoting healthy communities 
9 – Protecting Green Belt land  
10 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
11 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
12 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
South Bedfordshire Local Plan Review 2004 Policies 
SD1 – Sustainability Keynote Policy 
BE8 – Design Considerations 
T10 – Controlling Parking in New Developments 
H3 – Meeting Local Housing Needs 
H4 – Providing Affordable Housing 
E1 – Providing for B1-B8 Development within Main Employment Areas 
R10 – Children’s Play Area Standard 
R11 – Provision of New Urban Open Space in New Residential Developments 
R14 – Protection and Improvement of Informal Recreational Facilities in the 
Countryside 
R15 – Retention of the Public Rights of Way Network 
R16 – Control of Sport and Formal Recreational Facilities in the Countryside 
 
(Having regard to the National Planning Policy Framework, the age of the plan and 
the general consistency with the NPPF, it is considered that some of the above 
policies should still be given significant weight, however others are inconsistent with 
the NPPF and should be given less weight.  This matter is discussed in detail in 
section 1). 
 
The endorsed Luton and South Central Bedfordshire Joint Core Strategy 
(August 2011)  
(Although this Strategy was previously endorsed for the purposes of Development 
Management the Council resolved to endorse the Development Strategy for that 
purpose on 12th June 2014, therefore superceding the Strategy.  Reference to the 
document is included for completeness and historical reference.) 
 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (revised pre-submission 
version May 2014) 

Agenda Item 5
Page 112



Proposed Policies:  
1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
2 – Growth Strategy 
3 – Green Belt 
4 – Settlement Hierarchy 
13 – Town Centre Development 
19 – Planning Obligations and the Community Infrastructure Levy 
20 – Next Generation Broadband 
21 – Provision for Social and Community Infrastructure 
22 – Leisure and Open Space Provision 
23 – Public Rights of Way 
24 – Accessibility and Connectivity 
25 – Functioning of the Network 
26 – Travel Plans 
27 – Parking  
28 – Transport Assessments  
29 – Housing Provision  
30 – Housing Mix 
31 – Supporting an Ageing Population 
32 – Lifetime Homes 
33 – Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Provision  
34 – Affordable Housing 
36 – Development in the Green Belt 
43 – High Quality Development  
44 – Protection from Environmental Pollution 
45 – The Historic Environment 
47 – Resource Efficiency 
48 - Adaptation 
49 – Mitigating Flood Risk 
56 – Green Infrastructure 
57 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
58 – Landscape  
59 – Woodlands, Trees and Hedgerows 
62 – East of Leighton-Linslade  
 
(Having regard to the National Planning Policy Framework, weight is given to the 
policies contained within the emerging Development Strategy for Central 
Bedfordshire, which is consistent with the NPPF.  The draft Development Strategy 
is due to be submitted to the Secretary of State in October 2014 and the Council 
endorsed it for the purposes of Development Management in the south area of the 
authority.  The weight to be given to these policies is considered further in section 
4). 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents 
East of Leighton Linslade Framework Plan (Endorsed for the purposes of 
Development Management, May 2013).  
Design in Central Bedfordshire: A Guide for Development (Core Document and 
Design Supplements). (Revised and adopted by Executive, March 2014, as 
technical guidance.) The Planning Obligations (South) SPD 2009.  
Managing Waste in New Developments SPD 2006.  
Land South of the High Street, Leighton Buzzard – Development Brief.  Adopted 
March 2012 

Agenda Item 5
Page 113



Bridge Meadows – Development Brief.  Adopted March 2012 
 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan: Strategic Sites and Policies (adopted January 
2014) 
WSP5 – Including waste management in new built developments 
 
General Introduction 
 
This proposal is for a development of significant size within the Green Belt.  The site 
lies on the edge of the Leighton Linslade conurbation, with the whole of the site falling 
within Leighton Linslade Town Council's area.  The majority of the site has been 
subject to mineral extraction and is therefore previously used.     
 
The proposal will change the physical, social and economic environment for the 
residents of the area and beyond by providing or being associated  with major new 
road infrastructure, significant amounts of new housing, open spaces, community 
facilities, shopping floorspace and public transportation.  
 
For that reason, it is important that Members consider carefully the process by which 
it reaches a decision. This report is structured to assist the Committee in reaching a 
clear and lawful decision,  taking into account all of the matters that it must, consider 
specifically the information contained within the Environmental Statement which 
accompanies the planning application.  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework usefully sets out the first principle that must 
be applied: 
 
“Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined 
in accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. The National Planning Policy Framework must be taken into account in the 
preparation of local and neighbourhood plans, and is a material consideration in 
planning decisions.” NPPF 2012 
 
This is caveated by the following: (author emphasis in bold) 
 
“This National Planning Policy Framework does not change the statutory status of the 
development plan as the starting point for decision making. Proposed development 
that accords with an up-to-date Local Plan should be approved, and proposed 
development that conflicts should be refused unless other material considerations 
indicate otherwise. It is highly desirable that local planning authorities should have an 
up-to-date plan in place.” (NPPF 2012) 
 
Planning Context and History 
 
The application site has been identified as a site with the potential to accommodate 
sustainable mixed use development for a number of years.  Although the 
Bedfordshire County Structure Plan (adopted 1997) identified that new housing would 
be located in and adjoining major towns, including Leighton Linslade this area was 
shown as Green Belt.  Co-operative work and studies led to the Milton Keynes and 
South Midlands Sub-Regional Strategy (2005) which proposed the area as a location 
for growth where it stated: 
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 114



“Leighton Linslade has much merit as an additional location for growth. The urban 
area of Leighton Linslade lies roughly midway between Luton and Milton Keynes and 
comprises the two towns of Leighton Buzzard and Linslade on opposite sides of the 
West Coast Main Line. The towns have developed steadily to a population of 
approximately 34,000 and would benefit from a continuing and appropriate level of 
growth to improve their economy, functioning and infrastructure. This growth would 
contribute towards the overall SRS provision for Luton and South Bedfordshire.” 
(MKSM 2005) 
 
Referring to the important need for new housing and development for the region, the 
document stated: 
 
“To achieve these objectives, the Green Belt will be reviewed around Leighton 
Linslade to provide the town with scope to increase its sustainability and make an 
appropriate contribution to the Growth Area. The required level of development will 
depend on the scale of growth to be accommodated within urban extensions to 
Luton/Dunstable/Houghton Regis.” (MKSM 2005) 
 
In 2008 the new East of England Plan, the Regional Spatial Strategy (“RSS”) was 
adopted.  The Milton Keynes South Midlands Sub Regional Strategy, insofar as its 
policies affected this site was enshrined within it. The RSS was considered at the 
Examination in Public of the review of the RSS, following which the Panel 
recommended two urban extensions within the MKSM Strategy Area for southern 
Bedfordshire, Leighton Linslade and Luton/Dunstable/Houghton Regis. 
 
The effect of the new RSS and the Milton Keynes South Midlands Sub Regional 
Strategy was to allocate the East of Leighton Linslade Strategic Urban Extension 
(within which the application is located) for residential, employment and supporting 
community uses, in an area where the Green Belt was to be rolled back, albeit with 
the Local Development Strategy being asked to set the exact boundaries.   
 
Towards that end, a Joint Planning Committee from Luton Borough Council, the 
former South Bedfordshire District Council and the former Bedfordshire County 
Council was formally created to deliver ‘The Luton and South Bedfordshire Joint Core 
Strategy’. This document reached Examination Stage in 2011 and included land to 
the east of Leighton Linslade as an urban extension for 2500 dwellings.  In light of 
this a draft masterplan for the extension was prepared by the landowners in 
conjunction with the Council.  Following the dissolution of the Joint Committee for 
unrelated reasons,  the proposal is now included within the emerging Development 
Strategy for Central Bedfordshire which will be submitted to the Secretary of State 
later this year. That Development Strategy includes a specific policy (policy 62) for 
the allocation of the East of Leighton Linslade urban extension and for the removal of 
Green Belt to accommodate it. 
 
Further background information on the justification for the proposed removal of land 
east of Leighton Linslade (along with other land proposed for removal to facilitate 
other development needed in the area) is contained in the Council’s published 
document, ‘Central Bedfordshire Development Strategy Green Belt Technical Note 
January 2013’. 
 

Planning History 
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 115



As the site has been subject to mineral extraction there are a number of planning 
permissions relating to this use, including an alternative haul road.  They have not 
been included here as they are not considered directly relevant to the consideration 
of the application.  One application which is directly relevant is: 
 
Application No: CB/11/04314/FULL 
 
Location: Chamberlains Barn Quarry, Heath Road, Leighton Buzzard. 
 
Proposal: Creation of new nature conservation ponds. 
 
Approved 25/6/11. 
 
In addition a planning application was submitted by the applicants in 2008 for a larger 
scheme which included much of the land within this application.  That application was 
considered to over-provide housing at densities that the Council considered were 
inappropriate and the discussions with the applicant at that time eventually resulted in 
the applications now before the Committee.  Accordingly the 2008 application was 
not determined and was therefore disposed of in November 2013. 
 
Application No: SB/08/00329/OUT 
 

Location: Eastern Leighton Buzzard Incorporating Land at A505, Stanbridge Road, 
Hockliffe Road, Vandyke Road and Shenley Hill Road. 
 
Proposal: Provision of an urban extension comprising of residential development of 
4,400 dwellings (including affordable housing), Eastern distributor road and access; 
sites for lower, middle and upper schools; neighbourhood/local centres (3.7ha in 
total) comprising of class A1, A2, A3, A4, A5 units and community uses; 20.29  
hectares of land for employment uses (comprising of class B1, B2 and B8 uses and 
reserve sites for energy centre and visitor information centre); formal open space 
extending to 17.97 ha; informal open space and parks extending to 87.59 ha, 
incorporating sites for children’s play areas and NEAPs, LEAPs and a site set aside 
for an adventure playground; sites for cemetery (3.47ha) and allotments (2.7ha); 
biomass plant; 7.07 hectares of reserve sites for community hospital, nursing home, 
FE college, skills and enterprise centre, youth activities centre, park and change 
facility and leisure centre. 
 
The next section deals specifically with the representations made by others on the 
planning application. Given the extent of the comments made, these have been 
summarised rather than reproduced in full.  For clarity, the Case Officer has included 
a response where this would aid in the understanding of the comment made or where 
the report, when considered in its entirety, affords a straightforward response to be 
made. 
 
Representations: 
(Parish & Neighbours) 
 
Heath and Reach 
Parish Council 

The Parish Council object on a number of grounds. 
 
The Parish Council consider that the applications are 
premature without a decision being made on the Core 

Agenda Item 5
Page 116



Strategy. 
 
[This matter is addressed in the planning context section 
above.] 
 
The Parish Council object due to the adverse impact 
additional traffic through the village would have. 
 
[The Highways Development Control Officer is satisfied that 
the proposal would not lead to any significant increase in 
traffic through Heath and Reach.] 
 
The Parish Council are concerned about the highway safety 
issues as the junction between Eastern Way and A5 is 
dangerous. 
 
[The Highways Agency, who are responsible for the A5, 
have no objection to the proposal.  This matter is however 
considered in detail in section 7] 
 
They also raise the poor condition of the road surface on 
Eastern Way. 
 
[The current state of the road surface is not a matter for 
consideration through this planning application.] 
 
The Parish Council object as the development is not 
sustainable. 
 
[The Parish Council does not explain why it considers that 
the proposals are not sustainable, however this issue is 
addressed throughout the report.] 
 

Leighton Linslade 
Town Council 

The Town Council make no objection to the application but 
request that consideration is given to all the elements listed 
below and that assurance is given that S106 agreement 
requirements would be met and timely delivery of 
infrastructure would take place.   
 
The areas to be considered are: 
- traffic volume in particular through town towards the railway 
station 
- parking provision on the development 
- road width and associated safety aspects 
- safeguarding of green areas within the development 
- sustainability of the development and its impact on the town 
- a timescale for the provision of the necessary infrastructure 
- impact on utilities, in particular the sewage works. 
 
[All of these matters are addressed within the report and 
secured through the legal agreement where necessary.] 
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 117



Hockliffe Parish 
Council 

The Parish Council objects on a number of grounds. 
 
The Parish Council consider that additional traffic travelling 
through the centre of the village along the A4012 from 
Leighton Buzzard to Woburn would make the road even 
more dangerous than at present. 
 
[The Council's Highways Development Control Officer 
acknowledges that additional traffic could have an adverse 
impact on this road, however to mitigate any impact 
appropriate measures will be taken, these may include 
signage to encourage the use of the link road, amendments 
to junctions etc.] 
 
The Parish Council object on the basis that additional traffic 
travelling along the A5 would have a significant impact on 
the junction and the delays which would be experienced. 
 
[The Highways Agency who are responsible for the A5 has 
raised no objection to the proposal and therefore it must be 
assumed has no concerns that the problems raised will have 
a significant impact on the free-flow of traffic on the A5.  
Again measures such as signage could be used to direct 
traffic along the link road rather than through Hockliffe.]   
 
The Parish Council raise concern over highway safety issues 
as the junction between Eastern Way and A5 is dangerous. 
 
[The Highways Agency, who are responsible for the A5, 
have no objection to the proposal.  This matter is however 
considered in detail in section 7] 
 

Local Residents and 
Organisations 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

30 letters setting out objections were received; the reasons 
for objecting are set out in the following sections.  
 
2 petitions were also received.   
The first includes 181 signatures, mainly from residents of 
Cotefield Drive, and states that the undersigned reject the 
application on the following grounds: 
- Leighton Buzzard needs more jobs not more houses. 
- The current infrastructure cannot cope with the added 
pressure of more housing and increased traffic congestion. 
- The sewage disposal plans for the site are inadequate and 
the current system does not have the capacity to be 
extended. 
- Increase in flood risk in Cotefield Drive and Adams Bottom 
area due to excess surface water and human interference.   
- Disruption/loss of wildlife habitats in Broomhills area of a 
variety of wildlife including rare and endangered species. 
- Application based on outdated Government rules and 
guidelines on regional strategies which have been revoked. 
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 118



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Objectors 
 
9, 21, 25 & 57 
Blenheim Road 
 
11, 34 & 43 Hydrus 
Drive 
 
36, 117 & 151 
Cotefield Drive  
 
118, 151, 184 & 187 
Heath Road 
 
18 & 28 Mercury Way 
 
3 Cetus Crescent 
 
12 Dove Tree Road 
 
3 South Street 
 
10 Talbot Court 
 
117 Vandyke Road 
 
119 Drakes Avenue 
 
32 Columba Drive 
 
69 Willowbank Walk 
 
59 Plantation Road 
 
17 Wellington Way 
 
Waverley, Hillside 
Road 
3 without complete 
addresses 
 

 

The second petition contains 25 signatures all of residents of 
Chamberlains Gardens and states that the change of use of 
the land adjacent to Chamberlains Gardens from a privately 
owned, gated and fenced area to a public open space has 
severe security and privacy issues for the residents.  The 
petition requests that a robust steel palisade fence is erected 
around the land and that access to the land is controlled and 
that it is managed by a Chamberlains Gardens Residents 
Association with the Greensand Trust.   
 

Principle of development/Green Belt 
- the land is Green Belt and should not be built on 
- prematurity of application 
- with Sandhills unfinished and ongoing development in 
Milton Keynes is there a need for more housing in Leighton 
Buzzard 
- all brownfield land should be built on before Green Belt 
land is used 
- Localism Bill 
 
[The principle of the development, the site allocation history 
and Green Belt matters are dealt with in section 5.] 
 

- already many unoccupied homes in the town 
 

[The information the Council has regarding the need for 
housing demonstrates that the need for accommodation 
cannot be met through the use of existing properties alone 
and that significant new numbers of houses need to be built.] 
 

- sterilisation of minerals  
 
[All economically viable mineral reserves would be worked 
prior to the land being developed.] 
 

Infrastructure & Facilities 
- concerns over the delivery of facilities 
- the applicants have not delivered on infrastructure provision 
at Sandhills and Billington Park 
 

[The delivery of appropriate facilities and infrastructure would 
be secured through the legal agreement as far as viability 
permits.] 
 

- amenities, roads and infrastructure cannot cope with any 
more houses 
 
[The proposal would provide sufficient amenities, roads and 
infrastructure to cope with the proposed number of houses 
as well as addressing some deficiencies in existing 
provision.] 
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 119



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- where would all the new residents work? 
 
[The east of Leighton Linslade development as a whole 
would deliver in the region of 2400 jobs a required by policy.] 
 
- no healthcare facilities proposed and not enough in the 
town 
- the development should deliver the long awaited hospital 
 
[A site for a new 4 GP surgery is proposed within the 
Clipstone Park part of the site, CB/11/02827/OUT.  There is 
also an area of land in the control of the Health Authority 
south of Vandyke Road, the applicants have no control over 
this site.]  
 
- not enough supermarkets for the town 
 
[The Clipstone Park part of the development would provide a 
small supermarket to serve the development as a whole.] 
 
- the trains are already full 
 
[The capacity of the rail network is not in the control of the 
applicant or the Council.] 
 
Flood Risk and Watercourses 
- flooding 
 

[The Environment Agency and Internal Drainage Board, the 
expert bodies on flooding, have no objection to the proposal 
subject to appropriate conditions.] 
 

- some residents are responsible for the maintenance of their 
part of the watercourse and access to the area should be 
restricted to those who are responsible for it 
 

[The resident's responsibilities would not change.] 
 

- health and safety concerns over watercourse and lack of 
fencing 
 

[Consideration will need to be given to matters such as this 
at reserved matters stage.] 
 

- risk of flooding from people blocking the watercourse along 
Cotefield Drive 
- no more trees should be planted near the watercourse in 
order to prevent leaf-fall causing blockages 
 

[The location of landscaping, the type of planting and any 
barriers needed will be dealt with at reserved matters stage 
and will be subject to consultation with the Environment 

Agenda Item 5
Page 120



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agency.] 
 

Traffic and Transport 
- traffic gridlock would stop people using the town centre. 
 
[The Eastern link road is designed to relieve traffic within the 
town centre, this is explained in detail in section 7.] 
 

- adverse impact on the Narrow Gauge Railway. 
 
[Consideration of the impact on the narrow gauge railway is 
included in section 8.] 
 
- link road should not link with the A505 but only serve as a 
small service road linking existing roads. 
 
[The link road only joins the A505 via the existing Stanbridge 
Road and would not perform its function in relieving town 
centre congestion unless it is constructed as proposed.] 
 
- increased traffic would be dangerous to children crossing 
existing roads. 
 
[A number of existing roads would have a decrease in traffic 
and appropriate road safety measures will be installed where 
evidence shows they will be needed.] 
 
- additional traffic would impact on the town's cycle friendly 
approach. 
 
[There would be additional linkages to the existing cycle 
network and the provision of a new cycle way alongside of 
the eastern link road.]   
 
- construction vehicles would use roads subject to HGV 
bans. 
 
[This matter can be controlled through the use of traffic 
routing agreements which can be secured in the Section 106 
agreement.] 
 

- increase in traffic inappropriate for roads proposed 
- existing on-street parking restricts traffic flows 
 
[The Highways Development Control Officer is satisfied that 
any increase in traffic can be accommodated, the link road 
would provide a significant improvement to existing 
conditions.] 
 

- traffic impact on Heath & Reach and conflict with traffic 
calming measures 
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 121



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[The end of mineral extraction would result in a reduction in 
HGV vehicles from the quarry; this would mitigate the 
resultant increase in traffic from the residential development.  
Drivers tend to take the route they consider is the quickest 
and therefore the traffic calming measures in Heath and 
Reach are likely to deter drivers from using that route.] 
 
- junction between Eastern Way & A5 is dangerous 
 
[The Highways Agency is the body responsible for the A5, 
they have no objection to the application.  A more detailed 
consideration of this point is included in section 8.] 
 
- adverse impact of new junction with Heath Road from stop-
start traffic and obstruction of queuing traffic 
 

[The junction would not lead to any unacceptable noise 
increase nor is it considered that queuing traffic would 
present a significant problem.  A detailed assessment of this 
junction is included in the report on the application for the 
northern part of the link road, CB/11/01940/FULL.] 
 

The proposed closure of one-arm of the Shenley Hill, 
Vandyke Road crossroads would mean all traffic to the 
HWRC would travel through the new estate 
 

[The closure or otherwise of the road at the crossroads is 
within the control of the Council and the impact of such a 
proposal would have to be considered.] 
 

Ecology 
- detrimental impact on wildlife and habitats 
- specific adverse impact on Badgers 
- green corridor would be insufficient for wildlife  
 
[Appropriate surveys have been undertaken and conditions 
will deal with mitigation measures required.  The site would 
provide circa 40ha of informal open space including country 
park, green space etc.] 
 
Residential Amenity 
- loss of beautiful views 
- overlooking  
- loss of privacy 
- loss of countryside 
- noise and disturbance from new housing  
- proximity of proposed adventure playground to properties 
on Cotefield Drive  
- noise from construction 
- dust from construction 
 
[Impacts on existing and future residents will be addressed 

Agenda Item 5
Page 122



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

at the detailed design stage when reserved matters 
applications are submitted.] 
 

- future impact on residents of Heath Meadows not properly 
considered when planning permission was granted for the 
development 
 

[At the point in time the Heath Meadows planning permission 
was granted there was no application for residential 
development of Chamberlains Barn.  The new development 
will need to be designed, at reserved matters stage, to 
respond to the existing houses to maintain privacy etc.] 
 

- air pollution 
 

[Potential sources of pollution are examined in the 
Environmental Statement and set out in section 7 below.] 
 

Impact on Leighton Linslade town centre 
- impact on character of Leighton Buzzard 
- impact on narrow gauge railway and its draw as a tourist  
attraction  
- the proposal would kill the town centre 
 
[The detailed design and appearance of the development 
would be dealt with at reserved matters stage and would 
mitigate any impact on the character of the town and narrow 
gauge railway.  It is not considered that the principle of the 
development would have an unacceptable adverse impact 
on the town centre.] 
 
Crime and Anti-social Behaviour 
- vandalism 
- increase in crime  
- anti-social behaviour 
- increased litter 
 
[It is not clear why the objector considers that there would be 
an increase in litter.] 
 
- creating an area for children to hang around in 
 

[The detailed design of the development will limit 
opportunities for crime and anti-social behaviour.] 
 
Other Issues 
- risk of subsidence due to previous quarry use 
 

[This will be a matter for Building Control and the developer 
to deal with appropriately.] 
 

- illogical to fill in the quarry and then dig a new hole for the 

Agenda Item 5
Page 123



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Comments 
12 Beaudesert  
 
 
 
 
 

balancing ponds  
 

[The land will be shaped into the approved landform, there 
would be no need for “new holes” to be dug.] 
 

The following issues have been raised but are not material 
planning considerations which should influence the decision 
making process. 
- the Council cannot maintain the roads it has at the moment 
how can it cope with more? 
- de-valuation of property. 
 
1 letter making comments was received setting out: 
- there would be a welcome increase in the number of 
allotments but they must be provided in line with an agreed 
standard. 
 
[The details of the allotments would be submitted for 
consideration and approval.] 
 

Monier Redland  Own two sites one operational and one vacant on Vandyke 
Road.  No objection but highlight that there are no 
restrictions on working times or practices on the operational 
site which could give rise to complaints from residents of 
new houses near the site.  
 
[The impact of the operational site on future residents would 
be considered at reserved matters stage, however given the 
distance between the site and proposed new dwellings it is 
not considered that there is a problem in principle.] 
 
Also raise concern that the traffic movements along Vandyke 
Road are not disrupted to the detriment of the business.   
 
[There would be some level of traffic disruption during 
construction due to traffic controls however this should not 
be to the detriment of the business.] 
 
Highlight that their vacant site is within the masterplan area 
but has been left as a field, Monier may be interested in 
bringing their site forward as part of the comprehensive 
scheme. 
 
[Some discussions have taken place with Monier, however 
they have not resulted in any changes to the Framework 
Plan or the application proposals.] 

  
Leighton-Linslade 
Opposes 
Unsustainable 
Development (LOUD) 

Strongly object - research undertaken shows that the 
majority of residents find mass housing plans unacceptable 
and therefore to approve such an application would be 
undemocratic.   
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 124



The forthcoming Localism Bill would give more power to 
local people who are opposed to the proposal.   
The development would be on Green Belt land. 
 
[This is an in-principle objection.  The background and policy 
situation is dealt with in section 5.] 
 
Residents of Eggington have not been consulted.   
 
[Residents of Eggington have been given the opportunity to 
comment on the application and the Parish Council have 
been engaged with the process.] 
 
There would be an increased risk of flooding, an increase in 
traffic levels and public transport is not a practical solution.   
 
[There would not be any increased risk of flooding and the 
Environment Agency and IDB have no objection to the 
proposal.  The traffic implications have been carefully 
considered and the link road would help relieve town centre 
congestion.  Public transport and good foot and cycle links 
are a practical solution.] 
 
Infrastructure has not been delivered on other sites in the 
town and there is no guarantee it will be delivered on this 
site.   
 
[Appropriate infrastructure delivery in line with the viability of 
the project will be secured through a legal agreement.] 
 
There would be an adverse impact on tourist attractions.   
 
[The objection is not specific about which tourist attractions 
but there is no reason why increasing the local population 
would have an adverse impact on the number of people 
visiting.] 
 
There is no guarantee of increased local employment. 
 
[The Clipstone Park site would deliver employment land and 
the legal agreement for that application will contain 
requirements for appropriate marketing and promotion of the 
employment land however it is not possible to require the 
businesses to only employ local people.  Nevertheless it is 
highly likely that local employment levels will increase.] 
 

Chilworth 
International 
Corporation (letters 
received from DTZ 
and Hogan Lovells 
on their behalf) 

Chilworth International Corporation own an area of land 
approximately 5.4 hectares located on the northern side of 
Vandyke Road which is excluded from any planning 
application but is included in the Framework Plan as 
employment land.   
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 125



18/4/13 - DTZ on behalf of Chilworth International 
Corporation 
This letter made representations on the East of Leighton 
Linslade Framework Plan on which they were not consulted 
as the Council did not have any contact details for the 
landowner. 
 
"Our client is strongly supportive of the wider intentions of 
the draft Framework Plan and the principles behind the 
proposals for the East of Leighton Linslade urban extension. 
We do not however, consider that the proposed allocation of 
our client’s land for employment use has been considered in 
sufficient detail to ensure it has been positively prepared, 
justified, effective or sustainable and in accordance with 
National Policy.  
 
We understand that the allocation of my client’s land reflects 
the original masterplan for the area produced by Arnold 
White Estates in their 2008 application and more recent 
discussions the Council have had with the promoting 
landowners.  
 
Our concern is that a robust and evidence based case in 
support of the allocation of this land for employment use has 
not been made and on this basis we consider that:  

• The allocation has not been positively prepared as there 
has been no employment study undertaken to gauge the 
viability and sustainability of employment uses at this 
location.  

• The allocation is not currently justified as the two further 
employment zones located towards the southern end of 
the proposed extension (circa 11 ha (27 acres)) provide a 
more sustainable development cluster for employment 
uses with better transport links and future access to the 
national motorway network via the proposed Houghton 
Regis link road to the M1.  

• The allocation of the land in question is not effective as it 
is not deliverable in terms of financial viability and will not 
be developed for the proposed uses within the 
development timeframe.  

• The more accessible employment zones proposed near 
Stanbridge Road are large enough to generate a ‘critical 
mass’ of employment floorspace. This would support 
ancillary and complementary facilities creating a 
successful employment hub. Employment development 
at Vandyke Road would struggle to attract developers 
and occupiers when in competition with these more 
sustainable alternatives. As the Stanbridge Road zones 
would provide a sufficient supply of employment 
floorspace to satisfy demand generated by the urban 
extension, Vandyke Road would not be developed for 
employment use and may subsequently be promoted for 

Agenda Item 5
Page 126



alternate uses.  

• The development of employment uses in this location 
would not be sustainable. Notwithstanding the above 
points, if a further employment zone were developed in 
this location, occupiers could be drawn away from the 
town centre. This would damage the economic vitality of 
the Town Centre and increase the number of car trips 
generated as occupiers will no longer benefit from the 
public transport facilities available in central Leighton 
Buzzard.  

 
We do not consider that the above points are insurmountable 
but require further robust, evidence based studies to be 
produced that support of this allocation. These should 
identify suitable and sustainable employment generating 
uses and a clear strategy for development of this land for the 
uses proposed.  
 
[These comments are only included for completeness as 
they relate specifically to the Framework Plan.] 
 
Current Planning Applications  
 
As with the Framework Plan, we are broadly supportive of 
the development proposals set out in the planning 
applications CB/11/01937 and CB/11/02827/OUT. 
Our concerns are that the land owned by our client has been 
excluded from the Chamberlains Barn application 
(CB/11/01937) but the site has been identified as ‘future 
employment land’. Notwithstanding our above comments on 
the suitability of this land for employment uses in the 
absence of detailed employment studies, we consider that 
the exclusion of this land from the planning application would 
lead to piecemeal development. The impact of this would be 
magnified as a result of the site’s location adjacent to the 
proposed Neighbourhood Centre, an import focal point for 
the wider development.  
 
To ensure the development East of Leighton Linslade is 
successful and capable of delivery, and the neighbourhood 
centre is served by complementary employment generating 
uses, a detailed employment study and development 
strategy that supports the proposed employment allocation 
should be produced by the consortium currently promoting 
the wider development.  
 
To ensure that any development strategy for this land is 
implemented by the promoters, the development of this area 
for employment generating uses or other complementary 
uses should be linked to the planning permission granted for 
the wider development. To this end we consider that a single 
s106 agreement tying in all the relevant planning 

Agenda Item 5
Page 127



applications would ensure comprehensive delivery of 
planning obligations.  
 
Our client realises the importance and public benefits that 
would arise from the development as a whole and would be 
prepared to consider entering into a s106 agreement that 
addressed the obvious concerns caused by the proposed 
employment allocation covering their land."  
 
23/1/14 - Hogan Lovells on behalf of Chilworth International 
Corporation 
Our client has not agreed any terms with the developers of 
the neighbouring land in relation to provision of their site as 
employment land.  We consider any decision to grant 
planning permission in relation to the above applications 
would be premature and not in accordance with the Council's 
policies.  In the event that planning permission is granted, we 
are instructed to advise our client on the legal options 
available.   
 
13/2/14 - Hogan Lovells on behalf of Chilworth International 
Corporation 
 
In summary the letter sets out that the applications do not 
confirm with the current and emerging policy framework in 
place for  the urban extension. 
 
The Council does not have an up to date development plan, 
the adopted development plan is now 10 years old and 
makes no provision for the urban extension.  the Joint Core 
Strategy was withdrawn but relevant policies have been 
endorsed by the Council for development management 
purposes as an interim measure until the development 
strategy is in place.  Policy CS16 supports the allocation of 
the SSSA and provides for a masterplan to be prepared to 
take forward the vision that: 
"1. identifies sufficient land to provide a mix of uses that 
delivers about 2,500 dwellings, approximately 16 hectares of 
employment land . . .  
 
3. . . . provides new employment land in locations that are 
attractive to employees, giving good access to the primary 
route network and will provide good quality, local job 
opportunities" (Hogan Lovells emphasis) 
 
Policy 62 of the emerging Development Strategy supports 
the SSSA and states that the development will provide a mix 
of uses to achieve a sustainable community comprising (inter 
alia) "approximately 16 hectares of employment land 
creating up to 2,500 new jobs." It goes on to state that the 
development will provide "new employment land in locations 
that are attractive to employers, give good access to the 

Agenda Item 5
Page 128



primary route network and provide good quality, local job 
opportunities."   
 
The Framework Plan adopted "to remedy the deficiency" in 
that the masterplan prepared by the Council and developers 
in 2010 had not been subject to public consultation.  
However in the regard it is surprising that neither our client 
nor our client's agents were consulted in relation to the 
preparation of the Framework Plan.   
 
The legal status of the Framework Plan is not clear, the 
Council is treating the document as a material consideration 
in relation to the determination of the applications.  The 
Framework Plan is therefore at the very least a material 
consideration in the determination and in the absence of an 
up to date development plan, should be given significant 
weight by the Council. 
 
The Framework Plan sets out a vision for the SSSA to be a 
sustainable and new community with the aim of encouraging 
inward investment and strengthening the local economy by 
establishing new jobs in order to reduce the prospects of a 
dormitory community with predominantly outward 
community.  A key part of the vision is, therefore, improving 
local employment opportunities.   
 
It is clear from the Framework Plan that the policy intention is 
to provide serviced employment sites of approximately 16 
hectares.  From what we have seen from the information 
publicly available the applications no not provide the level of 
serviced employment land which is deemed to be 
"necessary" and "essential" under the Framework Plan.  
Rather the applications combined provide only 11.43ha of 
employment land.  It is clear from the Council's Framework 
Plan which should be given significant weight in the 
determination of applications coming forward, that the 
Council's vision for a genuinely sustainable new community 
cannot be realised without essential provision of a sufficient 
quantum of serviced employment land and that provision 
must include our client's land.  Further the applications do 
not conform with the emerging policy framework which is 
also a material consideration in the determination process.   
 
The applications do not include our client's land and, as far 
as we are aware, the developers are not being required to 
procure the provision of off-site employment land to remedy 
any shortfall. 
 
We understand that rather unusually the Council has not 
required a single comprehensive section 106 agreement, 
rather separate agreement from each applicant.  This raises 
the question of how the essential infrastructure will be 

Agenda Item 5
Page 129



secured in its entirety. 
 
The letter also asked a number of questions regarding when 
applications would be considered by the Committee etc and 
highlighted that some of the survey information on which the 
Environmental Impact Assessment was based was from 
2010 and made comment that there should be an update 
requested.   
 
26/2/14 - Hogan Lovells on behalf of Chilworth International 
Corporation 
 
As the letters referred to above had not been included in the 
officer's report to the Committee on CB/11/02827/OUT 
Hogan Lovells wrote to all members of the committee raising 
the following points: 
- there is no up to date adopted policy supporting the urban 
extension 
- officers have, somewhat conveniently, not drawn the 
required attention to the Framework Plan which was adopted 
for development management purposes in relation to this 
site by the Council less than a year ago and, in the absence 
of an up to date policy framework, should be given significant 
weight. 
- the employment provision is inadequate and does not 
conform with the Framework Plan and the emerging 
Development Strategy. 
- there is no legal mechanism set out in the report requiring 
the delivery of employment land which is deemed to be 
essential infrastructure in the Framework Plan and emerging 
Development Strategy. 
- The Council is not determining the applications for the 
urban extension in a holistic and comprehensive way.  It has 
no guarantee therefore that the necessary infrastructure will 
come forward to support the extension. 
- the Council has not made a convincing case for very 
special circumstances justifying harm of this magnitude in 
the Green Belt. 
- the supporting environmental information submitted with 
the application is out of date and therefore inadequate. 
 
29/3/14 - Hogan Lovellson behalf of Chilworth International 
Corporation 
 
The letter asked questions regarding planning application 
CB/11/02827/OUT and procedural points.   
 
[All of the issues raised by Hogan Lovells on behalf of their 
client are addressed within this report.] 

  
 
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 130



 
Consultations/Publicity responses 
 

Greensand Trust We recognise that this is an already despoiled 
landscape, but there is still a need to ensure that 
landscaping and in particular the interface between the 
urban and rural areas is of a high quality, and enhances 
the existing urban edge.  The East Leighton Urban Fringe 
is identified as a “Landscape Opportunity Area” within the 
Luton and Southern Bedfordshire Green Infrastructure 
Plan (2010) and measures suggested include hedge and 
tree planting, and the creation of orchards – all of which 
are suggested in this application. 
 
We note that the EIA makes the claim that the site is free 
from protected species (para 5.65) but then mentions the 
presence of badgers.  Specific legislation for protecting 
badgers is provided by the Badgers Act, 1992. 
 
The provision of a SUDS scheme is welcomed and must 
ensure that the development has no additional impact on 
water quality or flooding in the Clipstone Brook (or 
downstream in the River Ouzel).  The measures 
suggested in the EIA para 5.76, including green water 
harvesting, porous paving and green roofs would all help.  
These good intentions must be followed through in any 
full planning application received. 
 
Wherever possible, SUDS features should contribute to 
wider objectives and be multi-functional in nature, 
including creating access and biodiversity benefits. 
 
[An overarching landscape and open space strategy will 
need to be prepared and will incorporate details of 
SUDS.] 
 
We welcome the statement in the EIA para 5.88 that 
archaeological work will be programmed in advance of 
development, and that where possible elements of the 
historic environment will be preserved.  The site is within 
one of the “Historic Environment Opportunity Areas” 
identified within the Luton and Southern Bedfordshire 
Green Infrastructure Plan”.  
 
As a result of multiple levels of opportunity/importance, 
the site partly falls within the Green Infrastructure Priority 
Network identified in the Luton and Southern 
Bedfordshire Green Infrastructure Plan (2010). 
 
We welcome the inclusion of the Shenley Hill Country 
Park, helping to protect and enhance this important 
landscape feature, and provide informal recreational 

Agenda Item 5
Page 131



access for people.  However, we object to the use of the 
term “Country Park” in this context.  Natural England 
provide a definition of Country Parks as part of their 
accreditation scheme (see: 
http://www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/enjoying/place
s/countryparks/accreditation/default.aspx).  This site as 
presented will not meet all of the criteria listed, as it does 
not include toilets on site or within a 2 minute walk.  This 
is important because the title “Country Park” carries with 
it certain expectations.  In the local area the nearest 
Country Park is Rushmere Country Park, approximately 
1.7km away.  Rushmere Country Park is jointly owned by 
Central Bedfordshire Council and the Greensand Trust, 
and managed by the Trust.  While meeting the size 
criteria in the Natural England Accreditation scheme, the 
site is also small for a Country Park, at just over 19ha.   
 
The Shenley Hill site would be more akin to a “Natural or 
Semi-Natural Greenspace” or area of “Countryside in the 
Urban Fringe” ” (using the PPG17 typology, still 
considered to be the most appropriate available).   Using 
the Luton and Southern Bedfordshire Green 
Infrastructure Plan (2010) as a guide, which was itself 
informed by national best practice, the site would fall into 
the “Middle Level” site (see para 9.7.3) rather than the 
Strategic level Country Parks fall within.  The Central 
Bedfordshire Outdoor Access Improvement Plan (2013) 
defines Country Parks as “Strategic sites that are over 
60ha” with “high visitor numbers”.  The Planning 
Statement Addendum (para 4.36) states that the new 
Country park will have “substantial social and community 
benefits”, but to do this it will need to be a multi-functional 
space with a wide variety of uses.   
 
Much is made of the local support for the proposed 
development, with the “Country Park” as being cited as 
one of the main reasons people have supported the 
overall scheme (for example, see statement of 
community involvement para 4.2).  If the expectation of 
those commenting was of a large site with a range of 
facilities, then they will have been misled. 
 
As a result, new residents resulting from this 
development will inevitably use other nearby sites as part 
of their recreational needs, with a significant impact upon 
Rushmere Country Park.  In para 4.35 of the Planning 
statement Addendum, the applicants recognise the 
shortage of greenspace in Leighton Linslade and the 
need to reduce impacts on Stockgrove Country Park 
(which became Rushmere Country Park in 2011).  In the 
period since establishment Rushmere has been 
increasing in popularity to a point where parking and 

Agenda Item 5
Page 132



visitor facilities are at capacity.  Therefore it would be 
expected that a contribution would be made to Rushmere
Country Park to help increase capacity. 
 
[The overarching landscape and open space strategy 
would contain details of the country park and its facilities.
Subject to viability financial contributions towards off-site 
green infrastructure will be sought.  ] 
 
We welcome the integration of the Leighton Buzzard 
Narrow Gauge Railway within the proposals, as this is an 
important tourism and community asset to the town.  A 
new halt should improve access opportunities and the 
green landscaped corridor is welcomed –though it would 
be better if it could also provide parallel pedestrian / 
cycling access it appears that ‘pinch points’ restrict this 
opportunity.    
 
It is noted that there will be a ‘great crested newt 
mitigation and translocation plan’.  This will need to be of 
an exceedingly high standard achieving a high level of 
success, as the development will result in the loss of 
confirmed breeding ponds for this species. 
 
[A separate planning application CB/11/04313/FULL was 
approved in June 2012 for new ponds within the site for 
this purpose.  The ponds have been dug, newt fencing 
erected and the translocation process has commenced.  
All works are being undertaken under a license from 
Natural England.] 
 

Wildlife Trust Great Crested Newts (a European protected species) are 
known to be present and breeding on the site (apparently 
in at least two ponds). It is important that mitigation for 
damage to Great Crested Newt habitat is adequate and 
up to modern standards. We are conscious of the 
responsibility of the Council under the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act (2006) to 
ensure that mitigation and compensation is adequate and 
sustainable in the longer term. It is unclear from the 
Illustrative Masterplan in the Environmental Statement 
where the Great Crested Newt recipient ponds within the 
country park will be sited. We are concerned that the 
mitigation/compensation outlined for the impacts on the 
Great Crested Newt population on this site does not 
stand alone but may be in conflict with the other functions 
of the country park and drainage / balancing ponds. We 
would recommend that ponds and habitats which are to 
be set aside for Great Crested Newt mitigation are 
separate from ponds and habitats which are also to be 
used for recreation or drainage/balancing.  
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 133



 
[A separate planning application CB/11/04313/FULL was 
approved in June 2012 for new ponds within the site for 
this purpose.  The ponds have been dug, newt fencing 
erected and the translocation process has commenced.  
All works are being undertaken under a license from 
Natural England.] 
 
It is important that any mitigation or compensation which 
were initially agreed under the Quarry Restoration 
Scheme are continued and undertaken as part of this 
proposed development and that these are updated to 
ensure that they are adequate and up to modern 
standards. 
 
We are concerned that the residents of the ~2000 
dwellings in this development and the other nearby 
developments including CB/11/02264/OUT at Stanbridge 
Rd, Leighton Buzzard will have an adverse effect on 
Kings and Bakers Wood and Heaths Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI) and National Nature Reserve 
(NNR) by putting significant increased recreational 
pressure on this important site. We do not agree with the 
conclusion in the ES (5.4.52) that “the vast majority of 
recreational pressure arising from the ES proposals will 
be focused within the application site boundary, and that 
any increased use of the SSSI will not result in significant 
adverse effects”. We suggest that the developments 
should make appropriate sized / substantial contributions 
to the management of these nearby recreational open 
spaces (including Stockgrove Country Park and 
Rushmere Country Park) to mitigate this increased 
impact. 
 
[Subject to viability financial contributions towards off-site 
green infrastructure will be sought.  Planning application 
CB/11/02264/OUT was withdrawn.] 
 
The ES does not make it clear which sections of the on-
site country park will be accessible to the residents of the 
development and which sections are to be reserved for 
other purposes (such as protected species mitigation). It 
is important that the country park is developed early in 
the phasing of this development for use by the residents 
of the dwelling and that this green space is appropriate 
for the size of the development.  
 
We welcome the development of a Country Park area but 
would like to emphasise that any seed mix used to sow 
these new areas of grassland should be of locally 
sourced seed if at all possible, and should be an 
appropriate mix of seeds from species which are relevant 

Agenda Item 5
Page 134



to the local area. We hope the development plans can 
include retention of mature trees and hedgerows 
wherever possible and again would like to emphasise the 
importance of planting native/local species when 
replanting is undertaken throughout the site. Future 
planting schemes (within the country park and throughout 
the development) should be carefully thought through in 
advance and should consist of native species which are 
appropriate to the local area and the plants should be 
locally sourced. Where relatively large amounts of 
hedgerows are to be lost in a development, more 
hedgerows should be planted than were removed.  
 
[The details of landscaping will be dealt with in reserved 
matters applications, however the comments are noted.] 
 

Friends of the Earth 
 

There is a possibility that if eastern Leighton Linslade is 
managed for biodiversity then the same equipment could 
be used across Leighton Buzzard and there could be a 
real improvement in biodiversity across Leighton Buzzard 
and the government's  aspiration in the white paper 
"Natural Choice" of strips of wildflower areas in urban 
areas to support pollinators could be implemented 
 
It is not very expensive, but it is about planning and 
making sure that you have the right equipment! 
 
Wildflower areas need to be cut once or twice a year 
(with some of the area left long over winter for 
hibernating butterflies etc)  and the grass raked off and 
removed! As the grass is long it will need a different type 
of mower used for very short grass, then there will be 
equipment for raking up and removing the grass.  As 
CBC has only the equipment to mow short grass it 
expensive to do anything but manage the greenspaces in 
the most unfriendly manner to biodiversity without 
incurring considerable expense! 
 
I have spoken to Stirling Council who say that it is a 
matter of scale; if lots of areas have wildflowers then it 
does become cheaper to manage this way rather than 
frequent cutting! 
 
 If the eastern Leighton Buzzard development bought 
machinery appropriate for biodiversity management then 
it could be used across Leighton Buzzard! 
 
The other issue is the landscaping of the development. 
Wildflowers thrive on poor soil as rich soil means that 
grass grows vigorously and chokes out and smothers the 
wildflowers! A reason for the loss of wildflowers is the 
amount of fertiliser used on the soil means that the grass 

Agenda Item 5
Page 135



grows so strongly that there is no hope for the 
wildflowers.   One of the best meadows of oxeye daisies 
is opposite platform 6 of Milton Keynes station as the soil 
is so poor. As no top soil was put on it after it was cut 
back.  If areas in eastern LB are left with poor soil and 
then cut once a year then we could have great 
wildflowers! Also there is the potential in other areas for 
flowering lawns, ie clover and chamomile etc that are 
short and then also there might need to be some more 
conventional greenspace for informal football etc! 
 
[The detailed landscaping scheme and subsequent 
maintenance of such will be secured by condition.  A 
condition will be proposed to secure the submission of an 
over-arching landscape and open space strategy which 
will include long and short term maintenance
responsibilities.] 

  
Waste Services  The applicant will need to provide details on the 

following: 
- All private dwellings with individual bins will need to 
have access to the rear of their properties in which to be 
able to place their bins after collection. This access can 
not be gained through the dwelling. 
- There will need to be designated collection points for 
the individual dwelling, these will need to be in the form 
of communal collection points 
- All communal properties will need to have communal 
bin store that meet the Council's requirement.  
- A full comprehensive Site Waste Management Plan will 
be required prior to development commencement. 
 
[These are issues to be addressed in reserved matter 
planning applications.] 
 
Due the size of this development we would request to be 
involved in Section 106 negotiations with regards to 
Waste Management. We would also require a bring site 
to be provided by the applicant to serve the development. 

  
Voluntary and  
Community Action 

Object to the application on the grounds that it does not 
comply with national, regional and local planning policy in 
respect of social and community infrastructure.  The 
application makes provision for permanent community 
facilities however the trigger points are too late to make 
the impact required.  A community centre or hall should 
be provided before the occupation of the first dwelling, 
interim provision would be acceptable however it must be 
in place prior to the first occupation.  Community workers 
would need to be provided to enable residents to play an 
active part in their community.  Provides information on 
the level of contribution which they consider will be 

Agenda Item 5
Page 136



required to run a community hall and to employ 
community workers.   
 
[This site relies on the community infrastructure provision 
included in the Clipstone Park part of the development.] 

  
Sustainable Transport In order for this development to be sustainable in 

transport terms it is important that the travel plans are 
secured in accordance with Central Bedfordshire’s 
guidelines and that effective measures are put in place to 
make the travel plans sustainable.   
 
The development itself needs to be designed with 
sustainable transport at its core in order to ensure these 
are the modes of choice, making high quality 
infrastructure provision a prerequisite of the 
development.  Not only does the development itself need 
to have high quality walking, cycling and public transport 
provision the links to the surrounding network need to 
promote non car modes.  The development needs to 
maximise permeability to key locations and in particular 
the town centre, the railway station and employment 
sites.   
 
Currently there are problems with the infrastructure 
proposed from the perspective of sustainable transport
with links between the development and the town and the 
nature of the orbital link road being good examples.  
Further discussion is therefore required to determine any 
amendments that need to be made. 
 
Currently the travel plan proposed is deficient in a 
number of areas including the time period proposed, 
monitoring, agreed funding and aspirations for a school 
travel plan.  
 
It is expected that any s106 agreement associated with 
this development will secure the following: 
- The travel plans themselves including the mechanisms 
for their future development and funding. 
- Public transport contributions 
- Contribution to station forecourt improvements 
- Contributions for walking/cycling and public transport 
enhancements linking the development to the town 
 

[The detailed layout of footways and cycleways is to be 
determined at reserved matters stage.  The s106 will 
secure appropriate financial contributions and travel plan 
measures.] 
 

Sport England  Non-statutory response under the terms of the Town and 
Country Planning (Development Management 

Agenda Item 5
Page 137



Procedure) Order 2010 (SI No. 2184 (2010). 
 
Outdoor Sports Provision 
The planning application proposes on-site open space 
provision in the form of a country park, informal open 
space and other green infrastructure.  However, there is 
no specific on-site formal open space provision suitable 
for formal sport i.e. playing pitches.  This is 
acknowledged in section 12 of the Environmental 
Statement as it is proposed that other parts of the 
Eastern Leighton Linslade SSSA will make provision for 
formal pitch provision that will meet the additional needs 
of the Chamberlains Farm Quarry development.  The 
principle of the development’s formal open space/outdoor 
sports needs being met off-site in other parts of the 
eastern urban extension to Leighton Linslade is 
considered acceptable.  However, this would only be 
acceptable in practice if other developments within the 
wider Eastern Leighton Linslade urban extension made 
adequate provision for the needs of the Chamberlains 
Barn Quarry development as well as their own needs.   
 
Consequently, as (to date) inadequate on-site or off-site 
formal open space provision (for outdoor sport) has been 
proposed to meet the additional outdoor sports needs 
generated by the Chamberlains Barn Quarry 
development, Sport England would object to the 
development in its current form.  However, I would be 
prepared to review this position if a planning application 
is submitted for the extension to the Clipstone Park 
‘Sports Park’ or alternative outdoor sports facility 
proposals are made. 
 
[Since these comments were made the planning 
application for the Stearn Land has been made which 
includes the additional playing field provision required.  
Sport England has acknowledged the level of provision is 
acceptable in their response to the Stearn Land 
application.] 
 
Indoor Sports Facilities 
 
While there are no on-site proposals for making indoor 
sports facility provision, the Clipstone Park planning 
application makes provision for a multi-use community 
hall as part of the planned Neighbourhood Centre to the 
south of Vandyke Road that would serve both the 
Clipstone Park and Chamberlains Barn Quarry urban 
extensions.  The multi-use hall would include an 18x17m 
hall that would be designed as a 2 badminton court 
sports hall.  The comments made on this sports hall 
proposal in our response to the Clipstone Park 

Agenda Item 5
Page 138



application would also apply to this application. 
 
While the proposed multi-use hall in the Neighbourhood 
Centre may in principle address the development’s sports 
hall needs, it is unclear how the development would 
make provision for meeting the full range of additional 
indoor facility needs that it would generate especially 
swimming pool provision in view of the deficiencies that 
exist in this area.  As there are no proposals for leisure 
centre provision as part of the development, a financial 
contribution towards the replacement, expansion or 
improvements to the Tiddenfoot Leisure Centre (which 
provides the only public swimming pool in the Leighton 
Linslade area) would appear to be the most appropriate 
form of provision unless the Council considers that new 
leisure centre provision either within the development or 
outside is necessary.  As no proposals are made for 
indoor sports facility provision other than sports halls, 
Sport England would object to this aspect of the 
proposals.  However, I would be prepared to review this
position if an appropriate financial contribution was made 
(secured through a planning obligation) towards off-site 
swimming pool, health and fitness etc provision.   
 

[An appropriate financial contribution towards indoor 
sport provision will be sought, subject to the viability of 
the scheme.] 
 

Schools 
 
The development makes provision for a new lower school 
which would be expected to offer the potential for 
providing dual use sports facilities.  For example, the 
school hall could be used for certain sports if designed 
appropriately and the outdoor hard surfaced areas and 
playing fields could also be used by the community when 
not required for school use. 
 
Phasing of Sports Facilities 
 
As some of the development’s sports facility needs will 
be met in the Clipstone Park development (i.e. the 
community hall), the comments made in response to the 
Clipstone Park development on this matter would also 
apply to this application. 
 
[Sport England made comments in response to the 
Clipstone Park application in relation to the phasing of 
development and ensuring appropriate provision of 
indoor and outdoor sports facilities.] 

  
Public Protection No objections in principle.  A phase 1 desk study has 

Agenda Item 5
Page 139



been completed and recommends a phase 2 study which 
can be secured by condition.  Conditions are also 
recommended to deal with dust minimisation, working 
hours, noise levels within new dwellings and noise levels 
from fixed plant.   

  
Natural England Natural England does not object to the proposed 

development. Whilst we disagree with the conclusions of 
the ES, in particular comments relating to visitor 
recreational pressures to Kings and Bakers Wood and
Heaths SSSI and NNR, and consider that a GI Statement 
would benefit the submission, we consider that the 
proportion of GI on-site is good, and that the planning 
authority’s Planning Obligations strategy (specifically the 
green infrastructure component) offers the security of (we 
anticipate significant) financial contributions to improve 
the GI provision in the Ouzel Valley and Leighton 
Linslade funding allocation area. Both these measures 
serve to mitigate the likely adverse effects caused 
indirectly by the substantial increase in the residential 
population in the Leighton Linslade area. 
 
[Subject to viability financial contributions towards off-site 
green infrastructure will be sought.] 

  
NATS No objection. 
  
Urban Design  In summary, in general, my view is the DAS is 

comprehensive and should promote a development that  
builds on the existing context and reflect best practice in 
urban design 
 
The main concern is about the lack of integration to the 
south, for both the development to easily access existing 
opportunities within the existing development of Leighton 
Linslade as well as for the latter to easily access 
opportunities proposed within the new development.   
 
[The detailed comments made regarding the design of 
the development will be addressed in the reserved 
matters applications.] 

  
Minerals and Waste Original comments at October 2011. 

The Minerals and Waste team have received an 
application for the proposal for a temporary storage 
compound near the main entrance to the quarry, if 
permitted this will remain until December 2013.  
 
No updated restoration plan has been submitted for 
Chamberlains Barn and therefore it is hard to determine if 
there will be any impact, however the approved 
restoration plan shows that the quarry is to be restored to 

Agenda Item 5
Page 140



agricultural land, my main concern is the compaction of 
the land would not be adequate and if not compacted 
sufficiently could cause instability, I do note however that 
paragraph 5.79 does acknowledge this. 
 
The site will have its own haul road that will direct 
operational vehicles away from the development, 
however to date we have not received any of the pre-
development schemes, the applicant has another 2 years 
to submit these. 
 
The quarry is permitted to extract sand until Feb 2041, I 
note that there will be some housing adjacent to the 
quarry and therefore operational noise will continue 
noise, the information does not give any details if this 
housing will have any noise mitigation. 
 
[Following changes to the quarrying operations at the site 
the Minerals and Waste Team raised concerns regarding 
the potential sterilisation of minerals.  This issue is 
addressed in detail within the report.  The Minerals and 
Waste Team on receipt of further information confirmed 
that the situation is satisfactory and they have no 
objection to the proposals.] 

  
Local Development 
Framework 

These comments are written on the basis of the 
consistency of the application with the emerging 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire. If you 
have specific queries in relation to the existing South 
Bedfordshire Local Plan then please let me know. 
However, I thought it would be helpful if I try to clarify the 
position in relation to the Development Plan for this part 
of Central Bedfordshire.  
 
From my understanding, the Development Plan consists 
solely of the saved policies in the South Bedfordshire 
Local Plan Review (adopted January 2004). The 
previously saved policies from the Structure Plan were 
revoked with the East of England Plan.  
 
The Joint Core Strategy for Luton and southern Central 
Bedfordshire that was endorsed for Development 
Management purposes by Central Bedfordshire Council’s 
Executive in August 2011 still remains a consideration. 
However, given the time that has elapsed since this 
endorsement and the progress now made on the 
Development Strategy, I would be inclined to give more 
weight to the Development Strategy than to the endorsed 
Joint Core Strategy.  
 
Work on the Development Strategy for Central 
Bedfordshire started in October 2011, following the 

Agenda Item 5
Page 141



withdrawal of the Joint Core Strategy. Informal 
consultation took place during February and March 2012, 
with consultation on a draft Strategy following in June 
2012. The pre-submission version of the Strategy was 
published for 6 weeks in January 2013 and submission to 
the Secretary of State was expected in mid-June 2013.  
 
However, the recent publication of information from the 
Office for National Statistics (ONS) has prompted a 
review of the population and household projections that 
underpin the Development Strategy. This review work is 
currently underway and we will need to consider the 
implications for the Strategy. We will endeavour to keep 
to a minimum the delay to the adoption of the 
Development Strategy, originally scheduled for February 
2014.  
 
In general there has been a strong link between the plan-
making process and the development of this planning 
application, with each informing the other. This 
relationship goes back a number of years to early work 
on the Joint Core Strategy for Luton and South Beds. 
The basic principles of this application – the location for 
growth, the broad housing and employment numbers, the 
infrastructure required – are therefore consistent with the 
emerging Development Strategy.  
 
In a plan-led planning system, the importance of the plan-
making process should not be underestimated. Ideally 
the examination process for the Development Strategy 
would have run its course prior to consideration of a 
major planning application. I understand the 
circumstances that have led to this planning application 
being drawn up in advance of the plan-making process. I 
also accept that the plan-making process has done itself 
no favours in taking so long to reach this stage (due to 
factors largely beyond Central Bedfordshire Council’s 
control). However, determining a planning application of 
this scale in advance of the plan-making process should 
not be done lightly, if the integrity of the plan-led system 
is to remain. There would need to be significant benefits 
to the public interest to justify such a decision.  
 
The following are the key issues raised by respondents 
with respect to the East of Leighton Linslade Urban 
Extension. These have been drawn from the Preferred 
Options (June 2012), and Pre-Submission (January 
2013) consultations. In total 183 representations were 
received - of these 129 objected to the proposal and 37 
supported it. 
 
Concerns were raised about the potential adverse impact 

Agenda Item 5
Page 142



on traffic generation pointing out that the roads in the 
town are already congested and the new allocation would 
make this worse. On this point, several respondents 
expressed concern that the new distributor road does not 
do the job it should do, and there are requests for it to be 
extended and increased in capacity or turned into a by-
pass. 
 
With respect to other infrastructure, several respondents 
considered that there is already an existing infrastructure 
deficit and that development at East Leighton Linslade 
will make matters worse. 
 

With regard Green Belt, the point was made that roll-back 
of the Green Belt in this location could lead to increased 
coalescence with nearby villages, including Eggington 
village. Linked to this some respondents felt that the 
proposed new Green Belt boundary was unclear, and 
questioned whether there will be further expansion in the 
future. 
 
In terms of viability, some respondents were concerned 
that viability of the proposal has not been adequately 
proven, and that the proposed CIL charges could impact 
on the delivery of infrastructure, and queries regarding 
whether the S106 mechanisms will be able to meet the 
likely shortfall in infrastructure provision. 
 
There are doubts about the employment allocation; will it 
create the jobs needed so people do not have to 
commute and the developers consider it is too large. 
 
Finally, with respect to environmental considerations, 
flooding was raised as an issue across the whole site. 
 
While the delay to submission of the Development 
Strategy may have increased uncertainty to some extent, 
the initial indications from the revised population and 
household projections is that the requirement is 
increasing rather than decreasing. It is more likely that 
we will need to find additional sites, rather than seek to 
remove existing allocations.  
 
Furthermore, the particular circumstances of this site 
mean it appears highly suitable for development, as set 
out in the Sustainability Appraisal report, whose findings 
are consistent with previous positive assessments of this 
site. Of particular note are the size of the site, its location 
adjacent to an area of high housing demand, its ability to 
deliver key road infrastructure to the benefits of the wider 
area and the relative lack of constraints. In my view, it is 
very difficult to envisage a strategy to meet housing 

Agenda Item 5
Page 143



needs that does not include, in some form, development 
of this site. This should be considered in relation to the 
question of prematurity.  
 
The site remains in the Green Belt until adoption of the 
Development Strategy. Given the delay to Development 
Strategy however, an earlier decision on the above 
planning application would be in the interests of the 
Council given the pressing need to deliver housing in the 
area and the importance of the 5 year housing land 
supply in determining applications. However, this needs 
to be done in the context of demonstrating very special 
circumstances to justify development in the Green Belt.  
 
In terms of the supply of housing land, the Council’s 
published Housing Trajectory shows 9,176 dwellings 
being likely to be completed during the 5-year period 
from 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2019.  Of these, around 
850 are predicted to come forward from East Leighton, 
with 100 dwellings in 2015/6. This is a challenging 
timescale and if early delivery is to be achieved, progress 
on an outline planning permission is needed at the 
earliest opportunity. This is a significant consideration. 
 
A critical issue is the provision of affordable housing. 
With the site representing a significant element of the 
overall housing delivery in the Development Strategy, it 
necessarily represents a significant opportunity for the 
delivery of the overall affordable housing requirement. 
The 2012 Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 
indicated a requirement for around 31.8% affordable 
housing over the plan period, over 9,000 affordable 
dwellings. In addition, Luton Borough Council has made it 
clear that they are unable to provide for the full extent of 
housing need arising in their area. This unmet need will 
include an element of affordable housing. This is an area 
where, through minor textual changes, we are seeking to 
introduce greater clarity to the Development Strategy in 
that the planned provision will be meeting an element of 
need arising from within Luton 
 
The Development Strategy policy requirement for this site 
would suggest around 285 affordable homes – a 
significant proportion of the total requirement for the area. 
Development viability will be an important consideration 
here and Development Strategy policy 34 places 
emphasis on the provision of a “viable degree of 
affordable housing”. This flexibility reflects recent 
Government pronouncements and statements in the 
NPPF.  

  
Landscape Officer The inclusion of Shenley Hill as Country Park has the 

Agenda Item 5
Page 144



potential to restore the more wooded character 
associated with the Greensand Ridge but the character 
of the park requires further detail.  The landscape link 
from Shenley Hill to the attenuation pond appears as a 
green corridor - very uniform in layout and built frontages; 
the pond and surrounding green space appears out of 
scale with the surrounds. 
  
The proposed residential area to the south west of the 
application site/adjoining the existing urban edge could 
benefit from more landscaping/tree planting to soften the 
edge and create a green corridor linking Chamberlains 
with the Lower school and green networks to the south. 
  
The landscape area to the east of the application site at 
the junction with Shenley Hill and Vandyke Road appears 
unresolved in terms of design and uses but will present a 
substantial green gateway which is a positive. 
  
Sustainable Drainage:   
The application describes the inclusion of SUDs in the 
development proposals but there appears to be no SUDs 
masterplan included in the application supporting 
information - a SUDs masterplan would inform a 
landscape masterplan and final masterplan plan and I 
suggest this should be considered further especially in 
relation to concerns on the scale and design of the large 
attenuation pond. 
  
Vandyke Road: 
The interface with the potential development site to the 
south of Vandyke Road is still a relative unknown. Both 
masterplans - for the north and south of Vandyke Road -
include sites not within the red boundaries which raises 
concerns on the integration of development along this 
important route and entry point to Leighton Linslade. 
The parameters plan includes several traffic 
management features along Vandyke Road which raises 
concern about the character and quality of environment 
along this length of Vandyke Road. 
  
Leighton Buzzard Narrow Gauge Railway: 
Improvements to the environment along the railway 
corridor is a positive but it is not clear how the railway will 
be accommodated at the intersection with the link road 
accessing Chamberlains Barn development.  Further 
information detailing how changes in levels will be 
accommodated and the character of this important 
infrastructure node is important.   
 
[The majority of the comments made would be dealt with 
at reserved matters stage and/or by conditions on any 

Agenda Item 5
Page 145



outline planning permission granted.] 
  
Housing Development Officer Comments at 22 November 2011. 

This application meets the threshold to provide affordable 
housing. I would expect to see 35% affordable housing or 
333 affordable units. This should be split 69% for social 
rent and 31% for shared ownership in the South. I would 
like to see the units dispersed throughout the site and 
integrated with the market housing to promote community 
cohesion & tenure blindness. I would also expect all units 
to meet the code for sustainable homes level 3 and meet 
all HCA design and quality standards. If these comments
are taken on board, I would support this application. 
 
[The level of affordable housing secured will be 
influenced by the financial viability of the scheme, the 
applicants have undertaken a full viability appraisal which 
demonstrates that 10% affordable housing would be 
provided.  The breakdown of the affordable units would 
be 50:50 shared ownership and affordable rent.  This 
matter is addressed in more detail in sections 7 & 8] 
 
Additional comments received July 2014 following 
viability appraisal. 
I can confirm that the proposed minimum 10% affordable 
housing the Chamberlains Barn development is 
acceptable.  The 10% is somewhat lower than our policy 
requirement of 30% affordable. However, the BPS report 
illustrates the viability issues with the site and the 
assumptions used within the viability report appear to 
reflect the prevailing market conditions standard industry 
assumptions.  The £4.2 million restoration cost has been 
taken into account.  The total net realisation of 
211,706,632 leaves a 20% GDV of £42,341,200. The 
scheme makes £38,820,864 which is 18.37% return.  
The 80/20 split is viable and I would agree with this.  The 
tenure split of 80% shared ownership and 20% affordable 
rent is somewhat different to the tenure split outlined in 
the Strategic Housing Market Assessment (71% Rent 
and 29% intermediate tenures) however it is ok as this 
tenure split helps to enable a higher percentage of 
affordable housing.  
 
[The affordable split offered is 50:50 which is nearer the 
tenure split in the SHMA.] 
 
Again with a low minimum affordable housing 
percentage, there will need to be a review mechanism 
within the S106 in order to gain secure further delivery of 
affordable housing if the market improves as the 
development progresses. In terms of additional delivery 
of affordable housing, the onsite provision of affordable 

Agenda Item 5
Page 146



housing would be more favourable rather than off site 
provision. With the increasing need for Central 
Bedfordshire Council to take some of the housing need 
from Luton the provision of any additional onsite 
affordable housing from the ELL scheme will be 
beneficial.  

  
Highways Agency Directs that conditions be added to any planning 

permission granted in connection with the travel plan and 
appropriate reviews.   

  
Environment Agency Environment Agency consider that planning permission 

should only be granted to the proposed development as 
submitted if planning conditions are imposed to deal with 
surface water drainage, contamination and remediation 
strategy and restrictions on piling.   

  
English Heritage On the basis of the information supplied with the 

application, English Heritage is of the opinion that the 
proposal will not adversely impact on the setting of the 
nearby designated heritage assets.  In respect of 
undesignated archaeology within the site, English 
Heritage strongly recommends that a programme of 
archaeological investigations are undertaken on those 
parts of the site that have not been subject to sand and  
gravel extraction.  The investigations should be 
completed prior to the determination of the application so 
that the findings can then properly inform the 
masterplanning of the site and, where relevant, allow for 
preservation in situ of significant remains.   
 
[Archaeological investigations have been undertaken and 
the results considered by the Council's archaeologist who 
has recommended conditions.] 

  
Ecology Retain Badger setts in the vicinity of Chamberlains Barn 

Quarry. It is important that the Badgers have good, 
unobstructed access to foraging habitat; proposed 
adventure play area could conflict with Badger interest. 
Concern over the narrowness of green corridors. 
  
No objection to the translocation of a small population of 
Great Crested Newts or reptiles. Clarification needed as 
to Black Poplar trees recorded. 
  
S106/conditions 
Provision of Environmental Management Plan to guide 
development process.  Appropriate Great Crested Newt 
habitat would need to be prepared 2 years in advance at 
the new Shenley Hill Park. This will also be the repository 
for lizards or grass snakes. 
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 147



 
[A separate planning application CB/11/04313/FULL was 
approved in June 2012 for new ponds within the site for 
this purpose.  The ponds have been dug, newt fencing 
erected and the translocation process has commenced.  
All works are being undertaken under a license from 
Natural England.] 
 

  
Countryside Access Service Given that this is a Green Belt development – the access, 

open space and informal recreation elements of the 
application should be exemplary in order to fully justify 
the exceptional circumstances. 
 
The Shenley Hill Country Park should only be referred to 
as such if it meets the Green Flag Standard and the 
Natural England standard for Country Parks.  From the 
information currently presented it is clear that the 
Shenley Hill open space cannot be considered as a 
Country Park type facility.  The applicants should 
consider including the Shenley Hill Plantation (a current 
CBC) site into the greenspace masterplanning for this 
area and make contributions accordingly. 
 
The design and delivery of access routes and informal 
open space should be given a high priority and 
conditioned in such a way that full details as to the layout 
and design of the access routes and open space areas 
(including Shenley Hill) have to be approved along with 
all other reserved matters.  This approval will have to be 
considered fully by the Countryside Access Service. 
 
All access routes and open space should be provided at 
the earliest opportunity in the phasing of the 
development. 
 
S106.  The applicants should provide all access routes to 
adoptable standards and dedicated as public rights of 
way.  All access paths should be surfaced and the 
surfacing should be to CBC specifications and design 
details should be submitted to CBC for approval. 
 
The open space land and access routes should be 
handed over to the council for ownership and 
management (following a 5 year aftercare period) with 
the appropriate commuted sums. 
 
The applicants should be required to make a full strategic 
GI contribution. This contribution is to reflect the pressure 
that developments such as this will place on the wider 
(offsite) GI network (Rushmere/Stockgrove). 
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 148



 
The countryside access service would expect to be 
involved in the detailed discussions on the S106. 
 
[Financial contributions towards off-site GI provision will 
be sought subject to the viability of the scheme, however 
the provision of commuted sums for the maintenance and 
management of the on-site green spaces is vital and 
should be secured.] 

  
Leighton Buzzard Narrow 
Gauge Railway Society  

As far as the Society is concerned, we have an existing 
infrastructure upon which we carry out our heritage 
railway tourism attraction business.  Any loss due to the 
works, and the temporary severing of the line we would 
expect to be compensated for our loss of revenue – as a 
condition of any granted permission. 
 
[Compensation arrangements for any loss of revenue is 
not a matter which can be dealt with by a condition 
attached to a planning permission but would need to be a 
matter for negotiation between the Society and the 
developer.] 
 
We expect the developer’s civil engineering contractor to 
follow fully the technical specification for the works and 
before proceeding, to ensure same are fully approved by 
Her Majesty’s Railway Inspectorate under the aegis of 
the ORR, and the Society’s civil infrastructure engineer, 
prior to any commencement of works. 
 
The revised scheme - which differs from the one on 
which the Society were originally consulted - sees a 
considerably altered alignment of the road overbridge 
and the layout of Vandyke Road. We are particularly 
concerned that the steepness of the cutting sides 
adjacent to the bridge abutments on the SE side, shall be 
constructed in such a way as to prevent the possibility of 
subsidence or slippage that could impede and impinge 
upon the safe operation of the railway.    
[Details of the roads, bridge and cutting sides etc would 
need to be submitted for approval, it is likely that this 
would be done in connection with the full planning 
application for the link road.] 
 
The imposition of a substantial civil engineering work 
across the railway – ie, the road bridge, also imposes the 
necessity of its maintenance in the future.  We would 
welcome confirmation of our understanding that any 
costs involved with such maintenance work from 
completion of the construction work, and in its future, will 
be borne by the Highways Authority. 
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 149



 
[It is anticipated that the maintenance of the bridge would 
be the responsibility of the Highway Authority, although it 
is understood that it is also possible that the developer 
retains ownership of the structure and is therefore liable 
for its maintenance.] 
 
Whilst there is indication of piped drainage at the foot of 
the railway cutting, there is no clear indication of how 
such gathered water is directed into the general softwater 
drainage.  As the Railway do not experience flooding in 
this part of the line now, we would expect that any costs 
involved in clearing and pumping excess water are borne 
by the developer – via a suitable sum deposited in an 
escrow account, to ensure that the Society are not 
financially imperilled by any such future expenditure. 
 
[A condition requiring details of surface water drainage 
for the whole site will be attached to any consent granted 
in order that this matter can be addressed.  In light of this 
approach there should be no need for any financial 
contribution.] 
 
We are concerned that pedestrian access to the cutting 
should be mitigated by the installation of palisade fencing 
adjacent to the top of the cutting - on the NNW side, 
especially with a bus shelter in such close proximity. 
 
Our concern on the opposite sides reflect not only the 
need to prevent pedestrian access but also, because of 
the specific re-alignment of Vandyke Road, to prevent 
vehicular access, whether of cars or heavy goods 
vehicles.  The combination of substantial ARMCO 
barriers, together with palisade fencing should become a 
requirement of the application, for the protection and 
safety of railway passengers and works trains. Equally, 
bridge parapets should be high enough to prevent 
extraneous materials being dropped, thrown or lobbed 
over them, to the danger of those passing below. 
 
[The details of barriers etc will be dealt with through the 
full planning application for the link road.] 
 
Within the cutting itself, maintenance and vegetation 
control is beyond our present financial capability.  We 
strongly recommend that the landscaping of the cutting 
sides does not include trees or shrubs, but focuses on 
slow growing, ground cover plants that require minimal 
annual maintenance. 
 
A proposed construction programme for the intended 
works relating to the diversion of the railway and 

Agenda Item 5
Page 150



construction of the over-bridge would be welcome. It 
would be advantageous to the Society were such works 
to be concentrated in the period from 01 November 
through to 28 February – since the line is not required for 
passenger operations during this period, albeit 
Permanent Way works – the movement of materials -
would have to effected by road transport.  This would 
involve hire costs for which we would expect to be 
reimbursed. 
 
[Compensation arrangements are not a matter which can 
be dealt with by a condition attached to a planning 
permission but would need to be a matter for negotiation 
between the Society and the developer.] 

  
CPRE Object on the basis that the application is premature and 

that the land is in the Green Belt and therefore the 
proposal amounts to inappropriate development for which 
no very special circumstances have been demonstrated.  
 
[The planning context of the site is dealt with above and 
the Green Belt issues in section 6 below.]  
 
The development would result in significant 
unsustainable traffic impacts on the town.  The proposed 
bus service is likely to be compromised by the level of 
traffic in the town.   
 
[Traffic and transport are dealt with in section 8 below.] 
 
It is already an unsustainable feature of Leighton 
Buzzard and its economy that such a high proportion of 
its residents have to commute elsewhere to work.  The 
scale of the applicant's proposals relative to their 
employment creation potential can only make the existing 
situation even more unsustainable than it already is. 
 
[It is anticipated that the site as a whole would deliver the 
2,400 jobs as required by policy 62 of the Development 
Strategy.] 
 
The narrow gauge railway is the town's most important 
visitor attraction and the proposals would largely urbanise 
the whole length of the countryside section, bar the last 
300 yards and thus have a highly damaging impact on 
the attraction of the railway. 
 
[The impact of the development on the railway is 
considered in section 8 below.] 
 
Failure to comply with the sustainability appraisal report 
November 2010) prepared in conjunction with the Core 

Agenda Item 5
Page 151



Strategy. 
 
The principles of the Localism Bill alone, quite apart from 
the other issues raised, require that the concept and 
scale of any development to the east of the town be 
completely re-evaluated.   
 
[These issues are dealt with elsewhere in the report.] 

  
Primary Care Trust The negotiations of the Section 106 monies are in the 

safe hands of Central Bedfordshire Council, to negotiate 
on behalf of NHS Bedfordshire. 
 
[Whilst the PCT requested that the Council negotiate on 
their behalf they have been unable to identify any 
projects to which a financial contribution would be 
directed.  It is therefore difficult to justify the need for a 
contribution.] 

  
Green Infrastructure  The access links in the application seem very incoherent. 

The Leighton Linslade GI plan (part of the 'Big Plan') 
identifies community aspirations to link Vandyke Road to 
Shenley Hill Road. The application does not do this, nor  
does it link to the proposed leisure route included in the 
Clipstone Park application where it meets the 
development boundary on Vandyke Road. This lack of 
connectivity should be addressed. In addition, the LLGI 
plan identifies an aspiration to create a N/S route along 
the western edge of the development; this should be 
included as part of the development proposal. Further, it 
is unclear what purpose the 'spiral' routes around 
Shenley Hill serve. Generally, the application needs a 
more thought through, connected approach to routes for 
walking and cycling, both as a means of travel and 
recreation. The access network should meet identified 
community aspirations, and integrate with the Clipstone 
Park proposals.  
 
[This application continues the leisure route along the 
eastern edge of the development with a similar approach 
to that taken in the Clipstone Park proposals.  There is an 
area of land outside of any of the applications which 
disrupts the link, this will be discussed in more detail in 
section 8 below.] 
 
In addition to the lack of coherence around access links, 
there does not seem to be an integrated approach to GI 
provision. There is an opportunity to create a more 
effective, multifunctional green corridor between Shenley 
Hill and the proposed balancing lake, creating access 
and biodiversity links. At the north east end of the site, 
the small block outside the red line truncates a potential 

Agenda Item 5
Page 152



GI corridor, leaving a series of blocks that will be less 
effective unless a whole corridor can be secured. The 
proposed adventure play area is poorly integrated with 
access links and other green spaces. The area to the 
north east of the site that is identified as 'Country Park' 
should not be described as such; a country park would 
be expected to be far larger scale. This area should be 
better linked to the larger Shenley Hill area for access 
and biodiversity. 
  
S106 
Currently there is nothing in the draft section 106 on 
strategic GI. This contribution is to reflect the pressure 
that developments will place on the wider (offsite) GI 
network. Development does not provide sufficient GI at 
all scales to mitigate the impacts of a site of this size. The 
development should therefore be expected to make the 
full contribution to GI in addition to what will be delivered 
on site, to mitigate for the impacts on offsite green 
infrastructure, which includes the direct impact on 
biodiversity, landscape, access routes and public open 
spaces outside the development site. The planning 
obligation is a standard charge, and there is no reason 
why it should not be levied on this development. From 
the calculator on the website (outline, using number of 
homes only), the likely contribution is £671,650. 
 
[Financial contributions towards off-site GI provision will 
be sought subject to the viability of the scheme, however 
the provision of commuted sums for the maintenance and 
management of the on-site green spaces is vital and 
should be secured.] 

  
Internal Drainage Board 
 

As surface water run-off from the site is to be discharged 
to a “main river” the Environment Agency must be 
consulted for any comments they have.   
 
[The Environment Agency was consulted and their 
comments are above.] 

  
Police Architectural  
Liaison Officer 

In May 2005 the Bedfordshire Community Safety SPG 
was produced and highlights that through routes in new 
housing areas should be kept to a minimum.  The 
illustrative layout of permeable streets is in conflict with 
the guidance in the SPG.   
 
Two main concerns are that the developments would be 
needlessly criminogenic and that the design and access 
statements are likely to mis-lead the public into believing 
that community safety has accurately influenced the 
intended scheme when in reality the layouts are highly 
detrimental in this respect. 

Agenda Item 5
Page 153



 
The absence of suitable revisions to the design and 
access statements will preclude any productive police 
input at detailed design stage, which is a serious 
concern.   
 
Whilst there is no objection in principle to the 
developments Bedfordshire Police object to the 
proposals on account of the avoidably high levels of 
victimisation which can reasonably be anticipated. 
 
[The Design and Access statement includes a section on 
crime prevention which makes reference to “Safer 
Places: the Planning System”, “Manual for Streets” and 
the ACPO “New Homes” guidance.  The detailed design 
is yet to be determined and the applicants state that a 
key aspect of creating a safe and secure development 
will be to work up detailed designs on a phased basis 
with the Local Authority's Crime Prevention Design 
Advisor.] 

  
Anglian Water 
 

Anglian Water has assets which may be affected by the 
development and request an informative advising of this. 
 
There is capacity at the Stanbridgeford Sewage 
Treatment Works for wastewater treatment. 
 
In relation to foul sewerage the development will lead to 
an unacceptable risk of foul sewer flooding downstream 
and mitigation in the form of a pumped strategic solution 
to convey flows to Stanbridgeford STW will be required.  
The foul drainage strategy for the site should cover the 
procurement of the improvement works.   
 
[Anglian Water should have referred to both the STW at 
Stanbridgeford which would deal with foul drainage from 
the eastern part of the site and the STW at Linslade 
which would deal with the foul drainage pumped to it from 
the western part of the site.  The applicant has confirmed 
that this is the agreed approach with Anglian Water.] 
 
The preferred method of surface water disposal would be 
to SUDS with connection to the sewer as a last resort.   
 
Request conditions to deal with foul and surface water 
strategies.  

  
Highways Development 
Control 
  

The Transport Assessment does not give a fair picture of 
the impact this proposal has on the existing highway 
network.  However it should be remembered that this 
authority has worked quite closely with the applicants’ 
agents on the neighbouring land (Clipstone Park) and 

Agenda Item 5
Page 154



agreed a sophisticated traffic micro simulation model and 
have subsequently endorsed this model which included 
the proposed flow from this application (Chamberlains 
Barn).  The main emphasis on this is that to encourage 
internalisation and to attract the low flows as indicated 
then it should be considered that the majority of the 
neighbouring development (Clipstone Park) will need to 
be complete. 
 
The measures to promote Chamberlains Barn as a 
sustainable development in transport terms do not meet 
the requirements of this authority.  There are deficiencies 
both in the type of measures proposed but also 
significant gaps in the information provided, including 
public transport proposals and ensuring that walking and 
cycling links are of the standard required to improve 
travel choice to key destinations. 
 
In order for this development to be sustainable in 
transport terms it is important that the travel plans are 
secured in accordance with Central Bedfordshire’s 
guidelines and that effective measures are put in place to 
make the travel plans sustainable.   
 
The development itself needs to be designed with 
sustainable transport at its core in order to ensure these 
are the modes of choice, making high quality 
infrastructure provision a prerequisite of the 
development.  Not only does the development itself need 
to have high quality walking, cycling and public transport 
provision the links to the surrounding network need to 
promote non car modes.  The development needs to 
maximise permeability to key locations and in particular 
the town centre, the railway station and employment 
sites.   
 
Currently there are problems with the infrastructure 
proposed from the perspective of sustainable transport 
with links between the development and the town and the 
nature of the orbital link road being good examples.  
Further discussion is therefore required to determine any 
amendments that need to be made. 
 
[The detailed layout of roads, footways, cycleways and 
public transport infrastructure will be dealt with at 
reserved matters stage.] 
 
Currently the travel plan proposed is deficient in a 
number of areas including the time period proposed, 
monitoring, agreed funding and aspirations for a school 
travel plan.  
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 155



 
It is expected that any s106 agreement associated with 
this development will secure the following: 

• The travel plans themselves including the 
mechanisms for their future development and funding. 

• Public transport contributions 

• Contribution to station forecourt improvements 

• Contributions for walking/cycling and public transport 
enhancements linking the development to the town. 

 
[A condition requested by the Highways Agency and 
other obligations in the Section 106 agreement would 
require the above issues to be addressed in the travel 
plan.] 
 
If this proposal is accepted it should be on the proviso 
that it should not be implemented without either further 
work on the traffic impact of the surrounding highway 
network or the implementation and completion of the 
neighbouring development at Clipstone Park. 
 
[The phasing of this development and its relationship with 
the neighbouring development known as Clipstone Park 
will be controlled through legal agreements and if the 
above approach is deemed necessary it can be secured.] 
 
There also needs to be clear commitment to the support 
of sustainable travel and in particular the new bus 
service. 
 
[Further comments of the Highways Development Control 
Officer are included in the following sections in the 
appropriate context.] 

  

Leisure & Open Space  In general the application mirrors the Leisure Services 
comments made in the ELL Masterplanning process, 
however, my main concern is the lack of formal play 
areas provided in this section of the development. 
  
The Parameters Plan shows 2 LEAP (Local equipped 
area for play 5-8yr olds) play areas and an Adventure 
Play Facility, but no NEAP (Neighbourhood equipped 
area for play 8-14+yrs).   
  
There is no indication of the age range or size of the 
Adventure play area (AP) so this may be able to be 
classed as a NEAP, or possibly larger.  However, for 950 
dwellings 1 NEAP and 2LEAPs is insufficient provision. 
  
Policy suggests a NEAP should be provided every 200-
250 dwellings, so taking walking distances into 
consideration, the site should provide approx 2-3 NEAPs. 

Agenda Item 5
Page 156



This may be reduced depending on the AP size and 
walking distances. 
  
Policy suggests a LEAP should be provided every 50-100 
dwellings, so the calculation would suggest 9 LEAPs. 
This is too high a level but equally 2 LEAPs is insufficient. 
I would suggest at least one more LEAP in the north area 
of the site. 
  
I appreciate the text indicates that smaller play areas 
have not been shown at this level, this would be for the 
small, local LAP play area (3-6yrs). 
 
[The planning application is not specific as to how many 
play areas it would provide and the plans are purely 
illustrative.  This will be dealt with by reserved matters 
applications.] 

  

Climate Change  The applicants state that the houses will be built to the 
relevant Code for Sustainable Homes standards: Level 3 
before 2013, Level 4 2013-16 and revised zero carbon 
standard after 2016.   
  
The applicants do not make any commitments in regards 
to sustainability performance of non-residential buildings.  
BREEAM methodology is a nationally recognised 
standard used to assess sustainability performance of 
buildings other than residential dwellings.  The policy 
CS12 in the Core Strategy South states that non-
residential buildings should achieve as a minimum the 
BREEAM rating Excellent. 
  
I welcome the applicants commitment that a minimum of 
10% energy will be achieved from renewable and low 
carbon energy sources such as off-site wind turbine and 
biomass district heating. 
  
I understand that measures to achieve the prescribed 
sustainability rating will be considered in more detail at 
the stage of full plans approval/reserved matters.  
However, I would like to point out here that energy 
efficiency measures are a cheaper way to reduce carbon 
emissions than renewable energy and should be 
considered first.  Applying passive house principles could 
considerably help to reduce need for heating and cooling 
in the house and increase air tightness of the building.  It 
is noted that the applicants have already considered 
opportunities for orientation of the buildings within 30 
degrees from south radius.  If possible, the westerly 
orientation should be avoided as it increases solar gain 
and need for cooling in the summer.  Where unavoidable 
due to topography or other restrains, mitigating measures 

Agenda Item 5
Page 157



should be implemented, e.g. shading through planting of 
deciduous trees or installation of external sun shades.  It 
is worth stressing that passive design is applicable both 
to residential and non-residential buildings. 
 
The advantage of achieving carbon savings through 
improved energy efficiency of a building compared to the 
use of renewable or low carbon technologies, is that it is 
not dependant on the correct use by the end user and is 
not affected by the lifetime of the technology used.  
Overall it gives more assurance that the carbon 
reductions will be maintained through lifetime of the 
building. In addition, residents will benefit from lower 
energy bills, which will have positive impact on fuel 
poverty issue.   
  
S106 
I have some concerns about the proposal by the 
developer in the Section 106 agreement with regard to 
Allowable Solutions, District Heating and Code for 
Sustainable Homes.  It appears that the Section 106 
agreement is giving the Council responsibility for delivery 
of allowable solutions and district heating. This is has not 
been agreed and currently the Council would be unable 
to implement  this. 
 
[The draft s106 heads of terms included by the applicant 
in the application documents is only a starting point for 
discussions on the final s106.] 

  
 
Determining Issues 
 
The “Determining Issues” in this report sets out the relevance of the current 
Development Plan to the decision, followed by the importance of the National 
Planning Policy Framework and the Green Belt. 
 
Furthermore, there is detail on how the policy context above is reflected through the 
preparation of the emerging Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire.   
 
Therefore, the main determining issues for the application are considered in the 
following sections: 
 
1. Compliance with the Adopted Development Plan for the Area. 

 
2. Compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
3.  The weight applied to the Luton and South Bedfordshire Joint Core Strategy. 

 
4.  The weight to be applied to the emerging Development Strategy for Central 

Bedfordshire. 
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 158



5. Compliance with the East of Leighton Linslade Framework Plan. 
 

6. The Green Belt and assessment of the potential “very special circumstances” 
that may arise. 
 

7. Environmental Impact Assessment: Issues arising (including comments and 
objections from consultees) and their mitigation. 

 
8. Issues 

a. Affordable Housing  
b. Transport Impact 
c. The Retail proposals and their impact 
d. Green Infrastructure and Open Space  
e. Off-site Impacts: SSSI's and recreational sites accessible to the public 
f. Car Parking Standard  
g. Design and Implementation 
h. Impact on Leighton Buzzard Narrow Gauge Railway (LBNGR) 
i. Minerals  
j. Residential Amenity 
 

9. The Viability Appraisal and consequences for a Section 106 Planning 
Agreement 
 

10. The Requirement for Planning Conditions. 
 

11. Conclusion 
 
Considerations for determining the Planning Application 
 
1. Compliance with the Adopted Development Plan for the Area 
  
1.1 The formal Development Plan for this area comprises The Minerals and 

Waste Local Plan (M&WLP) 2014 and the South Bedfordshire Local Plan 
Review (SBLPR) 2004.  

  
1.2 The Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2014 includes policy WSP5 which 

requires that all developments should include sufficient and appropriate waste 
storage and recovery facilities in their design and layout.   

  
1.3 The relevant policies of the SBLPR 2004 are listed at the start of this report. 

This list reflects the fact that only some of the policies have been “saved” for 
use. Of these policies, the following are directly relevant to the proposal and 
should therefore be taken into account. Each policy in turn is followed by a 
recommendation on the weight that should be applied to it when making a 
decision on the planning application. 

  
1.4 In respect of the Green Belt, the Local Plan proposals map confirms that the 

site lies within the Green Belt where no exception for major development is 
made.  Therefore the Committee will need to consider whether there are any 
very special circumstances for development of the site.   
 
[The key issue of principle when considering the planning application is that 

Agenda Item 5
Page 159



as the proposed East of Leighton Linslade urban extension allocation has not 
yet been formally confirmed in an adopted Development Plan, the application 
site has not yet been removed from the Green Belt.  Therefore a key 
consideration in determining this application is whether the application is 
premature in advance of the formal adoption of the replacement Development 
Plan.  Then having considered that, whether there are very special 
circumstances that would support planning permission in advance of the 
adoption of the Development Strategy.  It is a fact that the site lies in the 
Green Belt and so the planning application represents inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt. Therefore it should only be permitted if very 
special circumstances (VSCs) apply. This argument is presented in detail 
within section 6 below. ] 

  
1.5 Policy BE8 lists a number of design considerations that development should 

generally take into account.  
 
[The proposed design treatment is included in the submitted Design and 
Access Statement (DAS) submitted with the planning application.  
 
In respect of this application, a commentary in respect of each criteria of the 
policy is provided below by the Case Officer: 
 

i. The proposal covers a wide area of rural fringe, agricultural land and land 
subject to mineral extraction.  The Greensand Ridge, Shenley Hill, historic 
hedgerows and protected trees at Nelson Road are identified as important 
landscape features as well as having an ecological benefit.  These areas 
are therefore retained, reinforced and incorporated into the proposed 
country park and other landscaped areas.  In addition there are trees, 
small areas of woodland and other natural features that can be kept and 
enhanced to add to the attractiveness of the setting of any new 
development.  In terms of  the built environment the proposals need to 
respond to and respect the existing housing development on 
Chamberlains Gardens, Heath Road, Cotefield Drive and Heath Meadows.   

ii. With the exception of the landscape feature of Shenley Hill, there is little 
character that is distinctive of the area, though there are landscaping 
opportunities within the site to assist in enhancing the appearance of the 
area.   

iii. Whilst the policy seeks to “complement and harmonise with the local 
surroundings” the area is on such a scale that a more sophisticated 
approach is required.  The DAS includes an illustrative Master Plan which, 
though not part of the Planning Application, does include ideas that identify 
where the size, scale, density, massing, orientation, materials and overall 
appearance can raise the standard of design in the area. Crystallising the 
benefits of the development in this way will require planning conditions to 
ensure that design quality is maintained throughout the development 
period. 

iv. The setting of the development in the landscape is also a key component 
of the DAS and undoubtedly the development will have a significant impact 
both on views from the south and west, other views are somewhat 
restricted by Shenley Hill, as well as the wider countryside. The policy asks 

Agenda Item 5
Page 160



for such views not to be harmed, to enhance them or to provide new ones. 
It is the latter part of the policy that is most relevant given the scale of the 
development. 

v. Providing suitable facilities for access by the disabled, elderly persons and 
young families is a matter that will mostly be considered at later design 
stages. However, the scale of the proposed development offers many 
opportunities for effective design for those groups to be employed. 

vi. Similarly, providing a layout and design to limit opportunities for crime to 
be committed is a matter that will be considered at later design stages.  

vii. The policy asks that there is no unacceptable adverse effect upon 
residential amenity and privacy. This is particularly important given that the 
development shares a boundary with the majority of the rural edge to the 
east of Leighton Linslade, with many existing dwellings along that 
boundary, specifically on Chamberlains Gardens and Heath Road to the 
west, Cotefield Drive to the north and Heath Meadows to the south. It 
would be reasonable to expect that specific attention is paid to that 
relationship using planning conditions. Within the development itself, this 
would be a matter for later design stages with guidance from the Local 
Planning Authority in the form of the document: “Design in Central 
Bedfordshire: A Guide for Development” (Core Document and Design 
Supplements). 

viii. The development includes new uses in the form of a school and shop 
which may generate noise or other pollution emissions. These are 
generally identified within the planning application and considered as part 
of the Environmental Statement.  There will be a need to ensure that any 
required mitigation is identified specifically and dealt with at the relevant 
detailed design stage and also include all necessary planning conditions.  
The issue of noise arising from ongoing quarrying operations also needs to 
be considered and appropriate measures taken to minimise this.   

ix. The policy seeks an efficient use of scarce resources and land. Once more 
the scale of the development offers a variety of opportunities. Planning 
conditions that require the provision of Design Codes can identify specific 
ways of doing so. 

x. Lighting arrangements for the development are likely to be an important 
consideration at later design stages. The most significant lighting 
proposals will be associated with the link road, local centre and school 
within the new development. Care will be required to ensure that lighting 
does not harm highway safety and general public amenity. Appropriate 
conditions will be required.  

xi. Approximately 46% (43 hectares) of the total site area will be open space 
(informal open space; landscaped areas; woodland; orchard; allotments; 
pasture; adventure playground; country park etc) and subject to some form 
of landscaping; not including private gardens and landscaped areas within 
commercial areas.    

Finally, in accordance with this policy, the Environmental Statement contains 
an assessment of the landscape character of the application site and 
surrounding area. 

  

Agenda Item 5
Page 161



1.6 Policy T10 sets out the considerations that will apply when looking at the 
provision of car parking in new developments.  
 
[However, the policy is written as a set of amendments to an earlier Parking 
Standards document published in 1994 which is itself now significantly out of 
date and is essentially superseded by the more recent National Planning 
Policy Framework statements. Therefore Policy T10 is no longer in day to day 
use by the Council. A parking policy for Central Bedfordshire was approved by 
the Council in October 2012 which has recently been superceded by the new 
parking standards included in the revised Design Guide and within the revised 
pre-submission version of the Development Strategy.  For these reasons, it is 
considered that very little weight should be given to Policy T10 except insofar 
as it points to the importance of ensuring that sufficient car parking provision 
is made in new developments.] 

  
1.7 Policy H3 seeks the provision of housing to meet the needs of the elderly, 

single and other small households, with a third of all proposed housing to be 
on 1 and 3 bedroom types. Exceptions are allowed to the latter requirement if 
a rigid application of this would be inappropriate.  
 
[The application is of a scale that can accommodate a wide variety of housing 
types over a 20 year period, therefore over a long period of housing market 
and population change.  The mix of housing types and sizes will be dealt with 
through area plans which will be secured by condition.] 

  
1.8 Policy H4 sets out the terms of the provision of affordable housing and 

requires that such provision will be sought from developments of over 1 
hectare in size. Planning Obligations are required to ensure that, amongst 
other matters, that occupancy is restricted to people in need within South 
Bedfordshire. No specific target amount is included within the policy, though 
there is an indicative target level stated in the supporting text of the policy of 
20%. 
 
[However, this policy is out-of-date for the following reasons. The policy was 
established before 2004 and before the substantial work that was undertaken 
in preparation of the subsequent Luton and South Bedfordshire Core Strategy 
(withdrawn but adopted by CBC for Development Management purposes in 
2011) and as taken forward by the emerging Central Bedfordshire 
Development Strategy. In particular it is recognised that the proposed 
strategic urban extensions were promoted to assist in meeting the needs for 
housing across the whole of the conurbation and not just within South 
Bedfordshire: which is itself of course no longer in existence as a local 
authority area. Recent work for the Development Strategy supports a 
requirement of around 30% of the development for affordable housing 
purposes.  
 
Therefore it is recommended that limited weight is afforded to this policy in 
respect of occupancy and indicative affordable housing target. Instead, the 
affordable housing policy in the emerging Central Bedfordshire Development 
Strategy, which would normally require 30% affordable housing as part of this 
development is of greater relevance. Other aspects of the policy remain 
relevant and the application is generally compliant with them.] 

Agenda Item 5
Page 162



 
 

 

1.9 Policy E1 requires employment development to be accommodated without 
unacceptable harm to the amenity of the surrounding area.  
 
[The current planning application does not deliver any land for employment 
use but would provide a level of employment through the school and local 
centre.  When considered alongside the Clipstone Park proposals the 
objectives of this policy would be met.] 

  
1.10 Policy R10 sets out the requirements for play areas.  

 
[The application submissions refer to such provision, though the scale of the 
development is considerably higher than the scale likely to have been 
envisaged by this policy. Since this policy was established, new guidance was 
published in 2009 in the form of a Supplementary Planning Document for 
Planning Obligations in the old South Bedfordshire area and endorsed by the 
Council subsequently for use in that area. Nevertheless, the policy should be 
given substantial weight. There will be a need for appropriate conditions and 
clauses within a Planning Agreement to incorporate any specific or negotiated 
requirement at later design stages.] 

  
1.11 Policy R11 seeks a similar arrangement for formal and informal open spaces. 

 
[The same weight as above should be applied.] 

  
1.12 Policy R14 seeks to improve the amount of informal countryside recreational 

facilities and spaces; including access and particularly close to urban areas.  
 
[The application has identified that there are no existing rights of way across 
the site, however the development provides the opportunity to provide some, 
in addition new facilities including the country park, facilitate to improve such 
facilities. The policy is directly relevant to the planning application site and 
should be given substantial weight in reaching a decision.] 

  
1.13 Policy R15 seeks the retention of the existing public rights of way.  

 
[The planning application site due to its main use as a quarry has no public 
rights of way within it.  There will however be a significant additional provision 
of footpaths and cycleways to link into the existing urban network. ] 

  
1.14 Policy R16 offers support to the provision of land for outdoor sport though 

referring also to the general Green Belt policy that buildings would not be 
appropriate.  This policy is a material consideration and should be considered 
alongside the section in this report on the Green Belt. 

  
2. Compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
  
2.1 For the reasons set out in the previous section, it is necessary to consider the 

planning application against the NPPF as a significant material consideration. 
The relevant part of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should 
apply the presumption in favour of sustainable development, which means 

Agenda Item 5
Page 163



that:- 
  
 “where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of 

date, granting permission unless: 
 
–– any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 
taken as a whole; or 
 
–– specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be 
restricted.” 

  
2.2 The fact that this is a large and complex planning application with significant 

impact on a wide range of subjects ensures that there is very little in the NPPF 
that isn’t directly relevant to the decision of whether or not to grant planning 
permission.  Therefore, in the following paragraphs, each relevant statement 
of NPPF policy is examined, compared with the content of the planning 
application and a conclusion is drawn as to whether a decision to grant 
planning permission is signalled. 

  
2.3 Do the proposals deliver sustainable development by its prospects for 

building a strong, competitive economy? For the reasons set out in section 
1, the basis upon which to make a judgement about whether these proposals 
deliver sustainable development is not fully contained in the adopted 
Development Plan. However, since the adopted Development Plan became 
operational, a considerable amount of work has been undertaken to provide 
context for planning for the economic growth of the general area. The 
planning application itself would not deliver any employment land or significant 
numbers of jobs but would facilitate access to land designated in the 
Framework Plan for employment uses.  In addition it would provide a 
population to support the employment land provision elsewhere in the east of 
Leighton Linslade development.   

  
2.4 Central Bedfordshire Council is proactively planning for the development 

needs for business by ensuring that sufficient land is allocated in the 
forthcoming Development Strategy for new employment use. This is being 
allocated on several new employment sites, but includes the express 
requirement that significant new employment provision is included within the 
East of Leighton Linslade proposed Urban Extension. This is balanced by the 
allocation of sufficient housing to not only reflect the anticipated growth in the 
area but also to offer new business and employment opportunities. This 
planning application would not provide any employment but would reply on the 
11ha of new employment land on Clipstone Park, therefore providing the s106 
can secure the employment provision at an appropriate time the application 
therefore can be considered to comply with emerging Development Plan 
policy and the NPPF in this respect.  There is however a further 4ha of 
employment land identified in the Framework Plan which can be delivered.   

  
2.5 How will the vitality of Leighton Buzzard town centre be ensured? The 

planning application proposes a local centre with retail and provides a lower 
school.  Its likely impact on Leighton Buzzard town centre is therefore very 
limited.  

Agenda Item 5
Page 164



  
2.6 [The apparent lack of facilities within this application site would suggest that 

residents would need to travel into Leighton Buzzard to access retail and 
other facilities.  However the neighbouring Clipstone Park application would 
provide a neighbourhood centre which would include a foodstore, other retail, 
GP surgery, pub/restaurant etc.  These facilities would be accessible to 
residents on this application site thus minimising unnecessary car journeys 
but are not considered to be of such magnitude as to discourage trips into the 
town centre for other retail needs.]     

  

2.7 Is the proposal supported by a Transport Assessment which promotes 
sustainable development and transport modes? The application was 
submitted with a comprehensive Transport Assessment. This confirms the 
positive impact that the new eastern link road will have on traffic patterns in 
the area, specifically with regard to alleviating congestion in Leighton Linslade 
town centre. The application also includes proposals for a range of 
sustainable transport measures covering the full ambit of transport matters 
including roads, junctions, bus services, improvements to the railway station 
forecourt, cycling, walking and the relationship of land uses to the 
transportation network.  Specifically a pedestrian and cycle link between the 
application site and Heath Meadows to the south would be secured.   
 

[The current s106 offer set out in section 8 includes financial contributions and 
works in kind to deliver the sustainable transport measures.] 

  

2.8 Does the proposal provide a wide choice of quality homes? The scale of 
the proposal and the likelihood that the development will take about 20 years 
to complete will, by definition, ensure that a wide variety of housing will be 
provided. The evidence underlying the proposed Development Strategy 
suggests that there is a particular need for housing that is suitable for the 
elderly as well as a mixture of family homes, self-build homes and homes for 
small households. It is appropriate to ensure that variety in general market 
housing is provided for and should permission be granted, it is appropriate 
that the detailed applications that come forward reflect the latest available 
information on such requirements. 

  

2.9 The proposed Development Strategy includes a policy which seeks 30% of 
the housing to be classed as Affordable Housing subject to the need to ensure 
that proposals remain commercially viable. This matter is dealt with in more 
detail later in section 4 below. 

  

2.10 Does the proposal ensure good design? The application is in outline and 
therefore detailed design matters will be for later consideration. However, the 
NPPF promotes good design at every level including: overall scale, density, 
massing, height, landscape, layout, materials and access of new 
development. The application includes a comprehensive Design and Access 
Statement that sets out the aspirations for the quality of the development, by 
character area. The general approach to such applications will be to require 
the production of Design Codes for each phase or part of the proposals and 
Design Briefs for individual buildings or areas where appropriate.  This is a 
reasonable approach as it allows the Council to consider and approve designs 
which conform to the latest standards of good design as it may evolve over 

Agenda Item 5
Page 165



the 20 year period of the development. 
  
2.11 Does the proposal promote healthy communities? The NPPF describes 

this policy objective as seeking to include meeting places (formal and 
informal), safe environments, high quality public open spaces, legible routes, 
social, recreational and cultural facilities and services. This includes schools, 
health facilities, formal and informal play areas and access to shops and 
leisure facilities. The proposal is of a scale that most of these activities will 
feature, either on the site or on neighbouring land which forms part of the 
overall urban extension. 

  
2.12 What appropriate weight is to be given to protecting the Green Belt? This 

is fundamental policy within the NPPF which clearly states that inappropriate 
development (i.e. most new buildings) is by definition harmful to the Green 
Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances. The 
policy states: 
 
“When considering any planning application, local planning authorities should 
ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very  
special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green 
Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations.” 
 
This is the primary decision that the Council will need to reach before 
considering other material considerations and therefore the issue is dealt with 
separately in section 6 below. 

  
2.13 How does the application handle the challenge of planning for climate 

change and the risk of flooding? The NPPF seeks to move towards a low 
carbon future through choosing locations that encourage forward thinking on 
how to minimise the development’s carbon footprint, supporting energy 
efficiency improvements and adopting national standards.  

  
2.14 [The application includes a substantial amount of information within the 

Environmental Statement on this subject and this is dealt with in section 8 
below. The Environmental Statement sets out that the application comprises 
land within Flood Zone 1 which is suitable for all land uses.  The Design and 
Access statement explains that the overarching strategy for drainage is to 
make use of existing drainage features and take advantage of the fact the site 
will be quarried.  A sustainable urban drainage scheme would be 
implemented, details of which will be discussed in section 7.] 

  
2.15 How do the planning proposals help to conserve and enhance the 

natural environment? The application was submitted with a comprehensive 
set of documents covering this issue.  Various proposals for enhancements 
have been included in the ecological survey and mitigation work, the Design 
and Access Statement and in the work undertaken to assess open space 
requirements.  This explores the need to enhance a relatively poor quality site 
in biodiversity terms but also emphasises the need to protect existing natural 
assets such as the brooks, the hedgerows, and the significant trees. 
Proposals and suggested conditions to do so are included. 
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 166



 
3. The endorsed Luton and South Central Bedfordshire Joint Core Strategy  
  
3.1 The L&SCB Joint Core Strategy was prepared by the Luton and South 

Bedfordshire Joint Committee in the period between 2007 and 2011. It sought 
to replace the strategic elements of the South Bedfordshire Local Plan and 
Luton Borough Plan and to take forward the growth agenda promoted for this 
area through the East of England Regional Plan and associated policy 
documents. The L&SCB JCS was submitted for Examination and part of that 
process was completed before the document was ultimately withdrawn in 
2011 on the grounds that Luton Borough Council no longer wished to pursue 
its adoption. The Joint Core Strategy, the Joint Committee itself and the East 
of England Regional Plan have fallen by the wayside, but the evidence that 
supported those policy documents remains supportive of a growth agenda for 
Leighton Linslade. 

  
3.2 For this reason, Central Bedfordshire Council endorsed the L&SCB Joint Core 

Strategy and its evidence base for development management purposes on 

the 23rd August 2011 and has incorporated the majority of this work within the 
new Central Bedfordshire Development Strategy. Thus the substantial work to 
provide a policy basis for growth and regeneration forms part of the context for 
this planning application. 

  
3.3 The Core Strategy was effectively superceded when on 12th June 2014 the 

Council endorsed the revised pre-submission version of the Development 
Strategy for development management purposes in the south area of the 
authority.  It is for this Committee to consider the weight that it wishes to 
attach to this document. The following represents the view of the Officers on 
this point, taking into account the view expressed by the Local Plans and 
Housing Team Leader as set out in the representations above. 

  
3.4 The Committee could reasonably give some limited weight to the fact that the 

current proposal complies with the policies contained in the L&SCB JCS 
document in that it proposed the allocation of land at East of Leighton 
Linslade for an Urban Extension and is based upon a history of policy 
development to that end. It is within that area that this planning application 
lies. 

  
3.5 The details of the endorsed policies are not dealt with in this section as they 

appear again in the next section dealing with the Central Bedfordshire 
Development Strategy. 

 
4. The Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire; Revised Pre-

Submission version May 2014 
  
4.1 The Central Bedfordshire Development Strategy document is at a stage of 

production where following further public consultation it is due to be submitted 
for Examination in October 2014.  

  
4.2 The relevant policies of the Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire 

revised pre-Submission version May 2014 are listed at the start of this report 
and again here: 

Agenda Item 5
Page 167



 
Proposed Policies: 1, 2, 3, 4, 13, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 
31, 32, 33, 34, 36, 43, 44, 45, 47, 48, 49, 56, 57, 58, 59 & 62. 
 
The following policies are specifically relevant to the proposal and should 
therefore be taken into account. 

  
4.3 Policy 1 reaffirms the document’s intention to be in accord with the NPPF 

presumption in favour of sustainable development. See paragraph 2.1 for 
details of what this means. Given that the current Development Plan is out-of-
date in this regards, the presumption in favour of development applies, 
provided it accords with other policies. 

  
4.4 Policy 2 sets out the growth strategy to meet the need for new homes in the 

period 2011 to 2031. East of Leighton Linslade is listed as a growth location. 
  
4.5 Policy 3 seeks to confirm that the Green Belt designation is to be removed 

from the land proposed for urban extensions: including East of Leighton 
Linslade. 

  
4.6 Policy 4 lists Leighton Linslade as a major service centre where employment, 

shopping and community facilities are to be focussed. 
  
4.7 This suggests that the application is generally favoured by the emerging 

policies set out above. 
  
4.8 Policy 13 sets out that town centre development should accord with the 

principles and objectives of the two endorsed development briefs for Leighton 
Buzzard, the Houghton Regis Masterplan SPD, the Biggleswade Town Centre 
Masterplan SPD, the Flitwick Framework Plan and Indicative Masterplan.  Two 
endorsed development briefs for Leighton Buzzard relate to Land South of 
High Street and land at Bridge Meadows.  The policy also states that 
development proposals elsewhere in these towns should complement and not 
prejudice development proposed, and should make a financial contribution 
towards their development where possible. 

  
4.9 Policy 19 is a key proposal which has a direct application to the planning 

application and merits a more detailed consideration. It relates to the need to 
ensure that the necessary infrastructure is in place. The policy requires that all 
new development must be supported by the required infrastructure and that 
developers will be required to contribute, after viability testing, to offset the cost 
of new infrastructure.  
 
Where, as in this case, the planning submissions make it clear that in the 
current economic conditions, not all of the required infrastructure can be 
provided then it follows, under this policy, that the Council will examine its 
requirements and will need to decide whether or not:  

1. the shortfall falls below an acceptable minimum such that planning 
permission  ought to be refused;  

2. there is a mechanism whereby the infrastructure requirement can be 
provided when economic conditions improve; or 

Agenda Item 5
Page 168



3. there is a reasonable case for reducing the requirement. 

This issue is dealt with further in section 8. 
  
4.10 Policy 20 seeks to encourage large developments to include provision for high 

speed broadband infrastructure. 
  
4.11 Policy 21 seeks to provide appropriate community infrastructure, subject to 

viability, in the form of integrated community hubs, community facilities, faith 
spaces, social and community infrastructure. The planning application is of a 
scale that it is justified for the development to accommodate, either within the 
site or nearby, the full range of supporting community infrastructure. The key 
document supporting this policy is the adopted Supplementary Planning 
Document for the southern part of Central Bedfordshire on Planning 
Obligations (2009). This issue is dealt with in section 8 below. 

  
4.12 Policy 22 seeks to ensure that the development is provided with the required 

leisure facilities and open spaces either on, or where provision on-site is not 
possible, off-site. It also requires a contribution towards maintenance and 
running costs. As for policy 21, this is dealt with in section 8 below. 

  
4.13 Policy 23 seeks to protect, enhance and promote rights of way. In this case, 

the application site contains no rights of way but has the opportunity to create 
new rights of way. 

  
4.14 Policy 24 seeks to ensure that new developments are made accessible and 

are connected to public transport. Policy 26 requires the submission of a 
Travel Plan. The planning application is of a scale that significant new routes 
and possibilities are available and featured heavily in the Travel Plan that was 
submitted with the application. This has been discussed in detail with the 
Council’s transport officers. This issue is dealt with further in section 7. 

  
4.15 Policy 25 seeks to facilitate the delivery of strategic transport schemes 

including the East of Leighton Linslade Distributor road. Provision is expected 
in parallel with or before the commencement of new development.  

  
4.16 Policy 26 requires travel plans to accompany a transport assessment.  The 

travel plan should demonstrate how new development will be accessible by a 
range of travel modes and should detail a long term strategy to mitigate any 
adverse impacts and maximise the potential for achieving sustainable 
transport behaviour.  The application was accompanied by an umbrella travel 
plan which sets out an overarching summary of the aims, measures, approach 
to management and implementation and targets for the development proposal.  
 
[Amendments to the travel plan will be required in addition the Highways 
Agency has requested a review of the travel plan be carried out prior to the 
commencement of development.  Whilst the travel plan is not currently 
satisfactory the amendments required can be secured.] 

  
4.17 Policy 27 states that developers will be required to provide appropriate car 

parking for new residential developments in line with the adopted standards 
set out in Appendix 8.  These standards are the same as those now included 

Agenda Item 5
Page 169



within the revised design guide.  Policy 27 and the revised design guide now 
supercede the standards previously set out in the design guide and appendix 
to the Local Transport Plan. 

  
4.18 Policy 28 requires the provision of a Transport Assessment. This has been 

complied with in the planning application submissions and the subject of 
discussion with the Council’s transport officers and the Highways Agency.  See 
section 8 below for further discussion on this point. 

  
4.19 Policy 29 seeks the provision of 28,700 new homes in the period 2011 to 2031 

and signals the provision of 11,500 within new strategic sites. Through Policy 
62, one of these is East of Leighton Linslade, part of which is covered by this 
planning application which seeks permission for 950 dwellings. The planning 
application therefore represents some 3.3% of 28,700 homes proposed by the 
Development Strategy, with the whole allocation representing some 8.7%. 

  
4.20 Policies 30, 31, 32 and 33 all relate to the requirement to consider providing a 

variety of new homes to an appropriate mix, type for older persons, lifetime 
homes and for the gypsy, traveller and travelling showpeople communities. 
The planning application allows for the provision of all bar the latter type of 
accommodation.  There will be a need for planning conditions to be applied to 
secure the types of accommodation that the relevant Council officers have 
deemed suitable for this site. This is dealt with in section 10 below. 

  
4.21 Policy 34 seeks a provision of 30% of the proposed dwellings to be of the 

affordable housing type.  It is this policy which falls in line with the NPPF 
whereby if less than the requirement is to be proposed, then a financial viability 
statement must make it clear why this is so. Much of the discussions with the 
applicant since the planning application was submitted have focussed on this 
matter and on the related matter of contributions to community infrastructure. 
This issue is dealt with further in section 9. 

  
4.22 Policy 36 re-affirms the NPPF policy position on the Green Belt, the matter 

dealt with in section 6 below. 
  
4.23 Policy 43 seeks the provision of a high quality of design, locally distinctive, 

efficient, respectful of neighbours and the historic environment, complementary 
to the landscape and adequately provision for parking and servicing. This is a 
similar policy to policy BE8 of the South Bedfordshire Local Plan Review 
(2004). The planning application responds to these requirements in the same 
way. The policy is related to policy 48 which seeks to reduce the impact of the 
development on climate change by means of design, though design is a matter 
for later stages of the planning application process. 

  
4.24 Policy 44 expects developments to comply with National and Council 

standards for protection against pollution. The planning applications 
submissions on this matter have been the subject of considerable discussion 
with the relevant Council officers and these matters will be covered by means 
of planning conditions as set out in section 10 below.  

  
4.25 Policy 45 seeks to conserve, enhance, protect and promote the enjoyment of 

the historic environment.  The application site is an area designated for its 

Agenda Item 5
Page 170



archaeological sensitivity, therefore trial trenching of agreed areas has been 
undertaken to explore the importance of the site.  The matter of heritage 
assets is explored in detail in section 7 below.   

  
4.26 Policy 47 seeks to provide a higher standard than the current statutory 

regulations requires for water and energy conservation. However, the 
techniques for raising the standard can incur considerable additional cost to a 
development and therefore the matter has been considered in the context of 
the viability work set out in section 9 below. 

  
4.27 Policy 48 requires all development, where relevant, to be resilient and 

adaptable to the impacts arising from climate change.  Measures such as 
maximising solar gain; retention of existing trees and landscaping; use of 
SUDS and use of water efficient fixtures and fittings.   
 
The Sustainability Statement submitted with the application highlights that 
homes will have a thermal performance better than required by Building 
Regulations, all homes would be constructed to Code Level 4 prior to 2016 
and to the revised zero carbon standard thereafter and that the site would 
have 10% renewable energy provision from the outset as a result of using the 
wind turbine at Double Arches to supply some energy needs.   

  
4.28 Policy 49 is a detailed policy on protection against flooding which encourages 

a strategic approach to the issue and sets out the sequential approach to 
ensuring that flood risk to properties is minimised. The Environmental 
Statement sets out that the site is within Flood Zone 1, lowest risk, and is 
considered by the Environment Agency as suitable for all development.  The 
proposals also include Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS) including 
a central detention basin.  These measures will reduce flows from the site to a 
level which is equivalent to or below greenfield run-off. 
 
The site is of a scale that a variety of methods, as set out in the Environmental 
Statement can be employed to minimise flood risk and to regulate in an 
appropriate manner the considerable run-off from the new built up area 
proposed. A selection of drainage strategies have been proposed and there 
will be a requirement for further detailed proposals to be submitted both as a 
firm strategy for the site as a whole and for each development area in the 
future. These are matters that are dealt with by means of the planning 
conditions as set out in the planning conditions section at the end of this 
report.  

  
4.29 Policy 56 seeks to increase the amount of Green Infrastructure (GI), which is 

defined by and set out as a series of proposals within the Council’s Green 
Infrastructure Plans. The related Policy 57 is a similar proposal for gaining new 
areas of high biodiversity. The GI policy requires contributions from new 
development to help deliver this objective. The planning application site is of a 
scale that it can make a considerable contribution to creating new biodiversity 
and increasing local Green Infrastructure. The planning submissions refer to 
this within the Design and Access Statement and discussion has taken place 
with relevant Council officers.  
 
Similarly, there are a number of opportunities for enhancing areas within the 

Agenda Item 5
Page 171



site to increase biodiversity and the application submissions included an 
ecological survey which identified new opportunities to improve the area above 
its existing level. This issue is dealt with further in section 8 of this report, 
below. 

  
4.30 The relevant part of Policy 58 to this site refers to the requirement to submit a 

Landscape Character Assessment, to protect such landscapes where 
proposals will have an adverse impact on important features and to include 
proposals for enhancement where opportunities are available. A similar 
requirement to analyse and protect important woodlands, trees and hedgerows 
is included in Policy 59. The Environmental Statement contains an assessment 
of the landscape character of the application site and its surroundings and the 
main findings are included in section 7 below. There will be a need for further 
detailed assessments of trees and hedgerows when detailed proposals are 
submitted as well as detailed strategic landscaping proposals. These are 
matters that can be dealt with by conditions and through the design process 
using the required Design Codes.  

  
4.31 Policy 59 requires developers to retain and protect woodlands, orchards and 

hedgerows; replace any trees which are unavoidably lost and increase tree 
cover where it would not threaten other valuable habitats and heritage assets.  
A large part of the application site has been or is going to be quarried, these 
areas are therefore devoid of trees.  Shenley Hill will have increased tree 
cover, welcomed by the Landscape Officer.  There is an area of woodland to 
the rear of Chamberlains Gardens which would be retained and incorporated 
into the development.  The treatment of the woodland area is a cause for 
concern for some residents of Chamberlains Gardens, this matter will be 
explored in more detail in section 8.  The retention of trees and hedgerows and 
implementation of new landscaping would be a matter dealt with at the detailed 
design stage and can be secured through Design Codes and conditions where 
necessary.   

  
4.32 Policy 62 sets out the requirements for the East of Leighton Linslade Strategic 

Allocation. The policy expects the following to be delivered. 
 

•••• Up to 2500 homes (this application proposes a maximum of 950 
homes and together with the other planning applications would make 
this total.) 

•••• Approximately 16ha of employment land creating up to 2,400 jobs 
(this application would not deliver any dedicated employment land but 
does propose that jobs would be created at the school and local centre.  
In addition access would be provided to land adjacent to the link road 
which could deliver additional employment land.) 

•••• A neighbourhood centre and two local centres; including a 
community hall, health services and retail facilities commensurate 
with the size of the development (this application would provide one 
of the two local centres which would include convenience retail 
facilities.) 

•••• Provision for education facilities (this application would provide a 
new lower school.) 

Agenda Item 5
Page 172



•••• A Country Park (this application would provide the Shenley Hill 
Country Park which would extend to approximately 19ha.) 

•••• Parks and children’s play facilities (this application would provide 2 
LEAPs (local equipped areas of play) and an adventure play area 
extending to 0.46ha.) 

•••• Formal and informal open spaces and sports provision (this 
application would provide a strategically planned network of 
multifunctional greenspace including informal open space of circa 40ha 
consisting of the country park, woodland, orchard, pasture, and informal 
open space.  Allotments would also be provided to address the current 
deficit and to serve the new population). 

 
The Policy also sets out that the development will provide: 

• An Eastern Link Road through the development, delivered on a phased 
basis concurrently with development (this application would deliver the 
road between Vandyke Road in the south and Heath Road in the north 
west.  The application proposes the link road would be complete 
between Vandyke Road and Heath Road prior to the occupation of 400 
dwellings on the Chamberlains Barn site.) 

           [This trigger may need to be revised.] 

• Land for assisted living for the elderly (this application does not include 
this aspect of the proposal as it is provided within the Clipstone Park 
application CB/11/02827/OUT.) 

• Layout and design to respond positively to the Narrow Gauge Railway 
(this application takes into account the railway, a more detailed 
interaction is required in the application for the link road, 
CB/11/01940/FULL). 

• Travel Plans which set out the long term strategy for managing 
multimodal access (this application is accompanied by a travel plan.)  

• Contributions to the rail station interchange and walking/cycling and 
public transport linking the development to the town (contributions will 
be secured through the Section 106 agreement however the level of 
contributions will need to be considered in the light of the viability of the 
scheme). 

• Land for a new town cemetery (this requirement is met by planning 
application CB/11/04444/OUT). 

 
The planning application has been designed to align closely to the details of 
this policy and much of the discussion during the course of its consideration 
has been seeking to respond to as many of the policy requirements as 
feasible. More detail is provided in section 9 below. However, in general it is 
appropriate to conclude that the planning application has taken full account of 
this policy and is broadly compliant with it. 

  
4.33 The Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire is not yet adopted policy, 

but is being prepared to deal with development needs beyond the period of the 
currently adopted Development Plan, the SBLPR (2004). The Development 
Strategy has also been designed and seeks to be consistent with the NPPF. 
To that end, it is considered that its housing and employment policies that 
define a quantum of development, its retail policy and its policies about new 

Agenda Item 5
Page 173



infrastructure and its delivery are more up-to-date and should be given greater 
weight than those equivalent  to or missing from the adopted SBLPR (2004). 

  
4.34 The planning application conforms closely to the policy direction that the 

Council wishes to go and explicitly delivers a major part of the urban extension 
at East of Leighton Linslade that the Council considers to be a key part of its 
Development Strategy. 

  
4.35 At this stage, some weight can be given to the document which is greater than 

the L&SCB Joint Core Strategy. Once submitted, it would supersede that 
document. However, until it is formally adopted, the National Planning Policy 
Framework should carry greater weight. 

  
4.36 The Committee will recognise that this “weighting” appears not to give the 

Development Plan primacy when making a decision on a planning application. 
However, this is because in the Case Officer’s opinion, the current adopted 
Development Plan is not up-to-date sufficiently to deal with the planning 
application as submitted or to comply with the NPPF. 

  
5.  The East of Leighton Linslade Framework Plan 2013 
  
5.1 In order to guide the development East of Leighton Linslade which includes 

238ha of land and to ensure consistency with the approach taken to the North 
Houghton Regis allocation a Framework Plan was produced in conjunction with 
both applicants and Central Bedfordshire Council. 

  
5.2 The Framework Plan drew from the evidence base produced for the previously 

withdrawn Luton and Southern Bedfordshire Joint Core Strategy, from the work 
then underway for the Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire and from 
the incomplete East of Leighton Linslade Masterplan.  As its name suggests it is 
a broad look at what should be provided within the new urban extension to assist 
potential developers in putting together a planning application that the Council 
would like to consider positively.  The Framework Plan was endorsed by the 
Council for the purposes of Development Management in May 2013. 

  
5.3 The vision for the development set out in the Framework Plan is expressed 

simply as to ensure that any development connects with its surroundings, helps 
form new communities, contributes to a sustainable future, emphases design, 
provides new business and employment opportunities and protects and 
enhances the area. A Plan was developed to show where the main elements of 
development and supporting infrastructure (roads, community facilities, open 
areas, schools, commercial areas, housing areas etc) were to be located. 

  
5.4 The Framework Plan sets out that the development north of Vandyke Road 

would focus residential development in the south-western sector of the land with 
a landscaped buffer between the existing and new housing.  The buffer would 
also include woodland, allotments and adventure play area.  The link road would 
travel east to west through the site with the lower school and employment area to 
the south of the road and a local centre and housing to its north.  A further 
residential area would be located in the eastern section of the land with more 
woodland and allotments beyond.  The remainder of the site would be a country 
park focussed on Shenley Hill.   

Agenda Item 5
Page 174



  
5.5 This application would deliver the majority of the uses set out in the Framework 

Plan, with the exception of the employment land.  This application would provide 
road access and services to the boundary of the employment land, it is however 
not included in this application.  There is nothing to prevent the landowner 
making a planning application to deliver the employment land.  It is therefore 
considered that the planning application conforms with the endorsed Framework 
Plan as it provides the majority of uses identified and does not conflict with the 
purposes of the Framework Plan. 

  
6. The Green Belt 
  
6.1 The application site is located within the Green Belt and does not fall into one 

of the types of development which are set out in the NPPF or in policy 36 of 
the emerging Development Strategy as appropriate within the Green Belt.  The 
proposal therefore constitutes inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  
The proposed policy 62 of the emerging Development Strategy proposes that 
the Green Belt in the area to the east and north east of Leighton Linslade, 
extending from Heath Road in the north to Stanbridge Road in the south, 
bounded by Shenley Hill Road, part of Clipstone Lane and otherwise 
demarcated by field boundaries is removed to make way for the proposed 
urban expansion. There is a substantial body of evidence developed through 
that process which has concluded that it is appropriate to remove the Green 
Belt designation to allow for the urban expansion within which the application 
is set. However, this policy is not yet in place.  Very special circumstances 
therefore need to be demonstrated to clearly outweigh the harm to the Green 
Belt, both by reason of inappropriateness and other harms identified below.     

  
6.2 The first consideration is; what will be the harm to the Green Belt caused by 

the proposal? Green Belts are defined as serving the following purposes: 
 
1. to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 
2. to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; 
3. to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 
4. to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 
5. to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and 

other urban land. 
  
6.3 The proposal is of substantial size involving a total development of 240 

hectares, but it is not unrestricted in the sense that along approximately 50% 
of the allocation there is a substantial physical boundary within which it will be 
clearly contained: i.e. the existing Shenley Hill Road and Clipstone Lane.  The 
remainder is demarcated by field boundaries however this application shows 
the link road located near the eastern edge of the allocation with a wide 
planting belt.  The site will therefore be clearly contained.  Whilst the Green 
Belt is harmed by the proposal in this sense, it is recognised that there will be 
a strong boundary against further sprawl to the east of Leighton Linslade.  

  
6.4 The proposal sits within the context of a general character of the wider area 

which is the major town of Leighton Linslade and smaller sporadic village 
development. Development to the east of the town will not significantly alter 
that character and does not result in harm by further merging of the towns. 

Agenda Item 5
Page 175



  
6.5 The area affected is of a pleasant open rural and rural fringe character though 

the landscape analysis of the site concludes that the area does differ in quality 
across the site. In addition it should be taken into account that some of the 
land has been or is being quarried albeit required to be restored to agricultural 
purposes.  However, the proposal by reason of its scale will encroach upon the 
countryside and will be harmful as a result. 

  

6.6 Consideration needs to be given to preserving the setting and special 
character of the historic town.  Leighton Buzzard and Linslade are historic 
towns which have a special character.  Views from the application site to the 
east are generally limited to close ones of the existing urban edge of Leighton 
Buzzard and distance views towards the more elevated parts of Linslade and 
the higher ground beyond.  A combination of topography, built form and the 
filtering effect of vegetation restrict middle distance views in this direction.  It is 
considered that some views towards the town would be disrupted and current 
views of historic buildings, specifically All Saints Church, would be prevented.  
The development of an urban extension on the edge of Leighton Linslade 
would have some impact on the character of the towns, however the historic 
areas are located some distance from the proposed extensions and it is 
considered it would result in some harm to the setting and special character 
of the historic towns.  

  
6.7 Leighton Linslade does contain areas where urban regeneration is encouraged 

and where economic renewal is of particular importance. These areas were 
identified in the former Luton and South Bedfordshire Core Strategy and 
regeneration of those areas remain important objectives in current and 
emerging policy documents. This includes the areas also covered by 
Development Briefs for Land South of the High Street and Bridge Meadows. 
 
Chamberlains Barn quarry is an area of despoiled land; it comprises ongoing 
minerals operations with associated infrastructure, and so is an appropriate 
area to consider for regeneration, over and above the consented agricultural 
restoration, once quarrying activities finish in each phase.  
 
Given the scale of the proposals and that there are already separate 
Development Briefs for existing sites within the urban area, the scheme would 
not prejudice the reuse of land in the urban area and could in fact through a 
financial contribution in the Section 106 contribute to the delivery of the Briefs. 
Moreover the reuse of despoiled land at an active quarry follows the same 
principles that the NPPF seeks in identifying the reuse of derelict land and 
brownfield land. It is therefore considered that the proposals would not harm 
the urban regeneration of areas in Leighton Linslade and could instead be 
considered to contribute to this aim. 
 
It is not therefore considered that harm to the objective to assist urban 
regeneration is caused by this development.  

  
6.8 As part of the preparation of the emerging Development Strategy, the Council 

has undertaken a detailed analysis of land around both 
Luton/Dunstable/Houghton Regis and Leighton Linslade with a view to 
identifying those sites which minimize the impact on these objectives.  The 

Agenda Item 5
Page 176



East of Leighton Linslade allocation has been identified as one which 
minimizes the impact as highlighted in the comments of the Local Plans and 
Housing Team Leader who sets out that the particular circumstances of this 
site mean it appears highly suitable for development, as set out in the 
Sustainability Appraisal report, whose findings are consistent with previous 
positive assessments of this site.  

  
6.9 On the basis that there will be harm to the Green Belt by reason of the 

proposal’s impact through extending an urban area into the countryside, then it 
is necessary to determine what “very special circumstances” may exist that 
clearly outweighs that harm.  

  
Case for very special circumstances 
 
6.10 There is no definition of the meaning of “very special circumstances” but there 

is a body of opinion expressed through dealing with planning appeals and 
challenges through the Courts in the past which can help the Committee reach 
a decision.  
 

1. Does the application have a unique feature that outweighs the harm to the 
Green Belt? 

2. Is there a substantial economic need, especially at a national or regional 
level? 

3. Is there a substantial housing need that cannot solely be met within the 
urban area? 

4. Are there substantial cultural, social or community benefits? 

 
The important point to bear in mind is that these substantial benefits must 
arise from the unique circumstances of the proposal or otherwise it could be 
repeated too often, to the long term, cumulative harm of the Green Belt. 

  
6.11 The applicant has set out the issues they consider constitute very special 

circumstances in favour of the application proposals; these are set out in 
paragraphs 6.12 - 6.32.  The issues can be summarised as follows: 

  
6.12 "The Need for Additional Housing 

 
The third core planning principle in the NPPF (paragraph 17) states that 
planning should proactively deliver homes, business and infrastructure, 
positively meeting the development needs of an area. Whilst CBC are 
presently considering higher levels of housing growth as part of their 
assessment of the Housing Market Area, the current emerging development 
strategy proposes an additional 28,700 homes in the period 2011 – 2031. 
Most of these are related to the southern part of the Council area (the former 
South Beds District), i.e. around Luton/Dunstable/Houghton Regis and 
Leighton Linslade, on account of the northern part (former Mid Beds District) 
already having adopted Core Strategy and Site Allocations documents.  

  
6.13 A revised version of the Development Strategy was presented to the Overview 

Agenda Item 5
Page 177



and Scrutiny Committee on the 8th May. At the time of preparing this 
statement the content of the Strategy is not yet known, however, the Clipstone 
Park committee report acknowledges at paragraph 6.21, that the housing 
numbers may be increased further in this document. Given that this version of 
the document is not yet published, due consideration is thus given to the June 
2013 version of the emerging Development Strategy. 

  
6.14 The evidence base for the emerging Development Strategy shows that the 

amount of brownfield land within CBC is insufficient to accommodate more 
than a small proportion of future housing needs for the district across the next 
20 years. Similarly within the Luton Borough Council area a substantial 
amount of work has been undertaken as part of both the Joint Core Strategy 
and the emerging Luton Local Plan to maximize the opportunities on 
brownfield sites. Whilst this has shown development can take place on some 
redeveloped sites the total amount of land is well below that needed to meet 
the objectively assessed housing requirements of Luton for the next 20 years. 

  
6.15 The East of Leighton Linslade allocation forms one of the three major urban 

extensions identified in the emerging Development Strategy. CBC has granted 
planning permission for the North Houghton Regis urban extension subject to 
completion of the S106. The East of Leighton Linslade allocation has the 
added advantage of being able to come forward at an early date (once 
planning permission is granted), since the whole of the proposal is privately 
funded and not dependent on major infrastructure funded by central or local 
Government, unlike the North Houghton Regis extension.  

  
6.16 CBC have similarly resolved to grant Clipstone Park, a major part of the East 

of Leighton Linslade allocation, permission subject to s106 and referral to the 
Secretary of State. The early delivery of housing from the whole of the East of 
Leighton Linslade allocation is included in the housing projections as 
contributing towards the overall 5 year supply of housing land. Without the 
land East of Leighton Linslade assisting in the delivery of housing over the 
period to 2018, the Council will not be able to demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
housing land in accordance with Paragraph 47 of the NPPF. 

  
6.17 Whilst it is acknowledged that a 5 year land supply deficit does not on its own 

constitute a VSC, it remains one of the factors which shows why the pressing 
need for additional housing must be considered in the whole with the VSCs. 
Whilst the Green Belt is specifically identified as one of the restrictive policies 
set out in Footnote 9 to Paragraph 14 of the NPPF, the Secretary of State has 
made it clear that even in areas covered by restrictive policies such matters 
need to be weighed in the balance when coming to a judgement on whether 
planning permission should be granted. The fact remains that Chamberlains 
Barn and Stearn Land form part of a wider allocation, part of which has a 
resolution to grant permission; are capable of early delivery (assisted by the 
full application for the Link Road); and are located in an area with an out of 
date Local Plan and identified need for housing growth; is strongly favourable 
in the consideration of the proposals as part of a wider VSCs argument. 

  
6.18 Infrastructure Provision 

 
A detailed application for the first part of the Eastern Link Road is included as 

Agenda Item 5
Page 178



part of the Chamberlains Barn proposals. This section of the Link Road runs 
from Heath Road to Vandyke Road, and is included as a detailed application 
to assist in early delivery. As outlined earlier in this Statement, the Eastern 
Link Road has long been identified as a critical requirement in Leighton 
Linslade in order to ease traffic around the town centre. 

  
6.19 The Eastern Link Road will relieve the town centre of congestion, to the 

benefit of local residents and businesses. The Link Road will not only mitigate 
against the increase in traffic due to the development proposals, but will also 
make good existing problems within the area and provide a practical orbital 
route around the town for through traffic. Furthermore, it will provide for new 
bus routes to service the whole of the eastern side of the town thereby 
increasing the opportunity for reducing car journeys by both new and existing 
residents. 

  
6.20 Clearly the provision of this much needed infrastructure would make a 

valuable contribution to the area, benefiting existing residents as well as the 
residents of the new development. The resultant traffic improvements would 
be of wider benefit to businesses as well, allowing for ease of access to the 
town centre and local shops and services. 

  
6.21 Finally, the housing proposed as part of the Chamberlains Barn and Stearn 

Land schemes would assist in delivering the improvements to Vandyke Upper 
School by way of S106 contributions and a net increase in pupils, again to the 
wider benefit of the town as a whole. 

  
6.22 Green Infrastructure Provision 

 
Leighton Linslade Town Council has long identified a shortage of playing 
pitches and open space, seeking to reduce impacts on Stockgrove Country 
Park and increase accessibility to the wider countryside. The delivery of the 
‘Green Wheel’ identified in the Big Plan is a primary aim of the Town Council. 

  
6.23 Across the whole East of Leighton Linslade allocation there would be the 

creation of over 90 hectares of playing pitches and informal open space. The 
new Country Park which would be created at Shenley Hill, along with the 
playing pitches as part of the Stearn Land scheme will have substantial social 
and community benefits. Leighton Linslade Town Council have previously 
identified a need for new playing pitches as well as a new Country Park to 
take the pressure off Stockgrove Country Park. The Leighton Linslade Big 
Plan 2 seeks “many more adult and youth pitches” (page 5); as well as further 
green infrastructure and open space. Taken as part of the scheme proposals 
this Country Park would create a strong and positive area of recreation and 
publicly accessible countryside in an area of town that lacks such facilities. 

  
6.24 The Delivery of Employment Growth 

 
Securing economic growth is a core planning principle of the NPPF, in 
particular the creation of new jobs. This can be done in two ways; by providing 
new land for new jobs; and by providing a workforce. Like housing need, there 
is an identified need for job growth within CBC. The emerging Development 
Strategy identifies a need for at least 27,000 new jobs across the 20 year 

Agenda Item 5
Page 179



period. In the event that the overall housing numbers increase above that 
contained in the emerging Development Strategy (as above), then the need 
for employment growth will similarly increase. 

  
6.25 Whilst the proposals at Chamberlains Barn and Stearn Land do not include 

any employment allocations per se, they do directly contribute to economic 
growth in a number of ways. Firstly, they would create new jobs in the local 
centre, school, and also construction of the development, which would likely 
employ local people. Leighton Linslade has long had issues of out commuting, 
despite its status as the largest settlement in Central Bedfordshire and thus 
new jobs in construction, retail and schools would provide for existing 
residents as well as new residents. 

  
6.26 The second contribution would be by providing new homes for the workers 

who would be employed in the new employment sites in Clipstone Park and 
Chiltern Hunt. The level of job growth proposed by those developments could 
not be sustained by the existing workforce population in the area, and without 
the additional housing on Chamberlains Barn and Stearn Land, would not be 
sustained by the workforce on the Clipstone Park site alone. Thus whilst 
Chamberlains Barn, Stearn Land and Clipstone Park are separate 
applications, they form part of a wider holistic scheme wherein each 
component part is reliant upon the other to be fully realised. Without the new 
houses and population generated by Chamberlains Barn and Stearn Land, 
employers would not take up the full employment allocation of the wider 
scheme, due to an insufficient supply of local workers. 

  
6.27 In addition to new homes, the delivery of the first part of the Eastern Link Road 

would also assist in employment growth by improving traffic patterns (and so 
journey to work times), making the employment sites more desirable for 
business and workers, as well as the delivery of new public transport routes.  

  
6.28 Further Considerations  

  
In addition to the above VSCs, there are further considerations that apply in 
the particular case of Chamberlains Barn and Stearn Land which warrant 
mention here. 

  
6.29 In the case of the Chamberlains Barn application, this provides the essential 

linkage for the Eastern Distributor Road from Heath Road to Vandyke Road. 
Whilst this section of the Link Road will not only improve congestion within the 
town centre as a whole (as evidenced by the traffic modelling which 
accompanies the application), it also serves a separate important function, by 
introducing a new safe crossing of the Narrow Gauge Railway. The 
amendments shown in the October DAS Addendum include a new tunnel for 
the Narrow Gauge Railway, which separates the vehicular and pedestrian 
traffic from the Railway. This has the further benefit of adding an interesting 
feature to the Narrow Gauge Railway in the form of the tunnel, further 
enhancing attractiveness of the railway.  

  
6.30 The reuse of the quarry site at Chamberlains Barn has been considered above 

in assessing the proposals against the Green Belt purposes contained in the 
NPPF. Whilst the use of this despoiled land does not constitute a VSC in its 

Agenda Item 5
Page 180



own right, taken in combination with the aforementioned factors it enhances 
the VSCs set out above, most importantly when considering housing growth 
and suitable locations. 

  
6.31 The evidence base for the emerging and withdrawn Development Plan all 

identify the area as the most suitable location for an urban extension, and 
earlier Green Belt studies undertaken by Roger Evans Associates also 
identified this location as the best location for removal from the Green Belt. 
The fact that the required level of housing growth cannot be met on brownfield 
land means greenfield sites must be identified. A part restored/part active 
quarry which has already had an impact upon the Green Belt is a wholly 
appropriate location in that context (subject to all other matters being 
considered suitable) and therefore helps to meet the housing growth aim 
without significant harm to the Green Belt. The despoiled nature of the land 
thus contributes to the housing growth VSC.  

  
6.32 A final consideration is the fact that these proposals are capable of early 

delivery, thus contributing to the immediate need for housing in the area. The 
northern section of the Eastern Link Road (from Heath Road to Vandyke 
Road) is specifically the subject of a full application so that construction work 
can commence at an early stage and not hold up the delivery of housing. The 
full details of the road have been agreed with CBC Highways and Planning 
officers. This means that Chamberlains Barn can begin to deliver houses in 
the early stages of the 5 year period and need not wait for further applications 
relating to the principle infrastructure. It further sets out a commitment to the 
Road and its delivery, as per the Big Plan II aspirations." 

  

 Conclusions 
  
6.33 In response to the applicant’s case set out above, the officer’s conclusions 

follow.  The evidence underlying the proposed Central Bedfordshire 
Development Strategy (and the planning history beforehand) underlines the 
clear need for a substantial growth in housing in this area and is referred to 
elsewhere in this report. That need is identified as 28,700 homes over a plan 
period up to 2031. It is a need of a scale that has resulted in proposals for 
three major urban extensions totalling some 13,500 dwellings in addition to 
that sought from other sources. This development proposal forms a 
substantial part (950 dwellings) of that proposed provision. 

  
6.34 In the face of this substantial need, which arises not only from within the 

Central Bedfordshire area, it is appropriate for the Committee to decide that 
the ability of the application to deliver a substantial portion of the required 
housing and its accompanying requirement for infrastructure weighs strongly 
towards the required very special circumstances.  

  
6.35 The development proposal includes a variety of other community, social and 

cultural benefits in the form of community buildings, substantial public open 
spaces, leisure facilities and support for community initiatives. However, these 
are required by virtue of the scale of the development proposed and whilst 
they will have benefits to the local community as well, these are not sufficiently 
substantial to consider their provision as a very special circumstance. These 
benefits however support the identified economic and housing needs set out 

Agenda Item 5
Page 181



above. 
  
6.36 An outline planning application for 5,150 dwellings, up to 202,500sqm of 

additional development in Use Classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, B1, B2, B8, C1, 
C2, D1, D2 and sui generis uses and ancillary works on land on the northern 
edge of Houghton Regis was recently determined by the Development 
Management Committee.  The application site is in the Green Belt and 
therefore as the Committee were minded to approve the application is was 
referred to the Secretary of State for him to decide whether or not to call-in the 
application for his own determination.  The situation with the application for the 
land north of Houghton Regis is very similar to this application in that although 
the sites are in the Green Belt, the removal of the land from the Green Belt 
has been planned for some time and it is intended for the sites to be allocated 
in the Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire.  The approach taken to 
the structure of the report and the decision-making in determining this 
planning application has followed that of the Houghton Regis application.   

  
6.37 A letter was received from the National Planning Casework Unit on 30 January 

2014 setting out that the “Secretary of State has carefully considered the 
impact of the proposal, and the key policy issues which this case raises.  The 
Secretary of State acknowledges that the proposal is a major development in 
the Green Belt and is being advanced before the development plan.  However, 
he considers that in the particular circumstances of this case, that the 
proposals have been included in emerging strategies, frameworks and plans 
over the last 10 years, the area’s housing and economic needs and given 
support for the development locally, he is persuaded that the application 
should be determined at local level.”  Following this letter the Section 106 was 
completed and planning permission issued for the development.  

  
6.38 The Secretary of State’s decision can inform the approach taken to the 

determination of this application.  It is considered that it is appropriate to give 
weight to the history of the allocation in emerging strategies, frameworks and 
plans.  The need for housing and jobs can also be given weight in light of the 
decision.   

  
6.39 In conclusion, the proposed development constitutes inappropriate 

development in the Green Belt which results in harm; there is also harm due to 
loss of openness, encroachment, impact on the setting and character of the 
historic town and visual harm.  The historic strategic planning policy context, 
the delivery of the eastern link road, the significant economic growth potential 
for the area and the well evidenced and substantial housing need all however 
weigh in favour of the development.  Taking into account the above and the 
Secretary of State’s treatment of the North of Houghton Regis application, it is 
considered on balance that the “very special circumstances” demonstrated by 
the applicants are sufficient to clearly outweigh the harm caused. 

  
7. Environmental Impact Assessment: Issues arising (including comments 

and objections from consultees) and their mitigation. 
  
7.1 The planning application was accompanied by a formal Environmental 

Statement (ES) as required by reason of the statutory Regulations. This is a 
substantial set of documents which form a considerable part of the material 

Agenda Item 5
Page 182



submitted with the planning application. There is a non-technical summary 
document which includes a description of the site, an analysis of the 
alternatives as required by the regulations and the likely environmental effects 
and the mitigation required to deal with those effects for the following subject 
areas: 
 

• Socio-economics 

• Landscape and Visual 

• Ecology and Nature Conservation 

• Traffic and Transport 

• Air Quality 

• Noise and Vibration 

• Archaeology and Cultural Heritage 

• Agricultural Circumstances 

• Flood Risk and Drainage 

• Geotechnical issues and Contaminated Land 

• Cumulative and Residual Effects 
 
Note: remarks from the Case Officer are in italics 

  
7.2 Landscape and Visual  
  

7.3 The ES concludes that in summary, with respect to landscape character, the 
proposed development is predicted to result in a change of character within 
the Woburn Greensand Ridge (Greensand extraction) to urban area.  The 
change represents a very small loss of the total extent of the countryside 
character area and would not be significant.  The significant features of 
Shenley Hill and Broomhills are retained and enhanced, providing improved 
access to natural green space, which would be a beneficial change. 

  

7.4 In respect to visual impacts, the proposed development would have some 
slight adverse visual effect on views to Shenley Hill from the south-east 
mitigated by proposed planting on top of and at the base of the hill.  The visual 
perception of a marginal expansion of built up area would be small and not 
significant.  In the short term views from Vandyke Road to Shenley Hill would 
be adversely affected to a moderate extent from a limited number of 
viewpoints.  With the beneficial effects of planting, an increase in accessible 
greenspace and completion of a new neighbourhood, the overall result would 
not be significant. 

  

7.5 In respect of night-time impacts views taken from Eastern Way, Church End, 
Hockliffe and Billington indicate that there would be a marginal increase in the 
total light area, however this is not judged as significant.   

  

7.6 The proposals would directly effect the Narrow Gauge Railway by introducing 
a grade separated crossing at a central point along Vandyke Road.  The 
crossing would involve a horizontal and vertical diversion and the introduction 
of a tunnel.  The tunnel form of crossing was requested by the Leighton 
Buzzard Narrow Gauge Railway Society as part of discussions.  The diversion 
would result in a slight adverse impact due to its deviation from the historic 
route of the line.   

Agenda Item 5
Page 183



  

7.7 The proposals would have a moderate adverse impact on the setting and 
views from the railway as it travels along Vandyke Road.  Broadly the 
character and view would change from open countryside to built development 
for a stretch of about 850m.  The effect would be mitigated by retention and 
enhancement of the hedgerow either side of the railway and the creation of a 
green corridor that varies from 80 to 40 metres in width.  The visual sensitivity 
of the receptor is judged to be moderate due to the fact that the railway is a 
tourist attraction however it only operates a limited timetable between March 
and October.  The significance of the effect is judged to be moderately 
adverse for this stretch of line but slight and not significant for the line as a 
whole. 

  

7.8 The impact of the development on the quarry workings as a sign of historical 
industrial activity would not be significant.  The change in levels of the site 
would remain a clear reminder of the extraction of the sand that would not be 
obscured by the introduction of residential development within the site.  The 
retention of naturalised workings in the area around Broomhills Farm as a 
public open space would provide a clear and tangible link to the quarrying.   

  

7.9 [The Landscape Officer has some concerns regarding the detail of the 
application; however these can be addressed through detailed design at 
reserved matters stage.] 

  

7.10 Biodiversity and Nature Conservation 
  

7.11 There are no statutory designated sites of nature conservation value within the 
application site.  The nearest site is the Clipstone Brook County Wildlife Site 
(CWS) located to the south east of the site with the closest (biological) 
statutory designation being the King's and Baker's Woods and Heaths Site of 
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), located 1.3km to the north-west.   

  

7.12 The application site contains a mosaic of habitats including arable grassland, 
woodland, scrub, hedgerows, trees, standing water and operational quarry.   

  

7.13 The site supports bat species in terms of foraging and commuting, as well as 
badger setts and a range of bird species.  The habitats are likely to support a 
range of mammals and small populations of common lizard and grass snake 
have been recorded within the site.  There is some evidence of Great Crested 
Newts within the ponds on the site.   

  

7.14 A range of potential effects have been identified on habitats and fauna within 
the site.  Impacts on ecological designations are considered unlikely.   

  

7.15 Mitigation and enhancement measures are therefore required and are 
proposed within the application.  Measures include substantial woodland, 
scrub, grassland, wetland and hedgerow habitat creation; these would provide 
new areas of valuable habitat.   

  

7.16 Following mitigation it is considered that the development would result in 
significant enhancements to the existing ecological interest of the site with 
substantial benefits.  These effects are assessed as overall major beneficial 

Agenda Item 5
Page 184



significance at the local level.  
  

7.17 [The Council’s ecologist is satisfied with the survey work which has been 
undertaken and has no objection to the proposal subject to conditions and 
s106 obligations.] 

  

7.18 Transportation and Highways  
  

7.19 The ES includes an assessment of the changes resulting from the proposed 
development in relation to transportation and highways.  The chapter includes 
quantitative assessments of the change in traffic flows and drive delay 
experienced as a result of the proposed development.  A qualitative review of 
pedestrian crossing facilities is also included. 

  
7.20 Mitigation is proposed in the form of a Residential Travel Plan (RTP), which 

would improve capacity and reduce queues and drive delay through the 
promotion of alternatives to private car use.  Through the successful 
introduction of a range of travel planning measures, it is anticipated that the 
proposed development would have a lesser impact on the local road network.   

  
7.21 During the construction phase, there could be potential traffic impacts 

associated with the movement of the construction workforce, plant and 
materials.  Throughout the construction periods there would be times of 
increased activity and associated disturbance and periods of less disruption.  
All construction impacts would be temporary in nature. 

  
7.22 Once the development has been completed and occupied, along with other 

developments and road network changes in the area, considered within the 
cumulative assessment, it is predicted that there would be impacts on traffic 
flows, but that these would be negligible.    

  
7.23 [The Sustainable Transport Officer, Highways Development Control Officer 

and Highways Agency all advise that the travel plan requires further work and 
review prior to the commencement of the development.  The necessary 
additional work and changes can be secured by condition and the 
implementation of the travel plan will be required within the Section 106 
agreement.] 

  
7.24 Air Quality 
  

7.25 The ES anticipates that dust may be generated during the construction period 
however that it can be controlled through good site practice and 
implementation of mitigation measures.  

  

7.26 An assessment of the impact of traffic generated by the development on air 
quality has been undertaken.  The assessment shows that the development 
and associated mitigation measures will result in changes to the distribution of 
traffic across the network.  These changes will mean that the air quality 
standards will be met at all existing assessment receptors with or without the 
proposed development.   

  

7.27 An assessment of the cumulative effects associated with the operation of the 

Agenda Item 5
Page 185



proposed development and wider development at East of Leighton Buzzard 
was also undertaken.  The results show that air quality standards would be 
met at all existing receptors and across the application site. 

  

7.28 Overall the development would have a negligible to neutral impact on air 
quality. 
 

7.29 [CBC officers recommend that conditions be added to any planning 
permission to deal with dust minimisation.] 

  

7.30 Noise and Vibration 
  

7.31 The construction noise assessment has identified that even without mitigation, 
for the majority of the construction phase, noise from construction works would 
fall below standards applicable to rural areas. 

  

7.32 Construction traffic noise would result in an increase in noise levels but only 
by a small amount for a temporary period of time.  As previously stated a 
Construction Management Plan would govern the times of working and routing 
of construction traffic, thus minimising any noise impacts. 

  

7.33 A strip of land approximately 100m wide adjacent to Vandyke Road would 
have a noise level resulting from the road which means noise should be taken 
into account when determining planning applications and, where appropriate, 
conditions imposed to ensure an adequate level of protection against noise.  
Where necessary the buildings would be fitted within thermal double glazing 
and have external areas appropriately screened.   

  

7.34 The provision of an acoustic fence between any future active part of the quarry 
and the proposed residential areas would keep noise levels in outside amenity 
areas at appropriate levels.   

  

7.35 Overall it is considered that there are no noise constraints that cannot be 
mitigated through appropriate site layout and building design in areas of the 
development where noise levels need to be addressed. 

  

7.36 [CBC officers take a more cautious view of the likely impacts and advise that 
there should be conditions to minimise noise impacts and to require a 
Construction Management Plan.] 

  
7.37 Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage 
  

7.38 The application site is within flood risk zone 1, the lowest risk of flooding, 
where all type of development are acceptable.   

  

7.39 Sustainable drainage measures (SUDS) are proposed to mitigate the potential 
impacts of the proposed development and to enhance the existing situation.  
Source control measures would be employed to reduce the rate of surface 
water run-off from the proposed development.  Site control measures would 
be employed to attenuate surface water on site and to restrict the rate of 
discharge to the local watercourse.  The design would limit the rate of 
discharge to less than the present natural (greenfield) rate, enhancing flood 

Agenda Item 5
Page 186



protection to downstream properties.   
  

7.40 Petrol and oil interceptors and reed bed filters would be used to intercept 
potential pollutants and to maintain and enhance water quality.  During 
construction the existing watercourse would be protected at all times.  Bunds 
and impermeable membranes would be used to protect watercourses and 
groundwater against accidental spillages. 

  

7.41 Subject to the provision of the proposed mitigation and enhancement 
measures there are no adverse impacts which would prevent development.   

  

7.42 [Both the Environment Agency and Internal Drainage Board are satisfied that 
subject to conditions the proposal would not increase the risk of flooding.] 

  

7.43 Conclusions drawn from the studies indicate that small areas within the site 
and study area may be at moderate risk from both on and off site potential 
contamination.  Determination of the actual risks to receptors would be 
concluded from a Phase 2 Ground Investigation, which in turn would form part 
of a site contamination strategy.   

  

7.44 Subject to appropriate investigation and mitigation measures to deal with the 
potential contamination the development would not have any adverse impacts.  

  

7.45 Sewerage and Utilities 
  

7.46 The ES states that the proposed development would require new utility 
networks to be installed and existing networks to be extended and reinforced 
locally.  BT and gas networks have been confirmed to have suitable capacity 
within the vicinity of the site.  Electricity and water networks would require off-
site works to afford capacity.  The capacity once secured to site, would then 
be disseminated via underground networks to afford final connections to each 
dwelling or facility.   

  

7.47 Existing utility apparatus would also be affected during the course of the works 
but these would be local to the development, for example new junction works.   

  
7.48 Minerals, Ground Conditions and Contamination 
  

7.49 The ES provides an assessment of the effects of the proposed development in 
relation to minerals, local geology and ground conditions, including soil and 
groundwater contamination and the implications of geology and ground 
conditions for the planning, design, construction and operation of the proposed 
development along with the proposed mitigation methods. 

  

7.50 Sand extraction has been undertaken from Chamberlains Barn quarry for 
many years under minerals permissions.  The approved working plans provide 
for the phased working and restoration of the quarry from south to north.  The 
ES states that no economically viable minerals would be sterilised by the 
proposed development.  [Detailed consideration of the issues surrounding 
mineral sterilisation are contained within section 8] 

  

7.51 Conclusions drawn from the studies indicate that small areas within the site 

Agenda Item 5
Page 187



and study area may be at moderate risk from both on and off site potential 
contamination.  Determination of the actual risks to receptors would be 
concluded from a Phase 2 Ground Investigation, which in turn would form part 
of a site contamination strategy.   

  

7.52 Subject to appropriate investigation and mitigation measures to deal with the 
potential contamination the development would not have any adverse impacts.  

  
7.53 Socio-economic Impacts 
  

7.54 The population increase arising from the development is estimated to be 2347 
persons using an average household size of 2.47 persons per dwelling. The 
requirement for school places will therefore be substantial as will the demand 
for new General Practitioner and other health service provision.  The 
development does however provide appropriate a lower school site and open 
space for recreation and amenity along with appropriate financial contributions 
to other community and educational facilities.  Other needs, in particular, 
health care would be met through the provision of the neighbourhood centre 
on the Clipstone Park development.     

  

7.55 The ES sets out that the increase in the level of population as a consequence 
of the development proposals would lead to an additional demand for both 
formal and informal open space.  The development proposals would provide in 
excess of 40ha of formal and informal recreation space (including allotments, 
cemetery and woodland planting).  The Shenley Hill country park is 
considered to ease pressure on the existing green infrastructure and therefore 
have a positive impact on open space provision.   

  

7.56 [The ES concludes that the pressures on existing recreational space would be 
eased however English Nature and our own Countryside Access Services 
foresee significant impacts on existing recreational sites accessible to 
residents of the development area.  However this application would provide 
significant amounts of new recreational open space including a country park, 
which would be used by existing residents of Leighton Linslade, Eggington 
and the surrounding area.]  

  

7.57 There will also be a significant amount of potential expenditure that will 
become available in the area, benefiting local services and retail.  

  
7.58 Archaeology 
  

7.59 The main significant impacts relate to the archaeology found on the site and 
expected to be found as the development proceeds. There will be a need for 
further work on a scheme of archaeological resource management including 
the recording and storage of found material. 

  

7.60 [The Archaeologist is satisfied that subject to conditions that the proposal 
would not have a significantly adverse impact on archaeological remains.] 

  

7.61 Cumulative and Residual Effects 
  

7.62 The ES has also looked at the potential for impact when in association with 

Agenda Item 5
Page 188



other developments. The mitigation referred to in this section also applies to 
the other sites within the East of Leighton Linslade urban extension as well as 
other scheme within proximity to the application site.  

  
8. Issues 
  
 (a)  Affordable Housing 
  
8.1 Central Bedfordshire Council currently pursues a policy of seeking around 30% 

of new housing from its planning permissions to be in the form of affordable 
housing. There are a variety of tenures accepted and it is also expected that 
they will reflect the type of housing most suited to the area’s needs. The details 
of the actual provision on a site by site basis will vary according to the 
circumstances of that site. 

  
8.2 If this was translated into a proposal for this application, there would be an 

expectation that it would deliver 285 dwellings, in a mix of shared ownership 
and affordable rent tenures, across the full range of sizes, over the 
approximate 20 year period of the development. 

  
8.3 The Local Plans and Housing Team Leader however points out that the 

requirement as presented in the emerging Development Strategy makes it 
clear that this provision must relate to a, “viable degree of affordable housing” 
and subject to the National Planning Policy Framework policy. This policy 
states: 
 
“To ensure viability, the costs of any requirements likely to be applied to 
development, such as requirements for affordable housing, standards, 
infrastructure contributions or other requirements should, when taking account 
of the normal cost of development and mitigation, provide competitive returns 
to a willing land owner and willing developer to enable the development to be 
deliverable.” 

  
8.4 The applicant has been clear from the outset that the challenging economic 

conditions and the exceptional costs that apply to this development has 
affected viability to the extent that the full expectations for affordable housing 
cannot be delivered. This issue is dealt with in more detail within section 8 of 
this report, below. The outcome is that the applicant proposes a contribution to 
affordable housing of 10% equating to 95 dwellings, in a 50:50 mix of shared 
ownership and affordable rent tenures, across the full range of sizes, over the 
approximate 20 year period of the development. 

  
8.5 Whilst in other developments increasing the percentage of shared ownership 

dwellings increases the viability of the proposal, in this case the applicants are 
adamant that altering the mix of the affordable housing does not necessarily 
produce additional bottom line profit or generate the headroom to allow higher 
percentages of affordable housing provision.  This is due to the house builders 
and the RSL’s having increasing difficulty in selling the shared equity housing 
and, as such, they are tending to favour a 50:50 split between shared equity and 
affordable to rent.   

  
8.6 It should be noted that there has been a change in Council policy during the life 

Agenda Item 5
Page 189



of this application and therefore some representations refer to the need to 
secure 35% affordable housing.  The Council's policy at the time of determining 
the application is to seek 30% and therefore this is the appropriate level.  There 
will be a need to secure the arrangements for providing affordable housing by 
means of a Section 106 Planning Agreement should the Committee be minded 
to approve planning permission.  In addition section 8 highlights that a review 
mechanism could be used to increase the level of affordable housing on the 
site during the life of the development.   

  
 (b)  Transport Impact 
  
8.7 The case officer has included responses to many of the specific issues raised 

by those commenting on the planning application within the representations 
section. However,  some of the key issues that appear to be of common 
concern are as follows: 
 
i. That the development would result in a worsening of the existing traffic 

congestion within Leighton Buzzard town centre. 
ii. That the traffic light controlled junction on Hockliffe Road would restrict the 

flow of traffic and hamper access from Eggington to Leighton Buzzard. 
iii. That there would be more traffic on the A4012 Hockliffe Road resulting in 

an adverse impact on the village of Eggington as a result of “rat-running”. 
iv. That the increase in traffic along the A4012 Hockliffe Road travelling into 

Hockliffe would be dangerous and cause greater congestion on the A5. 
v. That the junction between Eastern Way and the A5 is dangerous and no 

additional traffic should be permitted to use it without improvements. 
 

  
 i) That the development would result in a worsening of the existing traffic 

congestion within Leighton Buzzard town centre. 
  
8.8 In respect of issue 1, the concerns that the development would exacerbate the 

existing traffic congestion in the town centre, this matter has been fully 
investigated and the Highways Development Control Officer consequently has 
no objection to the application.  Without the link road; connecting Stanbridge 
Road, Hockliffe Road, Vandyke Road and Heath Road then a development of 
this size would cause an unacceptable degree of harm, both in terms of 
congestion and increase in journey time, to the existing town centre.  Even 
without the proposed development the issue of congestion within the town 
centre will get increasingly worse over the next 10 years.  The introduction of 
the link road connecting the four main principal routes into the eastern side of 
Leighton Buzzard acts as an effective internal relief road and carries out that 
function thus relieving a level of congestion.  While it cannot be denied that 
traffic from the development will contribute to flows within the town it should be 
emphasised that the link road offers an alternative route to a number of existing 
journeys that compensates for this increase.  Proposals have also been made 
to mitigate traffic congestion within the town, including junction improvements, 
changes to signal timing and introduction of bus lanes.   
 

8.9 The Highways Development Control Officer does however raise some concern 
that the information submitted with the planning application does not 
adequately demonstrate that the proposal would not have an adverse impact 

Agenda Item 5
Page 190



on the highway network as a result of the increased number of trips.  The 
detailed micro-simulation model prepared by the applicants for the Clipstone 
Park development examined closely the impact of their development but also 
tested the impact of the urban extension as a whole.  The Clipstone Park 
model is more sophisticated and detailed that the information submitted in 
connection with Chamberlains Barn and demonstrates that subject to 
appropriate phasing of the link road and housing that the development as a 
whole would not have any adverse impact on the highway network.    

  
8.10 Compared to other developments of this size the East of Leighton Linslade 

development as a whole generates a lower number of new trips onto the 
existing network.  This low rate can be achieved because there are a high 
proportion of trips made within the development such as from the residential 
development to the employment area; the schools; the doctors’ surgery; the 
local centre and the supermarket.  This benefit only exists in relation to this 
proposal however if these facitlities are in place prior to significant numbers of 
dwellings being occupied otherwise there would be increased pressure on the 
existing highway network as people would need to travel to access services.  
The low level of trips relies on the provision of services on site, therefore the 
number of houses permitted to be occupied on Chamberlains Barn would need 
to be limited until the neighbourhood centre has been provided to allow access 
to services within the site.   
 

8.11 It is generally accepted that in the planning of major urban extensions, as many 
opportunities for creating transport linkages between the old and the new urban 
areas should be allowed as possible. It is also good practice to create the 
conditions that allow public transport services, cycleways and pedestrian links 
to be made in an effort to reduce the use of the car.  Therefore, the standpoint 
that has been taken is to allow linkages to existing roads to maximise such 
opportunities unless there are good reasons to believe that such linkages 
would cause identifiable, and only then unacceptable, harm to the amenity of  
local residents or public highway safety.  In this case there would be a new 
pedestrian and cycle link created from the application site into Heath Meadows 
to the south.   

  
8.12 However, this is an outline planning application.  Notwithstanding that there will 

be a need to secure contributions for on and off-site transport support and 
improvement works for specific projects, it is for later design stages to 
determine the actual works and links that will be put in place. There are 
conditions which have been recommended to prepare, and then for the Council 
to approve, plans that will allow a detailed assessment of road linkages for 
approval at that time.  A full planning application, CB/11/01940/FULL, has ben 
made for the link road through the site and is contained elsewhere on this 
agenda. 

  
8.13 The Council’s Highways Officers are content with the traffic modelling that has 

been undertaken but remain a little concerned regarding the timing of the 
delivery of services on Clipstone Park and delivery of houses on Chamberlains 
Barn. There is a need for financial contributions and other works to secured by 
a Section 106 Planning Agreement. The details will be finalised within that 
agreement but in general the measures are: 
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 191



• Financial support for a Travel Plan which will have a variety of measures for 
improving transport linkages and promotion of transport alternatives. 

• Financial support for new and enhanced bus services in the early years of 
the development. 

• New cycleway, pedestrian and public transport infrastructure and facilities. 
  
 ii) That the traffic light controlled junction on Hockliffe Road would restrict 

the flow of traffic and hamper access from Eggington to Leighton Buzzard. 
  
8.14 Whilst this issue is not directly related to Chamberlains Barn it has been raised 

in letters responding to the planning application.  With regard to the traffic light 
controlled junction on Hockliffe Road and concerns expressed that would 
restrict the flow of traffic and hamper access from Eggington to Leighton 
Buzzard, the Highways Development Control Officer has advised that with 
appropriate sequencing of the traffic lights no significant delays should be 
experienced.  The average cycle of a set of traffic lights is 90 seconds, 
therefore any delay would not be substantial.  The traffic lights would also help 
pedestrians and cyclists using the highway and the junction. 

  
 iii) That there would be more traffic on the A4012 Hockliffe Road resulting 

in an adverse impact on the village of Eggington as a result of “rat-
running”. 

  
8.15 Again whilst this issue is not directly related to Chamberlains Barn it has been 

raised in letters responding to the planning application.  Concern has been 
raised by Parish Councils, that there would be more traffic on the A4012 
Hockliffe Road resulting in an adverse impact on the village of Eggington as a 
result of “rat-running”.  It is not expected that there would be an increase in 
“rat-running” as the eastern link road and improvements to the junction of 
Stanbridge Road with the A505 would result in a quicker, more desirable route.  
The Highways Development Control Officer has advised that drivers will 
generally take the quickest route, therefore the journey through Eggington 
would be less desirable.   

  
 iv) That the increase in traffic along the A4012 Hockliffe Road travelling 

into Hockliffe would be dangerous and cause greater congestion on the 
A5. 

  
8.16 Concerns have been raised, particularly by Hockliffe Parish Council that the 

increase in traffic along the A4012 Hockliffe Road travelling into Hockliffe would 
be dangerous and cause greater congestion on the A5.  The Highways Agency 
who is responsible for the A5 has raised no objection to the proposal and 
therefore it must be assumed has no concerns that the problems raised will 
have a significant impact on the free-flow of traffic on the A5.  The Council's 
Highways Development Control Officer acknowledges that there is an accident 
record on Hockliffe Road and that if a significant increase in traffic were 
permitted it could cause problems.  However the proposal would lead to 
improvements to Hockliffe Road and the route would not be a preferred route 
to many destinations.  Consideration will be given to appropriate signage to 
encourage traffic to use the link road to access the A505 and then the A5 (and 
in time the A5/M1 link) rather than travelling through Hockliffe.   

  

Agenda Item 5
Page 192



 v) That the junction between Eastern Way and the A5 is dangerous and no 
additional traffic should be permitted to use it without improvements. 

  
8.17 A number of comments have been received stating that the junction between 

Eastern Way and the A5 is dangerous and no additional traffic should be 
permitted to use it without improvements.  The Highways Agency is the body 
responsible for the A5, as a trunk road, and therefore are responsible for that 
junction.  The Highways Agency has no objection to the proposals subject to a 
condition in relation to travel plans.  As set out above the traffic model was 
agreed with the Highways Agency and used to assess the impact on this 
junction.   

  
8.18 The concerns regarding the Eastern Way junction with the A5 have been 

raised with the Highways Agency who have responded stating that the junction 
would operate within capacity taking into account all of the development at land 
east of Leighton Linslade as well as other developments in the area.  On this 
basis they confirm that no mitigation work would be required at the junction.  
The Highways Agency acknowledge that there is a perception that the junction 
is unsafe but that there is no study or improvement scheme identified for the 
location. 

  
8.19 In light of this response the Council's Highways Development Control Officer 

has explained the detail of this situation as set out below: 
“It is understandable that there could be a perception that there could be an 
unreasonable increase in traffic along Eastern Way junction and as a result its 
junction with A5. 
 
However, having looked at the A5/Eastern Way junction in some detail the 
proposed development only appears to introduce another 50 movements (in 
the am peak hour) through this junction which is only a 2.7% increase. These 
movements are not only those travelling along Eastern Way but also along the 
A5 itself. Furthermore, there have only been 2 accidents in the last 3 years with 
the injury severity to persons involved in these accidents being recorded as 
slight. 
 
While Eastern Way is within this Authority’s jurisdiction; The A5 junction with 
Eastern Way is within the jurisdiction and managed by the highway agency. 
However to give you further background of this junction:- 
 
This junction may of had a significant accident record some years ago but (I 
believe) since the Highway Agency has carried out accident remedial 
measures such as improved lighting and road markings and signage; this has 
resulted in the accidents being reduced to a level which does not warrant any 
additional public money to be spent. 
 
This junction is substandard by way of its visibility and to carry out works to 
bring it to standard would in all probability cost considerably more than 
£1,000,000 and would also require third party land. As mentioned above the 
current (last 3 years) accident record does not warrant (by way of a Cost 
Benefit Analysis) a great deal of expenditure to reduce this accidents rate 
further. 
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 193



As mentioned above the Highway Authority has accepted the traffic model and 
as a result not objected to the development.” 

  
8.20 The Highways Development Control Officer therefore concludes that :  

 

“The development does not significantly increase the traffic along Eastern Way 
and to the junction of that with the A5. Similarly it does not significantly 
increase the traffic along the A5 in the location of the Eastern Way Junction. 
Having looked at the accident data over the last 5 years along Eastern Way 
again there is not a specific accident problem which should be addressed due 
to the development.” 
 

  
 (c)  The Retail proposals and their Impact 
  
8.21 The application proposes a local centre within which small-scale convenience 

retail would be provided.  The retail provision would only meet the needs of the 
immediate community.  Larger shopping facilities would be provided within the 
Clipstone Park part of the development.  There is no need to consider the 
sequential test due to the size of the retail facilities proposed.  

  
  
 (d) Green Infrastructure and Open Space 
  
8.22 The application would deliver large areas of open space and Green 

Infrastructure in a number of different forms.  A country park, allotments, 
children's play areas, informal open space and general landscaping are all 
proposed.   The development would provide a new country park and significant 
accessible natural green space contributing to creating the town's green wheel.   
Shenley Hill Country Park is designed to emphasise its role as a landmark and 
take advantage of its situation at the top of the ridge overlooking the town to 
provide views out.  A mix of woodland and grassland planting is intended to 
maintain and extend the character of the Greensand Ridge into the site.  
Historic hedgerows would be highlighted and reinforced with tree planting to 
enhance the sense of depth and create a distinctive character.   

  
8.23 The application would provide 5 main green spaces: 

- Shenley Hill Country Park - approx 19ha 
- Allotments - 1.45ha 
- adventure playground - 0.46ha 
- pasture - 2.75ha 
- woodland & orchard - 3.5ha 

  
8.24 The applicant acknowledges the importance of green infrastructure in the 

development and commits to the provision of appropriate management and 
maintenance.   

  
 (e)  Off-site Impacts: SSSIs/ recreational sites accessible to the public 
  
8.25 The applicant does not consider that the development would impact over the 

long term on areas outside the site that are publicly accessible and under strain 
from use as sufficient green infrastructure and open space provision, including 

Agenda Item 5
Page 194



a country park would be made on the site, covering around 45% of the site. 
The Council’s Green Infrastructure team, endorsed by English Nature consider 
that there would be an increase in demand placed on existing country parks 
and other open space provision and therefore financial contributions to address 
this issue should be sought.   

  
8.26 It is considered that the on-site provision would more than provide for the 

needs of the new residents and whilst they would be likely to use existing 
facilities in relation to open space, it is as likely that residents currently served 
by existing provision would use the new country park and other open space 
provision bought forward by this proposal.   

  
 (f)  Car Parking Standard 
  
8.27 As described earlier in this report, the Parking Standards that this Council 

applies to new developments has changed. The new Standards make it clear 
that good design and thoughtful layouts accommodating the practical needs of 
the car are more important that the simple arithmetical application of a 
standard and that this should not prove to be a barrier to good quality 
developments nor an impact on the viability of a development.  
 

8.28 The Design and Access statement sets out how car parking may be 
accommodated within the development, on-plot parking to the front, side or 
rear of dwellings is likely to represent the majority of parking however small 
parking courts, parking squares and on-street parking could also be utilised.   
 

8.29 The full application for the link road through the development has started the 
process of determining the level of car parking provision in connection with the 
local centre, country park and allotments.  The level of parking provision and its 
location and configuration for the remainder of the site will be a matter dealt 
with at reserved matters stage. It will therefore be for future Development 
Management officers and Committees to consider each design and layout on 
their own merits to judge the adequacy of the access and parking provisions. 

  
 (g)  Design and Implementation 
  
8.30 The application is in outline only and therefore the design of the development 

as whole and of individual dwellings is not for consideration at this time.  The 
application proposes that design codes be produced for each character area to 
guide the design of the neighbourhood and the dwellings and other buildings 
and structures within it.   

  
8.31 This planning application will begin a Development Management process of 

considerable complexity, impact on the daily activities of the Council, determine 
the character of the area and affect the lives of its residents and businesses for 
many years to come. It will be the quality of the Council’s management of that 
process which will determine the quality of the development should this 
permission be granted. 

  
 (h)    Impact on the Leighton Buzzard Narrow Gauge Railway (LBNGR) 
  
8.32 The development proposals would impact on the route of the LBNGR along 

Agenda Item 5
Page 195



Vandyke Road.  The railway currently runs along the northern side of the road 
with views of open countryside albeit including the quarry immediately to the 
north and the highway immediately to the south.  The proposals would change 
the views from the railway and some objectors and consultees consider that 
this impact is so significant that it would affect the tourist draw of the railway. 

  
8.33 It must be accepted that the views from the railway would change, the 

determination to be made however is whether the change would be so 
significantly adverse to be unacceptable.   

  
8.34 Along the northern side of Vandyke Road within this application site there 

would be a wide green buffer between the railway and development.  This 
buffer is identified in the Design and Access Statement as the NGR/Vandyke 
Road Corridor, which is intended by its width and design to maintain the 
distinct character of the road whilst providing a suitable setting for the NGR and 
filter views into the new development.    

  
8.35 The detailed design of the corridor would seek to establish a transition from the 

outer more rural character in the north-east to the more urban character in the 
south-west.  In order to maintain the rural character to the north-east, the 
existing historic hedgerows are retained and reinforced and development 
located behind hedgerows.  The character of the corridor is modulated by a 
more formal treatment toward the middle to tie in with the proposed square in 
the neighbourhood centre south of Vandyke Road.  The corridor is also 
punctuated by a number of individual features to create focus and a sense of 
variety and articulation.  On the north-eastern end is a wide area of pasture 
marked by a row of large mature trees combined with orchard and allotments 
along Shenley Hill Road.  At the junction with the link road, a cluster of trees 
and a public open space with views up to Shenley Hill would create a landmark 
feature.  The open space would allow striking views of the NGR going in and 
out of the proposed tunnel.   

  
8.36 Terminating the corridor to the south-west would be a public open space in the 

Meadway Loop of the NRG.  This could form a railway garden with an 
opportunity to create a landmark feature to reinforce the node and gateway 
already established by the crossing of Vandyke Road and the railway.   

  
8.37 The Leighton Buzzard NGR Society raise a number of concerns regarding the 

proposal these are: 
- loss of revenue and additional costs to the Society of road haulage during 
works; 
- concerns regarding the technical specification being appropriate particularly in 
terms of slippage on the cutting slopes; 
- drainage 
- the maintenance of the road bridge 
- prevention of unauthorised access onto the railway line  
- landscaping proposals and maintenance  

  
8.38 The financial issues raised by the Society are not matters which can be 

resolved through the planning process.  The technical design of the road, 
bridge, railway line route and cutting as well as drainage will all be submitted 
for approval by the Council as planning authority and as the highway authority.  

Agenda Item 5
Page 196



These details will however be submitted in accordance with conditions on any 
full planning permission granted for the link road.   

  
8.39 The bridge as it would carry a highway would following adoption become the 

responsibility of the Council as Highway Authority.  Suitable barriers would be 
required to prevent accidental vehicular access to the railway line.  Appropriate 
measures would also need to be taken to prevent unauthorised pedestrian 
access and to prevent items being dropped onto the line.  These are details 
which will be required by conditions on any full planning permission granted for 
the link road.  The Society's concerns regarding the landscaping of the land 
near the railway focus on leaf drop and avoiding fast growing species which 
would require substantial maintenance which they do not have the budget to 
undertake.   

  
8.40 Overall it is considered that although the setting of the NGR in this area would 

change, the benefits of the existing and proposed landscaping, tunnel, public 
open space and railway garden would mitigate any adverse impact from the 
change in the character of the railway setting and that the concerns of the 
Leighton Buzzard NGR Society can be dealt with through conditions.     

  
 (i)  Minerals  
  
8.41 The position with the minerals at Chamberlains Barn is that the economic 

reserves of minerals have been won to a point which extends as far north as 
the northern edge of the proposed built development.  All economically viable 
mineral reserves in the south of the quarry have been won and much of the 
southern part is restored.   

  
8.42 There is a strip of land within Chamberlains Barn, north of Broomhills Farm, 

which was historically worked and subsequently backfilled with locally arising 
material from New Trees Quarry.  That area will be bladed and engineered to 
form a development platform without any additional mineral being won.  There 
is no sterilisation of economically viable mineral in this area as it was extracted 
years ago.   

  
8.43 Further to the north of the proposed development lies northern Chamberlains 

Barn which is not the subject of any development proposals.  The area is 
identified in the Framework Plan as "quarry to 2031". 

  
8.44 The applicants state that they have worked closely with the quarry operator to 

ensure that a development platform can be delivered within the bounds of the 
application area which maximises the use of overburden without sterilising 
economically viable mineral reserves.   

  
8.45 Should the mineral reserves to the north of the site be deemed economically 

viable there would be a resultant juxtaposition of quarry workings and 
residential dwellings.  The applicant advises that due to the phasing of the 
proposed development it would be at least 5 years before the housing in the 
northern part of the site would be constructed.  This would provide sufficient 
time for a full economic assessment of the remaining mineral reserves to be 
undertaken.  Should the assessment demonstrate that the minerals are viable 
to extract there should be no sterilisation as a result of the proximity of new 

Agenda Item 5
Page 197



housing.  It is therefore suggested by the applicant that a condition be added to 
any permission granted requiring that within a specified timescale that a full 
economic assessment of the remaining mineral reserves be undertaken and if 
it is determined that the reserves are viable that a scheme of attenuation 
measures is submitted for approval to protect the amenity of the occupants of 
the new dwellings from the quarry workings.   

  
8.46 In light of the above and following discussions the Minerals and Waste Team 

Leader has confirmed that the situation is satisfactory subject to the suggested 
condition. 

  
 (j) Residential Amenity 
  
8.47 The application site adjoins existing areas of residential development at Heath 

Road, Cotefield Drive, Chamberlains Gardens, Nelson Road and the Heath 
Meadows development.  Some residents of these areas have raised concerns 
regarding the impact the proposal would have on their privacy, security and 
general residential amenity.   

  
8.48 Specifically residents of Chamberlains Gardens submitted a petition which 

states that the change of use of the land adjacent to Chamberlains Gardens 
from a privately owned, gated and fenced area to a public open space has 
severe security and privacy issues for the residents.  The petition requests that 
a robust steel palisade fence is erected around the land and that access to the 
land is controlled and that it is managed by a Chamberlains Gardens Residents 
Association with the Greensand Trust.  

  

8.49 Chamberlains Gardens is located on the western side of the application site 
near the south western corner of the development.  It would be surrounded on 
its southern, eastern and northern side by existing and improved woodland 
beyond which would be new public open space.  The woodland belt is at its 
narrowest 20m wide on the northern side of the residential development and at 
its widest 80m wide on the eastern side.  It is understood that the specific 
concerns relate to the use of the woodland and how such a use may affect the 
privacy and security of residents and thus they request the woodland be fenced 
to provide a secure area.  Whilst the concerns of residents are noted, it is not 
considered that the impact on privacy of residents or any security risk would be 
such to warrant the enclosure of the woodland with security fencing as 
suggested.  As this is an outline application there are no details of how the 
woodland area is proposed to be treated as far as access is concerned.  
Details of the use of the area and its management, which may include fencing, 
will be submitted in accordance with a condition requiring an overarching 
landscape and open space strategy.   

  

8.50 In terms of more general concerns regarding residential amenity the detailed 
relationship between existing dwellings and the proposed development will be 
dealt with through reserved matters submissions.  It should however be noted 
that a 50m wide strip of informal open space runs along the western boundary 
of the site which is adjacent to properties on Cotefield Drive.  Areas of 
development adjacent to the Heath Meadows estate and Nelson Road would 
not benefit from any significant landscape buffer and the relationship between 
the dwellings in this location will need to be examined carefully at reserved 

Agenda Item 5
Page 198



matters stage.   
  
8.51 In conclusion whilst the detail of the relationship between existing and 

proposed dwellings would be dealt with at reserved matters stage there is no 
evidence that the development would have any significant adverse impact on 
residential amenity, privacy or security that would justify refusal of outline 
planning permission. 

  

9. The Requirement for a Section 106 Planning Agreement 
  
 Background 
  
9.1 The Committee will be familiar with the procedures that allow a planning 

application to be granted permission conditional upon certain requirements 
being met. Usually these are in the form of planning conditions attached to the 
decision schedule, but it is also common for other planning requirements to be 
incorporated into formal Planning Agreements (known as Section 106 or S106 
Agreements) where for technical or legal reasons a planning condition is 
unsuitable. 

  
9.2 There is national guidance on the proper use of S106 Agreements but in 

general terms it is expected that the requirements will relate to matters that 
are directly relevant to the planning application in hand, capable of being 
implemented and that without that requirement being met, planning permission 
should be refused. Planning Authorities are expected to have policies to guide 
developers on what may be required. CBC has a range of policies as set out 
earlier in this report that will incur a requirement to enter into a S106 
Agreement and there is a Supplementary Planning Document, the Planning 
Obligations (South) SPD 2009 which offers specific guidance on particular 
topics.  

  
9.3 Given the scale of the development involved it was clear that there would be a 

considerable range of topics that might require a S106 Agreement.  
  
9.4 The development proposal is essentially the creation of a new piece of town. It 

can be no surprise to find that the development must contain land uses and 
services that are a mixture of that which are commercially driven and that 
which are public goods or provided on a charitable basis. Therefore, the 
following topics were considered. 
 
 
Education Transport Leisure, 

Recreation, and 
Open Space 
 

Community Facilities 

Health Care 
facilities 
 

Environmental 
Impact 
Mitigation 

Housing (including 
Affordable 
Housing) 
 

Waste Management 

Emergency 
Services 

Community 
Development  

Public Realm and 
Community Safety 

Maintenance 

 
  

Agenda Item 5
Page 199



  
9.5 The National Planning Policy Framework at paragraph 173 clearly requires 

local planning authorities to consider the overall viability of large scale 
development projects and to ensure that the requirements are not overly 
onerous. Therefore a financial assessment of the planning application was 
undertaken as described below. 
 

 Viability Appraisal 
  
9.6 This section of the report sets out the conclusion of the Viability Appraisal 

work that has been conducted. The financial information that underpins these 
conclusions is the subject of commercial confidentiality. For this reason, the 
financial information is set out in a confidential appendix included within the 
yellow coloured papers attached separately from this report, for the 
information of Members of the Committee. 

  
9.7 The Viability Appraisal (VA) to be conducted transparently between the 

applicant and the Council such that all could be satisfied that the planning 
application could be permitted with an agreed level of mitigation satisfying all 
parties. 

  
9.8 The VA is essentially a model of the viability of the planning application taking 

account of: 
 

• The income generated from the development (residential, commercial, 
retail sales etc) 

• The costs of the development 

• The required return on investment 

• The cost of the mitigation and contributions package (mainly items required 
by planning condition or within a S106 Planning Agreement). 

• The Land Value 

• The exceptional costs  
 
Establishing what each of these values is likely to be has taken some 
considerable time. A report has been prepared by the Council’s consultants, 
BPS Surveyors and part are included in the commercially confidential 
appendix to this report. However, broadly for the purposes of this report, it is 
important to be aware of the following outcomes of the VA. 

  
9.9 It has been established to all the parties’ satisfaction that the development is 

unviable taking account of the 30% affordable housing requirement and of the 
cost and income elements set out in the appendix. It has also been 
established that the full contributions package as required by applying the 
Council’s policies on supporting community infrastructure and reducing the 
impact of the development on the surrounding area cannot also be afforded in 
the short term given current economic circumstances. 

  
9.10 The National Planning Policy Framework offers specific guidance in these 

circumstances. It states: 
 
“173. Pursuing sustainable development requires careful attention to viability 

Agenda Item 5
Page 200



and costs in plan-making and decision-taking. Plans should be deliverable. 
Therefore, the sites and the scale of development identified in the plan should 
not be subject to such a scale of obligations and policy burdens that their 
ability to be developed viably is threatened. To ensure viability, the costs of 
any requirements likely to be applied to development, such as requirements 
for affordable housing, standards, infrastructure contributions or other 
requirements should, when taking account of the normal cost of development 
and mitigation, provide competitive returns to a willing land owner and willing 
developer to enable the development to be deliverable.” 
 
And also;  
 
“176. Where safeguards are necessary to make a particular development 
acceptable in planning terms (such as environmental mitigation or 
compensation), the development should not be approved if the measures 
required cannot be secured through appropriate conditions or agreements. 
The need for such safeguards should be clearly justified through discussions 
with the applicant, and the options for keeping such costs to a minimum fully 
explored, so that development is not inhibited unnecessarily.” 
 
Therefore it is incumbent on the Local Planning Authority to engage 
constructively with the applicant on the costs to allow the development to be 
acceptable in planning terms as well as enable the development to be 
commercially viable.  

  
9.11 The applicant’s consultants Herrige Property Consulting (HPS) provided a 

detailed viability report which was reviewed by BPS Surveyors.  The 
conclusions of the report were that the proposed development would only be 
viable with 0% affordable housing unless some of the other s106 contributions 
were reviewed.  The applicants therefore proposed to reduce the contribution 
towards green infrastructure maintenance and commuted sums and the 
contribution towards education provision.   

  
9.12 The level of green infrastructure maintenance contributions and commuted 

sums was originally suggested by the Countryside Access Service as being 
circa £3.4m.  The applicants reviewed the approach taken to this matter in 
relation to the recent application for the urban extension to the north of 
Houghton Regis.  In that application the maintenance contribution sought per 
hectare of land was £51,282.  This site would provide 42.45ha of open space 
resulting in a proposed contribution of circa £2.1m, however the applicants 
have only offered £671,650 for either on-site GI maintenance or off-site 
provision.   

  
9.13 With regard to the reduction in the level of contribution towards education 

provision, this was justified on the basis of existing surplus spaces and the 
actual cost of building schools.  The applicants argue that there are some 
surplus places in existing local schools which are already in existence and 
therefore could be used to accommodate some children from the 
development.  The actual cost of recent extensions to schools and new 
schools were looked at by the developer which led to the conclusion that the 
costs used by the Education department are over-estimates.   

  

Agenda Item 5
Page 201



9.14 The proposed affordable housing package is for the provision of 10% 
affordable housing units which will be spread throughout the period of the 
development and in phased parcels, with 50% shared ownership units and 
50% affordable rent units. This would provide for a total of 95 units. 

  
9.15 There is a significant sum of money included within the viability assessment 

for the restoration of the site to a level suitable for residential development.  
There was some concern that this sum was higher than necessary and 
therefore the Council commissioned a consultant to review the cost and meet 
with the applicant's representatives to discuss the matter.  The full details of 
the consultants report are included in the confidential (yellow) papers however 
he concludes that "in my professional opinion, the explanations furnished by 
the applicant's representative with regard to the reasons for and costs of the 
proposed restoration scheme are entirely logical and satisfactory, and the 
rates assumed for earthworks appear to be within the typical ranges for the 
industry.   
 
The work involved, and the associated costs, are necessarily much greater 
than would have been envisaged for the original agricultural restoration 
scheme.  This is partly because of the engineering requirements for built 
development but also because of the implications of dealing with 
environmental issues, including aquifer protection and the translocation of 
protected species, which had not previously been considered necessary.   
 
Quantification of the differences between the two schemes in terms of 
present-day costs cannot be undertaken, however, without details of the cut 
and fill volumes assumed for the original scheme." 

  
9.16 In light of the above the applicant has suggest that the s106 provides 

contributions as follows: 
 

Items Contribution (£) Notes 

Education  
(Financial contribution 
towards new buildings/ 
extensions.) 

6,668,101 This figure for the reasons set 
out in para 8.15 above is some 
£2m lower than requested by 
the Council's Education 
department. 
 
The Education department raise 
concerns regarding the 
deliverability of the school 
buildings in light of this offer. 

Sustainable Transport 1,534,696 Including contributions to: 
- bus service & marketing 
- travel plan measures 
- walking and cycling 
improvements 
- railway station improvements 

Waste management 111,568 To cover the cost of 3 x bins per 
dwelling and contributions 
towards 4 x bring sites.   
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 202



Emergency Services 196,650  

Public Realm 209,950 Public art and high quality public 
realm would be integrated into 
the built development of the 
scheme.  

Green infrastructure 671,650 Includes play areas 

Staff contribution 5,000  

   

Total 9,397,615   
  
 Following discussions with Members and Officers a revised distribution of the 

s106 monies is proposed.  The approach groups contributions towards GI, 
Leisure and Sports to provide flexibility in how the money can be spent.  The 
revised proposal is shown in the table below. 

  
 

 Items Maximum 
Contribution 
(excluding 
indexation) £ 

Notes 

Education  
(Financial contribution 
towards new 
buildings/extensions.) 

6,668,101 This figure for the reasons set 
out in para 9.13 above is some 
£0.5m lower than requested by 
the Council's Education 
department. 
 
The Education department raise 
concerns regarding the 
deliverability of the school 
buildings in light of this offer. 
 

Sustainable Transport  1,534,696 Including contributions to: 
- bus service & marketing 
- travel plan measures 
- walking and cycling 
improvements 
- railway station improvements 
 

Waste management  
111,568 

To cover the cost of 3 x bins per 
dwelling and contributions 
towards 4 x bring sites.   
 

GI, Leisure, Sports, 
Open Space   

1,083,250  
 

Total 9,397,615  
 

  
  
9.17 In addition, there are items that the applicant would provide at their cost rather 

than providing financial contributions these are set out in the following table.   
 
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 203



Item Cost to developer (£)  

Link Road – Heath Road to Vandyke Road 16,751,568  

Play areas including adventure play area 450,000  

Costs associated with country park 1,012,000  

Laying out of allotments 100,000  

   

Total 18,313,568   
  
9.18 The tables above show that the developer despite poor viability is providing 

the majority of the required infrastructure either by way of works in kind or 
through financial contributions.   

  
9.19 A wide range of detailed documents will need to be secured by condition or 

through the section 106 agreement, these include: 
Area design codes  
Detailed plans of highways and junctions  
Landscape and Open Space Strategy 
Surface Water Drainage Scheme 
Contamination Preliminary Risk Assessment, Site Investigation, Detailed 
Risk Assessment & Verification Report 
Foul Drainage Scheme 
Scheme of Archaeological Investigation and Recording 
Waste Audit  
Travel Plan 
Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan 

  
9.20 The phasing of the development on this application site will need to be 

carefully considered and appropriate triggers secured in the s106 agreement.  
It will also be necessary for the legal agreements to control the development 
of all three of the residential development sites in order to deliver the 
necessary infrastructure at the appropriate point.   

  
9.21 Matters which will be controlled in connection with this application will be the 

delivery of the eastern link road and other highways improvements, provision 
of land for the schools, provision of country park, play areas and allotments.  
The s106 will also secure the timing of financial contributions towards 
education, bus services, road improvements, footway/cycleway improvements, 
waste management, green infrastructure management etc.   
 

 Review Mechanism 
  
9.22 The scheme is currently considered in outline and the applicant is the land 

owner rather than the developer and will wish to preserve the ability to sell the 
land in more than one parcel.  It is intended therefore that the review 
mechanism will affect the end developer rather than the land owner.   

  
9.23 The rationale for introducing further reviews of viability is: 

 
a) Given the degree of uncertainty inherent with an outline consent and a long 
delivery programme, it is appropriate that the Council be provided with further 
opportunities to review viability to ensure that the scheme maximises its 

Agenda Item 5
Page 204



potential, consistent with viability, to deliver affordable housing and further 
s106 contributions. 
 
b) It is considered that the market is showing signs of improvement therefore 
the Council should seek to avoid a situation where the planning obligations 
including affordable housing, delivered by the scheme are capped at the 
lowest point in the market but reflect changing market conditions over the life 
of the scheme. 
 
c) It is envisaged that through the process of review an incentive to the future 
developers of the site could be provided to secure additional affordable 
housing and s106 contributions. 

  
9.24 The detail of the review process is still to be agreed however it is envisaged 

the reviews could lead to an increased percentage of affordable housing 
and/or a financial contribution towards areas where full contributions were not 
secured at this time.  Any uplift would not be able to exceed the maximum 
level required by policy now, for example the level of affordable housing on the 
site would be capped at 30%.   

  
 Equalisation 
  
9.25 The viability appraisal of this development proposal is complicated further by 

the functional relationship between this application site and the neighbouring 
site known as Clipstone Park which is the subject of a separate application by 
different landowners.   

  
9.26 The functional relationship is acknowledged by all parties and it is normal for 

such a relationship to be dealt with by means of a process called 
“equalisation”.  This would ensure that each site meets a fair and reasonable 
proportion of the common infrastructure to open the site up as a whole.  There 
are four areas where equalisation arrangements would normally be required: 

• land for social infrastructure 

• social infrastructure s106 contributions 

• hard infrastructure  
where there are (proportionally) lower value uses, such as employment land.  

  
9.27 With regard to social infrastructure, all social infrastructure would be provided 

on Clipstone Park by Willis Dawson Holdings.  Compensation from the 
applicants, AWE, would normally be expected however WDH has decided that 
as the delivery of social infrastructure is important to the Council and the 
development as a whole they will bear the cost with a commensurate 
contribution being made by the applicant, that contribution including 
equalisation regarding the hard infrastructure and the eastern link road.  The 
applicants have included a sum of money they expect to pay to the other 
landowner in the viability appraisal. 

  
10.0 Planning Conditions  
  
10.1 A scheme of this size and range of uses will incur a considerable number of 

planning conditions. The recommendation after this section includes the 
detailed wording of all conditions, but it is appropriate to summarise the 

Agenda Item 5
Page 205



requirement here for ease of understanding.  
  
10.2 There will be a number of technical conditions which will define the period of 

the consent (5 years), the period within which detailed consents must be 
sought (10 years), what details will be required and the specific description of 
the uses granted permission.  

  
10.3 There will be conditions that will require the provision of Area Design Codes, 

strategies and plans which will guide the overall appearance and approach to 
the development as well as technical reports in relation to flood risk, drainage 
etc.    

  
10.4 It will need to be ensured that sufficient control exists over the phasing, trigger 

points for the delivery of different parts of the development and associated 
infrastructure.  It is considered that these controls would be best placed within 
a section 106 agreement which will be negotiated with the applicants.   

  
10.5 Finally, there will be a class of conditions that arise from the consideration of 

the scheme to assist in implementing the proposals. These include conditions 
and informatives that seek to protect existing important features during the 
development phase such as retained archaeology, trees, public footpaths and 
bridleways.  

  
11.0 Conclusion  
  
11.1 The application proposal is for the smaller part of the East of Leighton-

Linslade Urban Extension which would deliver much needed additional 
housing in the area.  Other urban extensions to the north of Houghton Regis 
and north of Luton would assist in the delivery of housing and jobs.  The 
application proposal is therefore a critical part of a larger strategy to provide 
not only significant growth within Central Bedfordshire but to accommodate 
the needs of a growing population in the Leighton-Linslade area. 

  
11.2 The balance to be struck in considering this application, involves the 

competing demands of commercial viability, loss of Green Belt, need for 
housing, the clear national priority for economic growth, landscape and 
ecological protection, urban regeneration and providing community facilities 
for a healthy population. All in a context of reducing public services and public 
financial support.  

  
11.3 It is considered that the scheme is insufficiently financially viable at present to 

afford the full requirements for affordable housing and the full package of 
mitigation.  However, the mitigation package suggested above is still 
extremely significant and has been shaped by reference to identified local 
priorities.  The work undertaken with the applicant’s representatives has been 
conducted in an informed and conscious way to achieve the mitigation 
package and potential review/uplift mechanism.   

  
11.4 The Committee will wish to take into account that the planning application has 

been submitted in advance of the adoption of the Development Strategy, in 
which the site is an allocated strategic development site proposed for removal 
from the Green Belt. However, it should also be recognised that the withdrawn 

Agenda Item 5
Page 206



Joint Core Strategy identified the site as being suitable for removal from the 
Green Belt in order to help meet housing and employment need.  The 
evidence base shows there is nowhere else more suitable for the growth to 
go.  In considering the very special circumstances in relation to development 
in the Green Belt, it is concluded that the tests have been met.  It is 
recognised that the planning application is critical locally and regionally in 
helping to boost much needed housing, infrastructure provision and economic 
investment. 

  
11.5 Human Rights issues 

 
Article 8 of the Human Rights Act states that every person has the right to 
private and family life. Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 states that every person is 
entitled to the peaceful enjoyment of his possessions.  In considering this 
application, it is necessary to consider the implications the proposal would 
have on the right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions and private and family 
life.  On balance, it is considered that allowing this application would not 
breach the human rights of neighbouring residents as the impacts on these 
rights would be minimal.  
 

  
Recommendation 
 
That, subject to the referral of the application to the Secretary of State, in 
accordance with The Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 
2009, and the completion of a prior Section 106 Agreement that the Interim 
Assistant Director Planning be authorised to grant Planning Permission if the 
Secretary of State does not call in the application and in doing so, to make such 
amendments to the schedules to the permission as he considers necessary, subject 
to the following: 
 
 
RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS 
 
1 Approval of the details of the appearance, landscaping, layout, access 

and scale of the development within each area or sub-area as 
identified in condition 3, (herein called ‘the reserved matters’) shall be 
obtained in writing from the Local Planning Authority before 
development is commenced within that area or sub-area. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 
Reason: To comply with Article 4 (1) of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) Order 2010. 

 

2 Application for approval of the reserved matters for each area or sub-area, 
as identified in condition 3, shall be made to the Local Planning Authority 
before the expiration of 10 years from the date of this permission. The 
development shall begin no later than 5 years from the approval of the final 
reserved matters.  
 
Reason: To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

Agenda Item 5
Page 207



1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004. 

 

3 Prior to the submission of the first reserved matters, an areas plan for 
the entire application site shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The areas plan shall show a minimum 
of 4 character areas and shall define the location and extent of each 
residential area and the number, size and tenure of dwellings in each 
area; and also define the timing of provision of the movement network, 
vehicular access point(s) open space and play areas and surface water 
attenuation areas for each area.   The development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved areas plan.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the details and appearance of the development 
are acceptable to the Local Planning Authority in accordance with 
Policy BE8 of the South Bedfordshire Local Plan and Policy 43 of the 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014). 

 

4 No more than 950 dwellings, a site for a lower school of 2ha; a local centre 
comprising retail and community uses; informal open space and country 
park, incorporating allotments, orchards, new tree and shrub planting, and 
play areas shall be constructed on the site pursuant to this planning 
permission in accordance with the parameter plan reference Figure 1.3A 
entitled Chamberlains Barn Parameter Plan.    
 
Reason: To ensure that the details and appearance of the development are 
acceptable to the Local Planning Authority in accordance with Policy BE8 of 
the South Bedfordshire Local Plan and Policy 43 of the Development 
Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-Submission Version May 
2014). 

 

5 No reserved matters pursuant to an area or sub-area shall be submitted 
until an Area Design Code (‘ADC’), has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in relation to that 
area or sub-area.     
 
Reason: To ensure that the Area Design Codes are of a localised 
nature and are produced to assist in setting out the details of the  
development in a planned manner and to ensure that the details and 
appearance of the development are acceptable to the Local Planning 
Authority and in accordance with Policy BE8 of the South Bedfordshire 
Local Plan (2004), Policy 43 of the Development Strategy Central 
Bedfordshire Revised Pre-Submission Version May 2014 and 
Paragraph 59 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012). 

 

6 No development shall commence until an overarching Landscape and 
Open Space Strategy has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The Landscape and Open Space 
Strategy shall set out the in principle requirements for treatment of the 
areas of landscaping and open space and their relationship with 
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS) shall be in accordance 
with the principles within the submitted Design and Access Statement 

Agenda Item 5
Page 208



and the areas plan approved by condition 3 and shall include: 
 

a) a programme for implementation, particularly with regard 
to advanced planting; 

 
b) long-term design objectives for the laying out of areas of 
green infrastructure and open space within the residential 
development areas including any replacement planting; 

 
c) short and long-term management responsibilities; 

 
d) maintenance schedules for all hard and soft landscape 
areas and open spaces (other than privately owned 
domestic gardens), and any associated features. 

 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
overarching Landscape and Open Space Strategy. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance of the development in 
accordance with policy BE8 of the South Bedfordshire Local Plan and 
policies 43 and 56 of the Development Strategy for Central 
Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-Submission Version May 2014). 
 

 

7 No development shall take place until a revised surface water drainage 
strategy, based upon the Flood Risk Assessment and drainage 
strategy Ref 3723.FRA.03 by Stuart Michael Associates dated 9 August 
2013, has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. The revised surface water drainage strategy should include 
the following additional information: 
  

• Calculations demonstrating that the proposed discharge to the 
ordinary watercourse will not exceed the existing greenfield 
runoff rate from the portion of the site which would drain to that 
watercourse. 

• Phasing and proposed runoff from each parcel of the site in 
accordance with the total discharge rates.   

• Infiltration systems shall only be used where it can be 
demonstrated that they will not pose a risk to groundwater 
quality. 

• The attenuation pond(s) should be designed to ensure that: there 
is a barrier between surface water and groundwater; that there 
will be no vertical pathways; and that increased groundwater 
pressure on the liner is allowed for. 

 

Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage and 
disposal of surface water from the site, reduce the risk of flooding to 
the proposed development and future users, reduce the risk of 
increased flooding downstream by ensuring that the capacity of the 
receiving system is not exceeded and to prevent pollution of 
groundwater in accordance with policy 49 of Development Strategy for 
Central Bedfordshire Revised Pre-Submission Version May 2014. 

Agenda Item 5
Page 209



 

8 No development shall commence in any area, as defined by the areas 
plan required by condition 3, until a surface water drainage scheme for 
the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment 
of the hydrological and hydro geological context of the development, 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details before the development is 
completed. The scheme shall also include: 
 

• Details of all elements (i.e. modelling reference labels, designs, 
diameters, gradients, dimensions, and so on of all pipes, 
inspection chambers, and flow control device(s)) of the 
proposed drainage systems should be provided as part of the 
detailed surface water drainage scheme. 

• Overland flood flow routes and subsequent flood risk in the 
event of surface water system failure. It is essential the flood 
flow is routed away from vulnerable areas and property, and that 
the development remains “safe”. 

• Clear details of the ownership and responsibility of maintenance 
of all drainage including pipe networks, control structures and 
SuDS elements for the lifetime of the development.  

• Infiltration systems shall only be used where it can be 
demonstrated that they will not pose a risk to groundwater 
quality. 

  
Reason : To prevent the pollution of controlled waters in accordance 
with Policies 44 and 49 of the Development Strategy for Central 
Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-Submission Version May 2014.) 

 

9 No development shall commence in any area, as defined by the areas 
plan required by condition 3, of the development (including any works 
of demolition) until a Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(‘CEMP’) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The CEMP shall accord with the Framework 
Construction Environment Management Plan submitted as part of this 
planning application and shall include details of: 
 

a) Environment Management Responsibilities; 
b) Construction Activities and Timing; 
c) Plant and Equipment, including loading and unloading; 
d) Construction traffic routes and points of access/egress to be 

used by construction vehicles; 
e) Details of site compounds, offices and areas to be used for the 

storage of materials; 
f) Utilities and Services; 
g) Emergency planning & Incidents; 
h) Contact details for site managers and details of management 

lines of reporting to be updated as different phases come 
forward; 

i) On site control procedures: 
i. Traffic mitigation measures including traffic management 

Agenda Item 5
Page 210



and parking 
ii. Temporary haulage routes 
iii. Air and Dust quality 
iv. Noise and vibration  
v. Waste and Resource Management 
vi. Agricultural Soils and Materials 
vii. Temporary surface water drainage during construction  
viii. Protection of Controlled Waters 
ix. Trees, Hedgerows and Scrub 
x. Ecology 
xi. Archaeological and Cultural Heritage 
xii. Visual and Lighting 
xiii. Utilities and Services 
xiv.Protection of water resources 
xv. Protection of species and habitats 

j) Detailed phasing plan to show any different phasing, different 
developers and/or constructors to be updated on an annual 
basis;  

k) Details for the monitoring and review of the construction 
process including traffic mitigation (to include a review process 
of the Construction Environmental Management Plan during 
development). 

 
Any development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in 
accordance with the approved CEMP.   
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is constructed using methods 
to mitigate nuisance or potential damage associated with the 
construction period and in accordance with Policy 44 of the 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014.) 

 

10 Piling or any other foundation designs and investigation boreholes using 
penetrative methods shall not be permitted other than with the express 
written consent of the Local Planning Authority, which may be given for 
those parts of the site where it has been demonstrated that there is no 
resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To protect and prevent the pollution of controlled waters 
(particularly the Principal Aquifer below the site and Clipstone Brook 
considered as protected waterbodies under the EU Water Framework 
Directive) from potential pollutants associated with current and previous land 
uses in line with National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), paragraphs 
109, 120, 121 and Environment Agency Groundwater Protection: Principles 
and Practice (GP3) and to protect human health and the environment in 
accordance with Policy 44 of the Development Strategy for Central 
Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-Submission Version May 2014.) 

 

11 No development shall commence until a foul water strategy has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
No dwellings shall be occupied until the works have been carried out in 

Agenda Item 5
Page 211



accordance with the foul water strategy so approved. 
 
Reason: To prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from 
flooding in accordance with Policies 44 and 49 of the Development 
Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-Submission Version 
May 2014.)  

 

12 No dwellings shall be occupied, in any area or sub-area as identified in 
condition 3, until mitigation, conservation and enhancement measures 
as set out in chapter 5 of the Environmental Statement have been 
implemented. 
 
Reason: To ensure all impacts on ecology from development are taken 
into account and mitigated in accordance with Policy 57 of the 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014.) 

 

13 No development shall take place in an area or sub area of the 
development as identified in condition 3 of this permission until 
details of the plans and sections of the proposed estate roads in that 
area, including gradients and method of surface water disposal have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and no building within that area shall be occupied until the 
section of road which provides access thereto has been constructed 
in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the proposed road works are constructed to 
adequate standard in accordance with policy 43 of the Development 
Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-Submission Version 
May 2014.) 

 

14 No development approved by this planning permission shall take place 
until a remediation strategy that includes the following components to 
deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site shall each 
be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority: 
 
1. A Preliminary Risk Assessment (PRA) including a Conceptual Site 
Model (CSM) of the site indicating potential sources, pathways and 
receptors, including those off site. 
2. The results of a site investigation based on (1) and a detailed risk 
assessment, including a revised CSM. 
3. Based on the risk assessment in (2) an options appraisal and 
remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation measures 
required and how they are to be undertaken. The strategy shall include 
a plan providing details of how the remediation works shall be judged 
to be complete and arrangements for contingency actions. The plan 
shall also detail a long term monitoring and maintenance plan as 
necessary. 
4. No occupation of any part of the permitted development shall take 
place until a verification report demonstrating completion of works set 
out in the remediation strategy in (3). The long term monitoring and 

Agenda Item 5
Page 212



maintenance plan in (3) shall be updated and be implemented as 
approved. 
 

Reason: To protect and prevent the pollution of controlled waters 
(particularly the Principal Aquifer below the site and Clipstone Brook 
considered as protected waterbodies under the EU Water Framework 
Directive) from potential pollutants associated with current and 
previous land uses in line with National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), paragraphs 109, 120, 121 and Environment Agency 
Groundwater Protection: Principles and Practice (GP3) and to protect 
human health and the environment in accordance with Policy 44 of the 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014.) 
 

 

15 If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be 
present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until the 
developer has submitted a remediation strategy detailing how this 
unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with and obtained written approval 
from the Local Planning Authority. The remediation strategy shall be 
implemented as approved. 
 
Reason: To protect and prevent the pollution of controlled waters 
(particularly the Principal Aquifer below the site and Clipstone Brook 
considered as protected waterbodies under the EU Water Framework 
Directive) from potential pollutants associated with current and previous land 
uses in line with National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), paragraphs 
109, 120, 121 and Environment Agency Groundwater Protection: Principles 
and Practice (GP3) and to protect human health in accordance with Policy 
44 of the Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014.) 

 

16 No development shall take place in any area or sub area of the 
development as identified in condition 3 until a written scheme of 
archaeological investigation and recording has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The said 
development shall only be implemented in full accordance with the 
approved scheme and its subsequent amendments. 
 
Reason: To record and advance understanding of the heritage assets 
with archaeological interest which will be unavoidably affected as a 
consequence of the development or to secure the protection and 
management of any archaeological remains which may be preserved in 
situ within the development site in accordance with Policy 46 of the 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014.) 

 

17 Prior to commencement of any development on any area, as defined 
by the areas plan required by condition 3, no tree or hedgerow shall 
be lopped, topped or felled and an Aboricultural Method Statement 
and Tree Protection Plan shall be submitted to and approved in 

Agenda Item 5
Page 213



writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved statement and plan.  
 
Reason: To safeguard existing trees on site in accordance with Policy 
BE8 of the South Bedfordshire Local Plan and policies 43 and 59 of the 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014). 

 

18 Prior to commencement of development in each area approved by 
condition 3 of this permission, a scheme showing  the proposed 
boundary treatment of that area shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall show the 
type and height of fences, hedges, walls or other means of enclosure. 
The approved scheme shall be implemented before the adjacent 
residential units are first occupied. 
 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development and 
to safeguard the amenity of future occupiers in accordance with 
Policy BE8 of the South Bedfordshire Local Plan and policy 43 of the 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014). 

 

19 No development shall take place in an area or sub-area of the 
development approved as per condition 3 above until there has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
a detailed waste audit scheme for that area. The waste audit scheme 
shall include details of refuse storage and recycling facilities. The 
development of dwellings and/or commercial units in each area shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details and shall not 
thereafter be used for any other purpose. 
 
Reason: To ensure that development is adequately provided with 
waste and recycling facilities in accordance with policy 43 of the 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014). 

 

20 To protect against intrusive externally generated noise, sound insulation and 
absorbent materials shall be applied to all dwellings as is necessary to 
achieve as a minimum standard an internal noise level of 30dBLAeq, 23:00-

07:00  and 45dBLAmax, 23:00-0700 for bedrooms and35dBLAeq, 07:00-

23:00  for habitable rooms.  External noise levels from road traffic noise 

sources shall not exceed 55dBLAeq, 1hr in outdoor amenity areas.  Any 

works which form part of the scheme approved by the Local Planning 
Authority shall be completed and the effectiveness of the scheme shall be 
demonstrated through validation noise monitoring, with the results reported 
to the Local Planning Authority in writing before any permitted dwelling is 
occupied, unless an alternative period is approved in writing by the authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, in accordance with policy 
BE8 South Bedfordshire Local Plan and policy 43 of Development Strategy 
for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-Submission Version May 2014.)   

Agenda Item 5
Page 214



 

21 The details required by condition 1 of this permission in relation to 
each area approved by condition 3 shall include details of the finished 
floor and site levels including full details of finished floor levels for 
each building and finished site levels (for all hard surfaced and 
landscaped areas) in relation to existing ground levels. The 
development shall thereafter be carried out strictly in accordance with 
the approved level details. 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory form 
of development in accordance with policy BE8 of South Bedfordshire 
Local Plan and policy 43 of the Development Strategy for Central 
Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-Submission Version May 2014.)  

 

22 The details required by condition 1 of this permission in relation to each 
area approved as per condition 3 shall include a scheme for parking, and 
garaging for the residential units in that area.  The parts of each approved 
scheme pursuant to condition 1 related to each residential shall be made 
available for use before the residential unit is occupied and those areas 
shall not thereafter be used for any other purpose. 
 
Reason: To ensure that adequate turning, parking and unloading space is 
available in the interest of road safety in accordance with policies 27 and 43 
of the Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014). 

 

23 No development shall take place until a revised Framework Travel Plan 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority in conjunction with the Highways Agency.  The Travel Plan 
shall include the following: 
 
The identification of targets for trip reduction and modal shift; 

•••• The methods to be employed to meet these targets; 

•••• The mechanisms for monitoring and review; 

•••• The mechanisms for reporting; 

•••• The penalties to be applied in the event that targets are not met; 

•••• The mechanisms for mitigation including budgetary provision; 

•••• Implementation of the travel plan (until full occupation) to an agreed 
timescale and its operation thereafter; 

•••• Mechanisms to secure variations to the travel plan following 
monitoring and reviews; 

•••• Mechanisms for managing the travel plan and coordinating with 
other travel plans in the East Leighton Linslade development area. 

 
The completed development shall be occupied in accordance with the 
approved travel plan which shall be retained in place thereafter unless 
otherwise amended in accordance with a review to be agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority in conjunction with the Highway 
Agency. 
 
Reason:  To ensure the A5 trunk road continues to serve its purpose as 
part of a national system of routes for through traffic, to satisfy the 

Agenda Item 5
Page 215



reasonable requirements of road safety on the A5 trunk road and 
connecting routes in accordance with section 10 of the Highways Act 
1980 and in the interests of promoting sustainable transport and 
reducing the number of trips by private car, in accordance with policy 
26 of the Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-
Submission Version May 2014.)   

 

24 The development is within 15m of a water tower.  Whilst Anglian Water takes 
all reasonable steps to prevent any nuisance arising from the site, there 
should be no development within 15m from the boundary of the water tower 
if the development is potentially sensitive to noise or other disturbance or 
which might give rise to complaint from the occupiers regarding the location 
of the water tower. 
 
Reason: To avoid any adverse impact on residential amenity as a result of 
the proximity of the water tower in accordance with Policy BE8 of the South 
Bedfordshire Local Plan Review 2004 and Policy 43 of the Development 
Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-Submission Version May 
2014. 

 

25 The applicants shall within 4 years of the date of this permission undertaken 
an assessment of the economic viability of any remaining mineral within the 
area shown on figure 1.3A Parameter Plan as “quarry” in conjunction with 
the Mineral Planning Authority.   
 
Should the mineral reserve be found to be economically viable a scheme 
detailing attenuation measures shall be submitted and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  No dwellings shall be occupied within any 
phase adjacent to the quarry until the attenuation measures have been 
implemented in full in accordance with the approved details.  For the 
avoidance of doubt “attenuation measures” means noise or other attenuation 
measures as are necessary to prevent or eliminate nuisance on the relevant 
phase of the application site attributable to quarrying or restoration works 
being carried out at Chamberlains Barn, including the use of any haul road to 
or from the quarry. 
 
The measures shall be retained for as long as they are required to protect 
residential amenity from the effects of quarrying or restoration activities. 
 
Reason: To avoid any adverse impact on residential amenity as a result of 
potential future mineral extraction and restoration in accordance with Policy 
BE8 of the South Bedfordshire Local Plan Review 2004 and Policy 43 of the 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (Revised Pre-Submission 
Version May 2014. 

 

 

26 The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in 
complete accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans, 
numbers 794_222 revA and Figure 1.3A entitled Chamberlains Barn 
Parameter Plan. 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt. 

 

Agenda Item 5
Page 216



 
Notes to Applicant 
 
1. This permission relates only to that required under the Town & Country 

Planning Acts and does not include any consent or approval under any other 
enactment or under the Building Regulations. Any other consent or approval 
which is necessary must be obtained from the appropriate authority. 

 
2. In accordance with Article 31 of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010, the reason 
for any condition above relates to the Policies as referred to in the South 
Bedfordshire Local Plan Review (SBLPR) and the emerging Development 
Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (DSCB). 

 
3. Flood Risk Informative - Environment Agency  

 

Greenfield runoff rates 
Paragraph 9.3 of the FRA states that the site is partially within the catchment 
area of the River Ouzel and partly within the catchment area of the Clipstone 
Brook. The comparison of discharge rates in table 4 demonstrate that 
discharge from the site will be limited to a rate significantly less than the 
greenfield rate of the total site and remove some flows from the Clipstone 
Brook catchment. As there has been flooding to properties along the 
Clipstone Brook corridor in the past, we welcome any proposals that seek to 
reduce flow peaks on the Clipstone Brook.  
 
The ordinary watercourse which the site will discharge to enters a culvert 
after passing under Heath Road, and therefore there is the limited capacity 
for extra flows within this system. Because the proposals include discharging 
to the ditch from areas outside of the original catchment, this could 
exacerbate flood risk within Leighton Buzzard if the greenfield runoff rate 
was calculated for the entire site, not just the portion of the site which 
naturally drains towards this watercourse. It is not clear if the reduced 
greenfield runoff rate fully accounts for this.  
  
SUDs Approval Bodies (SABs) 
Please note that the Environment Agency’s role in responding to planning 
applications will change in Spring 2014 with the implementation of schedule 
3 of the Flood and Water Management Act.   
  
Sewer Records 
We would suggest that Anglian Water are contacted for their most up to date 
sewer records, as the records included are from 2002 and therefore may not 
be up to date. 

 
4. Groundwater and Contaminated Land Technical Comments - 

Environment Agency 
  

We will expect to see further information on the points raised in our meeting 
of 16 October 2013.  
 

 

Agenda Item 5
Page 217



We are aware of previous investigations carried out on site as part of a 
Mineral Resource Investigation and identified contaminated material to have 
been chemically tested and remediated. However, no groundwater sampling 
and chemical testing was carried out to ensure there is a low risk from the 
identified contaminants within the soil, since groundwater was encountered 
below the site. Therefore, as a way forward we would request that 
groundwater is appropriately assessed by a competent person and results 
are submitted to us for review. Should contamination be identified, a detailed 
Quantitative Risk Assessment will need to be undertaken and a refined 
Conceptual Site Model submitted. The PRA element of the SLR, Phase 1 
Environmental Site Assessment, Report ref. 408.03818.00008, August 2013 
is not satisfactory as an updated desk study and a walk over survey is 
required to present the site at its current condition. Ongoing quarry 
operations may have significantly altered the levels on site. Therefore, 
further work on part (1) of Condition 1 is considered necessary with respect 
to assessing risks to controlled waters. This report should also provide a 
summary of the results from all former investigations carried out on site to 
date. 

 
5. SUDS - Environment Agency  

 

We consider any infiltration Sustainable Drainage System (SuDS) greater 
than 2.0 m below ground level to be a deep system and are generally not 
acceptable. All infiltration SuDS require a minimum of 1.2 m clearance 
between the base of infiltration SuDS and peak seasonal groundwater 
levels. All need to meet the criteria in our Groundwater Protection: Principles 
and Practice (GP3) position statements G1 to G13. In addition, they must 
not be constructed in ground affected by contamination. 

 
6. Environment Agency advice 

 
We recommend that developers should: 
1) Refer to our “Groundwater Protection: Principles and Practice (GP3)” 
documents (http://www.environment-
agency.gov.uk/research/library/publications/144346.aspx); 
2) Follow the risk management framework provided in CLR11, ‘Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination’, when dealing with 
land affected by contamination (http://www.environment-
agency.gov.uk/research/planning/33740.aspx); 
3) Refer to our “Guiding Principles for Land Contamination” for the type of 
information that we require in order to assess risks to controlled waters from 
the site. The Local Authority can advise on risk to other receptors, for 
example human health (http://www.environment-
agency.gov.uk/research/planning/121619.aspx); 
4) Refer to our “Verification of Remediation of Land Contamination” report 
(http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/research/planning/105704.aspx); 
5) Refer to the CL:aire “Definition of Waste: Development Industry Code of 
Practice” (version 2) and our related ‘Position Statement on the Definition of 
Waste: Development Industry Code of Practice’ 
(http://www.claire.co.uk/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=21
0&Itemid=82 and www.environment-
agency.gov.uk/static/documents/Leisure/PS006.pdf); 

Agenda Item 5
Page 218



6) Refer to British Standards BS 5930:1999-2010 and BS10175 and our 
“Technical Aspects of Site Investigations” Technical Report P5-065/TR 
(http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/research/planning/40387.aspx); 
7) Refer to our “Piling and Penetrative Ground Improvement Methods on 
Land Affected by Contamination” National Groundwater & Contaminated 
Land Centre Project NC/99/73 (cdn.environment-
agency.gov.uk/scho0501bitt-e-e.pdf); 
8) Refer to our “Good Practice for Decommissioning Boreholes and Wells” 
(http://publications.environment-agency.gov.uk/PDF/GEHO0112BWAW-E-
E.pdf); and 
9) Refer to our website at www.environment-agency.gov.uk for more 
information. 

 
7. The British Standard for Topsoil, BS 3882:2007, specifies requirements for 

topsoils that are moved or traded and should be adhered to.  

 
8. With respect to the construction phase the applicant has cited a number of 

measures to minimise the escape of dust.  Reference should be made also 
to the Mayor of London’s Best Practice Guidance (BPG) The control of dust 
and emissions from construction and demolition.  Mitigation measures 
should also include solid barriers to the site boundary where necessary.     

The Council does not specify permitted noise levels, instead contractors 
shall employ the “best practicable means” as defined in the Control of 
Pollution Act 1974 to minimise noise and vibration resulting from their 
operations and shall have regard to British Standard BS 5228:2009 Code of 
Practice for Noise Control on Construction and Open Sites.   

Measures would include contractors taking all reasonable steps to minimise 
noise and be reasonable in the timing of any high noise level activities.  
These steps may include, though not exclusively, noise mitigation measures 
such as temporary screening and/or at source insulation, all vehicles, plant 
and machinery used during the operations fitted with effective exhaust 
silencers and that all parts of such vehicles, plant or machinery maintained 
in good repair and in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions and so 
operated and orientated so as to minimise noise emissions.  Where possible 
the use of generators should be avoided and mains electricity used.  All 
compressors used shall be “noise reduced” models fitted with properly lined 
and sealed acoustic covers which shall be kept closed when the machines 
are in use.  Where other alternatives are proposed these should be 
approved by the Local Authority.  All ancillary pneumatic percussive tools 
should be fitted with approved mufflers or silencers of the type 
recommended by the manufacturers. All of these items must be kept in good 
repair and any machinery used intermittently should be shut down when not 
in use or, where this is impracticable, should be throttled back to a minimum. 

 
9. The consent is subject to a legal agreement under Section 106 of the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
10. The applicants attention is drawn to their responsibility under The Equality 

Act 2010 and with particular regard to access arrangements for the disabled. 
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 219



The Equality Act 2010 requires that service providers must think ahead and 
make reasonable adjustments to address barriers that impede disabled 
people.  
 
These requirements are as follows: 
 

•••• Where a provision, criterion or practice puts disabled people at a 
substantial disadvantage to take reasonable steps to avoid that 
disadvantage; 

•••• Where a physical feature puts disabled people at a substantial 
disadvantage to avoid that disadvantage or adopt a reasonable 
alternative method of providing the service or exercising the function; 

•••• Where not providing an auxiliary aid puts disabled people at a substantial 
disadvantage to provide that auxiliary aid. 

 
In doing this, it is a good idea to consider the range of disabilities that your 
actual or potential service users might have. You should not wait until a 
disabled person experiences difficulties using a service, as this may make it 
too late to make the necessary adjustment. 
 
For further information on disability access contact: 
 
The Centre for Accessible Environments (www.cae.org.uk) 
Central Bedfordshire Access Group (www.centralbedsaccessgroup.co.uk) 

 
 
 

Statement required by the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment No. 2) Order 2012 - Article 31 

 
It is recommended that planning permission be granted for this proposal. Discussion 
with the applicant to seek an acceptable solution was not necessary in this instance. 
The Council has therefore acted pro-actively to secure a sustainable form of 
development in line with the requirements of the Framework (paragraphs 186 and 
187) and in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment No. 2) Order 2012. 
 
 
 
DECISION 
 
..................................................................................................................................... 
 
 
..................................................................................................................................... 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 220



CASE NO.

Date:  08:July:2014

Scale:  1:10000

Map Sheet No

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.
Central Bedfordshire Council
Licence No. 100049029 (2009)

N

S

W E

Application No.

CB/11/01940/FULL

Grid Ref: 493079; 226868

Chamberlains Barn Quarry, Heath Road, Leighton Buzzard

Agenda Item 6
Page 221



Page 222

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Item No. 6   

  
APPLICATION NUMBER CB/11/01940/FULL 
LOCATION Chamberlains Barn Quarry, Heath Road, Leighton 

Buzzard 
PROPOSAL Full: A link road from Heath Road to Vandyke Road 

incorporating re-alignment and bridge over the 
Narrow Gauge Railway, sewers, pumping station 
and SUDs basin  

PARISH  Leighton-Linslade 
WARD Leighton Buzzard North 
WARD COUNCILLORS Cllrs Johnstone, Shadbolt & Spurr 
CASE OFFICER  Vicki Davies 
DATE REGISTERED  03 August 2011 
EXPIRY DATE  23 November 2011 
APPLICANT  Arnold White Estates Ltd 
AGENT  Hives Planning Limited 
REASON FOR 
COMMITTEE TO 
DETERMINE 
 

 The application is part of the comprehensive 
 development East of Leighton Linslade and is 
 integrally linked to planning application 
 CB/11/01937/OUT elsewhere on this agenda.   

RECOMMENDED 
DECISION 

 
Full Application - Approval 

 
 
Reasons for Recommendation 
 
Taking into account all of the information contained in the planning application and 
supporting information in the Environmental Impact Assessment it is recommended 
that planning permission be granted for the proposal for the following reasons.   
 
The proposed development is not inappropriate development in the Green Belt and 
therefore does not conflict with restrictive Green Belt policies.  The development 
would provide part of the link road listed in policy 62 of the Development Strategy for 
Central Bedfordshire as essential infrastructure.  The proposed road is considered 
to be safe and suitable for drivers, pedestrians and cyclists and incorporates speed 
reduction measures within the local centre area.  The proposal would not have a 
negative impact on the character of the area or an adverse impact on the residential 
amenity of neighbouring properties therefore it is considered to be in conformity with 
Policy BE8 of the South Bedfordshire Local Plan Review 2004; policies 1, 2, 3, 25, 
36, 43, 44, 45, 49, 50, 57, 58, 59 and 62 of the Development Strategy for Central 
Bedfordshire revised pre submission version May 2014 and national advice 
contained in the National Planning Policy Framework and guidance, 'Design in 
Central Bedfordshire - A Guide for Development', 2010 and East of Leighton 
Linslade Framework Plan, May 2013. 
 
 
Site Location:  
 
The strategic site specific allocation is located to the north east of Leighton Linslade.  
The application site is within the allocation and located north of Vandyke Road, 

Agenda Item 6
Page 223



within the development parcel known as Chamberlains Barn.  The western 
boundary of the site is formed by Heath Road, with Shenley Hill Road running along 
the northern boundary of the site.  To the south is the former Forticrete site, now 
known as Heath Meadows, with Vandyke Road running along the south western 
side of the site.  A large part of the land has or is being quarried, parts of which have 
been restored.  The remaining land is a mix of pasture, arable and scrub woodland. 
 
The application site falls wholly within the parish of Leighton-Linslade.     
 
The Application: 
 
The application seeks permission for a link road from Heath Road to Vandyke Road 
incorporating realignment and bridge over the Narrow Gauge Railway; sewers, 
pumping station and SUDs basin. 
 
The proposed road would run from Heath Road in the west across the site to 
Vandyke Road in the east.  The application includes: 
 
- link road from Heath Road to Vandyke Road 
- realignment and bridge over the narrow gauge railway 
- Heath Road junction works 
- Vandyke Road junction works 
- accesses to residential streets 
- foul and surface water sewers 
- pumping station, SUDs basin, swale and surface water outfall sewer 
- associated street lighting, utilities, land drainage, accommodation works and 
fencing. 
 
A new link from the main link road to Shenley Hill Road through the residential 
development site is proposed.  The link would allow for the closure of the junction 
between Shenley Hill Road and Vandyke Road if this was so desired.  The location 
of junction of this road with the main link road is included within this application but 
the detail of the road is illustrative.     
 
The application was accompanied by an Environmental Statement consisting of 
volume 1 – main text; volume 2 – technical appendices and a non-technical 
summary which addressed the issues with this application and that of the residential 
development of Chamberlains Barn (CB/11/01937/OUT).  A planning statement, 
design and access statement, transport assessment and flood risk assessment and 
surface water drainage statement for also submitted with this application.     
 

 

RELEVANT POLICIES: 
 
National Policies  
 

National Planning Policy Framework 
Section 4 – Promoting Sustainable Transport 
Section 9 - Protecting Green Belt Land 
Section 10 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Section 11 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
Section 12 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

Agenda Item 6
Page 224



 
South Bedfordshire Local Plan Review Policies 
 
BE8 - Design Considerations 
 
The NPPF advises of the weight to be attached to existing local plans for plans 
adopted prior to the 2004 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act, as in the case of 
the South Bedfordshire Local Plan Review. Due weight can be given to relevant 
policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with the 
Framework. It is considered that the above policy BE8 is broadly consistent with the 
Framework and significant weight should be attached to it. 
 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire, revised pre-submission 
version May 2014 
 
Policy 1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
Policy 2 - Growth Strategy 
Policy 3 - Green Belt 
Policy 25 - Functioning of the network 
Policy 27 - Parking 
Policy 36 - Development in the Green Belt 
Policy 43 - High Quality Development 
Policy 44 - Protection from Environmental Pollution 
Policy 45 - The Historic Environment 
Policy 49 - Mitigation Flood Risk 
Policy 50 - Development in the Countryside 
Policy 57 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
Policy 58 - Landscape 
Policy 59 - Woodlands, Trees and Hedgerows 
Policy 62 - East of Leighton-Linslade 
 
Having regard to the National Planning Policy Framework, weight is given to the 
policies contained within the emerging Development Strategy for Central 
Bedfordshire, which are consistent with the NPPF.  The draft Development Strategy 
is due to be submitted to the Secretary of State in October 2014.  
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 
Design in Central Bedfordshire: A Guide for Development - Design Supplement 7: 
Movement, Streets and Places. 
 
East of Leighton Linslade Framework Plan - endorsed for the purposes of 
Development Management by Executive on 14 May 2013.   
 
Planning History 
 
No planning history relevant to this application site however there are associated 
applications which are relevant. 
 

CB/11/01937/OUT 

 

Outline: Mixed development including up to 950 dwellings; a 
site for a lower school; a local centre comprising retail and 
community uses; informal open space and country park, 

Agenda Item 6
Page 225



incorporating allotments, orchards, new tree and shrub 
planting, and play areas at Chamberlains Barn Quarry, Heath 
Road, Leighton Buzzard. Considered elsewhere on this 
agenda. 

CB/11/02827/OUT 

 

Mixed use urban extension including 1210 dwellings, 70 units 
of Assisted Living for the Elderly, Class B1, B2, B8 
Employment, Renewable Energy Plant and Recycling Facility, 
a Neighbourhood Centre comprising Retail Uses (Class A1-
A3), a Public House (Class A4), a Multi Purpose Hall (Class 
D1), a GP Surgery (Class D1), Offices (Class B1), a Childrens 
Nursery (Class D1) and Associated Car Parking, Community 
Hall (Class D1), Retail Units (Class A1-A3), an Elderly Person 
Care Home of up to 70 Beds (Class C2), a New Eastern Link 
Road between Vandyke Road and Stanbridge Road together 
with associated residential and employment access roads with 
associated car parking, the laying out of an area to the north 
and south of Clipstone Brook as a Park forming part of an Area 
of Green Infrastructure, the laying out of structural landscaping 
and green corridors for recreational use, the laying of 7.45 
hectares of land as formal pitch provision together with the 
erection of appropriate changing facilities, the construction of 
footways and cycleways, the construction of structures to 
accommodate Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems, the laying 
out of 0.75 hectares as Allotments, the construction of 2 
neighbourhood equipped areas for play and four locally 
equipped areas of play, a Lower School and Middle School 
including a Multi Use Games Area, Land for expansion of 
Vandyke Upper School including a Multi Use Games Area at 
Clipstone Park, Land South of Vandyke Road & North of 
Stanbridge Road, Leighton Linslade. Considered by DMC on 
29th February 2014, minded to grant resolution, documents 
referred to the Secretary of State. 

CB/11/04444/OUT 

 

Hybrid application for residential development comprising up to 
270 dwellings with associated landscaping, open space, 
parking and internal access roads (in outline with all matters 
reserved); provision of formal public open space; cemetery; 
allotments; informal open space and structural landscaping; 
and access roads (change of use) at Land known as The 
Stearn Land, Clipstone Lane, Leighton Buzzard, Beds. 
Considered elsewhere on this agenda. 

CB/11/03450/FULL 

 

Construction of New Roundabout and Link Road together with 
amendments to existing Highway Arrangements at Land at 
junction of Stanbridge Road and A505.  Approved 19/12/13. 

 
Representations: 
(Parish & Neighbours) 
 
Leighton Linslade Town 
Council 

No objection  

  

Agenda Item 6
Page 226



Neighbours 
 
 
 
 
Comments: 
18 Jupiter Drive, 
Leighton Buzzard  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Objections: 
Leighton Buzzard  
34 & 43 Hydrus Drive 
18 Mercury Way  
89 Cotefield Drive  
12 Shepherds Mead 
273 Heath Road 
 
Eggington 
Manor Cottage  

A number of responses were received to this application 
and the associated one for the residential development of 
the site.  Only the comments which relate to the link road 
application have been included here. 
 
1 letter making comments was received highlighting the 
following: 
- concern that the 6m wide carriageway is inadequate for 
a spine road 
- the width proposed would be reduce by on-street parking 
- on-street parking shown on the bend at the Vandyke 
Road end would be dangerous 
- if the Shenley Hill arm of the crossroads is closed the 
other roads and associated development should be 
designed accordingly 
- phasing of the delivery of the road is important to avoid 
increased traffic on Vandyke Road or at the dangerous 
junction of Eastern Way & A5 
 

[The content of the comments is noted and all are 
addressed within the report.] 
 
7 letters of objection were received, raising the following 
issues.   
- flooding 
 

[The Environment Agency and Internal Drainage Board, 
the expert bodies on flooding, have no objection to the 
application.] 
 
- traffic congestion in town centre 
 
[The Eastern link road is designed to relieve traffic within 
the town centre, this is explained below.] 
 

- impact on the narrow gauge railway 
 

[This is discussed in section 8 below.] 
 

- impact on wildlife  
 

[The appropriate ecological surveys have been 
undertaken and the surrounding development would be 
designed to provide a high percentage of open space.] 
 

- noise pollution 
 

[The objector was not specific as to whether this was 
noise from construction or vehicle traffic.  Construction 
noise would be minimised through the use of a 
Construction Management Plan.  Traffic noise is 
addressed in section 9 below.] 

Agenda Item 6
Page 227



 

impact on existing junctions onto Heath Road 
use of unsuitable roads 
 
 
[The Highways Development Control Officer is satisfied 
with the proposals.  A more detailed consideration of the 
Heath Road junction is included in section 3 below.] 
 
- existing HGV ban must stay in place 
- how will HGVs get to the site with the HGV ban in place 
on Heath Road and Vandyke Road? 
 

[There are no plans to remove the HGV bans, lorry routing 
will be dealt with through the construction management 
plan and in a legal agreement if necessary.  The impact of 
existing HGV traffic from quarry activity is considered in 
section 11 below.] 
 

- traffic speeds on Heath Road are already too high, 
introducing traffic lights will provide a “start line” 
 

[There is no reason to suggest that the traffic lights would 
have this effect.] 

 
Consultations/Publicity responses 
 
Highways Development 
Control 
 

The proposal is a detailed application for the construction of 
a link road from Heath Road to Vandyke Road including the 
introduction of a signal controlled junction at Heath Road 
and a realignment and the introduction of a priority junction 
at Vandyke Road. 

 

While the authority and the applicant’s agents have been in 
lengthy discussions for quite some time and this is a full 
application it is expected that there will be some 
amendments and additions which should be considered (in 
relation to the scheme) as minor. 
 
I have requested a stage 2 Safety Audit for this proposal and 
as yet have not received this report.  
 
[Officer note: It is considered that any minor changes would 
not alter the acceptability of the link road and amended 
plans will be sought from the applicant prior to the 
Committee meeting.] 
 

The cross-section of the road would be as follows: 
3m wide shared footway/cycleway 
2m wide grassed verge with trees 
7.3 wide carriageway 
2m wide grassed verge with trees 

Agenda Item 6
Page 228



3m wide shared footway/cycleway. 
 
While the majority has been designed to the above 
specification, at approximately mid distance the link has 
been civilised with raised tables and zebra crossings along 
with a wide pedestrianized area outside the school.  This 
area will be a 20mph zone for a distance of 360m. 
 
The Alignment 
The alignment has been designed to a standard detailed in 
Manual for Streets 2 which is also supported in the 
Authority’s Design Guide.   
 
Indicative points of access 
There are various points of access (indicative) to serve the 
surrounding plots which vary in widths from 4.8m to 7.3m.  I 
question if all these widths for the scenarios proposed are 
suitable. 
 
I am a little sceptical at the location of the junctions on the 
proposed road as from experience the location sometimes 
does not suit the layout of the prospective development from 
it.  It should be intended that these should only be indicative 
and when the link road is constructed then there should be a 
tie in arrangement but not a spur.  
 
I note that a vehicular access is not shown to the proposed 
allotments which leads me to question how this facility will 
be accessed. 
 
[The question regarding the allotment parking is dealt with in 
section 5 below.] 
 

Bus Stops 
Bus stops are not shown and it would be expected (to 
promote sustainable modes of transport) that quality bus 
stops should be provided.  This should include a shelter with 
real time information.  There should be provision of a half 
width lay-by and an additional 1.0m width to the footway or 
footway/cycleway to accommodate the bus stop.  The stops 
should be located to achieve the desired maximum walking 
distance of 400m from any part of the site. 
 

[This point is addressed in more detail in section 2 below.] 
 

Heath Road Junction Improvements (Tie-In) 
This is a 4 arm signal controlled junction, shown on drawing 
number 3723.002 rev A. 
 
There is a 2 lane approach from the new link road with one 
right and straight on lane, with the other left into town.  This 
has only a length of 6 cars (30m) and consideration should 
be that this should be extended.  The central island is too far 

Agenda Item 6
Page 229



forward and will hamper the free flow of larger vehicles and 
for that reason should be amended slightly. 
 
The approach from town is 2 lanes with the nearside lane 
being only 2.75m wide.  Considering that this will be used by 
cyclists this lane should be widened at the expense of the 
right turn lane. Also it would appear that the exit of this arm 
slightly encroaches into third party land.  This can be 
amended quite easily. 
 
[The applicant has confirmed that there is no third party land 
involved.  All the land is either Highway land or is within the 
control of the applicant.] 
 
The Green Hill approach is the minor arm and of limited 
width which is acceptable. 
 
The approach from Heath and Reach is narrowed down by 
hatching to 2.65m. As previously mentioned this is too 
narrow and should be widened to 3.0m 
 
These alterations will be insignificant to the layout of the 
junction but will greatly aid its performance. 
 
Vandyke Road - Junction Improvements (Tie-In) 
There are two options for this layout where it is shown one 
diverting Vandyke Road to a new priority junction with a right 
turn lane from there on the new link road ties into the 
existing Vandyke Road on a 70m radius bend. 
 
The alternative is similar but rather than tie into Vandyke 
Road it remains relatively straight and continues on its 
alignment with the future link road proposed by the 
neighbouring application (Clipstone Park). 
 
There appears to be a slight anomaly between these two 
drawings and this matter is being clarified by the applicant’s 
agents.  Putting this matter aside the layout is acceptable. 
 
Junction to Link Road with Shenley Hill Road 
This is a simple junction between the link road and a 
proposed new link road to Shenley Hill Road.  The location 
of this junction is shown on Drawing Number 3723.008 rev A 
in the correct location and considered to be acceptable. 
 
Civilised area by school and Community Centre 
The civilised areas have gone through a number of 
discussions and unacceptable elements have been 
designed out however there are still some elements which 
need further consideration with the detailed design as 
follows:- 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 230



The locations of the bus stops need further consideration 
along with half bus lay-by. 
The mini roundabouts need to be designed such that there 
is deflection. 
High quality surface materials. 
 
[The point regarding bus stops is addressed in more detail in 
section 2 below.  Technical issues such as the deflection at 
the mini roundabout would be dealt with through the Section 
38 or 278 process.] 
 
The drawing doesn't indicate where the pedestrian and 
cycling entrances to the school site are. These are important 
as they will set the desire lines for access to and from the 
school. If this detail were provided it would allow the local 
centre to be better planned and enable issues to be ironed 
out early in the scheme’s development. This will also ensure 
the correct placement of ‘indicative’ crossing points. 
 
If surfaces are to be level with flush kerbs it is not clear why 
contrasting colours are needed to distinguish carriageway 
and pedestrian areas. It seems that a shared space feel is 
looking to be achieved but then negated by 
pedestrian/vehicle differentiation. 
 
The local centre area indicates that the materials and 
colours used will contrast in material and colour palette to 
the remainder of the links road. This will serve to provide a 
very different feel to this area which will induce a 
differentiation of usage for all road users in this area. 
 
[This point is addressed within the Design and Access 
Statement Addendum and examined in more detail later in 
the report.] 
 
It would be greatly advantageous that the area in the vicinity 
of the school were to be a School Safety Zone (SSZ). 
 
[This point is addressed within the Design and Access 
Statement Addendum and examined in more detail later in 
the report.] 
 
There is a need for School Keep Clear (SKC) markings 
within the SSZ and timed stopping restrictions with an 
appropriate Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) in order that with 
the developers’ permission we are able to enforce this from 
first residential occupation. 
 
[This point is addressed within the Design and Access 
Statement Addendum and examined in more detail later in 
the report.] 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 231



Thought needs to go into the requirements for TRO’s on the 
side roads adjacent to the local centre area. 
 
Allocated areas for parking at schools whether on or off-site 
are not part of Central Bedfordshire’s Transport Policy with 
regard to schools as they rarely work in practice for the 
following reasons:- 

• Parents of lower school pupils prefer to accompany their 
children into the playground and is something actively 
encouraged by schools such that any drop-off area for 
setting down pupils merely functions as a car park for a 
limited number of parents. 

• Drop off lay-bys outside the school grounds often serve 
as general public parking which further limits any 
usefulness with parents arriving earlier and earlier in 
order to compete for available parking spaces. 

• The provision of facilities for car travel to schools serves 
to increase localised congestion a time when there are 
high levels of pedestrians of a particularly young age in 
the vicinity increasing the road safety risks for vulnerable 
young people. 

• This type of measure merely serves to advocate car 
travel for the journey to school contrary to Central 
Bedfordshire policy and our statutory duty to promote 
sustainable travel for journeys to, from and between 
schools (Education Act, 2006).  

 
For these reasons I am in favour of the promotion of non-
provision of parking outside schools but the promotion of 
safe on street parking in side roads with these roads being 
able to promote the free flow of traffic without the need for 
that traffic to turn.  
 
Polices that relate to travel and transport to, from and 
between school sites were adopted as part of Central 
Bedfordshire’s Local Transport Plan  and some of these 
policies have implications on the layout of the highway which 
in the main have been taken into account but when 
completing the detailed design should be considered further. 
 
Conclusions 
With exception to some minor amendments as mentioned 
above I am content that the proposal can be approved.  I will 
be offering full conditions however I also highlight two issues 
below:- 
 
There should be an obligation in the section 106 that the 
developer will take all reasonable endeavours to enter into a 
Section 38 of the Highway Act before first occupation. 
 
The developer should make provision for on site 
accommodation for the Highway Authority's site supervisors. 

Agenda Item 6
Page 232



 
[Officer note:  The content of the Section 106 agreement is 
to be negotiated.] 
 

Archaeology Further to our recent conversation and the submission of the 
first version of the archaeological evaluation trial trench 
report (Albion Archaeology, 2012 document 2012/56, v.1.0), 
I should like to make the following updated comments on the 
proposed development. 
 
The applicant has now undertaken an intrusive 
archaeological trial trench evaluation of most of those areas 
of the application site where the proposed development 
works will have the greatest impact upon any surviving 
archaeological remains. The evaluation was carried out in 
accordance with the requirements of PPS5: Planning for the 
Historic Environment. While this planning policy statement 
has now been superseded by the National Planning Policy 
Framework, the requirements for the works to be undertaken 
remains valid and appropriate (see Chapter 12, paragraph 
128). 
 
The trial trench evaluation comprised the excavation of 12 
linear trenches within land parcels 54 and 55 and the 
observation of the excavation of three boreholes within land 
parcel 43. It was originally planned that 6 trenches would be 
excavated in land parcel 59, however, due to the agricultural 
tenancy it was not possible to complete this work.  
 
Nevertheless, the evaluation demonstrated that on the 
whole the geophysical survey (Stratascan, 2008) had 
correctly identified the presence and absence of 
archaeological features at this site. There are two areas 
where significant archaeological features have been 
recorded and these represent a prehistoric double ditched 
sub-circular enclosure (HER 19594) in land parcel 55 and a 
series of ditches, pits and possible buried structures (HER 
19595) in land parcel 43. 
 
The creation of the link road will not effect HER 19594 or 
HER 19595 and while it will pass through an area which has 
not been intrusively evaluated, I am content that the features 
identified by the geophysical survey in this area are unlikely 
to be of major archaeological significance. 
 
Consequently, I have no objection to the link road 
application on archaeological grounds 
 

NATS No safeguarding objection to the proposal. 
 

Environment Agency Environment Agency consider that planning permission 
should only be granted to the proposed development as 

Agenda Item 6
Page 233



submitted if planning conditions are imposed to deal with 
surface water drainage, contamination and remediation 
strategy and restrictions on piling.   
 

Highways Agency No objection. 
 

Natural England No comment to make on the application, from the 
information provided with the application Natural England do 
not feel that the proposals are likely to significantly affect the 
natural environment.   
 

Internal Drainage Board As surface water run off from the site is to be discharged to 
a "main river" the Environment Agency must be consulted.  
Request a suitably worded condition to deal with surface 
water be attached to any planning permission granted. 
 

CPRE Object to this and the outline applications at Chamberlains 
Barn and Clipstone Park on the grounds that the land is 
Green Belt and no Very Special Circumstances have been 
demonstrated.   
 

[The principle of the development is dealt with in section 1 
below.] 
 
In addition the conclusions of the Transport Assessment that 
there are no highway reasons why this proposal should not 
be permitted can command no credibility.   
 

[The Highways Development Control Officer has reviewed 
the transport assessment and associated documents and 
raises no objection to the application.] 
 

The lack of employment creation potential will lead to 
commuting.  Adverse impact on the tourist attraction that is 
the narrow gauge railway and on the setting and 
environment of Eggington. 
 

[The impact on the narrow gauge railway is discussed in 
section 8 below.]   
 

Public Protection No objection in principle but requests conditions to deal with 
land contamination, internal noise levels and external noise 
from plant.   
 

Rights of Way No comment. 
 

English Heritage No comment, the application should be determined in 
accordance with national and local policy guidance and on 
the basis of your specialist conservation advice.   
 

Office of Rail Regulation The Office of Rail Regulation is the health and safety 
regulator for all railways over 350mm in gauge in the UK and 

Agenda Item 6
Page 234



hence we regulate Leighton Buzzard Narrow Gauge 
Railway.  It is in this context I offer my comments on railway 
related safety issues. 
 
No objection in principle, but some detailed points should be 
considered. 
 
I note the proposed access road across the railway from 
Vandyke Road into the development site.  I agree that a 
bridge is by far the preferred method for the access road to 
cross the railway.  I would suggest that the bridge parapets 
and approaches are designed to DMRB standards to ensure 
that any errant vehicles are prevented from going onto the 
railway formation. 
 
The north east corner of the site has the junction of Shenley 
Hill Road and Vandyke Road.  This junction and the at-
grade level crossing with the railway on the western arm of 
the junction has long been a problematic site with a history 
of both collisions and near misses.  The Rail Accident 
Investigation Branch conducted an investigation into one 
such incident that occurred on 25 March 2007.  There has 
been another near miss recently on 20 July 2011.  I am 
concerned that this development has the potential to 
increase traffic levels on Shenley Hill Road and increase the 
risk of collisions at the level crossing.  It is not clear to me 
from an initial review of the planning documents whether 
there are any proposals for junction control changes at the 
intersection of Shenley Hill Road and Vandyke Road.  It is 
important that this junction is properly managed and an 
appropriate level of controls applied relative to the road and 
rail traffic usage and location conditions.  The proposals 
appear to suggest in places that the junction with Shenley 
Hill Road would be closed to vehicles at this location: I 
would strongly support this option. 
 
Although the narrow gauge railway travels at a relatively low 
speed it still takes a train a finite time to stop.  For this 
reason it is important that adequate boundaries are 
maintained along the route of the railway.  This does not 
necessarily mean that there has to be a fence; dense 
planting, ditches or other methods can all be used to ensure 
that pedestrians do not cross onto the railway formation.  It 
is also a legal requirement under regulation 3 of the Railway 
Safety (Miscellaneous Provisions) Regulations 1997 that 
"unauthorised access" to railway infrastructure is prevented.  
If there is a need to accommodate pedestrian desire lines 
then this should be done at specific locations with properly 
laid out pedestrian crossing points where there is good 
visibility between the users and the train crew.   
 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 235



Sport England Sport England included this application reference in their 
response to the associated outline application for the site, 
CB/11/01937/OUT, and do not make any specific comment 
on the road proposals. 
 

 Wildlife Trust  Great Crested Newts (a European protected species) are 
known to be present and breeding on the site (apparently in 
at least two ponds).  It is important that mitigation for 
damage to Great Crested Newt habitat is adequate and up 
to modern standards.  We are conscious of the responsibility 
of the Council under the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act (2006) to ensure that mitigation and 
compensation is adequate and sustainable in the longer 
term.  It is unclear from the Illustrative Masterplan in the 
Environmental Statement where the Great Crested Newt 
population on this site does not stand alone but may be in 
conflict with the other functions of the country park and 
drainage/balancing ponds.  We would recommend that 
ponds and habitats which are to be set aside for Great 
Crested Newt mitigation are separate from ponds and 
habitats which are also to be used for recreation or 
drainage/balancing. 
 
We refer you to the standing advice issued by Natural 
England concerning Badgers.   
 
It is important that any mitigation or compensation which 
were initially agreed under the Quarry Restoration Scheme 
are continued and undertaken as part of this proposed 
development and that these are updated to ensure that they 
are adequate and up to modern standards.   
 
[Officer note: A separate planning application 
CB/11/04313/FULL was approved in June 2012 for new 
ponds within the site for this purpose.  The ponds have been 
dug, newt fencing erected and the translocation process has 
commenced.  All works are being undertaken under a 
licence from Natural England.] 
 

Leighton Buzzard 
Narrow Gauge Railway 

As far as the Society is concerned, we have an existing 
infrastructure upon which we carry out our heritage railway 
tourism attraction business.  Any loss due to the works, and 
the temporary severing of the line we would expect to be 
compensated for our loss of revenue – as a condition of any 
granted permission. 
 
[Compensation arrangements for any loss of revenue is not 
a matter which can be dealt with by a condition attached to a 
planning permission but would need to be a matter for 
negotiation between the Society and the developer.] 
 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 236



We expect the developer’s civil engineering contractor to 
follow fully the technical specification for the works and 
before proceeding, to ensure same are fully approved by 
Her Majesty’s Railway Inspectorate under the aegis of the 
ORR, and the Society’s civil infrastructure engineer, prior to 
any commencement of works. 
 
The revised scheme - which differs from the one on which 
the Society were originally consulted - sees a considerably 
altered alignment of the road overbridge and the layout of 
Vandyke Road. We are particularly concerned that the 
steepness of the cutting sides adjacent to the bridge 
abutments on the SE side, shall be constructed in such a 
way as to prevent the possibility of subsidence or slippage 
that could impede and impinge upon the safe operation of 
the railway.      
[Details of the roads, bridge and cutting sides etc would 
need to be submitted for approval, it is likely that this would 
be done in connection with the full planning application for 
the link road.] 
 
The imposition of a substantial civil engineering work across 
the railway – ie, the road bridge, also imposes the necessity 
of its maintenance in the future.  We would welcome 
confirmation of our understanding that any costs involved 
with such maintenance work from completion of the 
construction work, and in its future, will be borne by the 
Highways Authority. 
 
[It is anticipated that the maintenance of the bridge would be 
the responsibility of the Highway Authority, although it is 
understood that it is also possible that the developer retains 
ownership of the structure and is therefore liable for its 
maintenance.] 
 
Whilst there is indication of piped drainage at the foot of the 
railway cutting, there is no clear indication of how such 
gathered water is directed into the general softwater 
drainage.  As the Railway do not experience flooding in this 
part of the line now, we would expect that any costs involved 
in clearing and pumping excess water are borne by the 
developer – via a suitable sum deposited in an escrow 
account, to ensure that the Society are not financially 
imperiled by any such future expenditure. 
 
[A condition requiring details of surface water drainage for 
the whole site will be attached to any consent granted in 
order that this matter can be addressed.  In light of this 
approach there should be no need for any financial 
contribution.] 
 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 237



We are concerned that pedestrian access to the cutting 
should be mitigated by the installation of palisade fencing 
adjacent to the top of the cutting - on the NNW side, 
especially with a bus shelter in such close proximity. 
 
Our concern on the opposite sides reflect not only the need 
to prevent pedestrian access but also, because of the 
specific re-alignment of Vandyke Road, to prevent vehicular 
access, whether of cars or heavy goods vehicles.  The 
combination of substantial ARMCO barriers, together with 
palisade fencing should become a requirement of the 
application, for the protection and safety of railway 
passengers and works trains. Equally, bridge parapets 
should be high enough to prevent extraneous materials 
being dropped, thrown or lobbed over them, to the danger of 
those passing below. 
 
[The details of barriers etc will be dealt with through the full 
planning application for the link road.] 
 
Within the cutting itself, maintenance and vegetation control 
is beyond our present financial capability.  We strongly 
recommend that the landscaping of the cutting sides does 
not include trees or shrubs, but focuses on slow growing, 
ground cover plants that require minimal annual 
maintenance. 
 
A proposed construction programme for the intended works 
relating to the diversion of the railway and construction of 
the over-bridge would be welcome. It would be 
advantageous to the Society were such works to be 
concentrated in the period from 01 November through to 28 
February – since the line is not required for passenger 
operations during this period, albeit Permanent Way works – 
the movement of materials - would have to effected by road 
transport.  This would involve hire costs for which we would 
expect to be reimbursed. 
 
[Compensation arrangements are not a matter which can be 
dealt with by a condition attached to a planning permission 
but would need to be a matter for negotiation between the 
Society and the developer.] 
 

Greensand Trust We recognise that this is an already despoiled landscape, but 
there is still a need to ensure that landscaping and in particular 
the interface between the urban and rural areas is of a high 
quality, and enhances the existing urban edge.  The East 
Leighton Urban Fringe is identified as a “Landscape 
Opportunity Area” within the Luton and Southern Bedfordshire 
Green Infrastructure Plan (2010) and measures suggested 
include hedge and tree planting, and the creation of orchards 
– all of which are suggested in this application. 

Agenda Item 6
Page 238



 
We note that the EIA makes the claim that the site is free from 
protected species (para 5.65) but then mentions the presence 
of badgers.  Specific legislation for protecting badgers is 
provided by the Badgers Act, 1992. 
 
The provision of a SUDS scheme is welcomed and must 
ensure that the development has no additional impact on 
water quality or flooding in the Clipstone Brook (or 
downstream in the River Ouzel).  The measures suggested in 
the EIA para 5.76, including green water harvesting, porous 
paving and green roofs would all help.  These good intentions 
must be followed through in any full planning application 
received. 
 
Wherever possible, SUDS features should contribute to wider 
objectives and be multi-functional in nature, including creating 
access and biodiversity benefits. 
 
We welcome the statement in the EIA para 5.88 that 
archaeological work will be programmed in advance of 
development, and that where possible elements of the historic 
environment will be preserved.  The site is within one of the 
“Historic Environment Opportunity Areas” identified within the 
Luton and Southern Bedfordshire Green Infrastructure Plan”.  
 
As a result of multiple levels of opportunity/importance, the site 
partly falls within the Green Infrastructure Priority Network 
identified in the Luton and Southern Bedfordshire Green 
Infrastructure Plan (2010). 
 
We welcome the inclusion of the Shenley Hill Country Park, 
helping to protect and enhance this important landscape 
feature, and provide informal recreational access for people.  
However, we object to the use of the term “Country Park” in 
this context.  Natural England provide a definition of Country 
Parks as part of their accreditation scheme (see: 
http://www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/enjoying/places/cou
ntryparks/accreditation/default.aspx).  This site as presented 
will not meet all of the criteria listed, as it does not include 
toilets on site or within a 2 minute walk.  This is important 
because the title “Country Park” carries with it certain 
expectations.  In the local area the nearest Country Park is 
Rushmere Country Park, approximately 1.7km away.  
Rushmere Country Park is jointly owned by Central 
Bedfordshire Council and the Greensand Trust, and managed 
by the Trust.  While meeting the size criteria in the Natural 
England Accreditation scheme, the site is also small for a 
Country Park, at just over 19ha.   
 
The Shenley Hill site would be more akin to a “Natural or 
Semi-Natural Greenspace” or area of “Countryside in the 

Agenda Item 6
Page 239



Urban Fringe” ” (using the PPG17 typology, still considered to 
be the most appropriate available).   Using the Luton and 
Southern Bedfordshire Green Infrastructure Plan (2010) as a 
guide, which was itself informed by national best practice, the 
site would fall into the “Middle Level” site (see para 9.7.3) 
rather than the Strategic level Country Parks fall within.  The 
Central Bedfordshire Outdoor Access Improvement Plan 
(2013) defines Country Parks as “Strategic sites that are over 
60ha” with “high visitor numbers”.  The Planning Statement 
Addendum (para 4.36) states that the new Country park will 
have “substantial social and community benefits”, but to do 
this it will need to be a multi-functional space with a wide 
variety of uses.   
 
Much is made of the local support for the proposed 
development, with the “Country Park” as being cited as one of 
the main reasons people have supported the overall scheme 
(for example, see statement of community involvement para 
4.2).  If the expectation of those commenting was of a large 
site with a range of facilities, then they will have been misled. 
 
As a result, new residents resulting from this development will 
inevitably use other nearby sites as part of their recreational 
needs, with a significant impact upon Rushmere Country Park.  
In para 4.35 of the Planning statement Addendum, the 
applicants recognise the shortage of greenspace in Leighton 
Linslade and the need to reduce impacts on Stockgrove 
Country Park (which became Rushmere Country Park in 
2011).  In the period since establishment Rushmere has been 
increasing in popularity to a point where parking and visitor 
facilities are at capacity.  Therefore it would be expected that a 
contribution would be made to Rushmere Country Park to help 
increase capacity. 
 
[This comment relates to the outline application.] 
 
We welcome the integration of the Leighton Buzzard Narrow 
Gauge Railway within the proposals, as this is an important 
tourism and community asset to the town.  A new halt should 
improve access opportunities and the green landscaped 
corridor is welcomed –though it would be better if it could also 
provide parallel pedestrian / cycling access it appears that 
‘pinch points’ restrict this opportunity.    
 
It is noted that there will be a ‘great crested newt mitigation 
and translocation plan’.  This will need to be of an exceedingly 
high standard achieving a high level of success, as the 
development will result in the loss of confirmed breeding 
ponds for this species. 
 
[A separate planning application CB/11/04313/FULL was 
approved in June 2012 for new ponds within the site for this 

Agenda Item 6
Page 240



purpose.  The ponds have been dug, newt fencing erected 
and the translocation process has commenced.  All works are 
being undertaken under a license from Natural England.] 
 

 
Determining Issues 
 
The main considerations of the application are; 
 
1. Principle of Development 
2. Suitability of the design of the road and layout 
3. Assessment of junctions with Heath Road and Vandyke Road 
4. Appearance of the road 
5. Parking Provision 
6. Foul and Surface Water Drainage 
7. Pumping Station 
8. Narrow Gauge Railway - alignment & bridge 
9. Impact on residential amenity 
10. Phasing 
11. Highway Impacts  

 
12. Section 106 Agreement 
  

 
Considerations 
 
1. Principle of Development 
 The application site is within the Green Belt and therefore only certain types of 

development should be permitted.  Engineering operations are however stated 
in the NPPF at paragraph 90 as being appropriate within the Green Belt 
providing they do not harm openness.  In addition the link road is identified in 
policy 62 of the Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire and the 
Framework Plan for the site as essential infrastructure.  The residential 
development of the site as a whole cannot progress without the provision of the 
link road. 
 
A full assessment of the principle of development in relation to the residential 
development the proposed road would serve is contained within the report on 
application CB/11/01937/OUT elsewhere on this agenda.   
 

The principle of the proposal within the Green Belt is therefore considered 
acceptable, subject to other considerations set out below.   

 
2. Suitability of the design of the road and layout 
  

Horizontal Alignment 
 
A fundamental concern raised by officers and central to the changes made to 
the proposed plan is that of the horizontal alignment of the road.  Concerns 
focussed on the alignment being too straight relative to the other section of the 
link road on the Clipstone Park site.  An alignment with more bends would 
contribute to a package of measures as advocated in Manual for Streets 1 and 2 

Agenda Item 6
Page 241



for speed reduction to keep the speed on the road within the intended limits of 
20 or 30 mph.   
 
Another concern was that the straighter alignment was less suited to the 
character of the existing town.  The overarching intention is that the urban 
extension should have a common overall identity while containing distinct 
character areas.   
 
In response to the concerns the alignment of the link road has been amended 
and a number of bends have been introduced with relatively small radii to 
enhance their role in speed reduction.  It is well established that drivers slow 
down where there is limited forward visibility.  The more frequent bends also 
help to create a consistent pattern with the other part of the link road.   
 
The link road would have the character of a tree-lined boulevard.  The cross-
section of the road would be as follows: 
3m wide shared footway/cycleway 
2m wide grassed verge with trees 
7.3 wide carriageway 
2m wide grassed verge with trees 
3m wide shared footway/cycleway. 
 
This approach will be taken on the link road from Heath Road to the western 
mini-roundabout and from the eastern mini-roundabout to the western tangent 
point of the bend at the base of Shenley Hill, the area between would be the 
local centre and would be different in character.  From that point, down to 
Vandyke Road, the cross-section will exclude the 2m verge and trees because 
of the limitations of the viaduct and in order to allow views to Shenley Hill.   
 
The original junction with Vandyke Road consisted of a "T-junction", a further 
change has been made to the junction of the link road with Vandyke Road in 
order to co-ordinate with the road alignment on Clipstone Park and facilitate 
management of traffic along Vandyke Road.  The revised junction has the link 
road curving to meet the link road within the Clipstone Park site with a side road 
providing access from the eastern side to and from Vandyke Road. 
 
Selected loops of road in proximity to the local centre and school would also be 
widened to 7.3m enabling cars to drive "round the block" rather than trying to 
turn in the road or reverse onto another street.  The accesses to these wider 
streets are shown on the plans to be approved.   
 
One of the core functions of these 7.3m wide streets is to accommodate parking 
by creating informal, multi-functional use of the highway.  More detail regarding 
on-street parking is set out in section 5 below which addresses parking 
provision. 
 
Access to the employment land would be provided from the link road and the 
junction is shown on the submitted plans.   
   
The Highway Development Control Officer confirms that the alignment has been 
designed to a standard detailed in Manual for Streets 2 which is also supported 
in the Authority’s Design Guide.   

Agenda Item 6
Page 242



 
Link to the Forticrete site (Heath Meadows) 
 
To the south of the Chamberlains Barn application site lies a recent 
development of housing on land formerly known as the Forticrete site and now 
known as Heath Meadows.  A 3m wide footway/cycleway link has been shown 
between the application site and the Forticrete site.  The aim of the link is to 
allow greater choice in movement and shorter, more convenient links for 
pedestrians and cyclists.  Any potential security issues are considered to be 
outweighed by the benefits of better links.   
 
The legal agreement for the Forticrete site requires the provision of the 
cycleway/footway link.   
 
Bus Stops 
 
The Design and Access Statement addendum sets out that the proposal 
includes two sets of bus stops to achieve the 400m benchmark, which requires 
that all houses should be within 400m of a bus stop.  One set of stops is located 
in the local centre, the other at the junction with the route to the east that 
connects with Shenley Hill Road.  Bus stops will be on each side of the link road.  
Bus stop bays will be half width.   
 
The provision of a bus stop on each side of the link road is intended to allow for 
more flexibility in accommodating bus services (allowing for 2-way operation) 
and to ensure that there are bus stops within 400m of all properties.  The 
intention of the half-width bays is to allow buses to re-enter traffic with ease, 
maintain footway width for pedestrians, avoid over-wide carriageways and to 
contribute to speed reduction, forcing motorists to stop behind buses as 
advocated in Manual for Streets 1 and 2.      
 
The Highway Development Control Officer confirms that this approach is 
acceptable and that a detailed plan showing the exact location of the bus stops 
has been requested from the applicant. 

 
3. Assessment of junctions with Heath Road and Vandyke Road 
  

Heath Road junction 
 
A new junction between the proposed link road and Heath Road would take the 
form of a 4-arm junction with traffic signals.  The north and south arms would be 
formed by Heath Road with the western arm formed by the existing Greenhill 
and the eastern arm being the new link road, currently the access to 
Chamberlains Barn quarry.   
 
Alternative options were explored in relation to the Heath Road junction but were 
discounted on safety audit grounds.  The proposed junction is considered to be 
most appropriate in terms of traffic movements as well as pedestrian and cyclist 
safety.   
 
The Highway Development Control Officer highlights that there is a 2 lane 
approach from the new link road with one right and straight on lane, with the 

Agenda Item 6
Page 243



other left into town.  This has only a length of 6 cars (30m) and it is considered 
that this should be extended.  The central island is too far forward and would 
hamper the free flow of larger vehicles and for that reason should be amended 
slightly. 
 
The approach from town is 2 lanes with the nearside lane being only 2.75m 
wide.  Considering that this will be used by cyclists this lane should be widened 
at the expense of the right turn lane.   
 
The approach from Heath and Reach is narrowed down by hatching to 2.65m, 
this is too narrow and should be widened to 3.0m 
 
These alterations will be insignificant to the layout of the junction but will greatly 
aid its performance. 
 
An amended plan has been requested from the applicant to address these minor 
amendments.  
 
Vandyke Road junction 
 
A new junction would also be formed between the link road and Vandyke Road.  
The link road would take priority and the existing Vandyke Road would be 
accessed by turning off the link road.  The link road would at this point join with 
the part of the link road within the Clipstone Park development to create the full 
link road from Heath Road to Stanbridge Road.  A commitment has been made 
by both parties that whichever arrives at the junction point first, they will ensure 
that an appropriate area of land is available for the two roads to be joined 
together.  In the case of this application this will need to be secured by a 
condition with the requirement to submit a scheme showing the land which 
would be available to the other party if necessary. The issue will also be 
included within the s106 agreements in relation to this application and the outline 
planning applications, CB/11/01937/OUT and CB/11/02827/OUT.   
 
The Highway Development Control Officer comments that there are two options 
for this junction layout where it shows one diverting Vandyke Road to a new 
priority junction with a right turn lane from there on the new link road ties into the 
existing Vandyke Road on a 70m radius bend.  This option will be used if this 
part of the link road is constructed and arrives at Vandyke Road ahead of the 
part of the link road within Clipstone Park.   
 
The alternative is similar but rather than tie into Vandyke Road it remains 
relatively straight and continues on its alignment with the future link road 
proposed by the neighbouring application (Clipstone Park). 
 
The Highway Development Control Officer confirms that the layouts are 
acceptable. 
 
Other junctions 
 
There is also a simple junction between the link road and a proposed new road 
linking to Shenley Hill Road.  The Highways Development Control Officer 
confirms that the location of this junction is shown in the correct location and 

Agenda Item 6
Page 244



considered to be acceptable. 
 

 
4. Appearance of the road 
  

Design of the road through the local centre (including lower school) 
 
Changes were sought to the plans in order to reduce speed and create a more 
hospitable and welcoming environment for pedestrians and cyclists as well as 
vulnerable users of the public highway, particularly around the proposed school 
and local centre.  The design objective was to balance what are termed the 
"link" and "place" functions of the public highway.  The link function is movement 
to, from and through the area.  The place function is the range of other activities 
that the public highway accommodates in creating a vibrant, healthy and safe 
place to live and an active centre for the local community.   
 
The agreed approach and now reflected in the plans to the redesign of the 
centre included the following main principles: 
- create a widened street space that has a distinct space and identity as a 
central place. 
- create an environment that promotes reduced vehicle speeds. 
- maintain a clear distinction between vehicle space and pedestrian space with 
the use of kerbs and where necessary limited use of bollards. 
- create safe, easy and direct crossings. 
 
The road within the immediate vicinity of the local centre has been widened to 
create an elongated triangular space physically defined by the school to the 
south and the local centre to the north.  The new arrangement centralises the 
space between the school and the local centre building giving it better physical 
definition. 
 
The Highway Development Control Officer comments that the location of the bus 
stops need further consideration, there are minor changes needed to the mini 
roundabouts and the surface materials need to be of high quality.  An amended 
plan has been requested to deal with the changes.     
 
Surface Treatment of the Local Centre (including lower school) 
 
The link road should have a distinct surface treatment in terms of the material 
and colour to help identify the local centre, contribute to the package of 
measures for speed reduction and signal to drivers the change in speed limit (in 
addition to signage).  The proposal is for a wide zone corresponding to the 
change in speed limit from 30mph to 20mph and an inner core area 
emphasising the pedestrian connection across the link road between the school 
and the shop.   
 
The wider zone would be terminated on either end by a mini roundabout.  The 
primary function of the roundabouts would be to manage traffic speed and 
turning manoeuvres into and out of the residential areas to the north and south.   
The aim of these measures is to contribute to a safe environment for 
pedestrians and cyclists by keeping vehicle speeds down and managing turning 
manoeuvres without creating large spaces visually dominated by highway 

Agenda Item 6
Page 245



design features.  It is considered that the use of mini-roundabouts is the most 
appropriate method and suitable for a new-build site.   
 
Pedestrian Crossing in the Local Centre (including lower school) 
 
Within the local centre crossing points would be raised zebra crossings of at 
least 3 metres.  The raised zebra crossings would result in road users 
experiencing a number of "up/down", "up/down" crossings, this is preferable in 
road safety terms to a single raised table.  The creation of safe environments for 
pedestrians would be achieved by the use of kerbs and contrasting materials.   
 
The raised area on the western side of the local centre, linking the school and 
the shop, is proposed to be wider than the crossing to the eastern side because 
of its proximity to junctions and the desire line across the link road.  The raised 
area would also help slow vehicles turning on to and off of the link road and 
highlight the presence of pedestrians.   
 
The aim of the crossing treatments is to create a safe and secure environment 
for pedestrians.  Raised crossings allow for inclusive mobility, give more priority 
to the pedestrian and help slow down vehicles.   
 
Frontage building and layout principles 
 
Defining the street spaces with active edges and a strong sense of physical 
enclosure by building houses directly along the back edge of the pavement is an 
important part of the package of measures to help reduce speeds along the link 
road and are focussed around the local centre.   
 
Verges and Tree Planting 
 

Outside of the local centre area the 7.3m wide road would along the majority of 
its length be bounded by a 2m wide grassed verge incorporating tree planting.  
This approach should give the road the appearance of one serving a residential 
area rather than a “bypass”.  The detail of the exact location and species of tree 
will be secured by condition.  

 
5. Parking Provision 
  

On-street parking bays 
 
Parking bays would in most cases be identified/marked out by design.  If parking 
is on one side only it should alternate sides in order to help with speed 
reduction.  The speed limit for the link road would be 30mph except for the local 
centre (school safety zone) which would be 20mph.     
 
The aim is to create streets which are safe and not obstructed or cluttered by 
parked cars.  It is assumed that people will want to park on the street in 
locations that are convenient to their destination/front door and allow the car to 
be visible from the house.  A 7.3m wide carriageway allows 2 cars to pass safely 
even if there is a car parked on the carriageway, this also helps to avoid footway 
parking and obstruction of emergency vehicles.   
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 246



Parking on both sides of the street would not be allowed without the provision of 
additional carriageway space.  It is also assumed that on-street parking spaces 
would not be dedicated (i.e. allocated for any particular property) and would be 
available for the use of non-residents.  The flexibility allows for more efficient 
use of the spaces and reduces parking clutter and obstruction.   
 
School parking  
 
It has been agreed that in line with LTP that there should be no identified school 
drop-off zone or any parking/stopping in front of the school on the link road.  The 
space in front of the school should be a "school safety zone" with parking and 
stopping restricted by both design and designation (no stopping order) as 
appropriate.  The zone would also have a distinct surface treatment and no 
centre line markings. 
 
Accommodation of cars for children drive to school should be by informal 
parking on side streets.  In order to achieve this several loops off the link road 
will be identified and designed with a 7.3m wide carriageway.  School staff 
parking is to be off-street within the school site.    
 
The aim of removing parking/drop-off from in front of the school site along the 
link road is to create a safe environment for pedestrians.  It is assumed that the 
provision of any "official" drop-off/parking space would attract parents to drive 
children to school and there would never be sufficient provision leading to clutter 
of cars, irresponsible parking/driving resulting in a dangerous environment for 
pedestrians. 
 
It is assumed that use of the "informal" parking provided by local streets will be 
self-limiting because people will realise there is a limited number of spaces.  The 
benefits of this approach are considered to outweigh any potential problems of 
competition for spaces, inconvenience for residents or cluttering of loop streets.   
 
The Highway Development Control Officer confirms that he is in favour of the 
promotion of the non-provision of parking outside schools but the promotion of 
safe on street parking in side roads with these roads being able to promote the 
free flow of traffic without the need for that traffic to turn.  
 
Local Centre parking 
 
Parking for the local shop should be off-street with capacity to enter and exit in a 
forward gear.  Staff parking would be to the rear of the shops.  The total amount 
of off-street parking is in line with current parking standards, taking into account 
the underlying principle of multi-purpose informal use of the carriageway on the 
link road and surrounding streets.   
 
The proposed amount of retail floorspace is approximately 400m2.  The 
standards set out in the Local Transport Plan requires 1 space per 35sqm of 
retail space (for areas less than 1,000m2).  This gives a requirement of 12 
spaces, which is accommodated within the proposed off-street area.   
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 247



Country Park car parking  
 
It is proposed to include 4 on-street parking spaces on the north side of the link 
road west of the main entrance to the country park. Off-street parking for the 
Country Park is to be relocated to the southern part of the Park with access off 
the link road.  As requested by Countryside Access Services the parking area 
would accommodate 30 cars.  This provision would replace the previous 
proposal for a car park off Shenley Hill Road.   
 
The aim in relocating the car parking is to ensure better surveillance and 
security of the space by locating the car park in a less isolated position.  The aim 
of limiting on-street spaces is to ensure people use the off-street parking and 
avoid clutter and congestion.   
 
Allotment car parking 
 
The Design and Access Statement addendum sets out that the proposal 
includes 4 on-street parking spaces on the north side of the link road adjacent to 
the allotment area at the eastern end of the link road.  Off-street parking for the 
allotments will be located within the northern part of the allotment land sharing 
the access for the pumping station.  The aim is to provide a mix of convenient 
parking for the allotments.  The parking is not however shown on the plans and 
an amended plan has been requested to address this point.     

 
6. Foul and Surface Water Drainage 
 Surface water across the whole site would be attenuated by measures such as 

detention basins, swales and ponds, these measures would also control the rate 
at which water would be discharged to the local watercourse.  The design would 
limit the rate of discharge to less than the present natural (greenfield) rate, 
enhancing flood protection to downstream properties.   
 
A central detention basin is proposed to provide a total of 30,000m3 of storage.  
The basin would include permanently wet ponds, a retention basin and wetland 
areas.  The basin would be clay lined with a gravity outfall sewer discharging 
flows into the existing watercourse, upstream of the Heath Road culvert.  The 
outfall would be fitted with a flow control device to limit the rate of discharge to 
the water course.  A green corridor running east from the basin would serve as a 
drainage swale as well as habitat and amenity.     
 
Petrol and oil interceptors and reed bed filters would be used to intercept 
pollutants and to maintain and enhance water quality.   
 
Construction of paved areas, surface water sewers and outfalls to serve new 
development would increase the impermeable area within each natural 
catchment and increase the rates of surface water run-off draining from the site 
to local watercourses.  The impact of this is potentially significantly adverse, 
sustainable drainage measures will therefore be required to mitigate the impact 
and reduce the risk of flooding downstream.   
 
The detention basin would be located within an area called Broomhills in the 
design and access statement.  The design and access statement sets out that 
the concept for the area is to maintain and enhance the strong wooded and 

Agenda Item 6
Page 248



natural character of the area.  The area could become a significant asset 
providing a tranquil, multifunctional environment accommodating storm water 
balancing, habitat and accessible green space.  The focal point of the area 
would be the central, permanently wet basin and rising ground to the west.  It is 
considered that the area would be well landscaped and would be an attractive 
area within the site.   
 
Foul sewerage for the development on the western part of the site would be 
dealt with by a pumping station near the Broomhills basin with a rising main to 
Heath Road and the Linslade sewage treatment works.  The eastern part of the 
site would drain south to the Stanbridgeford works.  

 
7. Pumping Station 
 The pumping station is proposed to be located to the south west of the detention 

basin in the western part of the application site at the end of a cul-de-sac. 
 

The pumping station consists of a kiosk, wet well and valve chamber with a 
hardstanding for tanker access on the front part of the site with 6 storage tanks 
on the rear part of the site.  The storage tanks would be 3m in diameter and 7m 
deep.  The pumping station is proposed to be enclosed by 2m high green 
paladin fencing.   
 
The indicative drawings in the design and access statement show the pumping 
station well screened by trees on its northern and western sides.  Screening in 
the form of trees would also be proposed to the south of the site, although this 
would only be partial screening as the vehicular access to the site would be from 
the south.  The eastern side of the pumping station appears to be less well-
screened.  A condition requiring a landscaping scheme for the road, detention 
basin, pumping station etc will be attached to any permission granted.   
The illustrative layout shows public open space to the north and west of the 
pumping station; access to the site with allotments beyond to the south and 
housing to the east.  The housing would be at least 15 metres from the pumping 
station and it is considered that subject to an appropriate planting scheme the 
equipment can be adequately screened to minimise its impact.  There would be 
sufficient space within the application site to provide such landscaping.     

 
8. Narrow Gauge Railway - alignment and bridge 
 The importance of the Leighton Buzzard Narrow Gauge Railway was identified 

from the beginning of masterplanning this site.  All of the current crossings are 
at-grade, however the existing at-grade crossing at Shenley Hill crossroads has 
been the subject of collisions and near-misses.  The Office of Rail Regulation in 
commenting on this application highlight the dangerous nature of the Shenley 
Hill crossing and would strongly support the closure of one arm of the 
crossroads.  At-grade crossings carry an inherent risk and therefore the best 
solution is either a bridge or tunnel to carry the railway.   
 
The alignment of the link road has been modified because of the need to change 
the alignment of the Narrow Gauge Railway to accommodate a grade separated 
crossing.  The link road would remain at grade, i.e. at existing ground level, with 
the Narrow Gauge Railway being lowered to run under the road through a 
proposed tunnel. 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 249



A safety concern was raised with the initial proposal because of the proximity of 
the junction just north-west of the crossing.  It was judged by the safety audit 
team that the junction was too close to the viaduct carrying the link road over the 
proposed tunnel.  In response the junction was moved north-west.   
 
The Highway Development Control Officer has confirmed that the bridge is 
acceptable but will need to be subject to technical checking.   
 
The Office of Rail Regulation has been consulted on the application and the 
response received is set out above.  They have no objection to the proposals 
but highlight the need to provide suitable barriers on the bridge to prevent 
vehicles leaving the road being able to fall onto the railway.  It is considered that 
the barriers proposed, which comprise a highway safety barrier and then the 
brick built bridge, would be suitable for this purpose.  The ORR also set out that 
a suitable barrier needs to prevent pedestrian access to the tracks of the 
railway.  The provision of a barrier in the vicinity of the bridge can be the subject 
of a condition attached to any permission granted and would need to be in place 
prior to the occupation of dwellings.  Fencing or barriers in other areas along the 
track would be outside the scope of this application but will be addressed in 
CB/11/01937/OUT.     
 
The Leighton Buzzard Narrow Gauge Railway (LBNGR) responded to 
consultation on the application and raise a number of concerns about 
maintenance of the tracks under the railway, that any landscaping is appropriate 
and would not lead to leaves on the line and other associated concerns.  It is 
considered that the proposed arrangement would provide access for 
maintenance and that landscaping would be controlled by condition.   
 
The bridge would incorporate an arched tunnel for the railway.  The bridge 
would be finished in brick, the details of which have not been provided, but can 
be secured by condition.  Overall it is of traditional appearance which would be 
appropriate within the new development. 
 
The wider impact on the LBNRG as a result of the residential development is 
considered in the report on planning application CB/11/01937/OUT, 
Chamberlains Barn, considered elsewhere on this agenda. 

 
9. Impact on Residential Amenity 
 The Environmental Statement addresses issues such as noise, vibration and air 

pollution.  The conclusions of the Environmental Statement on these issues are 
considered below.   
 
Noise and Vibration 
 
The construction noise assessment has identified that even without mitigation, 
for the majority of the construction phase, noise from construction works would 
fall below standards applicable to rural areas. 
 
Construction traffic noise would result in an increase in noise levels but only by a 
small amount for a temporary period of time.  As previously stated a 
Construction Management Plan would govern the times of working and routing 
of construction traffic, thus minimising any noise impacts. 

Agenda Item 6
Page 250



 
A strip of land approximately 100m wide adjacent to Vandyke Road would have 
a noise level which means noise should be taken into account when determining 
planning applications and, where appropriate, conditions imposed to ensure an 
adequate level of protection against noise.  Where necessary the buildings 
would be fitted within thermal double glazing and have external areas 
appropriately screened.   
 
Overall it is considered that there are no noise constraints that cannot be 
mitigated through appropriate site layout and building design in areas of the 
development where noise levels need to be addressed. 
 
CBC officers take a more cautious view of the likely impacts and advise that 
there should be a condition to require a Construction Management Plan, this 
could be the same plan as that that would be secured in relation to the wider 
development of the site, CB/11/01937/OUT. 
 
Air Pollution 
 
The ES anticipates that dust may be generated during the construction period 
however that it can be controlled through good site practice and implementation 
of mitigation measures.  
 
An assessment of the impact of traffic generated by the development on air 
quality has been undertaken.  The assessment shows that the development and 
associated mitigation measures will result in changes to the distribution of traffic 
across the network.  These changes will mean that the air quality standards will 
be met at all existing assessment receptors with or without the proposed 
development.   
 
An assessment of the cumulative effects associated with the operation of the 
proposed development and wider development at East of Leighton Buzzard was 
also undertaken.  The results show that air quality standards would be met at all 
existing receptors and across the application site. 
 
Overall the development would have a negligible to neutral impact on air quality 
however appropriate measures to minimise dust etc would be included within 
the construction management plan.   
 
Privacy 
 
Whilst the proposed link road and the associated development would bring 
development and activity into areas near existing dwellings where it does not 
currently exist it is not considered that this in itself would adversely impact on 
the privacy of residents.   
 
The link road would be nearest to properties located on Chamberlains Gardens, 
Heath Road and the Heath Meadows development.  The new junction with 
Heath Road would be in the same location as the access to the quarry site is 
currently.  There is a wide woodland belt between the link road and existing 
residential properties at Chamberlains Gardens which is 20m wide and would be 
woodland.  Other existing residential development would have new dwellings 

Agenda Item 6
Page 251



between them and the link road.       
 
It is considered that the distance between the proposed road and the existing 
dwellings along with the landscaping and other measures such as construction 
management plan would prevent any adverse impact on the privacy of existing 
residents.      

 
10. Phasing of Delivery  
 The applicant has set out that it is anticipated that construction of the first phase 

of development, including earthworks, the initial section of the ELR from Heath 
Road, strategic infrastructure works and the first phase of residential 
development would be completed within two years of permission being granted. 
 
In line with the original masterplan, phasing of the development ensures that the 
ELR would be connected to Vandyke Road in phase 2.  This would, therefore, 
enable residents to access the A5 via Vandyke Road and Mile Tree Road 
thereby reducing the impact of development traffic on Heath Road and in Heath 
& Reach village centre.  
 
Completion of the ELR from Heath Road through to Stanbridge Road (during 
Phase 3) at the southern end of Clipstone Park would help to route development 
traffic around the east of the town, rather than impacting upon the junctions 
within the town centre. 
 
The construction of the A5-M1 link (a two-lane dual carriageway running east 
from the A5 north of Dunstable to join the M1 at a new Junction 11a); currently 
proposed to commence construction in 2014/15, would help to provide relief to 
the A5 in the long term. It is also anticipated that this would help reduce the 
amount of through traffic passing through Heath & Reach to access the A5 at 
Woburn Road or Eastern Way. 
 
The number of dwellings permitted to be occupied prior to the completion of 
each phase of the link road would be controlled through the s106 agreement.  
There would also need to be control over the number of dwellings permitted to 
be occupied prior to the part of the link road within Clipstone Park being 
provided.   

 
11. Highway Impacts 
  

A number of objectors have raised concern about the impact of the proposal on 
existing roads and the overall impact of the connected development on traffic 
congestion in the town as a whole.  The impact of the development as a whole 
on traffic congestion has not been addressed in this report, as this application 
only relates to a part of the link road.   
 
The applicants have set out the following with regard to the concerns raised 
with regard to potential traffic impact on Heath and Reach.   
 
“Existing movements 
 
Chamberlains Barn Quarry, which until recently has been operational on the 
site has consent for the extraction of minerals, with access into the site via the 

Agenda Item 6
Page 252



existing access along Heath Road. As part of this consent, a total of 100 HGV 
loads per day are permitted (CB/11/01863/MU). In other words, up to 200 two-
way HGV trips can be made through the centre of Heath & Reach to travel 
between the site and the A5. 
 
In addition to the consented movements for CBQ, New Trees Quarry located 
on Shenley Hill Road has a similar consent, allowing a maximum of 100 loads 
per day (200 two-way trips) (Planning Permission 26/1969). Access into the 
site is obtained via Shenley Hill Road. 
 
Hours of operation for both quarry sites are limited to 0700-1900 Monday to 
Friday and 0700-1300 on Saturdays. No operations are permitted to take place 
on Sundays or Public Holidays. 
 
Based upon the permitted movements for both CB and New Trees Quarry, 
there is currently potential for up to 200 HGV movements (400 two-way trips) to 
be made through Heath & Reach per day (0700-1900). 
 
Potential movements 
 
As part of the Outline Planning Application for the proposed development at 
CBQ and Full Planning Application for the Eastern Link Road (ELR) between 
Heath Road and Vandyke Road, the existing quarry access will be replaced by 
a signalised junction, with pedestrian and cycle crossings on all approaches.  
 
Upon commencement of the proposed development, a proportion of existing 
HGV movements will be required by agreement to only enter/exit the 
Chamberlains Barn site to the north via the consented haul road onto Shenley 
Hill Road. As a result, whilst it is proposed to retain the right for some quarry 
traffic to use Heath & Reach there will not be a cumulative increase in HGV 
movements through the centre of Heath & Reach as a result of the two 
activities (quarry traffic and construction traffic). 
 
[Officer note: Planning permission exists for a haul road to be constructed from 
the northern part of Chamberlains Barn to Shenley Hill Road.  Traffic would 
pass straight across Shenley Hill Road into New Trees Quarry and would then 
travel to the processing plant at Double Arches through the quarry site.  This 
provides a route for minerals traffic which would be off the highway.] 
 
This existing quarry traffic for the two quarry sites will be partly replaced by 
construction traffic connected with the first phase of the development which will 
access the site via Heath Road. This first phase will include construction of the 
initial section of the ELR, plus the first residential properties. The following table 
identifies the number of HGV movements related to development of the 
Southern Leighton Buzzard development to the south of the town. These flows 
have been recorded as part of the Annual Travel Plan Monitoring whilst 
construction is underway and, therefore, provides a robust example of 
anticipated HGV movements associated with the proposed development.  
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 253



 

  HGV Movements  

 House 
Occupations 
(per year) 

Daily                  
(0700-1900)  

AM Peak 
(0800-0900) 

PM Peak 
(1700-1800) 

2010 57 occupations 49 7 2 

2011 75 occupations 90 14 5 

2012 143 occupations 97 8 2 

2013 129 occupations 86 13 3 

 
Table 3.1 - HGV Movements entering the Southern Leighton Buzzard 
Development over 12 hours (0700-1900) 
 
As Table 3.1 illustrates, total HGV movements for the development are 
significantly lower than the existing permitted HGV movements associated with 
the two operational quarries (CB & New Trees). It is anticipated that a similar 
build programme to the SLB development will be implemented at CB. It is, 
therefore, not unreasonable to conclude that a similar number of HGV 
movements would be generated.  
 
As the above table also indicates, peak hour trips (AM & PM) will be relatively 
low and, therefore, will not have a detrimental impact on vehicle movements 
along Heath Road or highway safety.” 
 

12. Section 106 Agreement 
  

A Section 106 Agreement will be required for this planning permission to link 
the phasing and delivery of the road to the other planning permission at East of 
Leighton Linslade including the delivery of an acceptable standard of road at an 
appropriate time; the linkage to Vandyke Road/Clipstone Park link road; and 
the cessation of the use of the access to any mineral workings at Chamberlains 
Barn at an appropriate time and the bringing forward of an access to Shenley 
Hill Road.   

 
 
Recommendation 

 
That, subject to the referral of the application to the Secretary of State, in 
accordance with The Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 
2009, and the completion of a prior Section 106 Agreement that the Interim Assistant 
Director Planning be authorised to grant Planning Permission if the Secretary of 
State does not call in the application and in doing so, to make such amendments to 
the schedules to the permission as he considers necessary, subject to the following: 
 
 
RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS 
 
1 The development hereby approved shall be commenced within five years of 

the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 which is designed to ensure that a planning permission does not 

Agenda Item 6
Page 254



continue in existence indefinitely if the development to which it relates is not 
carried out. 

 

2 No development shall take place, notwithstanding the details submitted 
with the application, until details of the materials to be used for the 
bridge hereby approved have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To control the appearance of the bridge in the interests of the 
visual amenities of the locality. 
(Policy BE8, South Bedfordshire Local Plan Review 2004 & Policy 43, 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire, revised pre-
submission version May 2014.) 

 

3 No development shall take place in any phase of the development until 
a landscaping scheme to include all hard and soft landscaping and a 
scheme for landscape maintenance for a period of five years following 
the implementation of the landscaping scheme for that phase have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented by the end of 
the full planting season immediately following the completion and/or 
first use of any separate part of the development within that phase (a 
full planting season means the period from October to March). The 
trees, shrubs and grass shall subsequently be maintained in 
accordance with the approved landscape maintenance scheme and any 
which die or are destroyed during this period shall be replaced during 
the next planting season. 
 
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of landscaping. 
(Policy BE8, South Bedfordshire Local Plan Review 2004 & Policies 43 
and 58, Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire, revised pre-
submission version May 2014.) 

 

4 A scheme shall be submitted for approval in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority indicating the positions, design, materials and type of boundary 
treatment to be erected to prevent unauthorised access to the narrow gauge 
railway. The boundary treatment shall be completed in accordance with the 
approved scheme before any dwellings are occupied and be thereafter 
retained. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the appearance of the completed development and 
the visual amenities of the locality. 
(Policy BE8, South Bedfordshire Local Plan Review 2004 & Policy 43, 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire, revised pre-submission 
version May 2014.) 

 

5 No development shall take place until a revised surface water drainage 
strategy, based upon the Flood Risk Assessment and drainage 
strategy Ref 3723.FRA.03 by Stuart Michael Associates dated 9 August 
2013, has been submitted and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. The revised surface water drainage strategy should include 
the following additional information: 

Agenda Item 6
Page 255



  

•••• Calculations demonstrating that the proposed discharge to the 
ordinary watercourse will not exceed the existing greenfield 
runoff rate from the portion of the site which would drain to that 
watercourse. 

•••• Phasing and proposed runoff from each parcel of the site in 
accordance with the total discharge rates.   

•••• Infiltration systems shall only be used where it can be 
demonstrated that they will not pose a risk to groundwater 
quality. 

•••• The attenuation pond(s) should be designed to ensure that: there 
is a barrier between surface water and groundwater; that there 
will be no vertical pathways; and that increased groundwater 
pressure on the liner is allowed for. 

 

Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage and 
disposal of surface water from the site, reduce the risk of flooding to 
the proposed development and future users, reduce the risk of 
increased flooding downstream by ensuring that the capacity of the 
receiving system is not exceeded and to prevent pollution of 
groundwater in accordance with Policy 44 of the Development Strategy 
for Central Bedfordshire revised pre-submission version May 2014.) 

 

6 No development shall commence until a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (‘CEMP’) has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CEMP shall include details 
of: 
 

a) Environment Management Responsibilities; 
b) Construction Activities and Timing; 
c) Plant and Equipment, including loading and unloading; 
d) Construction traffic routes and points of access/egress to be 

used by construction vehicles; 
e) Details of site compounds, offices and areas to be used for the 

storage of materials; 
f) Utilities and Services; 
g) Emergency planning & Incidents; 
h) Contact details for site managers and details of management 

lines of reporting to be updated as different phases come 
forward; 

i) On site control procedures: 
i. Traffic mitigation measures including traffic management 

and parking 
ii. Temporary haulage routes 
iii. Air and Dust quality 
iv. Noise and vibration  
v. Waste and Resource Management 
vi. Agricultural Soils and Materials 
vii. Temporary surface water drainage during construction  
viii. Protection of Controlled Waters 
ix. Trees, Hedgerows and Scrub 
x. Ecology 

Agenda Item 6
Page 256



xi. Archaeological and Cultural Heritage 
xii. Visual and Lighting 
xiii. Utilities and Services 
xiv. Protection of water resources 
xv. Protection of species and habitats 

j) Detailed phasing plan to show any different phasing, different 
developers and/or constructors to be updated on an annual 
basis;  

k) Details for the monitoring and review of the construction 
process including traffic mitigation (to include a review process 
of the Construction Environmental Management Plan during 
development). 

 
Any development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in 
accordance with the approved CEMP.   
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is constructed using methods 
to mitigate nuisance or potential damage associated with the 
construction period and in accordance with Policy 44 of the 
Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire revised pre-submission 
version May 2014. 

 

7 No development approved by this planning permission shall take place 
until a remediation strategy that includes the following components to 
deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site shall each 
be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority: 
 
1. A Preliminary Risk Assessment (PRA) including a Conceptual Site 
Model (CSM) of the site indicating potential sources, pathways and 
receptors, including those off site. 
2. The results of a site investigation based on (1) and a detailed risk 
assessment, including a revised CSM. 
3. Based on the risk assessment in (2) an options appraisal and 
remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation measures 
required and how they are to be undertaken. The strategy shall include 
a plan providing details of how the remediation works shall be judged 
to be complete and arrangements for contingency actions. The plan 
shall also detail a long term monitoring and maintenance plan as 
necessary. 
4. No occupation of any part of the permitted development shall take 
place until a verification report demonstrating completion of works set 
out in the remediation strategy in (3). The long term monitoring and 
maintenance plan in (3) shall be updated and be implemented as 
approved. 
 
Reason:  To protect and prevent the pollution of controlled waters 
particularly the Principal Aquifer below the site and Clipstone Brook 
considered as protected waterbodies under the EU Water Framework 
Directive) from potential pollutants associated with current and 
previous land uses in line with National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), Environment Agency Groundwater Protection: Principles and 
Practice (GP3) and policy 44 of Development Strategy for Central 

Agenda Item 6
Page 257



Bedfordshire revised pre-submission version May 2014. 
 

8 If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be 
present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until the 
developer has submitted a remediation strategy detailing how this 
unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with and obtained written approval 
from the Local Planning Authority. The remediation strategy shall be 
implemented as approved. 
 
Reason:  To protect and prevent the pollution of controlled waters 
particularly the Principal Aquifer below the site and Clipstone Brook 
considered as protected waterbodies under the EU Water Framework 
Directive) from potential pollutants associated with current and previous land 
uses in line with National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), Environment 
Agency Groundwater Protection: Principles and Practice (GP3) and policy 44 
of Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire revised pre-submission 
version May 2014. 

 

9 The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in 
complete accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans, 
numbers 3723.001 rev C – Link Road and Infrastructure Application – 
Planning application boundary, 3723.002 revA – Heath Rd Junction Access 
Scheme Layout, 3723.003 revA – Vandyke Rd Junction Access Scheme 
Layout, 3723.004 revA – Road 1 (Link/Spine Rd) Layout and Profile Sheet 1, 
3723.005 revA - Road 1 (Link/Spine Rd) Layout and Profile Sheet 2, 
3723.006 revA - Road 1 (Link/Spine Rd) Layout and Profile Sheet 3, 
3723.007 revA - Road 1 (Link/Spine Rd) Layout and Profile Sheet 4, 
3723.008 revA - Road 1 (Link/Spine Rd) Layout and Profile Sheet 5, 
3723.009 revA - Road 1 (Link/Spine Rd) Layout and Profile Sheet 6, 
3723.015revA – Road 1 (link/spine road) Typical Road Construction Details, 
3723.016revA – Diverted NGR Scheme and Drainage Layout, 3723.017revA 
– Diverted NGR vertical profile, 3723.018revA – Diverted NGR Tunnel 
Sections, 3723.019 – FW and SW Drainage Strategy, 3723.020 – Detention 
basin and SW outfall, 3723.021 – FW pumping station general arrangement, 
3723.SK16revA – Vandyke Junction Access Alternative Layout (Phase 1 
AWEL). 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt. 

 

 
Notes to Applicant 
 
1. In accordance with Article 31 of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010, the reason 
for any condition above relates to the Policies as referred to in the South 
Bedfordshire Local Plan Review (SBLPR) and the emerging Development 
Strategy for Central Bedfordshire (DSCB). 

 
2. This permission relates only to that required under the Town & Country 

Planning Acts and does not include any consent or approval under any other 
enactment or under the Building Regulations. Any other consent or approval 
which is necessary must be obtained from the appropriate authority. 

Agenda Item 6
Page 258



 
3. Environment Agency - Flood Risk Informatives 

 
Greenfield runoff rates 
Paragraph 9.3 of the FRA states that the site is partially within the catchment 
area of the River Ouzel and partly within the catchment area of the Clipstone 
Brook. The comparison of discharge rates in table 4 demonstrate that 
discharge from the site will be limited to a rate significantly less than the 
greenfield rate of the total site and remove some flows from the Clipstone 
Brook catchment. As there has been flooding to properties along the 
Clipstone Brook corridor in the past, we welcome any proposals that seek to 
reduce flow peaks on the Clipstone Brook.  
 
The ordinary watercourse which the site will discharge to enters a culvert 
after passing under Heath Road, and therefore there is the limited capacity 
for extra flows within this sytem. Because the proposals include discharging 
to the ditch from areas outside of the original catchment, this could 
exacerbate flood risk within Leighton Buzzard if the greenfield runoff rate 
was calculated for the entire site, not just the portion of the site which 
naturally drains towards this watercourse. It is not clear if the reduced 
greenfield runoff rate fully accounts for this.  
  
SUDs Approval Bodies (SABs) 
Please note that the Environment Agency’s role in responding to planning 
applications will change in Spring 2014 with the implementation of schedule 
3 of the Flood and Water Management Act.   
  
Sewer Records 
We would suggest that Anglian Water are contacted for their most up to date 
sewer records, as the records included are from 2002 and therefore may not 
be up to date. 

 
4. Environment Agency - Groundwater and Contaminated Land Technical 

Comments  
 
We will expect to see further information on the points raised in our meeting 
of 16 October 2013 with the applicants.  
 

We are aware of previous investigations carried out on site as part of a 
Mineral Resource Investigation and identified contaminated material to have 
been chemically tested and remediated. However, no groundwater sampling 
and chemical testing was carried out to ensure there is a low risk from the 
identified contaminants within the soil, since groundwater was encountered 
below the site. Therefore, as a way forward we would request that 
groundwater is appropriately assessed by a competent person and results 
are submitted to us for review. Should contamination be identified, a detailed 
Quantitative Risk Assessment will need to be undertaken and a refined 
Conceptual Site Model submitted. The PRA element of the SLR, Phase 1 
Environmental Site Assessment, Report ref. 408.03818.00008, August 2013 
is not satisfactory as an updated desk study and a walk over survey is 
required to present the site at its current condition. Ongoing quarry 
operations may have significantly altered the levels on site. Therefore, 

Agenda Item 6
Page 259



further work on part (1) of Condition 1 is considered necessary with respect 
to assessing risks to controlled waters. This report should also provide a 
summary of the results from all former investigations carried out on site to 
date. 

 
5. Environment Agency - General Informatives 

 
We consider any infiltration Sustainable Drainage System (SuDS) greater 
than 2.0 m below ground level to be a deep system and are generally not 
acceptable. All infiltration SuDS require a minimum of 1.2 m clearance 
between the base of infiltration SuDS and peak seasonal groundwater 
levels. All need to meet the criteria in our Groundwater Protection: Principles 
and Practice (GP3) position statements G1 to G13. In addition, they must 
not be constructed in ground affected by contamination. 
 

We recommend that developers should: 
1) Refer to our “Groundwater Protection: Principles and Practice (GP3)” 
documents (http://www.environment-
agency.gov.uk/research/library/publications/144346.aspx); 
2) Follow the risk management framework provided in CLR11, ‘Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination’, when dealing with 
land affected by contamination (http://www.environment-
agency.gov.uk/research/planning/33740.aspx); 
3) Refer to our “Guiding Principles for Land Contamination” for the type of 
information that we require in order to assess risks to controlled waters from 
the site. The Local Authority can advise on risk to other receptors, for 
example human health (http://www.environment-
agency.gov.uk/research/planning/121619.aspx); 
4) Refer to our “Verification of Remediation of Land Contamination” report 
(http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/research/planning/105704.aspx); 
5) Refer to the CL:aire “Definition of Waste: Development Industry Code of 
Practice” (version 2) and our related ‘Position Statement on the Definition of 
Waste: Development Industry Code of Practice’ 
(http://www.claire.co.uk/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=21
0&Itemid=82 and www.environment-
agency.gov.uk/static/documents/Leisure/PS006.pdf); 
6) Refer to British Standards BS 5930:1999-2010 and BS10175 and our 
“Technical Aspects of Site Investigations” Technical Report P5-065/TR 
(http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/research/planning/40387.aspx); 
7) Refer to our “Piling and Penetrative Ground Improvement Methods on 
Land Affected by Contamination” National Groundwater & Contaminated 
Land Centre Project NC/99/73 (cdn.environment-
agency.gov.uk/scho0501bitt-e-e.pdf); 
8) Refer to our “Good Practice for Decommissioning Boreholes and Wells” 
(http://publications.environment-agency.gov.uk/PDF/GEHO0112BWAW-E-
E.pdf); and 
9) Refer to our website at www.environment-agency.gov.uk for more 
information. 

 
6. This consent is subject to a legal agreement under Section 106 of the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 260



 
 

Statement required by the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment No. 2) Order 2012 - Article 31 
 
It is recommended that planning permission be granted for this proposal. The 
Council acted pro-actively through positive engagement with the applicant during 
the determination process which led to improvements to the scheme. The Council 
has therefore acted pro-actively to secure a sustainable form of development in line 
with the requirements of the Framework (paragraphs 186 and 187) and in 
accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) (Amendment No. 2) Order 2012. 
 
 
 
DECISION 
 
....................................................................................................................................... 
 
 
....................................................................................................................................... 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 261



Page 262

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 8
Page 263 By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 266

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 9
Page 267 By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda Item 9
Page 272

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Planning Application No. CB/11/04444/OUT
	11 04444 Report

	5 Planning Application No. CB/11/01937/OUT
	11 01937 Report

	6 Planning Application No. CB/11/01940/FULL
	11 01940 Report

	8 CB/11/04444/OUT - Appendix A - Exempt
	9 CB/11/01937/OUT - appendix A - exempt papers

